Fate of the HIV-specific immune response starting in primary infection

A Thesis submitted by the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Galit Alter, Department of Medicine, Division of Experimental Medicine

McGill University, Montreal, Quebec

©Galit Alter, August 2003



Library and Archives Canada

Published Heritage Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque et Archives Canada

Direction du Patrimoine de l'édition

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

> Your file Votre référence ISBN: 0-612-98194-0 Our file Notre référence ISBN: 0-612-98194-0

NOTICE:

The author has granted a nonexclusive license allowing Library and Archives Canada to reproduce, publish, archive, preserve, conserve, communicate to the public by telecommunication or on the Internet, loan, distribute and sell theses worldwide, for commercial or noncommercial purposes, in microform, paper, electronic and/or any other formats.

The author retains copyright ownership and moral rights in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

AVIS:

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque et Archives Canada de reproduire, publier, archiver, sauvegarder, conserver, transmettre au public par télécommunication ou par l'Internet, prêter, distribuer et vendre des thèses partout dans le monde, à des fins commerciales ou autres, sur support microforme, papier, électronique et/ou autres formats.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur et des droits moraux qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

In compliance with the Canadian Privacy Act some supporting forms may have been removed from this thesis.

While these forms may be included in the document page count, their removal does not represent any loss of content from the thesis.



Conformément à la loi canadienne sur la protection de la vie privée, quelques formulaires secondaires ont été enlevés de cette thèse.

Bien que ces formulaires aient inclus dans la pagination, il n'y aura aucun contenu manquant.

Table of Contents

Thesis Abstract	2
Resumé de la Thèse	4
Acknowledgements	6
Preface	7
Abbreviations	10
1 Introduction 1.1 Discovery of the Human Immunodeficiency Virus	13 14
1.2 Origin of HIV	17
1.3 Epidemiology	19
1.4 Virion Structure	21
1.5 Genomic Organization	22
1.6 Viral Life Cycle	23
 1.7 The Immune Response at a Glance The Major Histocompatibility Complex Response at a Glance 1.7.1 The Major Histocompatibility Complex T.2 B-Lymphocytes T.3 T-Lymphocytes T.4 Lymphocyte Trafficking T.5 Antigen Processing and Presentation T.5.1 Ubiquitin Complex T.5.2 The Proteasome T.5.3 TAP Transporter T.5.4 MHC Class I Peptide Loading T.5.5 The Alternative Pathway of MHC Class I Loading T.5.6 Mechanisms used by Viruses to Evade Processing and Presented 	26 28 30 33 34 35 36 37 39 40 41 ation 43
1.8 HLA and HIV	44
 1.9 The Immune Response to HIV 1.9.1 NK Cells 1.9.2 Macrophages 1.9.3 Dendritic Cells 1.9.4 Lymphoid Tissue 1.9.5 The Humoral Response 1.9.6 The Cell Mediated Immune Response 	46 46 47 48 49 51 52

1.9.6.1 T cell activation	53
1.9.6.2 Memory Markers	54
1.9.6.3 Development of Memory	56
1.9.6.4 Cytotoxic T Lymphocytes	57
1.9.6.5 CD4 Help	58
1.9.7 Other Viral Infections	60
1.10 Primary HIV Infection (PI)	63
1.10.1 Transmission	64
1.10.2 Viral Reservoirs	65
1.10.3 CTL Responses in PI	68
1.10.4 HIV Pathogenesis	68
1.10.5 Diagnosing Pl	09
1.11 Chronic Infection	72
1.12 Long Term Non-Progressors	72
1.13 Viral Escape	79
1.13.1 Lessons from SIV Studies	80
1.13.2 Lessons from Human Studies	82
1.14 HAART	85
1.15 Scheduled Treatment Interruption (STI)	90
1.16 Vaccines	94
1.16.1 The Animal Model	95
1.16.2 Old Vaccines	96
1.16.3 New Vaccines	97
1.17 Rationale	101
2 Cross Sectional Analysis of HIV Specific Effector Responses in HIV PI	102
2 1 Abstract	104
2.2 Introduction	105
2.3 Methods	108
2.5 Methods 2 A Results	113
2.5 Discussion	113
2.5 Discussion	126
2.0 Kejerences	150
3 Longitudinal Analysis of HIV-Specific Effector Responses in Patients Ini	tiating
HAART in HIV PI	143
3.1 Abstract	146
3.2 Introduction	147
3.3 Methods	150
3.4 Results	156
3.5 Discussion	163
3.6 References	181

4 Longitudinal Analysis of HIV-Specific Effector Responses in U	Jntreated HIV PI
	190
4.1 Abstract	193
4.2 Introduction	194
4.3 Methods	196
4.4 Results	201
4.5 Discussion	205
4.6 References	219
5 Evaluation of the Matrix ELISPOT	227
5.1 Abstract	230
5.2 Introduction	231
5.3 Methods	233
5.4 Results	237
5.5 Discussion	240
5.6 References	252
6 Comprehensive Analysis of HIV-Specific Effector Responses in	n Chronic HIV
Infection	257
6.1 Abstract	260
6.2 Introduction	261
6.3 Methods	263
6.4 Results	267
6.5 Discussion	271
6.6 References	280
7 Summary of Original Findings	285
8. Discussion	292
8.1 Pattern of HIV-specific immune activity in PI	293
8.2 Why does the immune response broaden over time?	294
8.3 Why is Nef preferentially recognized earliest in infection	? 296
8.4 Implications for STIs?	297
8.5 What is the effect of aggressive HAART therapy on the a	ntiviral response ove
time in patients treated in PI?	299
8.6 The detuned assay: a new clinical tool?	301
8.7 What is the role of CD4 T cell help in HIV infection?	303
8.8 The effects of CD4 T cell loss	306
8.9 Lessons from untreated PI	308
8.10 Mapping the immune response to HIV	310
8.11 Viral targets in chronic infection	311
9 Future Directions	313
10 References	317

List of Tables

Chapter 2:

<u>Table 1</u> HIV Primary Infection Study Population Baseline Characteristics	130
Table 2 List of HIV Peptides use to Screen for HIV-specific Effector Responses	131
Table 3 Comparison of the ex-vivo Functional Repertoire of Antiviral CD8+T	
I umphasytes in Farly PL I ate PL and Chronic Infection	133
Lymphocytes in Early 11, Eate 11 and enrome infection	155
Chapter 3:	
Table 1 Study Population Characteristics at Baseline	173
Table 2 Patient Characteristics at Baseline	174
Table 2 List of MHC Class I Restricted Pentides used as Stimuli	175
<u>Table 5</u> List of Mile Class I Resulted I epides used as 5tillul	177
<u>1 able 4</u> within Group Comparisons	1//
Chapter 4:	
Table 1 Population Characteristics	214
Table 2 List of MHC Class I Restricted Pentides used as Stimuli	215
<u>1000 2</u> List of Mile Cluss I Restricted I optices used as Suman	2.0
Chapter 5:	
Table 1 Peptide Panel for HTM 305	247
Table 2 Matrix Analysis for HTM 305	248
Table 3 Pentide Panel for HTM 310	249
Table 4 Matrix Analysis for HMT 310	250
<u>1able +</u> Maria Marysis for mine 510	200
Chapter 6:	
Table 1 Descriptive Statistics	277
Table 2 Summary of HIV-Specific Activity	278
<u></u>	

List of Figures

Chapter 1:	
Figure 1. Summary of the HIV Epidemic Worldwide	20
Figure 2. Epidemic by Geographic Area	20
Figure 3. HIV Structure	22
Figure 4. HIV Genomic Organization	23
Figure 5. The HIV Viral Life Cycle	25
Figure 6. Major Histocompatiblity Complex (MHC) Class I and II structu	ire 29
Figure 7. Antibody Structure	31
Figure 8. Mechanisms involved in the Generation of Antibody Diversity	32
Figure 9. T Cell Receptor	34
Figure 10. Ubiquitin Dependent Protein Degradation Pathway	37
Figure 11. T cell memory markers	55
Figure 12. HIV Clinical Course	65
Figure 13. Points in Viral Life Cycle at which therapeutics act	87

Chapter 2:

Figure 1. Magnitude of responses to individual human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) peptides used to screen for HIV-specific CD8+ effector cells. 124

Figure 2. Correlation between HIV-specific effector activity and time elapsedfrom exposure to HIV resulting in seroconversion.126

Figure 3. Proportion of HIV peptides tested stimulating a positive response displayed by group. 127

Figure 4. Reactivity to HLA-A*0201 restricted peptides Gag 77-85 and RT 476-484 in subjects in PI and chronic infection. 128

Chapter 3:

Figure 1. Longitudinal assessment of HIV-specific effector responses to major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I restricted panels of HIV peptides. 170

Figure 2. Comparison of viral load, breadth and magnitude of responses between subjects in primary infection who maintain or lose HIV-specific effector activity following initiation of HAART. 171

Figure 3. Longitudinal assessment of changes in the frequency of recently stimulated Interferon- γ (IFN- γ) producing HIV-1 Gag p55 specific CD4+ and CD8+ T cells. 172

Chapter 4:

Figure 1. Longitudinal assessment of HIV-specific effector responses to N	ИНС
class I-restricted panels of HIV peptides.	210
Figure 2. Longitudinal assessment of expansions and contractions in the F specific effector response.	HV 211
Figure 3. Comparison of the cumulative magnitude and breadth of the HI specific effector response at baseline and 1 year of follow-up.	V- 212
Figure 4. Analysis of the relation between the magnitude or breadth of the specific responses and time.	e HIV 213
Chapter 5: Figure 1. Total HIV specific effector responses generated by HTM 305.	244
Figure 2. Comparison of the magnitude of the HIV specific response for overlapping peptides for HTM 305	245
Figure 3. Global HIV specific effector activity for HTM 310.	246
Chapter 6:	

Figure 1. Comprehensive analysis of the global HIV-specific effector activity. 275

Figure 2. Correlation between HIV specific effector activity and viral load, CD4 or CD8 T cell numbers. 276

Thesis Abstract

Two decades into the epidemic caused by the human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) and this virus has infected nearly 1% of the world's population. Highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART) has transformed the epidemic from a death sentence into a chronic infection. However restricted access, complicated regimens, drug resistance, and long-term toxicities are all impediments to life long therapy for all those infected. These factors stress the need for vaccines and immunotherapeutic strategies that may be used in conjunction with antiretroviral drugs for the optimization of patient care.

It is clear that cytotoxic T lymphocytes are potent suppressors of viral replication throughout the clinical course of HIV infection. The research presented in this thesis focuses on the characterization of immune responses at different stages of HIV infection in order to gain a better understanding of the pattern of changes that occur within the host response to virus on and off therapy following infection.

The HIV specific immune response broadens during the first two months of infection, suggesting that while it is induced early during acute infection, the antiviral response evolves to respond to the virus. HIV specific immune responses can be preserved if HAART is initiated while the subject is in early PI, and appears to depend on the preservation of HIV specific CD4+ T cell help. Subjects remaining untreated in PI experience significant perturbations (expansions and contractions) in responses to individual HIV peptides over a 1 year period, which is characterized by an overall contraction in the breadth and persistence in the magnitude of their antiviral effector activity.

New strategies that map the specificity, breadth and magnitude of the HIV specific immune response testing all HIV expressed gene products were evaluated. The novel approach will strengthen conclusions derived from the types of studies conducted for this thesis by detecting all reactivities present in subjects being tested in an unbiased manner. Interferon- γ (IFN- γ) secretion in response to epitopes previously unknown to be immunogenic are frequently detected using this screening method in subjects in the chronic phase of infection. Use of this technique demonstrates that HAART-naive HIV+ chronically infected subjects in asymptomatic disease target Gag predominantly and possess variable breadths and magnitudes of responses to HIV.

Taken together, the data presented in this thesis have improved our understanding of the pattern of the evolution of the immune response over time. Data presented here have implications for HIV infected patient management, by providing new information useful for deciding whether the immunological benefit of initiating HAART early in infection outweighs toxicities associated with long term treatment. Finally, new strategies for the detection of HIV specific immune responses will further our ability to characterize the global HIV specific immune responses at all stages of HIV disease.

Resumé de la Thèse

Vingt ans c'est écoulé depuis l'apparition du virus de l'immunodéficience acquise. Depuis, ce virus a réussi d'infecter presque 1% de la population mondiale. Heureusement, le traitement antiretroviral (TAR) a donné espoir aux patients et à la communauté scientifique en transformant cette maladie mortelle en une condition chronique. Grâce à cette dernière, les personnes infectées ont une espérance et une qualité de vie grandement améliorée. Toutefois, la disponibilité des médicaments, l'adhésion au régime, la résistance virale et la toxicité systémique sont d'importants facteurs à prendre en considération lors de l'administration à long terme de le TAR. Ces complications mettent d'autant plus l'emphase sur l'urgence du développement de vaccins ou autre interventions thérapeutique afin de mieux gérer la qualité de vie du patient.

Au cours d'une infection avec le VIH, il a été démontré que les lymphocytes cytotoxiques aide à contrôler la charge virale. La recherche présentée dans cette thèse à pour but de caractériser la réponse immunitaire à différents stages de la maladie afin de mieux comprendre le délicat équilibre entre l'hôte et le virus. De plus cette recherche vise à comprendre les changements dans la réponse immunitaire lors du traitement.

La réponse immunitaire au VIH se diversifie durant les 2 premiers mois de l'infection indiquant l'évolution de la réponse antivirale avec le temps. Ces réponses immunitaires spécifiques au VIH peuvent être conservées si le TAR est initiée lors de la période d'infection primaire. Il semblerait que ces réponses dépendent du maintient des lymphocytes CD4+ spécifique au virus. Durant la période d'infection primaire, les patients n'ayant pas été traités, présentent des anomalies de nature qualitatives aux niveaux des peptides HIV-specifiques reconnus par leur système immunitaire. Ces

anomalies se présentent durant la première année d'infection sous la forme d'une diminution globale des épitopes HIV-spécifiques reconnues par le patient tout en maintenant l'intensité des réponses spécifiques.

Des nouvelles stratégies telle que le matrix ELISPOT sont disponibles aujourd'hui. Ces dernières nous permettent de cartographier la spécificité, la diversité et l'intensité des réponses immunitaires spécifique à toutes les protéines virale exprimée sans prendre en considération le HLA du patient. De plus, de nouveaux épitopes non caractérisé sont fréquemment détectés chez des patients en infection chronique. Cette méthode a également démontré que des patients en infection non traités durant la période asymptomatique (chronique) de la maladie cible majoritairement la région virale Gag avec une diversité et intensité variable.

En conclusion, les données présentées dans cette thèse contribuent à mieux comprendre l'évolution de la réponse immunitaire dans le temps. Cette étude procure également de l'information quant à l'initiation du traitement et ses effets bénéfiques sur le système immunitaire versus le risque d'un traitement prolongé avec ses effets secondaires toxiques. Finalement de nouvelle stratégie pour la détection des réponses immunitaires spécifiques globales contre le VIH permettent de mieux caractériser le statut immunitaire d'un patient durant toutes les phases de la maladie.

Acknowledgements:

I would like to begin by thanking my supervisor, Dr. Nicole Bernard, for her superb mentorship, guidance, and friendship. Dr. Bernard, you have helped make research a life-long passion that I will cherish forever. I want to thank you for your steadfast support and your never ending patience.

I would like to thank my co-supervisor, Dr. Chris Tsoukas, for his mentorship, enthusiasm for research, and for his undying support. I feel that you have given me the drive to commit my life to the pursuit of knowledge.

Additionally, I would like to thank my colleagues and lab-mates (past and present), particularly Famane Chung and George Makedonas, who stood by me throughout the process. I mostly want to thank you all for your friendship, but also for your support, your help, and your inspiring thoughts. You have all truly made this process a pleasure.

I am grateful for the advice and support I received from my advisor, Dr. Danuta Radzioch, and my thesis committee member, Dr. Brian Ward.

Finally, I would like to thank my family, whose support means the world to me. Your words of encouragement have helped me more than you can imagine.

Preface

The studies which are described in the thesis have been carried out by the author of the thesis under the guidance and supervision of Dr. Nicole Bernard at the Montreal General Hospital.

<u>Chapter 2</u>: *HIV-specific effector CD8+ T cell activity in patients in primary HIV infection*. Galit Alter, Alefia Merchant, Christos M. Tsoukas, Danielle Rouleau, Roger P. LeBlanc, Pierre Côté, Jean-Guy Baril, Réjean Thomas, Vinh-Kim Nguyen, Rafik-Pierre Sékaly, Jean-Pierre Routy, Nicole F. Bernard J. Infect. Dis. 2002 185(6):755-765.

The project was initially conceived by Dr. Nicole Bernard. The author of this thesis is the first author on this paper and is directly responsible for the experimental work on the primary infection subjects described in the study. Additional help was provided by Alefia Merchant, who performed data collection on the chronically infected subjects. Patients were followed at various clinics, by physicians that are all included as co-authors on the study. Additionally, the majority of the primary infection samples were processed and delivered by Dr. Rafick-Pierre Sekaly and his team. The remaining PI samples and all chronically infected samples were provided by Dr. Chris Tsoukas. The database for the Ouebec Primary Infection Cohort was maintained by Mr. Mario Legault.

<u>Chapter 3</u>: Longitudinal assessment of changes in HIV-specific effector activity in HIV infected patients starting HAART in primary infection. Galit Alter, George Hatzakis, Christos Micheal Tsoukas, Karen Pelley^{*}, Danielle Rouleau, Roger LeBlanc, Jean-Guy Baril, Harold Dion, Eric Lefebvre, Réjean Thomas[§], Pierre Côté, Normand Lapointe, Jean-Pierre Routy, Rafik-Pierre Sékaly[|], Brian Conway, Nicole Flore Bernard. J. Immunol. 2003 171(1):477-488.

The project was designed by Galit Alter and Dr. Nicole Bernard. The author of the thesis is the first author and is directly responsible for all experimental work and data analysis. Dr. George Hatzakis was vital in the statistical analysis presented in this paper. As mentioned for chapter 2, all physicians whose subjects were included in this study are listed as co-authors. Dr. Rafick-Pierre Sekaly provided the majority of the primary infection samples. The remaining PI samples and all chronically infected samples were all supplied by Dr. Christos Tsoukas. Dr. E. Delwart provided the study with all detuned assay data. All the clinical data was compiled and maintained in a database for the Quebec Primary Infection Cohort by Mr. Mario Legault.

Chapter 4: Assessment of longitudinal changes in HIV-specific effector activity in subjects undergoing untreated primary HIV infection. Galit Alter, Christos Micheal Tsoukas, Danielle Rouleau, Pierre Côté, Jean-Pierre Routy, Rafik-Pierre Sékaly^l, Nicole Flore Bernard.

Submitted to Blood August 16, 2003.

The study design, experimental work, and data analysis was performed by the author of this thesis, first author on the paper. The idea was conceptualized by Galit Alter and Dr. Nicole Bernard. Dr. Hugo Soudeyns provided helpful criticism that was important during manuscript editing. Again, all physicians whose subjects were included in this study are listed as co-authors, Mr. Mario Legault maintained the clinical databse, and Dr. Rafick-Pierre Sekaly provided the primary infection samples.

<u>Chapter 5</u>: *Evaluation of the matrix ELISPOT*. Galit Alter, Marie-Pierre Boisvert, Jean-Pierre Routy, Nicole F. Bernard.

The technical approach described in chapter 5 was initially conceived by Dr. Nicole Bernard. The author of this thesis was responsible for all analysis, study design and data collection in order to evaluate this novel technique. The experimental work was performed by the author of this thesis, who is also the first author on this paper, with the help of Marie-Pierre Boisvert. Samples were provided by Dr. Jean-Pierre Routy. <u>Chapter 6</u>: Characterization of the breadth, magnitude, and specificity of the HIV-specific effector response in 24 HLA-A2 Untreated chronically infected subjects. Galit Alter, Yoav Peretz, Marie-Pierre Boisvert, Christos M. Tsoukas, Nicole F. Bernard.

The study described in chapter 6 was conceived by the author of this thesis, the first author on the paper. The data collection was performed by Galit Alter with the help of Yoav Peretz. CTL assays were performed by Galit Alter in collaboration with Marie-Pierre Boisvert. All analyses were performed by Galit Alter. All samples were provided by Dr. Chris Tsoukas. Abbreviations

ADCC	antibody-dependent cell mediated cytolysis
AIDS	acquired immunodeficiency syndrome
AIED	acute infection/early disease
APC	antigen presenting cell
ARV	AIDS associated retrovirus
CAF	CD8+ T cell antiviral factor
CDC	center of disease control
cdk	cyclin-dependent kinase
CMV	cytomegalovirus
CTL	cytotoxic T lymphocyte
DC	dendritic cell
EBV	Epstein Barr virus
Env	envelope
EU	exposed-uninfected
FDC	follicular dendritic cell
GRID	gay-related immunodeficiency disease
HAART	highly active antiretroviral therapy
HBV	hepatitis B virus
HIV	human immunodeficiency virus
HLA	human leukocyte antigen
HTLV	human T cell leukemia virus
IFN-γ	interferon-γ

Ig	immunoglobulin
IN	integrase
KS	Kaposi's sarcoma
LAS	lymphadenopathy syndrome
LCMV	lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus
LN	lymph node
LTNP	long-term non-progressor
LTR	long-terminal repeats
MA	matrix (p17)
МНС	major histocompatibility complex
MVA	modified-vaccinia virus Ankara
Nef	negative factor
NK	natural killer cell
NNRTI	non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor
NRTI	nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor
NSI	non-syncitium inducing
PBMC	peripheral blood mononuclear cell
PCP	pneumocystis carinii pneumonia
PI	primary infection
PIC	pre-integration complex
PR	protease
RT	reverse transcriptase
RTC	reverse transcriptase complex

SI	syncitium inducing
SIV	simian immunodeficiency virus
STI	structured treatment interruption
TAP	transporters associated with antigen processing
Th	CD4+ T helper cell
TCR	T cell receptor
TNF-α	tumor necrosis factor- α
TREC	T cell receptor excision circle
tRNA	transfer RNA
Vif	viral infectivity factor
Vpr	viral protein R

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1 Discovery of the Human Immunodeficiency Virus:

In 1980, Dr. Micheal Gottlieb was alarmed by a case of a 33-year-old man he had recently examined. He wrote that the patient was: "pale, almost ashen; extremely thin, bordering on anorexia; a mouth full of cottage cheese, indicative of a fungal infection; coughing uncontrollably, and evincing severe lung pain"¹(p293). This young, otherwise healthy patient was experiencing a rare form of pneumonia, mainly diagnosed in transplant patients and the elderly called Pneumocystis carinii pneumonia (PCP). The patient had near to normal antibody responses, but had virtually no helper (CD4+) T cells. Dr. Gottlieb was in shock as he watched the patient's body fail one organ at a time over a short period. Meanwhile, Dr. Joel Weisman, treating a sizeable gay male population, began to take note of a group of patients complaining of fatigue¹. By 1981, Dr. Weisman began to document significant changes in this particular group of men. They exhibited swollen lymph nodes, major weight loss, and the same rare pneumonia seen in Dr. Gottlieb's patient, i.e. PCP. During this period, the Center of Disease Control (CDC) noted a dramatic 4-fold increase in the number of prescriptions for anti-PCP drugs¹. By 1981, the CDC published a report linking Kaposi's sarcoma (KS), a cancer that was relatively rare in the United States, with PCP and homosexuality in New York City and San Francisco. By the end of the year, the CDC documented a group of 107 cases of KS and/or, PCP¹. A study conducted around the same time reported a strong association between the appearance of KS or PCP and promiscuity within the gay population. The illness was therefore named Gay Related Immunodeficiency Disease $(GRID)^1$.

Dr. Auerbach, a CDC official, began the difficult task of tracing the origins of the epidemic in the US¹. Dr. Auerbach attempted to find the common thread linking 9 unrelated men, living in different cities across the United States, who had all died prior to 1982. The results of this study showed that the 9 men were connected through a single person they had met between 1979 and 1980 -- a handsome French-Canadian flight attendant with whom they all had sex. Gaetan Dugas was believed to have spread GRID across North America. Mr. Dugas, who the CDC designated as "patient zero", frankly admitted to having 250 partners a year. He was candid about his intentions of engaging in sexual activity with multiple partners in the cities that he would visit in the near future, and took no heed of the few purple KS lesions on his body. He believed that he had had more than 2500 partners since he became sexually active in 1972. By 1982, Dr. Auerbach could link over 40 cases of GRID from New York, Los Angeles, Miami, San Francisco, and Houston back to those 9 transmissions originating from Mr. Dugas.

In 1982, a new group, of heterosexual patients, began to report symptoms of GRID. These affected patients were intravenous drug users, of whom very few were homosexual men. In parallel, GRID symptoms emerged in a group of hemophilia patients from all over the United States. These patients had received repeated injections of Factor VIII, which was derived from the pooled plasma of thousands of donors. The medical community quickly realized that the predominant blood donors during the period had been intravenous drug users attempting to sell their blood. Soon after, the CDC released a report of GRID-like illness in a group of Haitians, among heterosexual non-intravenous drug using young males and females in Miami and New York. Suspicions that the virus may have originated in Haiti, and been brought back to the United States in the

1970s/early 1980s by homosexual men who frequently traveled to resorts in this region began to be articulated. Given the emergence of GRID-like symptoms in non gay populations, the CDC renamed the disease Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome (AIDS).

Given that AIDS was transmitted during homosexual and heterosexual contact, among intravenous drug users, and through the blood supply the causative agent had to be infectious. Dr. Luc Montaignier and associates at the Institut Pasteur identified the first potential candidate agent for this disease in 1983². The group recovered a virus from the lymph node of a man who had the clinical symptoms of a syndrome they called Persistent Lymphadenopathy Syndrome (LAS). During the same period, Dr. Robert Gallo et al. also isolated a Human T-Cell Leukemia virus (HTLV)-like particle from an individual with AIDS in the United States³. In parallel, Dr. Jay Levy and co-workers identified a common retrovirus in asymptomatic and symptomatic AIDS patients and called the virus AIDS-associated retrovirus (ARV)⁴. Efforts were combined to identify if any relation existed between the viral particles isolated from these three sources. All three viruses had a clear tropism for CD4+ lymphocytes, proliferated well in these cells, and were not able to immortalize their targets⁴. The isolated viruses, contained a reverse transcriptase enzyme, and shared a number of other features with a previously described virus that caused severe immune debilitation, i.e. HTLV. Thus several groups, determined to find the causative agent of this AIDS disease, speculated that the causative agent of LAS was a member of the HTLV family of lentiviruses.

The scientific community was not satisfied with the idea that the causative agent of this disease was a member of the HTLV family. First, the AIDS causing virus had a

replication rate that was much greater than typical for this family of viruses⁵. Second, in contrast to the AIDS causing virus HTLV was seldom found in the plasma of infected patients⁵. Finally, the AIDS virus was cytopathic in CD4+ cells whereas HTLV, although also exhibiting CD4+ T cell tropism, was not⁶.

Thus, through the concerted efforts of three research groups, it became evident that the viruses isolated by the separate teams were related and belonged to the same group of retroviruses, i.e. the lentiviridae family. Further investigation revealed that although the new virus cross-reacted with a number of HTLV proteins, it was clear that its proteins and the organization of the genome was different from that seen in members of the HTLV family. Given the discovery of a new virus, the International Committee on Taxonomy of viruses called the virus Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV)⁷.

1.2 Origin of HIV

Although debates still exist on the subject, it is generally held that HIV and the simian immunodeficiency virus (SIV) may be linked to a single common ancestor that emerged around 1000 years ago⁸. Epidemiological and phylogenetic analyses suggest that SIV may have evolved into its human counterpart due to events occurring only 70 years ago⁹. In support of this hypothesis, both phylogenetic and demographic studies suggest that there is a high degree of probability that HIV-1 evolved due to the infection of humans living in western equatorial Africa by a closely related SIV strain that infects regional chimpanzees. The HIV-2 strains likely arose from the cross-species jump of SIV infecting Sooty Mangabeys living in western Africa into the human population in that region of the continent¹⁰. Moreover, the existence of the M, N and O groups, supports that SIV may have been transmitted to humans multiple times throughout

history allowing viral subspecies to diversify independently¹⁰. Efforts aimed at establishing the chronological moment of the cross-species jump based on evolutionary patterns in samples in comparison to the reference strain from a patient drawn in 1959, places the first transmission to humans around 1931 (1915-1941)⁹. Yet this model does not exclude the possibility that the jump from chimpanzees to humans may have occurred earlier.

Three theories have been proposed to explain the emergence of the HIV epidemic. The "Transmission Early Hypothesis" posits that the virus was transmitted in the 1800s or 1900s while humans were hunting chimpanzees for food. The infection remained isolated in small communities, until the 1930s. Then due to socioeconomic and political changes in Africa in the 1930s, it began to spread and diversify¹¹. The second theory, the "Transmission Causes Epidemic Hypothesis" proposes that the virus was in fact transmitted from chimpanzees to humans in 1931, and began to spread and diversify in human populations from that date on. Finally, the "Parallel Late Transmission Hypothesis" suggests that multiple strains of SIV were transmitted during the 1940s and 1950s, which may have occurred via contamination of polio-virus vaccines with different SIV strains administered in Africa in 1957-1960¹². Yet demographic data and phylogenetic analyses appear to be inconsistent with the spread of the infection via contaminated oral polio vaccines^{13,14}. Three separate international laboratories did not find HIV in vaccine stocks and mitochondrial analyses on vaccine stock preparations revealed that vaccines were prepared on monkey tissue and not on chimpanzee cells. Both these findings have discredited "Parallel Late Transmission Hypothesis" as the possible explanation for the emergence of HIV by most experts.

Of the three hypotheses, the Transmission Early Hypothesis seems to be the most credible as it is supported by diversification, historical, sociological and demographic data. Based on sequence analysis, it is plausible that communities remained closed for several decades after the initial transmission of the virus from primates to humans. The virus, within closed communities, may have evolved and diversified into a small subset of clades¹¹. As travel became an important feature of the African workforce in the late 1940s and early 1950s, men would leave their villages at the beginning of the week and return only at the end of the week¹. Away from their families for extended periods of time, these men may have engaged in sexual activities with residents of the city, prostitutes, and travelers. Thus small rural villages potentially harboring this viral infection could have disseminated the disease through these cities, throughout Africa, and via travelers to the rest of the world. Thus an explosion of infections from the 1950s-1970s during the sexual revolution and globalization could explain the rapid spread of the epidemic across the globe.

1.3 Epidemiology:

Extensive worldwide spread of HIV started in the mid to late 1970s. In less than three decades, during the first of which it was still unknown, this virus caused the first modern pandemic. Epidemiological data compiled and disseminated by UNAIDS show that, at the end of 2002, 42 million people are infected worldwide with HIV (figure 1); 5 million were newly infected last year; and 3.1 million people died due to the disease. Moreover, the impact of the disease has left 13 million children orphaned, and has had a significant impact on the economic conditions of affected countries¹⁵.



Figure 1. Summary of the HIV epidemic world-wide

Sub-Saharan Africa has been heavily affected by the pandemic with 8.8% of adults, 29.4 million people, infected with the virus(figure 2)¹⁵.



Figure 2. Epidemic by geographic area.

Yet despite efforts to curb the epidemic in this region of the world, the numbers still continue to rise due to heterosexual transmission in poor socio-economic conditions.

There is evidence for increasing HIV transmission in Eastern Europe, Asia and the Pacific. These regions are experiencing a rapid rise in the number of infections due to both heterosexual transmission and intravenous drug use. Public health data estimate that there will be an overwhelming number of new cases in all these regions in the coming years.

1.4 Virion Structure:

HIV virion structure is characteristic of the lentivirus family with a cone-shaped core (figure 3)¹⁶. The enclosed capsid area holds two identical strands of viral RNA in association with the viral RNA-dependent DNA polymerase (reverse transcriptase [RT]), the nucleocapsid proteins (p9 and p6), Tat, Vif, Nef, Vpr, viral integrase enzyme [IN], and viral protease [PR]¹⁶. The core protein, p17 or matrix protein (MA), forms and provides structural support for the viral particle¹⁷ and serves an essential role in nuclear localization of the pre-integration complex (PIC) and budding of viral particles¹⁸. Given the incorporation of all these proteins into the viral particle, it suggests that these proteins may all be necessary for early events in the viral life cycle¹⁶.

The virion surface is usually composed of 72 trimers or tetramers of the envelope glycoprotein¹⁹. The envelope glycoprotein (Env, gp160) is cleaved in the Golgi into a complex, which consists of two portions, an external gp120 molecule and a transmembrane internal gp41 moiety²⁰. The two glycoproteins are bound to one another through a small region of the transmembrane portion of the gp41, which noncovalently associates itself with the gp120 protein.



Figure 3. HIV Structure

1.5 Genomic Organization

The HIV genome is 9.8kb in length (figure 4). The earliest viral mRNA species are multiply spliced transcripts that give rise the viral regulatory proteins Tat, Rev, Nef, Vif and Vpr¹⁶. Rev interacts with a cis-acting RNA loop structure, which permits the production of gene products from full length transcripts that give rise to structural proteins. Unspliced, full length mRNA species give rise to the Gag precursor p55, which contains smaller p24 [capsid, CA], p17 [matrix, MA], p9 and p6 proteins. The Pol gene products are produced from the same mRNA species, via a frameshift. The precursor Pol protein is cleaved into viral RT [p66], protease [p10], and integrase [p32]. Gag and Gag-Pol transcripts are produced in a ratio of 20:1²¹. The Env gene product gp160, derived from an unspliced mRNA, is cleaved into the two envelope proteins.

Spliced mRNAs are responsible for the production of a number of key regulatory and accessory proteins. Tat is responsible for viral DNA transcription/elongation. This protein is critical for the recruitment of a number of cellular proteins such as cyclin T and cyclin-dependent kinase 9 (cdk-9) to the HIV long terminal repeat (LTR)²² which are

integral for the effective assembly and activity of the reverse transcription complex (RTC). Nef (or negative factor) has proven to be a key viral particle in establishing a cellular environment that is conducive to viral replication. This protein is integral for the upregulation of several activation pathways²³, to the decreased expression of major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I A and B²⁴, decreased expression of CD4²⁵, increased production of virions²⁶, and both the induction²⁷ and the prevention of apoptotic cascades²⁸. Vif (viral infectivity factor) appears to be critical in circumventing the effects of cellular environment²⁹. Vpr (or viral protein R) plays an important role in nuclear localization of the PIC³⁰ and in the infection of resting macrophages³¹. Finally Vpu enhances the ubiquitination and subsequent degradation of CD4 molecules within the endoplasmic reticulum (ER)³² and may also be important for virion budding³³.



Figure 4. HIV genomic organization

1.6 Viral Life Cycle:

The viral life cycle begins with the interaction of the trimeric gp120 on the surface of an HIV virion with CD4 molecules on the surface of its target cell (figure 5-step 1 on page 24)^{34,35}. This interaction results in a conformational change in the gp120, which reveals domains in gp41 necessary for interaction with HIV co-receptors located on the cell surface^{35,36}. Although the gp120 complex can interact with up to a dozen

potential co-receptors, CCR5 (macrophage tropic virions) and CXCR4 (T cell tropic viral particles) are the most commonly used for this purpose³⁷. The critical importance of these co-receptor molecules in the viral life cycle was demonstrated by the observation that persons homozygous for the deletion of a 32 base pair sequence in the CCR5 gene, that ablates the expression of this molecule, confers virtual resistance to HIV infection³⁸. The interaction between Env and CCR5 or CXCR4 promotes the successful fusion of the virion membrane to the cellular membrane allowing the viral particle to enter the cellular cytoplasm³⁹.

Once the virus has entered the cell, the RTC consisting of the two viral RNA molecules, the initiating tRNA, RT, IN, MA, CA, Tat and Vpr are released from the cellular membrane (figure 5-step 2)⁴⁰. This complex is subsequently stabilized by the Vif once the complex safely docks on the actin cellular skeleton^{29,41}. Following the effective reverse transcription of the viral RNA, the PIC is assembled composed of the viral cDNA and all but the nucleocapsid protein found in the RTC, which subsequently targets entry into the nucleus(figure 5- step 3)^{42,43}. MA⁴³, IN⁴⁴ and Vpr⁴⁵ possess nuclear localization signals ensuring the transport of the PIC into the nucleus. The viral genome may integrate into the host genetic material at a number of different sites, allowing for the integration of several proviral transcripts within the same cellular nucleus (figure 5- step 4)^{46,47}.

Tat protein, a member of the PIC, only plays its role once integration has taken place. Tat recruits cellular DNA polymerase and cofactors to the viral LTR leading to transactivation of the viral genome(figure 5- step 5)²². Earliest transcripts of the viral genome include the production of viral regulatory genes such as Rev, Tat and Nef⁴⁸. At this early stage of replication, Nef mRNA predominates as 80% of the transcripts encode



this gene product⁴⁹. Significant production of Tat enhances preferential transcription of

the

Figure 5. The HIV viral life cycle.

Increasing concentrations of the Rev protein, containing a nuclear export signal, allows for the export of unspliced mRNA species, harboring the sequences for viral structural and enzymatic proteins, from the nucleus to the cytoplasm for translation^{51,52}.

Assembly of viral particles occurs at the cell membrane (figure 5- step 6). Gag-Pol, Gag and Env proteins all have an important role in recruiting viral RNA, recruiting Vpr and ultimately in budding⁵³. Viral release appears to preferentially occur in particular areas of the lipid bilayer that are rich in cholesterol⁵⁴. Incorporation of PR in the virion is critical to complete the extracellular maturation of the virus particle (figure 5- step 7)¹⁶.

1.7 The Immune Response at a Glance:

The immune system plays the integral role in protecting a host's internal environment from foreign invaders. The system involves a large network of cells and compartments which are all fine-tuned for their role in this task. Two lines of defense exist within this system, the innate immune response and the adaptive immune response. The first line of defense against foreign invaders includes cells involved in innate immunity⁵⁵. Cells such as macrophages, natural killer (NK) cells, and granulocytes are capable of identifying highly conserved molecules located on the surface viruses, bacteria or parasites. Yet some pathogens may not alert this arm of the immune response, possibly due to the fact that they may not express these molecules on their surface or may have developed mechanisms to hide from this arm of the immune response. Thus the second line of defense, the adaptive immune response, may be particularly important in clearing these types of infections. B and T lymphocytes act as the key responders in this second line of defense, and tend to provide life-long immunity against the pathogen once cleared^{55,56}.

As lymphoid tissues filter and trap circulating antigens from interstitial fluid surrounding diverse tissues and blood, these sites act as a milieu for the convergence of foreign antigens and circulating lymphocytes⁵⁵. Regardless of the site of infection, foreign antigen presented on non-lymphoid cells within these sites can induce the maturation and the induction of the adaptive immune response within the peripheral lymphoid organs. Given the expression of a number of specialized adhesion molecules on the surface of resting lymphocytes that allow for transcytosis across endothelial cells, resting lymphocytes continuously traffic between the blood and lymph^{55,56}. Once a

lymphocyte recognizes its cognate antigen in the lymph node, it is trapped until it proliferates and differentiates into a mature cell capable of combating the infection⁵⁷.

In an attempt to cover the wide spectrum of potential infiltrating foreign antigens, the immune system produces lymphocytes each bearing a single specificity. The generation of these unique specificities occurs via complex genetic events in the bone marrow (B cells) and thymus (T cells) that lead to the creation of an enormous number clones with unique antigen binding characteristics. Naïve lymphocytes are subjected to rigorous selection processes in their compartment of origin to ensure that cells recognizing self are not released into the periphery^{55,56}. Most of these cells are deleted such that cells recognizing foreign antigens enter the circulation where they can encounter their cognate antigen, proliferate and differentiate into effector cells.

Antibodies, produced by B cells, can function in the effector phase of immune responses by 1) neutralizing pathogens and in some cases toxins secreted by pathogens, 2) serving as opsonins that promote phagocytosis of foreign material by macrophages or neutrophils and their eventual degradation within these cells, 3) initiating the complement cascade thereby activating several mediators that promote inflammation and assembly of the membrane attack complex, 4) serving as a bridge between a pathogen and NK cells in antibody dependent cellular cytotoxicity. Only pathogens located in the blood or the extra cellular spaces are accessible to antibodies⁵⁵. Some bacteria and all viruses replicate inside cells where they cannot be detected by this component of the adaptive immune response. T lymphocytes, as the effectors of the cell mediated immune response, are responsible for the destruction of intracellular pathogens^{55,56}. Cell mediated immunity relies on the direct interaction between infected cells and the T cells⁵⁷. Recognition of

infected cells by T lymphocytes initiates a series of events that result in the destruction of infected cells. T cells also contribute to the destruction of extra cellular pathogens by secreting factors that activate B cells and macrophages⁵⁶. The activation of T cells depends on the presentation of small peptide fragments of foreign antigen in the context of specialized cell-surface molecules, i.e. the membrane bound glycoproteins encoded by genes within the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) expressed on the infected host cells⁵⁵.

1.7.1 The Major Histocompatibility Complex:

Two classes of MHC molecules, class I and II, are important in this process (figure 6)⁵⁵. MHC class I antigens can be found on the surface of all nucleated cells and are recognized by CD8+ T lymphocytes (cytotoxic T lymphocytes-CTL). MHC class II molecules are expressed on the surface of professional antigen presenting cells (APC) and are recognized by CD4+ T lymphocytes (helper T cell-Th)⁵⁵⁻⁵⁷. The dichotomy of the system serves to target peptides derived from pathogens or foreign material localized in different cellular compartments, via MHC class I or II molecules. In general, peptides from exogenous antigens are presented by MHC class I molecules to CTLs. This notion of the division of antigens presented by MHC class I and II to the immune system is not absolute, as presentation of peptides from particular compartments can occur through either pathway, indicating the potential for cross-talk between the two routes of antigen presentation^{58,59}.



Figure 6. Major Histocompatibility Complex (MHC) class I (A) and class II (B) structures.

MHC is highly specialized to deal with a wide spectrum of foreign invaders due to its polygenic (multiple molecules expressed within the same individual) and polymorphic (multiple genes within the population) nature. The MHC locus contains more than 100 genes located in human chromosome 6^{60} . The α chain for the MHC I and the α and β chains for the MHC II molecule are encoded in this region, while the β_2 microglobulin chain that associates with the class I molecule is encoded on a separate chromosome (figure 6A)^{55,60}. The human class I region contains three loci, called HLA-A, HLA-B and HLA-C, each encoding the heavy chain of a classical MHC class I antigen. Non classical MHC class I alleles are also encoded by other loci within the MHC and in some cases have a more limited tissue expression pattern than do classical MHC class I antigens⁵⁶. The HLA-D region of the human MHC encodes at least six α and ten β chain genes for MHC class II molecules. Three loci DR, DP, and DQ encode the predominant class II alleles, although other genes encoding such molecules have also been identified⁵⁶. The polygenic nature of this locus allows for the presentation of peptides able to form complexes with the products of any one of the alleles encoded by expressed MHC class I and II genes. Moreover, these loci are highly polymorphic, and
the great diversity in these loci, with more than 80 alleles for the HLA-A, 180 for the HLA-B and 40 for HLA-C, (and at least equally high levels of polymorphism for HLA-DR, DP and DQ), leads to diverse patterns of expression of these alleles in different populations^{55,56,61}.

Distribution of the MHC molecules on the surface of cells is directly related to a cell's function and its role in infection. MHC class I molecules are expressed on all nucleated cells, as mentioned earlier. Thus any nucleated cell that becomes virally infected or transformed to express altered self antigens can present peptides to circulating T cells^{55,57}. Professional APC (B cells, macrophages and dendritic cells) also express MHC class II molecules. These can present foreign peptide antigens to CD4+ T cells, which secrete cytokines upon activation^{55,57}. Cell surface expression of MHC molecules is influenced by cytokines in the cellular microenvironment. Of interest, interferon- γ (IFN- γ) is particularly effective in inducing the cell surface expression of MHC class II. This effector molecule has dramatic effects at several levels of antigen presentation, as it upregulates the expression of MHC class I as well as several other components that are crucial to antigen processing and presentation⁵⁵.

1.7.2 B-lymphocytes:

The B lymphocytes, which develop in the bone marrow, express a unique receptor on their surface (figure 7). A secretable version of this receptor having the same antigen binding characteristics is produced in large quantities by plasma cells that differentiate from B lymphocytes upon activation. This molecule, the antibody, or immunoglobin (Ig) is composed of two chains each containing two regions. The constant region (Fc) contains sequence information that determines the class of the antibody molecule. There are 5 Ig classes, IgG, IgM, IgA, IgD and IgE that are also distinguished from each other by differences in effector function. The second portion is the unique component of the molecule, responsible for binding the antigen (Fab).



Fig 7. Antibody structure.

A number of irreversible events occur during B lymphocyte maturation that give rise to the great diversity seen in antibody specificities despite the limited number of variable region genes⁵⁵. There are 5 events during B lymphocyte receptor rearrangement that are critical in conferring the unique properties of the antigen binding domain of each circulating lymphocyte. The first step in antibody production begins with the random recombination and rearrangement of segments within the inherited variable gene locus (figure 8A). The process requires the association of different V and J regions in the light chain, and V, D and J regions within the heavy chain. More than 100 V segments, 30 D segments, and 6 J segments are rearranged to give rise to unique combinations of the functional antigen binding regions in the heavy chain⁵⁶. Similarly, multiple segments are equally recombined in the light chain to generate this level of diversity in the antigen binding cleft (figure 8A). The second level of variation is attributable to the random

endonuclease activity of the recombination activating genes 1 and 2 enzymes (RAG1 and 2) activities⁵⁵. These enzymes splice DNA segments randomly leading to the inclusion or exclusion of short stretches of nucleotides that can impact heavily on the amino acid sequence and thus on protein structure (figure 8B). Thirdly, endonuclease activity may lead to the generation of gaps in the recombined sequences, leading to the incorporation of n-nucleotides (non-template encoded nucleotides) to fill the gaps.



Figure 8. Mechanisms involved in the generation of antibody diversity; random recombination of segments within the heavy chain (A), random endonuclease cutting (B), and the addition of n-nucleotides (C).

The terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase enzyme (Tdt) adds up to 20 random nucleotides to the single-stranded ends of coding DNA after hairpin cleavage (Figure 8C)^{55,56}. The random association of a heavy chain with either of the two light chains, the κ or λ light chain, leads to added diversity during lymphocyte development⁵⁷. Finally, on antigen encounter in the periphery an additional mechanism, somatic hypermutation or affinitiy maturation, introduces a considerable number of point mutations within the variable region of the rearranged heavy and light chain genes. This process gives rise to

mutant antibodies that may bind antigen with a higher affinity than the previously rearranged antibody⁵⁵.

1.7.3 T-lymphocytes:

Unlike their B lymphocyte counterparts, T lymphocytes, developing in the thymus, do not secrete their receptor and cannot bind free antigen. Using their T cell receptor (TCR), T cells bind their antigen in the context of an MHC molecule on an antigen presenting cell (APC). T lymphocytes can be divided into two classes based on the expression of CD4 or CD8 cell surface molecules^{55,57}. CD4 molecules enhance the association of TCRs and MHC class II molecules, while the CD8 molecule encourages the interaction of TCRs with MHC class I molecules. Thus CD4 and CD8 are integral for the promotion of the contact between different subsets of T cells expressing TCRs and the MHC expressing cells⁵⁵.

Similar to the B cell, each T cell has a unique TCR. This receptor is composed of two separate chains, an α and a β polypeptide chain (figure 9). Diversity in the TCR is generated via the recombination of a limited number of segments that generate the variable region of the TCR, as mentioned above for antibody generation minus peripheral affinity maturation. Thus rearrangement and recombination of different segments of V and J segments in the α chain, and V, D, and J segments in the β chain, random endonuclease activity, addition of n-nucleotides, as well as the random association of different α and β chains leads to the production of a vast number of lymphocytes each bearing a unique TCR molecule^{55,56}. Once successful β gene rearrangement has occurred, the β polypeptide is presented on the cell surface in conjunction with a generic pre-T α chain. Successful signaling via this complex allows the cells to proliferate. These T cells,

all expressing the same β chains, then begin to undergo somatic rearrangement at the α chain locus. This process leads to the generation of T cells expressing different α chains in conjunction with the same β chain^{56,56}.



Figure 9. T cell receptor (TCR) structure.

The function of the TCR relies on associated transmembrane proteins (δ , γ , ε , ζ chain) which all together form the CD3 surface complex⁵⁵. Together, the complex is capable of transducing a signal when the TCR recognizes its cognate antigen in the context of the MHC. This interaction subsequently leads to activation, maturation, proliferation, and the secretion of various effector molecules.

1.7.4 Lymphocyte trafficking:

Naïve lymphocytes trafficking through lymphoid organs may encounter professional APCs displaying their cognate antigens. Recognition leads to the retention of the lymphocyte in the organ, allowing the stimulated cell to enlarge and begin dividing⁵⁵. Given that a tremendous number of unique lymphocytes exist in the circulation at any given time, it is clear that those that encounter their specific antigen must proliferate and

mature in order to generate sufficient effector cells to target the foreign agent. Thus clonal expansion allows for the specific proliferation of up to 1000 daughter cells from a single naïve lymphocyte recognizing its cognate antigen⁵⁵. Proliferation continues for 4-5 days, at which point the daughter cells become mature effector cells. Most effector cells are subject to a pre-determined life-span, and thus begin to die via apoptosis^{55,56}. A small subset of daughter cells persist, allowing for the development of immunological memory to the specific activating antigen. If antigen is reencountered memory cells will respond with a shorter lag phase than occurred following first encounter with the antigen^{55,61}. This leads to a more rapid induction of the effector phase in the secondary than in the primary immune response. In B cells this results in rapid production of higher levels of antibody with a higher affinity. For T cells this also results in more rapid, potent and focused effector responses⁵⁵.

1.7.5 Antigen Processing and Presentation:

Identification of some of the key players in antigen presentation and processing came as a surprise. It was assumed that the antigen processing machinery had to be present in all cell types that co-expressed MHC class I antigens. The machinery also had to have access to peptides from a wide range of cellular compartments. Based on the knowledge that all cellular proteins are subject to continuous turnover mediated by the cellular proteasome found in all cell types, it was hypothesized that this protein complex may also play a role in antigen processing^{58,59}. Experiments using inhibitors to block proteasome activity also prevented MHC class I maturation and antigen presentation on the cell surface⁵⁹. Thus it became clear that that the machinery involved in the normal cellular proteolytic pathway was also responsible for the production of peptides to be

displayed to the immune system. Evidence for the role of the proteasome in the immune response was reinforced by the discovery of a number of IFN- γ inducible proteasomal subunits that are transcribed and translated during an immune response, and are essential in the activity of the "immunoproteasome"⁵⁸.

Although the proteasome is integral in the generation of cytosolic peptides for presentation to cells of the immune system, other key cellular players are involved in this process. For example mechanisms involved in proteosomal targeting of proteins, translocation of peptides from the cytosol, peptide loading, and MHC class I maturation all appear to play an important role in shaping the subsequent immune response.

1.7.5.1 Ubiquitin Complex:

Antigen presentation begins with a complex network of proteins involved in targeting proteins for degradation, the ubiquitin protein ligases (figure 10)⁶². Initially, ubiquitin is activated by the E1 enzyme that forms a thiol ester on the targeted protein's C-terminus and then transfers the protein to a ubiquitin-carrier protein (E2)⁶³. Activated ubiquitin is then ligated by a ubiquitin-protein ligase (E3) to the epsilon group of lysine via an isopeptide bond on a protein substrate or to a ubiquitin moeity already bound to the protein⁶³. Thus a polyubiquitin chain is sythesized, which allows the 26S proteasomal complex to recognize the protein as being ready for degradation⁵⁹. As the proteasome degrades proteins non-specifically, it is probably the ubiquitin system that confers a level of specificity that marks proteins for degradation. Cells contain one E1, 10-15 E2s, and over 15 E3s⁶⁴. Combinations of different E2s and E3s can preferentially ubiquinate certain proteins. The specificity of this system has been demonstrated in targeted

degradation of cellular machinery during cell cycle and signal transduction, such as the degradation of cyclin-dependent kinases⁶⁵ and the inhibitor of NF κ B, I κ B⁶⁶.



Figure 10. Ubiquitin dependent protein degradation pathway.

Ubiquitination by the E2/E3 complex relies on the composition of the N-terminal residues of the target proteins, i.e. the "N-end Rule"⁶⁷. The N-end rule dictates that large bulky or charged amino termini are ubiquitinated rapidly and thus targeted for fast degradation. Foreign antigens, that are ubiquitinated more quickly, appear to be presented more effectively, and to elicit stronger immune responses^{67,68}. In addition when the E3 ubiquitin ligase function is inhibited, no antigen presentation occurs supporting an integral role for the ubiquitin system in antigen processing and presentation⁶⁹.

1.7.5.2 The Proteasome:

The next step in the process involves recognition of the ubiquitinated protein by the proteasome (figure 10). The proteasome is a large complex of proteins that is responsible for protein turnover in the cell and is found in the nucleus and the cytoplasm of all eukaryotic cells⁷⁰. The 20S core, ~700 kD in size, appears as a cylindrical structure composed of four stacked rings. Seven homologous, but distinct β subunits, surround the central chamber, of which 3 units in each ring are responsible for the proteolytic activity.

The outer rings are composed of 7 homologous but distinct α -subunits, which guard the substrate entry site of the proteasome⁷⁰.

The proteasome is considered to be a "multicatalytic protease" as it exhibits 3 peptidase activities: "chymotrypsin-like" activity cleaves after large hydrophobic residues, "trypsin-like" activity, cleaves after basic residues, and finally an acidic activity that cleaves after acidic residues. The specific activity depends on the β subunit, which is responsible for the peptidase activity⁷¹.

At each end of the proteasome complex there is a 19S subunit responsible for recognition of ubiquitinated substrates. This regulatory complex, contains the sites for binding of the polyubiquitin chains, and degrades these chains as the protein is processed, releasing free ubiquitin into the cell⁷⁰. Additionally, the 19S regulatory subunit is required for protein unfolding, and is thus a critical component of the 26S complex⁷². Proteins are digested in a highly processive manner once they have entered the complex. Seventy percent of the proteosomal degradation products are smaller than 8 amino acids in length, 20% are longer and yet could still be trimmed by additional proteases to fit in the MHC class I groove, and only 10% of the products of the proteasome are 8-mer peptides⁷³. Proteasome cleavage is responsible for the synthesis of the C-terminus of the antigen⁷⁴. This is clear as few proteases can remove the C-terminal residues from antigenic peptides.

Two of the proteasome β subunits are encoded within the MHC locus. These subunits enhance the presentation of some antigens⁷⁵. The 2 β subunits, LMP2 and LMP7, are constitutively expressed in lymphoid tissues, and are strongly induced by IFN- γ in non-lymphoid cells⁷⁶. Proteasomes containing LMP 2 and 7 are called

"immunoproteasomes" as they have an important role in antigen presentation. LMP2 and 7 induction by IFN-γ results in the incorporation of these subunits into cellular proteasomes, thus leads to the replacement of the constitutively expressed homologues. Induction of these two subunits leads to an increase in the trypsin-like and chymotrypsinlike activity of the proteasome⁷⁷. With the augmentation of these two activities a greater proportion of peptides are generated with basic or hydrophobic C-termini, which are required for efficient transport by the transporters associated with antigen processing (TAP) proteins, and binding to MHC class I molecules⁷⁸. The newly formed immunoproteasome seems to be selective and is more effective in the presentation of certain immunogenic peptides⁷⁵.

1.7.5.3 TAP Transporter:

Studies aimed at delineating the antigen presentation pathway in the mid 1980's used two mutant cell lines with low levels of MHC class I on their surface, RMA-S and T2⁷⁹. Unstable MHC class I complexes accumulated in the ER in both these cell lines, which led investigators to infer that the defect in MHC class I expression was in peptide translocation from the cytosol to the ER. The genetic defect was characterized, and mapped to a region of the MHC class II locus that encoded for two proteins, TAP I and II⁸⁰. Introduction of both TAP I and II into the cell lines by transfection, restored MHC class I expression on the cell surface. It was therefore conclusively accepted that these two proteins serve an integral role in antigen presentation.

Based on certain calculations, Yewdell et al. concluded that many more proteins are degraded than are presented by the immune system⁸¹. It was apparent that as few as 1 in 1000 peptides synthesized in the cytosol by the proteasome were actually presented by

an MHC class I complex⁸². Restriction of peptide presentation can occur at the level of TAP translocation activity⁸³, inefficient MHC class I loading⁷⁷ and exclusion of peptides with a proline at position 2 from the ER by the TAP system⁸⁴.

Peptide binding to the TAP protein-binding site is the first step in the process of antigen translocation. TAP translocates peptides of 8-16 amino acids in length most efficiently⁸⁵. The C-terminal residue of the peptide being translocated appears to influence TAP translocation. Hydrophobic C-termini⁸⁶ and proline at position 3 in the peptide⁸⁷ increase translocation efficiency, whereas acetylation or methylation of the N-terminus or conversion of the C terminal carboxyl group of a peptide to an amide decrease TAP binding and thus translocation to the ER⁸⁸.

As only 10% of peptides degraded by the proteasome are 8-10 amino acids long and 20% are longer than the optimal length required for binding to the MHC class 1 binding groove, the majority of peptides that are translocated by the TAP transporters require further trimming. A variety of amino-peptidases exist in the ER, that allow for the modification of the length of the peptide⁵⁹. The complex expression of different combinations of proteases, depending on tissue expression, may determine the degree or type of antigens presented to the immune system. Thus it is possible that immunodominant epitopes may be translocated as longer pieces, and then trimmed to the optimal size in the ER⁵⁸.

1.7.5.4 MHC Class I peptide loading:

Polymorphisms in HLA molecules lead to the generation of molecules with different binding grooves for peptide presentation. Six pockets have been identified within the MHC class I molecule binding grooves, unique to each HLA allele⁵⁵. Binding

grooves vary both in depth and chemical interactions with peptides, and therefore selectively present those peptides that conform to the requisite shape of the groove and that bind tightly. Peptides form salt bridges and hydrogen bonds within the two pockets located at either end of the groove. Binding within these pockets is crucial for stability and maturation of the MHC class I-peptide complex and cell surface expression. Given structural similarity in the binding grooves of certain HLA molecules, it is possible to group some HLA alleles into supertypes such as the HLA-A3 supertype, which includes HLA-A3, A11, A31, and A33. Members of a supertype all bind similar peptides with common HLA binding motif sequences^{89,90,91}. Binding of peptide is essential for the maturation of MHC class I complexes⁹². Once the MHC class I heavy chain, β 2-microglobulin, and peptide complex are assembled, the complex is released from the TAP transporters in the ER, and shuttled, via the translocon, through the Golgi apparatus to the cell surface⁹³.

1.7.5.5 The Alternative Pathway of MHC Class I loading:

While the MHC class I pathway presents peptides from the endogenous pool of cellular proteins, the MHC class II pathway presents peptides derived from exogenous antigens to the immune system. MHC class II is expressed on professional APCs such as macrophages, monocytes, dendritic cells, and B cells⁵⁵. Exogenous peptides, picked up in endocytic vesicles, are cleaved in acidic compartments by cellular proteases, and are then loaded onto the MHC class II molecules in specialized MHC class II compartments (MIIC) ⁵⁸. The MHC class II molecule is associated with an invariant chain (Ii) that blocks the binding of peptides found in the ER. Once an appropriate peptide from an

endocytic vesicle arrives in the MIIC compartment, the Ii is dislocated, the peptide binds, and the complex is escorted to the cell surface by a chaperone protein, HLA-DM⁵⁵.

Exogenous proteins can also be presented by the MHC class I pathway. Two potential routes include: 1) exogenous peptides having access to MHC class I loading sites in the ER, or 2) a post-Golgi loading of exogenous peptides that compete for the binding site of the endogenously loaded peptides from the ER. A number of possible mechanisms for this cross-talk between the two pathways have been identified. Isenman et al. demonstrated that antigens from endocytic vesicles can be "transferred" to the cytosol, in a manner that does not disrupt the endosomal membrane⁹⁴. These proteins can then be degraded by the proteasomal pathway, and presented through the MHC class I pathway as endogenous proteins. A second route of cross- talk was proposed where endocytic vesicles that are overloaded and overwhelmed by their contents can rupture within the cell, allowing exogenous antigens to be released into the cytosol⁹⁵. Finally, MHC class I molecules that are internalized from the surface into endosomal compartments already loaded with a peptide from the endogenous pathway, under low pH, may loose their peptide from their binding groove. Thus exogenous peptides found in these endosomal compartments may associate with these empty binding grooves, and allow for the re-externalization of the MHC I molecules complexed to peptides derived from exogenous antigens⁹⁶. Sub-optimally loaded MHC class I molecules, have an additional chance to exchange their peptides for exogenous peptides that bind with higher affinity to the peptide that was loaded in the ER upon arrival in the Golgi⁵⁸. Antigens processed in endosomal compartments are degraded by a separate class of proteases, and thus allow for a diversification of potential peptides. The ability to present exogenous

peptides on MHC class I molecules, may be a feature of professional APC^{58} . It is additionally possible that the nature of the antigen acquired by an APC from its microenvironment may influence the path by which it is presented⁹⁷.

1.7.5.6 Mechanisms used by viruses to evade processing and presentation

As a number of viral infections take place in the cytoplasm, viral proteins, produced in the cytosol are inevitably targeted to the MHC class I pathway. Families of viruses have developed sophisticated methods of avoiding detection by the immune system, by altering the ability of the MHC class I pathway to warn the immune system of their presence within a cell. Oncogenic adenoviral strain 12 artfully represses the transcription of a β subunit of the immunoproteasome, TAP proteins and of the MHC class I heavy chains⁹⁸. Similarly, in an effort to go undetected, Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) contains a glycine-alanine repeat within its gene products that inhibit antigen processing⁹⁹. Cytomegalovirus (CMV) equally evades the immune response via the rapid phosphorylation of its immediate early protein. This modification prevents the degradation of a critical immunodominant epitope located within the phosphorylated region¹⁰⁰. Viruses such as the Moloney leukemia virus contain a single amino acid within a dominant epitope that prevents the epitope from being processed and presented by the MHC class I pathway¹⁰¹. Association of HIV-1 Nef protein with the cytoplasmic tail of MHC class 1 loaded molecules induces rapid internalization of these complexes making them unavailable for recognition be cognate T $cells^{102}$.

Several studies have focused on distributions of MHC encoded alleles and their role in HIV disease progression or protection from infection¹⁰³⁻¹⁰⁸. Large cohort studies have allowed for the evaluation of the role of HLA alleles in different groups of HIV infected patients, such as fast progressors or long term non-progressors (LTNP)¹⁰⁹. As the disease is still relatively new, viral infection would have had little impact on the selection of HLA allele expression within the population. An interesting observation made in chimpanzees makes the role of HLA in the rate of disease progression difficult to explain. Chimpanzees, typically exhibit a benign course of disease, yet they share 98% homology with humans in their HLA allele sequences¹¹⁰. Given this degree of similarity between the two species, it is difficult to reconcile how these alleles, which are responsible for eliciting immune responses in both species, could have an impact in one and not the other.

Heterozygosity at MHC loci would increase the number of potential peptides presented to the immune system and therefore enlarge the breadth of the response. In fact, homozygosity was associated with a negative impact on disease progression¹⁰⁵. The presence of certain alleles is associated with a more rapid disease course, while still others with progression. Several reports have shown that HLA-B35 and Cw4 are strongly associated with a poor clinical outcome, while B57, and B27 are associated with slow disease progression^{105,111}. In several cases haplotypes that include several linked loci influence the strength of the association of particular MHC class I alleles with disease progression^{111,112}. Although certain protective alleles such as B27, B57, B39, etc...are enriched in groups of LTNPs¹⁰⁶, the majority of these alleles appear to be rare in most

human populations. Thus populations of resistant individuals may emerge with time, due to evolutionary constraints placed upon survival by this new human viral infection.

A separate population of individuals, that are exposed-uninfected (EU), remain seronegative despite repeated exposures to the virus. Makedonas et al. have shown that EUs demonstrating HIV-specific effector responses appear to be at a 40 fold lower risk of seroconversion than EUs without antiviral activity¹¹³. Given that effector responses may be important for preventing infection, the role of HLA in this group has been the subject of extensive discussion. While the relative risk of expressing A2, A28, and DR13 in EUs may be elevated compared to infected individuals according to one study¹¹², the association of these molecules with protection is not clear in another¹⁰⁷. Two groups of prostitutes in Africa^{114,115} and in a group of discordant couples¹¹⁶ appear to be protected from infection. It is possible that these individuals may be protected due to superior antiviral cytotoxic responses allowing them to neutralize the virus at exposure. Yet, an alternate explanation for this resistance may be HLA independent. The virion coat, as it buds off, incorporates host cell surface molecules such as HLA molecules¹¹⁷. It is possible that on infection, exposure to heterologous HLA molecules (derived from the infecting host) on the viral coat may induce an anti-HLA response in the newly infected subject. Perhaps, constant exposure to foreign cells, expressing heterologous HLA molecules due to continuous sex-trade or sexual contact with the same partner, may lead to effective allo-HLA responses in these three groups. Consequently, these responses may protect against infection as cytolytic activity or antibody mediated effector responses within the mucosa may lead to the clearance of non-host HLA carrying viral material¹¹⁸.

1.9.1 NK Cells

NK cells, which serve as a first line non-MHC dependent defense against invading pathogens, are vital to the immune responses to viral infections and tumors¹¹⁹. These cells secrete antiviral cytokines such as IFN- γ , granulocyte/macrophage-colony-stimulating factor (GMCSF), tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α), RANTES, and MIP-1 α without prior stimulation¹²⁰. NK cell activity is triggered via the recognition of reduced expression of MHC class I on the surface of infected cells¹²¹. Several viral infections have devised mechanisms to escape CTL detection via downregulation of MHC class I surface expression¹²². As mentioned previously, the HIV protein Nef is responsible for the retention of MHC class I A and B molecules within the ER, thus leading to reduced presentation of viral proteins to circulating lymphocytes²⁴. Yet, in HIV infection HLA-C and E molecules are expressed at normal levels¹²³. These molecules are the primary ligands of NK cell receptors. Depending on whether HIV infected cells expressing HLA-C or HLA-E encounter NK cells with stimulatory or inhibitory versions of these NK receptors, they will either be killed or ignored by NK cells¹²³

Recent work has demonstrated that a strong association exists between the coexpression of KIR3DS1 and Bw4 and slow disease progression, supporting the notion that NK cells play an integral role in HIV disease progression¹²⁴. NK cell function appears to be seriously impaired with progressive infection, despite preserved cell numbers¹²⁵. Of note, a negative correlation appears to exist between CD4 T cell numbers and NK activity¹²⁶. It is speculated that reduced NK activity may be attributable to a decline in IL-12 secretion with advancing disease¹²⁷. Additionally, mature cytotoxic NK cells expressing CD16/CD56 appear to fall in HIV infection, while weakly cytotoxic CD16-CD56- cells increase¹²⁸. Moreover, a striking positive correlation exists between NK activity and viral load, indicating that greater viremia may lead to increased activation of this cell compartment¹²⁶. It is believed that impaired NK cell function may impact heavily on CTL activity, as gradual NK defects may lead to a reduced production of IFN- γ , which is important for CD8+ T cell activity.

1.9.2 Macrophages

Macrophages are important players in the innate immune response to infection. Foreign material is actively engulfed by this subset of cells and digested independent of T cell help⁵⁵. Yet several types of pathogens have developed mechanisms to avoid this activity, and thus specific immune responses to these infections are required for clearance. Macrophages present fragments of digested pathogen products complexed to MHC class I and II molecules to circulating lymphocytes. While some studies have alluded to reduced phagocytic activity in HIV-infected macrophages¹²⁹, this issue remains unclear¹³⁰. Several groups have demonstrated that *in vitro* HIV infected macrophages are less effective at inducing lymphoproliferative responses¹³¹, secreting cytokines¹³², and responding to chemoattractive signals¹³³. Recent work has also demonstrated the reduced expression of essential costimulatory molecules on APCs, CD40 and CD80/CD86, on the surface of these APCs^{134,135}. It is still unclear if these defects are directly due to infection of the macrophages by HIV or due to aberrant signals received from other immune cells.

1.9.3 Dendritic Cells

Dendritic Cells (DC) are professional APCs that are critical initiators of the adaptive immune response⁵⁵. Several different classes of DCs have now been identified. Each subset of DCs appears to be responsible for surveillance within distinct compartments. For example, while Langerhans cells are essential for immune-surveillance in the skin, myeloid DCs perform the same duty in the circulatory system¹³⁶. Several subsets of DCs are known to express CD4 and both co-receptors (CCR5 and CXCR4) required for viral entry. Difficulty in identifying if DCs could be infected by the virus stemmed from the fact that the virus replicates at a very low level in this cell type. It is now certain that Langerhans cells, myeloid DCs, as well as plasmacytoid DCs can all be infected both *in vivo* and *in vitro*^{137,138}.

Discovery of the novel molecule, DC-SIGN, has confirmed the critical role of DCs in early events of HIV dissemination. This molecule appears to bind viral particles with a higher affinity than HIV co-receptors¹³⁹. Additionally, DC-SIGN interaction with the virus does not lead to a productive infection, but to a phenomenon of viral "trapping"¹⁴⁰. This process allows the virus to remain infectious for prolonged periods of time, and consequently may promote transport of infectious particles to the lymph nodes¹⁴¹. Although this molecule is pivotal for viral dissemination, it may not play a role in mucosal infection as it is not expressed on Langerhans cells within the vaginal walls¹⁴². Thus it is more likely that infection of immature DCs via CCR5 may be the primary source of the earliest events in HIV infection within the mucosa¹³⁷. Additionally, recent studies have demonstrated that Tat can directly induce chemokine expression in

DCs, leading to substantial T cell recruitment, further supporting the role of DCs in early events of viral dissemination following infection¹⁴³.

DC numbers are reduced in a variety of tissues during HIV infection¹⁴⁴. In addition, these cells appear to be compromised in their APC function, by inadequately priming T cells, and inducing impaired humoral responses¹⁴⁴. Clear reductions in MHC class II expression on the surface of this cell subset has been observed, and may account for the inefficient activation and priming of CD4+ T cells during the course of infection¹⁴⁵. Whether HIV infection directly disrupts cytokine production by DCs¹⁴⁶ or leads to reduced expression of CD80/CD86¹³¹, is still unclear. Additionally, it is known that secretion of IL-12, a critical inducer of Th1 responses and activator of both NK cells and CTLs, is severely compromised in HIV infected DCs¹⁴⁷.

1.9.4 Lymphoid Tissue:

The first cells to come in contact with HIV or SIV during mucosal infection appear to be monocytes/macrophages and Langerhans' cells^{148,149}, as mentioned above. In the context of vaginal infection in the SIV model, viral replication is detectable in the iliac lymph nodes within a few days¹⁴⁸, and within tissues within 2 weeks of infection¹⁴⁹. During rectal infection, uninfected DCs in the rectal mucosa allow for the transfer of the virus to CD4+ T cells in lymph nodes(LN) via binding to DC-SIGN¹³⁹. During early infection, viral particles localize to the surface of follicular dendritic cells (FDCs), rather than in lymphocytes within the LNs¹⁵⁰. Vigorous viral replication occurs in LNs¹⁵¹ at this early time in the disease. Typically, LNs swell due to extensive proliferation of HIVspecific lymphocytes and due to the significant influx of lymphocytes to germinal centers (B cell areas) and paracortical areas (T cell areas)¹⁵², making lymphadenopathy the second most common symptom during the acute retroviral syndrome¹⁵³. Although as many as ~1-2% of HIV infected lymphocytes are detectable in the circulation, it appears that the targets for novel infection are predominantly located within the LN tissue compartments. Throughout the asymptomatic stage of disease, increasing numbers of resting latently infected CD4+ T cells localize within LN mantle regions¹⁵⁴. Gut associated lymphoid tissues, containing the majority of activated CD4+ T cells is another major target for viral infection in untreated disease¹⁵⁵. Increased infections of cells within the lymphoid tissues appear to be the predominant contributor to changes in the level of free virus during infection¹⁵⁶.

Following initiation of HAART the destruction of lymphoid architecture caused by uncontrolled HIV infection is resolved, to a certain extent¹⁴⁹. Immediately following reduction in viral load, there is an observable increase in lymphocyte numbers in the circulation. This increase is mainly due to the redistribution of memory cells from LN rather than to newly emerging naïve cells^{157,158}. Following a period of therapy, naïve T cells begin to emerge from the thymus and repopulate the circulation and lymphoid tissues¹⁵⁹.

As untreated infection progresses, lymph node architecture is severely disrupted as CD4+ T cells and FDCs are systematically destroyed¹⁶⁰. Intense hyperplasia is associated with developing disease, with characteristic depletion of LN CD4+ T cells and FDCs during end stage disease¹⁶¹. Recent work in the SIV model suggests that the level of peak viremia is associated with the degree of lymphoid atrophy¹⁶². Monkeys displaying high peak viremia during primary infection displayed pronounced lymphoid destruction as compared with monkeys manifesting lower peak viremia.

1.9.5 The Humoral Response

Antibodies to HIV are detectable within 2 to 3 weeks after infection and are directed at a variety of viral gene products. Despite the abundance of antibodies following infection, a large proportion may not have antiviral effects¹⁶³⁻¹⁶⁶. Some antibodies directed towards the Env gp120 glycoprotein can block viral entry and thus neutralize viral infection¹⁶⁷⁻¹⁶⁹. A subset of these antibodies are directed at the V3 loop, hyper-variable region, or to the "neutralization face" on gp120 that overlaps the CD4 binding site¹⁷⁰. Those antibodies that bind the V3 loop are more effective at binding autologous strains than laboratory strains, and better at neutralizing recent autologous isolates. It is likely, that HIV may escape antibody control early in infection due to its high mutation rate. Regions targeted by antibodies may change early in infection and evolve to escape antibody induced pressure¹⁶³. Similarly, heavy glycosylation of gp120 may mask regions important for antibody recognition¹⁷¹.

Several observations suggest that this arm of the immune response may not be effective at controlling viral infection. 1) Few LTNPs¹⁷² and EUs^{115,173} have neutralizing antibodies. 2) Reduction of plasma viremia precedes the induction of antibodies in HIV primary infection (PI) ^{174,175}. 3) There is no clear correlation between antibody titer and protection¹⁰⁶. 4) Although passive administration of neutralizing polyclonal or monoclonal antibodies can protect macaques challenged with SIV, extremely high concentrations of these antibodies are required to induce protective immunity to primary isolates¹⁷⁶. Yet, in support of a role for neutralizing antibodies in control of HIV infection, a reduced risk of vertical transmission has been observed in infants who received neutralizing maternal antibodies¹⁶⁵.

Other types of antibodies may play a role in HIV infection¹⁶. These include antibodies associated with opsonization of infected cells, as well as those involved in antibody-dependent cell mediated cytolysis (ADCC). Presence of antibodies responsible for ADCC has been shown to be temporally correlated with reduction in viral load in PI¹⁷⁷.

Several recent studies have begun to delineate factors that may be responsible for the ineffectiveness of the humoral arm of the immune response in controlling HIV infection. Although neutralizing antibodies are present in the early stages of the antiviral immune response, these antibodies are incapable of neutralizing dominant viral isolates¹⁶. Some changes in the viral genetic sequence interfere with antibody recognition due to escape or conformational changes in the structure of gp120^{164,166}, as mentioned above. Yet new data reveals that other mutations may in fact lead to the rearrangement of sugar moieties on the molecule¹⁷⁸. Given that there are 25 glycosylation sites on the gp120 molecule, the redistribution of sugars on the HIV glycoprotein can dramatically affect antibody access to their cognate epitopes. Kolchinsky et al. demonstrated the impact of sugar molecule rearrangement, as removal of certain glycosylation sites rendered previously insensitive viral isolates sensitive to neutralizing antibodies¹⁷⁹.

1.9.6 The Cell Mediated Immune Responses:

CD4 T cells can be separated into Th1 and Th2 subset depending on their cytokine secretion profiles⁵⁵. Th1 cells are distinguished from the Th2 subtype as they secrete IL-2, IFN- γ , TNF- α , which are integral to establishing a strong cell mediated immune response. In contrast, Th2 cells secrete IL-4, 5, 6, 10 and 13, which preferentially drive a humoral response^{55,56}. Differentiation of precursor Th0 CD4+ T

cells into one of the two subsets appears to be greatly influenced by the antigen¹⁸⁰ or the cytokines present in the milieu at the time of immune activation.

Cytokine profiles during the course of HIV infection, suggest that HIV infected subjects who exhibit Th1 type responses during the asymptomatic stage of disease control their virus more effectively, and development of a predominant Th2 response is associated with progression during the symptomatic stage of infection¹⁸¹. Concurrent loss of CTL effector function, during the symptomatic phase of the disease, is associated with the shift towards a Th2 response¹⁸².

1.9.6.1 T cell activation

Naive T cells normally circulate from one lymphoid compartment to another via blood or lymph¹⁸³. Entry into the spleen is non-specific, while entry into lymph nodes is dependent on the expression of CD62L, an adhesion molecule that allows cells to penetrate the high endothelial venules (HEV), and CCR7, a lymphoid organ homing receptor. Naive T cells, which are CD62L+ and CCR7+ can enter LNs¹⁸⁴. Initiation of an immune response requires transport of foreign antigens to the lymphoid organs. As APCs enter the T cell areas of LNs, they begin to interact with circulating naive T cells. T cells that bind specifically form a tight immunological synapse with the APC within minutes¹⁸⁵. Synapse formation leads to the accumulation of a number of cell surface and intracellular proteins involved in efficient cell signaling. Cell surface molecules that may be essential in synapse stabilization or T cell activation include CD28 (important for IL-2 induction), LFA-1, CD40L, ICOS, OX40, CD2, and CD27¹⁸⁶. T cells that do not bind specifically exit the lymph node. Thus antigen specific T cells are trapped and become immobilized¹⁸⁷. Following immunological synapse formation, naïve T cells proliferate

and differentiate into effector cells that can play a role in elimination of the pathogen. Activated effector cells are then excluded from the lymphoid organs as they down-regulate their CD62L and CCR7 surface molecules¹⁸⁸. Following activation, clonal expansion increases the size of the pool of antigen specific effector T cells which are needed to clear or control the pathogen. Non-lymphoid homing and death may account for the exponential contraction of the clonal pool of T cells. A number of effector cells localize to the spleen or to the gut, while the greater proportion die within 5-7 days following activation¹⁸⁹. Only a small proportion of the effector cells survive to become long-lived memory T cell^{184,189}.

IFN- γ plays an integral role in the contraction of activated CD8+ T cells, as IFN- γ -/- mice exhibit a poor contraction within the antigen specific effector pool following CD8+ T cell activation¹⁹⁰. CD4 T cell contraction involves a negative signal from CTLA- 4^{191} , followed by cytokine insensitivity, and finally the interaction of Fas/FasL¹⁹². Otherwise, both CD4 and CD8 T cells die if they do not receive survival signals from protective cytokines¹⁹³.

1.9.6.2 Memory Markers

Differentiation of T cells can be monitored via the expression of surface molecules that are essential for cell circulation and activity at particular stages of naïve, memory and effector T cell development. These molecules allow different subsets of cells to circulate/home through different immune system compartments and to respond to antigen stimulation differently¹⁸⁴. Several markers are critical for classifying the differentiation status of cells. CD45 (a protein tyrosine phosphatase component of the TCR signaling pathway, acting as a positive regulator of Src family protein tyrosine

kinases (PTKs) such as Lck), CCR7, CD62L, CD28 (the T cell receptor that binds B7 molecules on APC that is required for T cell activation), CD27 (traf-linked tumor necrosis factor receptor family member costimulatory molecule), perforin, and α -TRECs (T cell receptor excision circles) are a few markers that are integral to our understanding of T cell maturation (Figure 11).





Two isoforms of the CD45 molecule are presented on the surface of T cells at differential stages of maturation. The RA, or the long isoform, is predominantly present on the surface of naïve and end stage effector T cells¹⁹⁴. Conversely, the RO or short isoform, is found on the surface of memory cell subsets. Both CD27 and CD28 are expressed on the surface of T cells throughout maturation, and are only lost when cells reach the end stage effector phase¹⁹⁵. CCR7 and CD62L are predominantly expressed on the surface of naïve T cells; the loss of these two molecules marks mature memory cells¹⁸⁴. α -TRECs are the result of successful rearrangement of the TCR α -chain. Given that gene rearrangement leads to the excision of pieces of germline genetic material, identification of α -TREC+ cells is an excellent marker for naïve T cells that have recently emigrated from the thymus¹⁹⁶. Finally, perforin expression is an important marker of end

stage cytolytic effector cells¹⁹⁵. All together, naïve cells are characterized by the expression of CD45RA+CD27+CD28+CCR7+CD62L+TREC+Perforin-, memory cells express CD45RO+CD27+CD28+CCR7-CD62L-TREC-Perforin-, and end stage effectors express CD45RA+CD27-CD28-CCR7-CD62L-TREC-Perforin+.

1.9.6.3 Development of T cell Memory

The mechanism by which cells are selected to become long-lived memory cells is still unclear. For example, it is still unknown whether cells are specifically selected to become memory cells based on their TCR interaction, or if this is a passive process. The theory behind the passive memory pool formation is that effector cells produced later in infection may be retained to populate the memory pool, while cells that appear earlier receive a death signal¹⁹⁷. Thus, cells that are recruited earlier to the site of infection, that encounter large doses of the antigen lose the ability to express CCR7 and become polarized effector cells. In contrast, cells that appear later at the site of infection may avoid cytokine polarization and retain CCR7 expression and thus establish the pool of central memory cells.

It is clear that effector T cells may give rise to memory cells and vice versa, this pathway has been described in other viral infection models such as LCMV and CMV¹⁹⁸. A striking defect in the generation of HIV specific memory subsets has been identified in the context of HIV infection, that could potentially explain why viral control is lost in HIV infection as disease progresses¹⁹⁹. While significant numbers of end stage CMV-specific effector cells (CD45RA+CCR7-CD62L-) are present in CMV/HIV coinfected subjects, there is a dramatic deficit in this subset among HIV-specific cells. HIV specific cells. HIV specific cells, observed via tetramer staining, accumulate in a memory (pre-effector) compartment

(CD45R0+CCR7-CD62L-), which are weakly cytolytic¹⁹⁹. Several groups have hypothesized that the loss of HIV-specific CD4+ T cells during HIV acute infection/early disease (AIED) may be responsible for delivering fewer maturation signals to memory cells resulting in skewing in the distribution of HIV-specific memory subsets such that pre-effector cell types accumulate^{194,195}.

1.9.6.4 Cytotoxic T Lymphocytes:

HIV specific CD8+ T cells comprise the effector arm of the immune response to invading viral infections. CTLs appear to be integral for the clearance of initial plasma viral loads^{174,200}, and the maintenance of viral set points in HIV infection¹⁷⁵. When CD8+ CTLs recognize foreign antigens they are selectively activated, proliferate and become effector cells. The critical need for these cells was shown when depletion of these cells in SIV infected macaques led to uncontrolled replication of virus in either the primary phase or the chronic phase of infection, and subsequent rapid progression to disease^{201,202}. Strong and broad HIV-specific CTL responses have been observed in LTNP^{172,203,204}, who control their viral loads spontaneously. Such responses have also been seen in EUs^{113,115,116,173}. The presence of sustained HIV specific CTL responses in both these groups of patients implicates these responses are associated with better clinical prognosis¹⁰⁵ and loss or weakened CTL responses correlate with disease progression in late stage disease^{182,205}.

HIV specific CD8+ T cells can kill infected cells either through direct killing, via the release of perform and granzymes, or through the release of anti-viral factors²⁰⁶. Interferon- γ (IFN- γ) is secreted at all stages of infection, and may be protective due to its

inhibitory effect on viral replication²⁰⁷. CTLs also appear to secrete varying degrees of tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α). This cytokine seems to have pleiotropic effects which can both activate more vigorous immune responses as well as up regulate viral replication²⁰⁸. CD8+ T cells may reduce viral replication by secretion of β chemokines such as MIP-1 α , MIP-1 β , or RANTES^{209,210}, which block viral entry by binding the coreceptor for HIV entry, or via the release of CAFs (CD8+ T cell antiviral factor), which suppress viral replication by blocking LTR-mediated transcription²¹¹.

Despite the wealth of evidence supporting a role for CTL activity in controlling HIV infection these antiviral responses are unable to clear the infection. The reasons for this may be related to HIV-specific CTLs being functionally defective. As few as 15% of HIV-specific versus 50% of CMV specific CTLs stain for perform and kill efficiently¹⁹⁵. HIV specific cells appear to be compromised in their ability to develop into fully mature effector killer cells, which could contribute to their inability to effectively lyse their targets, as mentioned above¹⁹⁹.

1.9.6.5 CD4+ help

CD4+ T cells secrete IL-2 once activated, which can stimulate both the cellmediated immune response, as well as the humoral immune response. Additionally, a subset of these cells is able to directly kill their targets through the secretion of granzyme and perforin¹⁹⁴. During the course of infection, HIV specific CD4+ T cells become activated. Douek et al. have shown that HIV-specific CD4+ T cells are more susceptible to HIV infection than cells of other specificities and that naïve CD4+ T cell are more susceptible to infection than memory cells²¹². The exquisite sensitivity of naïve HIVspecific cells to infection is probably related to their activation upon HIV encounter,

which renders them permissive for HIV replication and the fact that they do not secrete the antiviral factor, IFN- γ , immediately upon activation as do memory cells²¹². Skewed maturation of the CD4+ T cell memory compartment, in addition to reduced expression and secretion of IL-2, but not IFN- γ , is associated with progression to disease²¹³. Whereas the potential to produce IL-2 was sustained in the CMV specific CD4+ T cells and in the HIV specific CD4+ T cells of LTNPs, IL-2 secretion was not induced in HIV-specific CD4+ T cells from chronically infected HIV patients²¹³. In LTNPs the frequency of CD4+IFN γ +IL-2+ CD45RA+ CCR7- cells, a distinct population of phenotypically mature HIV-specific CD4+ effector T cells, was inversely correlated to the viral load.

The impact of a strong CD4+ response on the development and persistence of CD8+ responses is a currently an intense area of investigation. Several recent reports have shown, using small animal models, the importance of CD4+ responses for the generation of memory CD8+ cells²¹⁴⁻²¹⁷. In HIV infection virus-specific CD4+ T cell function, as measured by proliferation to HIV proteins, becomes compromised early in infection in all but LTNP who are able to spontaneously maintain low viral load levels²¹⁸. This could be one of the factors that accounts for persistence of the infection as only suboptimal T cell help is available for establishment of memory and an effective CTL response. As mentioned previously, lack of CD4+ help in HIV infection, as well as in other viral infections, has been speculated to be responsible for important defects in the cell mediated immunity. Absence of T cell help leads to inefficient priming of CD8+ T cells that express less IFN- γ^{195} ; skewing of effector maturation as immature CTLs accumulate during progressive HIV infection¹⁹⁹; and loss of essential CD8+ T cell responses²¹⁹.

CD4+ T cell function deteriorates as infection progresses. Both IL-2 production and proliferation are lost first to HIV antigens, then to recall antigen, next to allo-antigen, and finally to mitogens²²⁰. Patients who have responses to all these stimuli appear to have a better clinical outcome, whereas those who have lost the ability to respond to these antigens progress more rapidly. Both absolute CD4+ T cell numbers and their ability to proliferate in response to p24 antigen stimulation are inversely correlated with viral load²¹⁸. Additionally, patients with progressive HIV infection have fewer IFN- γ secreting CD4+ T cells than patients who are in HIV PI or are LTNPs²²¹. Additionally, T helper activity correlates well with Gag specific CTL in that they are both inversely related to plasma viral load²¹⁹. T helper activity as measured by proliferation is associated with the presence of a number of CTL precursors. Although CTLs are observed in the absence of T helper activity in chronic infection, these responses do not seem effective in long term control of viral replication²¹⁹. Moreover, treatment of chronic infection does not seem to be able to reestablish or allow new HIV specific CD4 responses to develop^{218,222,223}, while treatment of primary infection seems to overcome this problem via preservation of these essential responses before deletion^{218,224}.

1.9.7 Other Viral Infections:

Although infections such as influenza can be cleared efficiently by a healthy immune system, a number of viral infections exist that are not cleared, but rather are controlled indefinitely by the immune system. EBV and CMV infections in humans and LCMV infection in mice are a few examples of well-studied models of controlled chronic infections¹⁶³. Characterization of the mechanisms by which the immune system responds and then controls these infections allows us to unravel the mysteries behind

immunological control of persistent viral infections. The immune system is vital to the control of these infections, as they generally only cause serious disease in populations that are immunosuppressed¹⁶³. Understanding the process of long-term viral suppression in these viral models may aid in understanding why control of HIV is ineffective, and why disease progresses in 95% of infected patients.

Murine LCMV infection is characterized by an intense activation and expansion of CD8+ T cells during acute infection, which is temporally correlated with a reduction in plasma viremia¹⁶³. The virus-specific T cell pool then contracts although an antigenspecific memory response persists thereafter. T cell subpopulation depletion experiments in this LCMV infection model showed that CD8+ T cells played an integral role in viral clearance and that CD4+ T cells were involved in maintenance of effective CD8+ T cell responses^{219,225}. Mice that lacked CD4+ T cells were able to induce strong CD8+ T cell responses during the acute stage of infection, but the virus was poorly controlled in the chronic phase of infection²¹⁹. When CD4+ T cells were removed during chronic infection, CD8+ T cells were still able to respond quickly and effectively. In contrast when T cell help was impaired during the priming phase in the acute response to the virus, CTLs were unable to respond effectively to a second challenge even if the CD4+ T cells were present at this time²⁰⁹⁻²¹². Thus it is clear that functional antigen-specific CD4+ T cell responses must be present during a primary immune response to establish effective memory responses that will maintain long term control of the virus.

Observations of this kind made in small animal models may have important implications for HIV pathogenesis. HIV-specific CD4+ T cell loss and anergy that occurs early in infection²¹² may lead to the suboptimal priming of the virus specific CD8+ T cell

compartment. By analogy with the murine LCMV infection model, the outcome would be ineffective establishment of a virus specific memory pool and the production of ineffective responses to the virus. HIV specific CD4+ helper responses appear to be present during acute infection and may be able to induce effective CTL responses at this time. Given the gradual depletion of HIV specific CD4+ T cells, newly evolving CTL responses may lack the CD4+ help during the priming phase, as mentioned earlier.

Up to 80% of adults harbor a persistent EBV infection that is asymptomatic¹⁶³. Acute EBV infection is typically marked by the induction of a massive proliferation of virus specific cells²²⁶. Reduction in EBV replication coincides with emerging EBV specific CTL activity²²⁷. Moreover, transfer of EBV specific T cells to immunosuppressed patients with B cell lymphomas can lead to protection from disease progression²²⁷. Early immune responses to EBV are typically monoclonal or restricted to a few clones²²⁸.

Approximately 70% of adults harbor a persistent and asymptomatic CMV infection. CMV reactivation causing symptoms can occur in populations of patients undergoing immunosuppressive therapy following bone marrow transplantation¹⁶³. CMV viral replication and pathogenesis became prevalent in a significant population of end stage AIDS patients, due to the inability of the immune system to control the virus in severely immunosuppressed patients at this stage of the disease. Transplant patients who do not have CMV specific helper responses following bone marrow reconstitution do not develop CMV specific CTLs capable of controlling the virus. Yet, patients with intact CMV specific helper maintained effective CTL responses indefinitely²²⁹. This data

supports the role of CMV specific helper cells in direction of an effective immune response, including CMV specific CTL, against the virus.

1.10 Primary HIV Infection (PI):

Only a few years after the identification of the causative agent of AIDS, HIV PI was documented. Intense study of HIV PI was driven by several emerging concepts about HIV. First, viral loads were found to be 100-1000 fold higher in PI than in chronic infection (figure 12)²³⁰⁻²³². This spike in viral load led to a higher risk of transmission at this stage of disease²³². Based on these observations investigators speculated that identification of individuals at this stage of disease could reduce the likelihood of their continuing high risk behavior that could lead to spread of the infection. The second concept related to the realization that prolonged effective highly active anti-retroviral therapy (HAART) would likely not be able to eradicate HIV from those infected²³³⁻²³⁶. Researchers hypothesized that reducing viral load during acute infection could reduce viral dissemination and the seeding of stable viral reservoirs^{150,237}. Third, one of the most profound defects in the immune system caused by HIV infection is the loss of HIVspecific CD4+ responses²¹⁸. Researchers in the field observed that initiating HAART early in infection rescued the ability of CD4+ T cells to proliferate to HIV proteins²³⁸. This led to the hypothesis that treatment initiated early enough during infection could prevent these cells from being infected and lost making them available to help virusspecific CD8+ T cells. Preservation of these responses may be the key to the effective containment of the virus in the setting of immunotherapeutic or vaccination strategies^{239,240}. Finally, transmission of HIV infection appears to be relatively homogenous with one or few viral strains being transmitted; the virus diversifies soon

after infection²⁴¹⁻²⁴³. Initiation of therapy in acute infection may limit the development of variants, and may aid the immune system to hold the viral load in check. For the reasons outlined above the identification and study of patients in early HIV infection had the potential to reveal much about HIV pathogenesis and to generate many possible benefits for HIV infected patients with respect to diagnosis and effective therapy guidelines.

1.10.1 Transmission:

The HIV transmission rate per sexual contact between an HIV infected male and an uninfected female partner is around 0.003²⁴⁴, and about half this rate for transmission between an infected female and an uninfected male²⁴⁵. These low transmission rates seemed to be inconsistent with the higher rates at which individuals were being infected in some populations. A number of epidemiologists began to speculate that certain individuals may have been more likely to transmit the virus than others^{230,232}. Based on a number of behavioral studies, researchers hypothesized that elevated rates of transmission occurred in newly infected individuals who engaged in high risk behavior. These acutely infected individuals had high viral loads, and would therefore present an increased risk to their partners²³¹. A study conducted aiming to assess the likeliness of transmission in a cohort of serodiscordant couples over a 30 month period showed that HIV positive partners with viral loads in excess of 4.9 log₁₀ were more likely to infect their partners than partners with a viral load of 4.6 log₁₀²⁴⁶. HIV+ partners with viral loads under 3.2 log₁₀ did not transmit the virus to their partners.

The biological explanation for the increased risk of transmission in PI lies in the association between the level of viremia in blood and in semen at this time, although this association is not seen in all individuals^{230,231}. Epidemiological studies documented the

role of promiscuity in increased risk of transmission, so that individuals with more partners, and a higher incidence of sexually transmitted diseases were at higher risk of transmission, possibly due to increased numbers of lesions and inflammation associated with these lesions²³¹. These two factors that increase risk of transmission are not mutually exclusive and may be interrelated as individuals who habitually lead lifestyles that include high-risk behavior may have higher incidences of sexually transmitted diseases (STDs), be promiscuous, and potentially engage in sexual activity with more partners during PI leading to higher rates of transmission.



Figure 12. HIV clinical course

1.10.2 Viral Reservoirs:

With the advent of HAART, it was hoped that HIV could eventually be eradicated from infected individuals as virally infected cell and plasma viral pools would decay with
time on therapy. Treatment with HAART was able to reduce plasma viral loads to levels undetectable by available assays (less then 20-500 copies of RNA/mL) in many individuals adhering to their drug regimens. However, the discovery of several viral reservoirs with long-lived kinetics led to the realization that it was unlikely that years of effective therapy would be able to eliminate the virus^{150,233,236,247}.

HIV PI is characterized by high levels of viral replication with more than 10^6 copies of the virus/mL of plasma(figure 12)^{248,249}. Viral reservoirs are apparently seeded in the early burst of viral replication in acute infection¹⁵⁰. The intense dissemination of virus at this early time, before the advent of antiviral pressure by antibodies and cytotoxic responses, may allow the virus to infect numerous sites and cell types. A number of reservoirs have been described such as immune-privileged sites (central nervous system), latently infected cells (memory CD4+ T cells), pre-integration complexes (resting CD4+ T cells) and long-lived cells such as memory T cells and macrophages²³⁷.

After starting HAART, 3 phases of viral decay have been described^{236,250}. Viral decay does not seem to depend on the stage of the disease, but on the level of viral production. Thus as productively infected cells perish, and free viral particles are eliminated by the immune system, clearance rates are consistent at all stages of disease^{233,237} and are only determined by the level of viremia a patient experiences at any given time. Thus the steady state or viral set point can be taken as a good predictor of clinical outcome, as higher viral loads at set point reflect higher viral production than in patients with lower viral set points who effectively have lower rates of viral production or higher degrees of clearance²⁵¹.

The first decay phase is rapid with a $T_{1/2}$ of approximately 2 days and reflects the clearance of free virions and productively infected cells that produce most of the plasma viremia¹⁵⁷. The second phase of decay has a $T_{1/2}$ of 1-4 weeks²⁵⁰. Virus eliminated in this phase comes from productively infected cellular reservoirs such as those eliminated with time by the immune response. Based on mathematical models, Perelson et al. hypothesized that it would take 2-3 years of effective HAART therapy to eliminate this reservoir of virus, initially believed to lead to the complete elimination of the viral infection¹⁵⁷. The third phase of decay is that of virus in undetectable reservoirs that are resistant to eradication by HAART²³³. This reservoir is the source of reemerging virus after therapy is withdrawn, leading to *de novo* reseeding of the tissues²⁵². This reservoir is exceedingly stable and contributes minimally to the total viral production in untreated individuals as it goes unnoticed by the immune surveillance systems. CD4+ memory T cells have been implicated as the source of this reservoir²⁵³. The biology of these cells dictates that they persist for long periods of time in a resting state and only become activated once again after encounter with their cognate antigen²⁵⁴. Once reactivated, they can give rise to large numbers of clones all containing the proviral sequence. Three groups have successfully demonstrated the role of these memory CD4+ T cells as longlived viral reservoirs, by culturing replicating virus from such cells isolated from patients after 2.5 years of successful HAART therapy^{233,255,256}. Given that resting memory cells are quiescent, cellular proteins required for viral replication are not produced and the virus remains latent. In this manner HIV in resting cells are resistant to antiviral therapy, which targets steps of the active viral life cycle²⁵⁷. Mathematical modeling suggests that it would take 73 years to eradicate all viral reservoirs with aggressive HAART²⁵⁸.

Recently, longitudinal studies monitoring reservoir decay over 6-7 years of effective HAART showed no significant decay over time in resting T cells²⁵⁴. Because prolonged HAART is unable to eradicate viral infection new recommendations have been proposed for treating HIV infected persons that delay initiation of aggressive therapy in order to diminish long-term exposure HAART with its associated side effects and potential for developing drug resistant variants²⁵⁸.

1.10.3 CTL Responses in PI:

Cytotoxic T cell responses appear early after infection, and their induction is temporally correlated with the reduction of plasma viremia (figure 12)^{174,200}, as mentioned earlier. As many as 10% of circulating CD8+ cells, which peak soon after plasma viral load begins to fall, can be specific for HIV peptides during the acute phase of disease as seen by staining with tetramer reagents that mark HIV-specific cells²⁵⁹. It appears that some HIV+ subjects in acute infection have monoclonal responses to the virus²²⁸, and viral diversification may contribute to evolving HIV specific responses with time from infection^{241,242,260}. Although levels of viremia fall in subjects with oligoclonal and monoclonal TCR variable β chain expansions^{261,262} and CTL responses^{243,262} to the virus, monoclonal responses appear to predict a poor disease course prognosis²⁶³. Therefore early patterns of HIV specific immune responses may determine the long term course of the disease²⁶⁴.

1.10.4 HIV pathogenesis

Strains of HIV isolated from early infection tend to be non-syncitium inducing (NSI); macrophage tropic viral isolates that use CCR5 as their co-receptor for entry into

target cells¹⁶. Infection of macrophages may confer the virus with a survival advantage as these infected cells are part of a long-lived stable viral reservoir²³⁶. As disease progresses and viral mutations accumulate, a shift in the phenotype to syncitium inducing (SI) occurs. SI viruses can grow in tissue culture adapted T cell lines, i.e. become T-cell tropic and can use CXCR4 as an entry co-receptor. CXCR4 has a wider distribution on CD4+ T cells than CCR5¹⁶.

Kinetic studies on CD4⁺ T cell turnover after initiating HAART in treatment of naive individuals shows that accelerated destruction and replacement of CD4⁺ T cells takes place continuously, from the time of initial infection (figure 12)^{265,266}. This phenomenon may be responsible for the eventual exhaustion and nearly complete disappearance of CD4⁺ T cells from untreated infected individuals (CD4 sink model) (figure 12)^{250,265,266}. Several other mechanisms have been proposed to explain the numerical and functional depletion of CD4⁺ T cells: 1) Direct cell-killing through antigen-specific activation of CD4⁺ T cells by the virus^{266,267}; 2) death of infected cells resulting from the accumulation of viral genetic material and/or the presence of virally encoded toxic proteins²⁶⁸; 3) formation of syncytia²⁶⁹; 4) induction of apoptosis and/or of an anergic state in both infected and non-infected or bystander cells^{175,271}; and 6) delivery of an apoptotic signal through deviant TCR/CD4 engagement by gp120 and MHC class II molecules present on the surface of the viruo¹¹⁸.

1.10.5 Diagnosing PI:

Acute infection with HIV is frequently associated with a self-limiting mononucleosis like illness. The acute seroconversion syndrome can include fever,

pharyngitis, lymphadenopathy, rash, headache, gastrointestinal problems, genital and oral ulcerations²⁴⁹. Sixty-90% of HIV infected subjects report having had one or more symptoms of acute infection^{153,249,272}. The time interval between the virus transmission event and the start of an acute seroconversion syndrome varies anywhere from a few days to a few weeks²⁷²⁻²⁷⁴. Its duration generally lasts 7-10 days, infrequently lasting more than 2 weeks²⁷³. Of persons who exhibit symptoms of an acute seroconversion syndrome than 2 weeks²⁷³. Of persons who exhibit symptoms of an acute seroconversion syndrome a significant fraction seek medical attention during this early period of infection. The symptoms of this syndrome are non-specific and are often not attributed to a new HIV infection²⁷⁴.

A number of hematological changes often accompany PI. Lymphopenia and thrombocytopenia are present during the first week of HIV infection. Soon after these changes, the number of lymphocytes increases dramatically with a characteristic rise in CD8+ cells while CD4+ cell numbers decrease¹⁶. An inversion in the ratio of CD4:CD8 is a hallmark of HIV infection.

It takes approximately 3-4 weeks from infection (range 2-12 weeks) to develop antibodies to p24 (figure 12)²⁷⁵⁻²⁷⁷. As the enzyme-linked immunosorbant assay (ELISA) test, detecting p24 antibody (EIA), has a high rate of false positives, all positive results are confirmed by Western blotting. A positive confirmatory western blot is defined as having at least a positive signal for a minimum of 3 separate HIV proteins. If both the standard HIV EIA and the confirmatory western blot are positive the plasma donor is said to be seropositive and diagnosed with HIV infection. A Western blot with less than 3 bands is considered an indeterminate result, occurring frequently before "seroconversion" and can be used to identify potential new infections. Several additional tests are available

for the detection of recent infections that are capable of detecting the virus prior to the time at which the standard diagnostic test can detect the infection. A positive result in an ELISA test detecting p24 antigen in plasma and a positive result in a viral load test detecting HIV RNA in plasma by RT-PCR and a positive result by PCR for proviral DNA will occur before the standard HIV enzyme immunoassay (EIA) detecting antibodies to HIV p24 will be positive²⁷⁸.

Choosing the right test involves consideration of the induction kinetics and concentration of the parameter being tested during the course of infection. Viral RNA can be detected within the first 2 weeks using the highly sensitive RT-PCR method²⁷⁸; antigen, although transient, can appear as early as 2 weeks after infection and last 3-5 months¹⁵³; whereas antibodies, which develop later in the course of infection, are detectable in a standard EIA only 4-6 weeks post infection²⁷⁵(figure 12). The use of plasma RNA and proviral DNA as diagnostic markers of disease have proven to be problematic due to the cost, technical training required to run a test, and the probability of a false positive result. Daar et al. found that despite the fact that no distinct set of symptoms were associated with acute HIV infection, simultaneously testing all cases of mononucleosis-like illness for antibody to HIV p24, HIV RNA and HIV p24 antigen did detect a significant number of recently HIV infected patients that were overlooked by using the standard EIA assay alone²⁷⁹. Yet the cost of the HIV RNA assay, pre- and postcounseling, to advise patients of potential false-positive results led to the conclusion that although this test may be important, it is not necessarily cost and time effective. As p24 antigen testing detects 90% of all HIV positive patients that are missed by the p24 antibody test alone, it has been recommended that these two tests be done in suspected

cases of new infections in order to provide treating physicians a measure of confidence in their diagnosis of recent HIV infection²⁷⁹.

1.11 Chronic Infection:

Resolution of PI leads to a prolonged period (2-10 years) of asymptomatic disease (figure 12)²⁸⁰. In contrast to other viral infections, where CD8+ T cells contract as viral replication falls, expanded oligoclonal HIV-specific cells persist at relatively high frequencies of 1-2% of circulating CD8+ T cells²⁸¹. Untreated chronic infection represents a dynamic period during which continued viral replication is maintained at a viral set point via the persistence of the host immune response²⁴⁸. These cells are likely sustained due to antigen stimulation, as initiation of therapy that reduces viral replication, leading to a loss of antigen, results in a decline in antigen-specific CD8+ T cell numbers²⁸²⁻²⁸⁴. The use of tetramer reagents to detect HIV-specific cells confirms that such cells are detected, although less frequently than at earlier times in infection, during end stage disease (figure 12)²⁸⁵. Despite their numbers in chronic infection, HIV specific cells appear to have less effector functions as disease progresses¹⁹⁵.

Increasing loss of HIV-specific CD4 numbers and function occurs with progressive disease (figure 12)²⁸⁰. HIV infected individuals lose an average of 60 CD4+ T cells a year²⁸⁶. Subjects in progressive infection appear to experience severe defects in CD4+ T cell activity over time^{220,287,288}, as mentioned previously.

1.12 Long Term Non-Progressors:

Approximately 5% of HIV infected individuals who have never been treated with HAART differ from others by showing few signs of disease progression despite untreated

infection for greater than 7 years²⁸⁹. Individuals belonging to this population are called LTNPs. The percentage of HIV infected individuals classified as LTNP can range from 1-25% depending on the criteria used to define inclusion in this group²⁸⁹. CD4+ T lymphocyte counts above 500 cells/uL, viral loads that are low or below detectable levels, and CD4+ lymphocyte decay curves with a slope near 0 are a few of the defining characteristics used to classify subjects as LTNP²⁸⁹. Regardless of the criteria employed to identify this population, it appears, from analyses performed on sampling distributions of HIV infected patients from large cohorts, that this group represents the tail end of a normal distribution of HIV infected persons and not a population of HIV infected subjects distinct from typical progressors²⁹⁰.

In an effort to identify clinical correlates of protection, to aid in the characterization of LTNPs, a number of groups began to look for markers of non progression. No association between demographic markers and non-progression existed with respect to age, sex, mode of HIV infection, continued high risk behavior, and nutrition²⁹¹. Similarly, no relationship was apparent between the level of antibody production and disease progression^{289,290,292}. More specifically, while some studies have identified significant levels of neutralizing antibodies in LTNPs^{203,293}, these were not consistently present in other LTNP populations^{204,289,294}.

In a population of 588 men with documented dates of infection enrolled in the San Francisco Clinic Cohort, 3% progressed to AIDS within the first 3 years of infection, 51% progressed by 7 years from infection, and 69% developed AIDS 14 years after seroconversion²⁸⁶. In a parallel study, Sheppard et al. observed a strong correlation between the rate of CD4+ cell loss and the development of AIDS related illness²⁹⁰.

Several studies demonstrated that only a small proportion of HIV infected subjects maintained CD4+ counts above 500 cells/ul for 7 or more years after infection, and fewer maintained a CD4+ cell count of this magnitude after 10 years^{291,295}. The median time from HIV infection for an individual's CD4+ count to fall below 500 cells/ul is 1.7 years (95% confidence intervals [CI] 1.29-1.89 years)²⁹⁵. While untreated HIV disease progressors lost CD4+ T cells at a rate of approximately 60 cells/per year, LTNPs lost these cells at a rate of 6 cells/year, a rate not significantly different from that seen in HIV seronegative controls^{286,290}.

LTNP, differ from progressors by maintaining CD4 counts above 500 cells/ul for at least 7 years post infection and displaying less immunopathogenicity and destruction within this cell compartment of the immune system¹⁶⁰. Additional markers of reduced pathogenicity in LTNP include elevated CD8+ cell counts in most but not all such individuals, higher white blood cell counts, increased platelet counts, normal CD4 T cells counts, and subsequently reduced CD4:CD8 cell ratios²⁸⁶. This population manifests reduced activation markers, such as HLA-DR and CD38 expression on their T cells, and reduced serum neopterin and β_2 -microglobulin than progressors²⁹⁰. Pantaleo et al. observed reduced immunopathogenicity and lymphocyte depletion in the LNs of LTNP despite infection for at least 10 years¹⁶⁰. Four of 15 LTNP LNs maintained small regular germinal centers with intact mantle zones and no evidence of follicle lysis; five subjects' nodes had large regular shaped germinal centers, with minimal follicle lysis; five additional LTNPs' had irregular unorganized LNs; where as all 18 HIV disease progressor's LNs had large irregular fused follicles with loss of mantle zones¹⁶⁰. LTNP also appeared to have healthier FDC morphology than did the HIV disease progressors.

Virus isolation by co-culture assays proved to be quite difficult in LTNPs, potentially due to reduced viral load levels and/or to there being a 20- to 40-fold lower frequency of cells harboring proviral DNA in LTNPs compared to typical asymptomatic progressors^{203,290,293,294,296-300}.

A subpopulation of LTNP may exhibit a benign disease course because they are infected with defective HIV isolates. Learmont et al. reported that delayed progression and unrecoverable virus from 6 HIV+ subjects infected by transfusions from the same donor in Sidney, Australia 13 years earlier, was probably due to a gross defect in the Nef gene of the transmitted virus³⁰¹. All 6 individuals, expressed different MHC class I and II alleles making it unlikely that protection was due to a common MHC restricted cellular response. All controlled viral replication to below undetectable levels. The Australian investigators hypothesized that this Nef deletion reduced the viability and fitness of the virus sufficiently to allow the hosts to independently contain their infections. HIV isolates with Nef deletions that could explain the ability of the host to contain infection were reported by 2 other groups in LTNP^{294,299}. Defects in Gag p17^{293,300} and Vpr³⁰² were also described and proposed to account for the attenuated the virulence of HIV in individuals who exhibited a benign disease course. Despite the evidence for viral attenuation in studies listed above, HIV-specific CTL activity was also observed in a number of patients^{293,294}, suggesting that viral replication was ongoing, albeit at undetectable levels. It was therefore proposed that these viral mutations were merely giving the host immune system an upper hand in helping it to control the infecting virus.

Infection with defective virus does not account for disease non progression in all LTNPs^{203,204,292,297}. Greenough et al. observed a temporal association between HIV-

specific immune responses and increased levels of viral DNA in PBMCs²⁹². Additionally, a case report published in 1996 described two unique LTNPs infected for greater than 10 years, who manifested viral loads in the range of normal progressors³⁰³. Despite persistent viral replication, these two individuals maintained CD4+ cells between 400-700 cells/uL. Thus these otherwise healthy subjects appeared to harbor fit viral species, yet were unable to elicit immune responses to contain their infecting virus. Cao et al. also demonstrated the presence of fit virus in a group of LTNPs who maintained undetectable viral loads²⁰³. The protective mechanism was associated with the refractory nature of the subjects' CD4+ T cells to infection by the fit infecting viral species. The resistance of CD4+ T cells to infection was dependent on the presence of CD8+ cells²⁹⁷. Using CD8+ depletion, Rinaldo et al. showed that cytotoxic activity against viral infection was mediated by CD8+ cells²⁰⁴, an observation confirmed by others^{304,305}.

Multi-linear regression analyses aimed at defining the role of potential correlates of immunity in groups of LTNP identified certain host factors that were independently associated with reduced progression. Carrington et al. identified a strong association between homozygosity at the MHC class I locus with an increased risk to disease progression in five independent North American cohorts of HIV seroconverters¹⁰⁵, as mentioned earlier. HLA-B27 and B57, B39¹¹¹, B14, Cw14 and Cw8³⁰⁶ are associated with protection, while HLA-B35¹⁰⁵, A29, B22, and Cw16³⁰⁶ are associated with faster disease progression. Although homozygosity for a 32-base pair deletion mutation confers a remarkably reduced risk of infection, heterozygosity for this deletion mutation and several other variants of this HIV co-receptor are associated with slower disease progression^{307,308}.

Protection, associated with the over-represented expression of HLA-B27, in a subgroup LTNPs appears to be due to fact that up to 85% of individuals with this allele target a dominant highly conserved epitope within Gag p24 (KRWIIMGLNK)^{309,310}. To gain a better understanding of the protective nature of this allele, a B27 expressing LTNP was followed over time³¹¹. This subject exhibited spontaneous control over viral replication below detection levels for 12 years, at which point viral titers increased exponentially with a concurrent decrease in CD4+ T cell numbers. These changes were associated with the accumulation of 3 mutations in and around the KK10 epitope³⁰⁹. The first mutation, lysine to-arginine at position 2 located within the epitope, led to reduced peptide binding to the B27 molecule. The two other mutations were located outside the epitope. These mutations appear to be critical for protein folding due to the conformational changes brought about by the lysine-to-arginine mutation within the epitope. Three of 5 additional B27 subjects manifested narrow responses directed at the same KK10 epitope associated with good control of viral replication³¹¹. Two of the 5 subjects studied had declining CD4 counts, a broader HIV specific response, and demonstrated reduced recognition of the KK10 epitope. Similarly, children who shared the B27 allele with their mothers' failed to recognize the KK10 epitope, while children who inherited the allele from their father's targeted this epitope in an immunodominant manner³¹⁰. Sequence analysis revealed that mother to child transmission of the KK10 escape mutant had occurred in the mothers who had originally targeted that epitope, while mothers who did not have the B27 allele transmitted the wild type KK10 epitope, suggesting that stable transmission of viral escape mutants had occurred³¹⁰. Thus while alleles such as B27 may appear to be associated with effective protection for a period of

time, the association of expression of this allele with targeting of a single immunodominant peptide may be quite dangerous, as once escape occurs, subjects progress very quickly given the paucity of additional immune responses directed at the virus³¹¹.

Several additional immunological differences exist between LTNPs and progressors. LTNPs appear to exhibit greater CTL activity^{160,204,293,298}, to a broader range of gene products²⁹⁶; exhibit a balanced Th1/Th2 phenotype, with increased expression of IL-2, IFN- γ , IL-4, and IL-10 production³¹²; possess higher proportions of end stage (RA+CCR7-CD62L-) effector cells than progressors^{109,313}; have an increased proliferative capacity and produce larger quantities of perforin in response to antigen stimulation^{314,315}; have more HIV-specific CD4+ IFN- γ and IL-2 secreting cells³¹⁶; express normal levels of CD28, critical in T cell signaling³¹⁶; and produce considerable levels of RANTES, MIP-1 α and MIP-1 β , all implicated in protection against the spread of viral infection as they bind the CCR5 HIV co-receptor and block HIV entry²¹⁸ than subjects in progressive infection.

Several factors including host genetics, viral fitness, and the effectiveness of CD8+ T cell antiviral immunity, and maintenance of functional HIV-specific CD4+ T cells all impact on disease progression. The identification of a subpopulation of HIV infected individuals who exhibit a certain level of resistance to the immunopathogenesis caused by this viral infection should help to decipher mechanisms that contribute to HIV disease non-progression. By understanding these mechanisms the hope is that it will be possible to transfer this knowledge to an immunotherapeutic setting with the goal of transforming HIV disease progressors into LTNP.

Despite the presence of considerable HIV specific immune responses throughout infection, these responses are unable to clear the infection. HIV has developed many mechanisms to evade the immune system, these include: 1) down regulation of MHC class I molecules on the surface of infected cells by virally encoded Nef protein^{24,317}; 2) sequestration of HIV to cells in immune privileged areas that are not accessible to $CTLs^{318}$; 3) elimination of HIV-specific CD4+ T cells implicated in the generation of defective antiviral responses^{218,319}; 4) up regulation of Fas ligand on infected cells³¹⁷; and 5) mutational escape^{194,310,320-322}.

Viral escape has been well documented in other viral infections, such as EBV³²³, Murine Leukemia virus¹⁰¹, LCMV³²⁴, and hepatitis B virus (HBV)³²⁵. Transgenic mice infected with high doses of LCMV failed to control the viral infection, whereas their counterparts infected with low doses of the virus cleared the virus and remained healthy³²⁶. On closer inspection, the virus from all mice receiving high dose LCMV carried a mutation in a critical immunodominant epitope in such a way that it could no longer be presented to the immune system. The fact that this variant epitope was poorly recognized by the immune system, was likely responsible for the lack of control of the viral infection in the mice that received the high dose antigen³²⁴. Another example of this phenomenon was documented in South East Asia and Papua New Guinea where HLA-A11 has a high allele frequency. In this setting EBV associated disease is more prevalent due to the transmission of a strain that has incorporated an escape mutation within an immunodominant A11 epitope that is critical for viral control³²³.

The tenet that mutations within immunodominant epitopes could account for viral escape from immune recognition stems from the knowledge that HIV exhibits a remarkable amount of sequence diversity due to the low fidelity of its viral RT enzyme. Based on data from viral kinetic studies on and off antiretroviral therapy, there are about 10⁹-10¹⁰ virions generated a day^{265,266}. Given that the mutation rate is about 10⁻⁵ and that the genome is about 10⁴ bases long, approximately 108 mutants can arise each day. Mistakes in viral RT are random and are not specific to certain regions of the virus³²⁷⁻³²⁹. Based on this it is clear that the immune system is forced to deal with every possible point mutation³³⁰. Therefore the chance is great that viral variants will arise in epitopes that will no longer be recognized by CTLs that recognized the wild type variant. Thus the viral variants carrying epitopes no longer under CTL pressure will have a selective advantage within the viral swarm present in any particular host.

1.13.1 Lessons from SIV studies

SIV infection of macaques allows researchers to inoculate a host with a known sequence at a given dose, through a chosen route. This model permits the identification of relatively subtle changes in the viral sequence that could contribute to a loss of CTL recognition, unhindered by confounding factors such as antiretroviral therapy, which itself exerts pressure on the natural evolution of the virus. The methodology used to study the impact of viral diversification on escape from immune control is based on a ratio of the rate of synonymous (dS) and non-synonymous (dN) mutations occurring throughout the virus and particularly in CTL epitopes^{322,331}. Synonymous mutations are those that produce no amino acid changes while non-synonymous mutations produce a change in the amino acid sequence³³¹. The principle relies on the following possibilities: if a dN

mutation leads to a non-functional protein, the viral variant will not be selected; if, on the other hand, a dN mutation leads to a variant that has no impact on the function of the protein but is sufficiently different to go unrecognized by the immune response, then the virus will have a selective advantage and outgrow the other viral populations being targeted by the immune response³³¹.

The first studies on viral escape from immune recognition were performed in 1992, where a group of Mamu A*01 expressing monkeys were monitored for sequence changes in a Gag epitope called TL9. Mamu is the macaque equivalent of the MHC, and Mamu A*01 is a MHC class I allele with a fairly high frequency in this species. Two monkeys displayed epitope variation, but changes within the epitope did not significantly exceed changes outside the epitope³³². Closer inspection of the changes in the sequence of the optimally restricted epitope, 8 years later, revealed that the mutant epitope dissociated from the Mamu A"*01 allele more rapidly than did the wild type variant³³³. In parallel, Nef vaccinated monkeys, which were subsequently challenged with a pathogenic virus, eventually displayed a complete loss of Nef-specific CTL responses. The loss of Nef specific responses was due to the deletion of the Nef epitope in the emerging viral variants targeted by CTL³³⁴. Moreover, several studies have shown that regions corresponding to CTL epitopes mutate more frequently than flanking sequences^{321,322,335}, suggesting that CTLs are driving diversification of the viral population to eventual viral escape from immune recognition.

Escape mutations also occur in acute infection^{320,321}, and can potentially contribute to the mechanism by which the breadth of the immune response evolves, which could merely be a marker of the immune system catching up to viral

diversification in the face of immune pressure. Identification of a Tat epitope in acute SIV infection (Tat SL8) frequently targeted in Mamu A*01 expressing macaques showed dramatic sequence variation only in monkeys that were Mamu A*01 positive³²¹. DN:dS ratio analysis suggested that this epitope was clearly evolving under strong immune pressure. It was hypothesized that the abundant expression of Tat early in the viral life cycle contributed to its antigenicity. In other words by targeting this epitope, the immune system would be able to control viral replication effectively by lysing newly infected cells before they produce new virions, thus effectively reducing viral replication during early disease³³¹. On the other hand immunodominance of SL8 targeting, although not mutually exclusive from the theory that it is expressed earlier in infection, may be likely attributable to the fact that the Tat SL8 epitope may have a higher avidity than other well characterized epitopes derived from SIV³²¹. Thus viral variants that escape the combined high avidity binding and early detection by the immune system have a greater survival advantage over their wild type counterparts. Thus the additive effects of early targeting and high avidity may help explain the preferential escape of SL8 responses in Mamu A*01 expressing monkeys.

1.13.2 Lessons from Human studies:

Koenig et al. attempted the adoptive transfer of autologous Nef specific CTL clones, expanded *ex vivo*, into an HIV infected patient combined with the administration of exogenous IL- 2^{336} . Cell transfer, rather than resulting in an anti-viral effect, resulted in increased viremia. Sequencing studies revealed the emergence of a deletion within the targeted epitope in 30% of the viral population found in the patient. A study on HLA-B8 restricted responses in progressive infection elucidated the predominance of mutations in

the HLA-B8 epitope in subjects expressing this allele in comparison to those who did not^{337} . Similar findings have been reported for clusters of mutations in epitopes restricted by HLA-All³³⁸ and B7²⁶⁰.

In acute infection, Price et al. observed escape due to immune pressure in two separate acutely infected patients. The first patient exhibited a monospecific CTL response to a B44 restricted env epitope, where 100% of the viral sequences had a single mutation at an anchor residue that could no longer bind to the corresponding pocket in HLA-B44 alleles³²². Interestingly, as this viral variant outgrew the other isolates, the CTL response diversified to recognize other epitopes within different gene products. Similarly, a second patient with a monospecific response to a Nef epitope restricted by HLA-B8, displayed evidence of emerging species of the virus with changes in the anchor residues of this Nef epitope or complete loss of the epitope from the viral sequence within a few weeks of infection³²². In acute infection, potent CTL responses select for viral escape soon after their induction. HIV has proven to be successful in CTL immune evasion during chronic infection as well. As mentioned above, Goulder et al. demonstrated viral escape from an immunodominant HLA-B27 restricted Gag KK10 epitope in two HLA-B27+ patients, where patients displayed the same dN arginine to lysine mutation at position 2 of the epitope that prevented its binding to the HLA-B27 allele³¹¹.

Whether an epitope escapes in early or late infection is probably determined by the location of the epitope and whether it is part of a conserved or variable region. It is likely that viral particles that escape immune control with alterations in variable regions due to single nucleotide changes are more common early in infection as these areas are more permissive to changes without affecting viral fitness. This is analogous to the variation in viral sequence seen in the context of monotherapy with AZT³³¹ where single changes in the virus can confer resistance to AZT. In contrast, escape could potentially be delayed if epitopes are located in conserved regions, where a change in a conserved region, leading to escape, could be detrimental to the folding or function of the viral gene product. This is illustrated by studies conducted in SIV infected macaques relating to escape in the SIV Gag epitope CM9. A single change within the epitope is sufficient to prevent recognition of this peptide by CTL that recognize the wild type variant. This change occurs late in infection and is tightly linked to the presence of two additional dN mutations one upstream and one downstream of the epitope³³³. The changes in sequences flanking the CM9 epitope are believed to be compensatory mutations integral to the fitness of the viral isolate that escapes recognition of Gag CM9³³². For this reason epitopes in conserved regions may take longer to escape CTL pressure as they may require more complex combinations of alterations in the gene product to produce a reasonably fit virus.

Narrow immune responses are associated with the clearance of influenza and the control of EBV infections^{339,340}. In contrast, the breadth of the response to HIV may be due to a spreading of the response to multiple epitopes resulting from continuous rounds of evasion and the resulting induction of new responses³⁴¹, as referred to previously. Once escape has occurred, clones recognizing the original variant may contract due to the loss of their cognate stimulating antigen. Consequently, new variants have the potential to induce novel immunodominant responses. So too CTL epitope mutations may favor the emergence of existing subdominant responses, which may be less efficient in stimulating the immune response is broad and is

directed towards a variety of epitopes, with no clear pattern of immunodominance^{343,344}. By late disease multiple rounds of viral escape may result in reactivity to only sub optimally presented epitopes that do not engage the TCR sufficiently, that have lower antigenicity, or that dissociate from the MHC groove too quickly. These responses would mediate poor viral control of new variants emerging from unchecked replication.

CTL escape mutations may facilitate mother to child transmission. As mentioned earlier, Goulder et al. demonstrated faster progression in perinatal infections was associated with mother to child transmission when the child and the mother both expressed the same HLA-B27 MHC class I allele³⁴⁵. The presence of the HLA-B27 allele in the mother led to the emergence of variants in the KK10 epitope no longer recognized by a potent immunodominant CTL response frequently seen in HLA-B27 expressing subjects. Mother to child transmission of this variant together with the expression of HLA-B27 allele in the infants, resulted in the inability to mount a potent immunodominant response restricted by this allele and thus rapid disease progression. In contrast, children who inherited HLA-B27 from their fathers and virus from their mothers who did not express this allele were able to mount the immunodominant HLA-B27 restricted response to wild type KK10 epitope on the transmitted virus and effectively control viral replication.

1.14 HAART

HAART, refers to the combination of at least two of the four different classes of drugs to treat HIV infection³⁴⁶. It is the standard of care for the treatment of HIV infected patients although the recommendations on when to begin treatment have changed in the last few years. The introduction of this therapeutic strategy has altered the course of HIV

infection, having made a fatal disease into a manageable chronic infection³⁴⁷. This is primarily due to the fact that HAART can partially restore and protect immune system function and delay the development of AIDS or death from an HIV-related condition for several years. Current recommendations for the time to initiate therapy are: 1) patients who are in acute infection, 2) patients that have CD4 counts below 200 cells/ul, and 3) patients with symptomatic HIV infection including thrush or recurrent invasive bacterial infections, plus an absolute lymphocyte count of less than 1000 cells/uL³⁴⁸. Problems encountered with the use of HAART are the economic unavailability of this treatment on a global level, the inherent drug toxicities incurred with long term usage, problems with drug-drug interactions, and the potential for the selection of drug resistant mutants if 95% drug adherence is not maintained³⁴⁶.

At least 2 classes of drugs are used in HAART regimens. They can include nucleoside analogue reverse transcriptase inhibitors (NRTI), non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors (NNRTI), protease inhibitors, and fusion inhibitors³⁴⁹. While the first two classes target the same stage of the viral life cycle, namely viral DNA transcription, protease inhibitors target viral protein maturation, and fusion inhibitors block viral particle entry (*de novo* infection) (figure 13)³⁵⁰.

NRTIs inhibit the synthesis of DNA by the viral RNA-dependent DNA polymerase (RT)^{350,351}. This class of drugs is structurally similar to nucleosides or nucleotides that act as normal cellular building blocks for DNA synthesis. Thus as NRTIs become phosphorylated (some are modified more extensively like ddI or less extensively like Tenofovir) within the cells, they become incorporated into newly synthesized DNA molecules as the RT cannot distinguish between the drug and the normal cellular building

blocks. Because these nucleoside/nucleotide analogues lack a critical hydroxyl group that makes further chain elongation possible, DNA transcription ends following their incorporation¹⁶. NNRTIs also halt viral DNA transcription by inhibiting the viral RT at an allosteric site. This class of drugs binds RT, outside of its catalytic site, and inhibits its activity^{350,351}. Protease inhibitors interfere with a different enzyme involved in the HIV viral life cycle, the protease enzyme that is critical for viral protein processing and maturation³⁵⁰(figure 13). This drug class binds to the enzyme, and although viral particles are still produced, these particles are no longer infective^{16,349}. Finally, fusion inhibitors prevent viral entry into uninfected cells^{39,352,353}. This class of drug binds tightly to the gp41 HIV gene product, blocking the essential association of this protein with the viral co-receptor located on the target cell surface. This interaction inhibits viral particle uptake, and thus infection^{353,354}.



Figure 13. Points in viral life cycle at which therapeutics, included in HAART regimens, act.

One of the greatest impediments to the use of these antiretroviral drugs is HIV's innate high level of mutability, which allows the virus to incur resistance mutations that lead to unresponsiveness to the drugs^{16,351,355,356}. As each therapeutic puts pressure on the target enzyme in distinct patterns at different locations, and given the high mutation rate of the virus, species of the virus that have altered drug binding sites are selected and grow out resulting in the outgrowth of drug insensitive virus. To add to the complicated nature of this problem some drugs may induce mutations that can lead to viral resistance across entire classes of drugs^{16,356,357}. In order to overcome this obstacle, multiple drugs are used in combinations in order to place a greater more distributed pressure on the virus at multiple sites important in the viral life cycle. This strategy is known as HAART that aims to reduce viral replication, and thus the harmful cytopathic effects of the infection, as well as the emergence of resistant virus³⁴⁸.

In order to optimize the efficacy of each drug in a particular HAART combination, complicated treatment regimens must be adhered to. Resistance to these drugs can develop quickly if too many doses are missed. Reevaluation of the treatment regimen is necessary if a drug is too difficult to tolerate or too complicated to manage³⁴⁶. It has become evident that a narrow window exists where drug concentration below a certain level can lead to replication and if the correct mutations occur drug resistance and selection of these variants, while concentrations that are too high can cause toxicities³⁵⁵. Despite the fact that HAART is remarkably effective in reducing viral replication, when subjects adhere to their treatment regimen, this therapeutic intervention cannot eradicate the viral infection, as shown by evidence showing the virus rebounds with treatment interruption³⁵⁸⁻³⁶⁰.

Due to the prolonged use of these agents, a number of complications arise. Severe metabolic changes occur with prolonged use in a subset of HAART treated patients³⁶¹. Lipodistrophy, or the redistribution of fat deposits, cholesterol and glucose, is a relatively common HAART associated side-effect. Abnormal fat deposits, as well as a deficit of essential fat deposits result from this toxicity³⁶². In addition, some antiretrovirals have deleterious effects on mitochondria and thus several tissues are affected by the loss of this energy producing cellular compartment³⁶³. This form of toxicity can lead to muscle wasting, nerve degeneration, and heart failure. Additionally, this side-effect can have profound effects such as degeneration of the liver and inflammation of the pancreas. Finally, HAART treated subjects appear to have an elevated rate of osteonecrosis, or weakened bones due to the toxic nature of the drugs³⁶³.

Given the difficult nature of the treatment regimens, the potential for resistance, and the HAART associated side-effects, a large dilemma exists in the HIV community as to the optimal time to initiate therapy. As prolonged therapy leads to drug toxicity, a number of groups have speculated that it may be beneficial to postpone initiation of treatment until CD4 counts reach a critical level²⁵⁴. On the other hand, it has been shown that initiation of therapy during acute infection may limit the seeding of viral reservoirs in tissues and potentially protect HIV specific CD4+ T helper cells from the cytopathic effects of the virus^{318,364}. Treatment in acute infection has resulted in the preservation of proliferative responses²³⁸. However there are concerns regarding prolonged exposure to HAART due to starting therapy so early in infection given the problems arising from toxicities and side-effects. Thus a great deal of interest is focused around the issue of the ideal time to treat in order to minimize the negative impact of prolonged exposure to

therapy while still achieving the beneficial immune preservative effects of therapy in early treatment.

As mentioned earlier, early hopes for viral eradication now appear to be unrealistic. Close to a decade of HAART therapy has conclusively shown that this strategy will not be effective in complete viral eradication due to latent reservoirs^{258,318}. In addition, effective HAART is complicated and requires both dosage monitoring, vigilance over potential drug-drug interactions and routine physician care in order to assess efficacy and potential adverse events³⁶⁵. Side-effects are frequent in as many 74% of adults showing one of the myriad of potential problems associated with the 4 classes of antiretrovirals³⁶⁵. An extremely high degree of adherence to therapy is critical to reduce potential viral mutations associated with drug resistance³⁶⁵. Finally, the cost of long term usage of HAART may be beyond the means of large proportions of HIV infected patients. Thus recommendations for the delay of therapy initiation have been made in order to reduce long term toxicities and potential viral resistance³⁴⁸. In addition, new strategies have been developed in an effort to employ HAART in a manner that would allow for the controlled exposure of the autologous virus to the immune system, with the intention of providing the immune system with sufficient antigen to develop novel protective responses over time^{347,366}.

1.15 Scheduled Treatment Interruption (STI)

The potential utilization of treatment interruptions as a form of immunotherapy was introduced to the medical community with a report of a patient from Berlin, who was able to control viral replication for over 4 years after cycling on and off therapy twice³⁶⁷. This patient initiated HAART, including hydroxyurea (an immune modulator), early in

infection. Control of viral replication, in this patient, was associated with increased T cell mediated activity but no neutralizing antibody production.

Structured treatment interruptions (STIs) became a new potential alternative to long-term therapy usage. Rationale for the use of this treatment method was developed for four separate scenarios: HIV PI, chronic infection, chronic infection with immunotherapy, and as a form of salvage treatment.

In the setting of acute infection, as seen in the Berlin patient, interruptions in therapy initiated in early infection, which preserved HIV specific CD4+ T cell activity, could lead to controlled intermittent exposure to autologous virus allowing for broadening of the immune response while the immune system was still relatively intact, potentially leading to immune system boosting^{347,366,368}. In the context of chronically infected patients, short monitored interruptions in treatment could lead to potential immune reconstitution, with boosting of both CD4+ and CD8+ HIV specific cell mediated immunity^{347,366,368}. The third target population included patients that had failed all their antiretroviral drug regimens due to viral mutation acquired drug resistance. The theoretical approach in this setting was that interruptions in therapy would allow for the emergence of wild-type virus which is presumably more fit than drug resistant variants. This drug sensitive virus would then be susceptible to therapy. As the drug resistant mutant reemerges on therapy, therapeutic interruption would lead once again to the reemergence of the wild type species. Therefore alternating competition between viral species, may allow patients to have less drug exposure, and better control of viral replication and associated pathogenesis^{347,368}. Finally, structured treatment interruptions

could provide a cost-effective alternative to patients that are unable to afford long term HAART therapeutics^{347,368}.

STIs in the setting of PI have proven to have moderate success. A trial conducted on 8 acutely infected patients, resulted in spontaneous control of viral replication in all subjects with one or more cycles of on and off therapy²³⁸. Additionally, STIs conducted in a group of acutely SIV infected monkeys, was performed to assess if treatment interruption, and not other biological factors, were responsible for spontaneous control of viral replication at the end of STI. Monkeys were separated into an STI arm and a continuous HAART arm. Data from this study revealed conclusively, that the enhanced broad CTL mediated viral control, which only developed in the monkeys in the STI arm of the study, was responsible for control of viral replication in the absence of therapy³⁶⁹.

STI in the context of chronic infection has not proven to be as successful. While it appears that immune responses can evolve during STI, these responses do not appear to control viral replication^{370,371}. Disappointing data emerged from a large study conducted on chronically infected patients in Europe, as minimal improvement in viral control or CD4 T cell numbers were observed in the 133 patients enrolled³⁷². Yet, 5 patients undergoing STI in Philadelphia, exhibited immunological reconstitution, as both CD4+ and CD8+ responses emerged following the study, despite a lack of spontaneous viral control³⁷³. In another study 11 subjects undergoing seven cycles on and off therapy, showed increases in T cell mediated immune responses during viral rebounds, but the immunity was not sufficient in controlling viral loads for extended periods of time³⁷⁴. Finally, STIs conducted in 12 patients in Spain effectively increased viral doubling times

during treatment interruption, but were not able to mediate long term control of viremia³⁷⁵.

Given their dissimilar strengths and weaknesses, the combination of STI and therapeutic vaccination has been proposed for use in the context of both acute and chronic HIV infection^{370,376,377}. Therapeutic immunization with Remune, an inactivated HIV recombinant A/G isolate from Zaire missing gp160 proteins, does not appear to induce novel CTL responses, rather this strategy has been demonstrated to be effective in the induction of HIV specific CD4+ proliferative responses in the context of HAART therapy in chronic infection³⁷⁰. Furthermore, STIs have been shown to be effective in the induction of greater diversity of novel immune responses in both acute²³⁸ and chronic infection³⁷³, yet another study has demonstrated little benefit to the CTL arm of the immune response and has only observed enhanced proliferative activity in remune immunized subjects³⁷⁰. Thus hopes to induce both protective HIV specific CD4+ (remune specific) and CD8+ (autologous) responses may be attainable via the combination of STIs and remune based therapeutic strategies.

STIs, used in the setting of drug failure, have been disappointing. Patients in two separate studies conducted to assess the efficacy of this modality experienced little to no immunological benefit. Despite a reemergence of wild type virus in two thirds of tested subjects, 25% of patients did not recover their pre-interruption CD4 cell numbers, and 75% of patients exhibited viral rebounds following treatment re-initiation³⁷⁸. Similarly, a second study conducted on patients on failing regimens, demonstrated that in spite of a reversion to wild type virus in the majority of patients off therapy, resistant virus was still detectable, and resulted in little to no susceptibility on therapy re-initiation³⁵⁸.

A study conducted at the NIH, to explore the possibility of short interruptions in HAART with sustained viral control and no resistance mutations, enrolled patients for 12 cycles of 1 week on and 1 week off therapy³⁷⁹. Interruption and re-initiation intervals were selected based on viral kinetic studies, which established that viral rebound does not take place within the first 7-14 days off therapy. Given this lag in viral replication, the study demonstrated that all patients maintained control of their virus during the cycling, despite the usage of 50% less drug than before. Patients experienced no net loss of CD4+ or CD8+ T cells, and viral loads remained below 50 copies/mL. Given these results concerns with respect to cost, tolerance, and adherence issues may be slightly alleviated.

1.16 Vaccines

Despite the success of HAART in reducing mortality due to AIDS in the developed world, multiple difficult obstacles are impeding the introduction of these medications to the developing world, where the majority of infections occur. Additionally, given that eradication of the virus is unlikely and due to the long term toxicities associated with prolonged treatment new strategies are essential for the treatment of this infection worldwide. Thus it is a long term goal of the HIV community to develop therapeutic and prophylactic vaccines that could stimulate the immune system sufficiently to lead to life long control of the viral infection, as is seen for EBV and CMV. Clinical information on the course of disease and associated immune pathogenesis are necessary for the design of a number of potential vaccines currently under intense investigation. Correlates of immune protection are still unclear and the relevance of the animal models used in vaccine research to human HIV infection are two issues that once resolved will greatly aid in the development of an effective vaccine.

1.16.1 The animal model:

HIV does not infect small laboratory animals. Other than humans, the virus appears to only cause disease in chimpanzees. Ethical issues relating to the use of this endangered species preclude their use in research. An important step in the development an animal model was the discovery that an HIV related virus, SIV, causes a similar disease to HIV in rhesus macaques. The use of these monkeys has contributed greatly to the characterization of the immunopathogenesis associated with HIV infection, unraveling the mysteries behind immune protection, and in the development of vaccine strategies that can boost and protect against virus pathogenesis³⁸⁰.

Although SIV and HIV are relatively homologous in sequence, a great deal of heterogeneity exists in the envelope gp120 glycoprotein. This divergence has resulted in a number of difficulties in assessing whether vaccines that induce neutralizing antibodies to HIV can be effective in suppressing HIV infection. The development of a chimeric strain of the virus that expresses the HIV envelope protein on an SIV virus, SHIV, has allowed researchers to overcome these problems³⁸⁰.

Concerns of whether the SIV model represents a true picture of the clinical course of disease in humans has been expressed³⁸⁰. Several points of contention between the two systems exist. Firstly, infection of monkeys with laboratory synthesized isolates is not a true representation of the population of clinical isolates that exist in the human population. Laboratory isolates have been developed to induce a uniform disease course, which is not representative of the varying patterns in the human population. Secondly, monkey studies employ concentrations of virus that are 10-100 fold higher than what is transmitted during human infections. Thus the degree of protection seen in monkeys may not be a true indicator of protection for human infection. Thirdly, as few HLA alleles have been characterized in the monkey population, compared with the wealth of information on human MHC alleles, many studies have been conducted on monkeys expressing a single well characterized Mamu A*01 allele in an effort to study the immune response. Given the high degree of polymorphism that exists in the human population, with respect to the distribution of HLA alleles, focusing on a single allele - which may be associated with protection or susceptibility, may lead to biased data.

1.16.2 Old vaccines:

Altered non-pathogenic live virus as a vaccine has been successful in the control of polio, measles, and chicken pox. The utility of this vaccine strategy for HIV was explored in the early 1990s when an attenuated version of SIV was given to a group of monkeys. Attenuation was induced via a small deletion in the Nef gene. Vaccinated monkeys were protected from challenge with wild type virus³⁸¹. An alarm was sounded when, on further investigation of the monkeys, it became apparent that the virus was able to reconstruct the deleted region of the Nef gene product and became pathogenic in these monkeys³⁸². Additionally, given the virulent nature of Nef deleted viral strains in neonatal macaques, vaccine efforts based on live attenuated HIV strategies were discontinued³⁸³.

The inactivated virus strategy that is used to induce immunity and protection for polio and influenza, was attempted in an HIV vaccine in the late 1980s. Inactivated HIV does not appear to elicit effective immune protection, largely due to the fact that killed virus is not able to induce T cell mediated immunity although it can induce isolate specific humoral immune responses³⁸⁴. As the inactivated virus is processed via the

exogenous pathway, it became clear that this was potentially the reason that CTL responses were not induced.

Use of recombinant proteins has been equally dissapointing. This vaccine strategy, which is effective in the prevention of HBV infection, appears to only confer protection against homologous strains of the virus³⁸⁵. Vaccines consisting of recombinant proteins have focused on delivery of the Env glycoprotein gp120 or gp160, in order to induce neutralizing antibodies. Vaccines, based on this strategy induce proliferative responses, yet are poor at eliciting CTL activity and have had little effect on neutralizing clinical isolates^{386,387}.

1.16.3 New Vaccines:

Adenoviral vectors are under study as a novel potential platform for the delivery of HIV genes. These vectors have been shown to be highly immunogenic and have been successful in inducing protective responses in the context of other viral infections³⁸⁸. Moreover, gene deleted attenuated adenovirus has proven to be immunogenic and has been demonstrated to lead to protective responses in immunized monkeys against SHIV induced disease³⁸⁹. There are concerns that the vector itself may be or become an immune target, such that vaccine boosts will be impeded by antibody production or vector induced cell mediated immunity. These concerns may be overcome using high titer doses of the viral vector³⁸⁹. Furthermore, while Adeno-associated virus has been able to induce potent SIV specific responses in monkeys, the fact that this virus integrates into the host genome has raised concerns³⁸⁴.

Two new strategies for vaccine design are underway, the use of live attenuated vectors and DNA plasmid technology. Immunization with recombinant vaccinia has had

great success in the context of inducing both HIV specific cellular and humoral immunity in the non-human primate model³⁹⁰. Combination of this strategy with an HIV subunit protein boost, leads to protection against several SIV isolates³⁹¹. Concerns pertaining to potential vaccinia replication in immunosuppressed populations have given impetus to the development of live vectors that are more attenuated than vaccinia. These efforts have focused on canary pox based vectors and a more attenuated modified vaccinia virus Ankara (MVA). MVA based vaccines have been effective in protecting immunized monkeys against SIV or SHIV^{392,393}. Low titers of antibodies were detected in 70% of vaccinated monkeys, proliferative responses were detected, and 29% of monkeys had detectable CTL activity. In parallel, efforts are underway in assessing the efficacy of a second multiply deleted vaccinia vector platform, NYVAC^{394,395}.

Plasmid DNA delivery expresses encoded proteins and is capable of inducing both humoral and cell mediated responses. Several studies have shown the ability of this vaccine modality to induce protective responses to SIV and SHIV^{396,397}. Additionally, use of viral DNA delivery has been combined with cytokine genes, such as IL-2 or IL-15, to augment the immune response^{393,396}.

Combination of DNA and attenuated viral vector vaccines has demonstrated the critical nature of the induction of virus specific CTLs which correlate with viral containment following challenge in immunized monkeys^{398,399}. Prime/boost strategies have successfully induced memory responses that can control viral infection occurring via a mucosal route³⁹⁸. In an effort to elicit broad immune responses to efficiently control viral replication, this study employed a DNA prime construct containing Gag, Pol, Vif, Vpx and Vpr SIV sequences and a boost containing Gag, Pol and Env. Yet only effector

responses targeting Gag were ascertained. Given that broad immune responses may be more effective in controlling viral replication in the eventuality that an escape from a dominant response occurs, it would be essential to assess if this strategy can effectively induce immune responses targeting other gene products.

Intense efforts directed at developing an effective vaccine, have shown that the majority of immunized animals are not protected from infection. It appears that these vaccines may provide a means to modulate the immune system to allow animals to live for varying periods of time relatively disease free following seroconversion^{384,393}. While all control animals exhibited profound CD4+ T cell depletions following challenge with the pathogenic SHIV 89.6⁴⁰⁰, cytokine-augmented DNA vaccinated animals developed potent CTL responses and maintained control of viral replication for 140 days following challenge³⁹⁶. Long term follow up of the vaccinated monkeys has demonstrated that seven of the 8 monkeys maintained long-lasting control over viral replication, preserving CD4+ T cell numbers over the course of 2 years. Conversely, one monkey that initially appeared to control viremia, eventually lost control of viral replication and experienced a rapid loss in CD4+ T cell counts⁴⁰¹. Longitudinal analysis of the Gag sequence revealed the preferential incorporation of an escape mutation within the immunodominant p11C peptide targeted by the monkey's Mamu A*01 allele⁴⁰¹.

Given the late escape of the Mamu-A*01 dominant P11C response, further efforts were invested in determining the effect of CTL pressure on vaccine efficacy using an SIVmac239 Gag DNA vaccine in 9 Mamu-A*01 monkeys⁴⁰². While 1 control monkey died soon after viral inoculation, due to rapid disease progression, 4 monkeys all harbored viral strains that had incorporated the escape mutations in two dominant Mamu-

A*01 targeted epitopes, Gag p11C and Env TL9. Of the 4 immunized monkeys, one controlled viral replication to undetectable levels throughout the 3 year follow-up. PCR amplification was not possible due to the exceedingly low viral levels, and thus investigation of epitope sequence was impossible for this monkey. The remaining 3 immunized monkeys all demonstrated the presence of a threonine to serine at position 2 associated with the CTL escape mutation in the Gag p11C epitope, and a proline to threonine at position 3 mutation in the Env TL9 epitope, coincident with viral break through. Thus although the aim of an effective vaccine would be to induce CTL responses that would lead to the spontaneous control of viral replication, the induction of narrow dominant CTLs, which induce viral escape, may be an important limitation in vaccine design efforts.

1.17 Rationale:

Given the complexity of the immune response targeting HIV, it is critical that we gain a better understanding of the evolution of the host antiviral effector response during the course of infection. Based on the strong association between CTL activity and viral control throughout infection, we have generated data on the pattern of the immune response at various stages of infection on and off therapy following infection. Data generated on the fate of the immune response throughout infection will certainly prove to be essential for proper patient management and for effective vaccine design.
Chapter 2: Cross-Sectional Analysis of HIV-Specific Effector Responses in HIV PI

HIV-SPECIFIC EFFECTOR CD8+ T CELL ACTIVITY IN PATIENTS IN PRIMARY HIV INFECTION

Running Head: HIV-specific effector responses in primary HIV infection

Galit Alter¹, Alefia Merchant¹, Christos M. Tsoukas¹, Danielle Rouleau², Roger P. LeBlanc¹, Pierre Côté³, Jean-Guy Baril³, Réjean Thomas⁴, Vinh-Kim Nguyen¹, Rafik-Pierre Sékaly⁵, Jean-Pierre Routy¹, Nicole F. Bernard¹

From the McGill University Health Centre, Montreal, QC, Canada¹, Centre hospitalier de l'Université de Montreal, Montreal QC, Canada², Clinique du Quartier Latin, Montreal, QC, Canada³, Clinique l'Actuel, Montreal, QC, Canada⁴, University of Montreal, Montreal, QC, Canada⁵

Published in the Journal of Infectious Disease 185(6) :755-765; 2002.

2.1 ABSTRACT

The Interferon- γ Elispot assay was used to assess and compare the magnitude and breadth HIV-specific CD8+ T cell responses in treatment-naïve subjects in the first year of HIV primary infection and the chronic phase of infection. Twenty-five subjects tested within a year of exposure to HIV resulting in seroconversion and 20 subjects in chronic infection were screened for HIV-peptide specific activity by stimulating peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) with a panel of 5 to 21 (mean 11.2 ± 3.5) HLA class I restricted HIV peptides. A significant correlation was observed between the magnitude and breadth of HIV-specific effector responses and time elapsed from exposure (r=0.63 for magnitude versus time and r=0.64 for breadth versus time, p<0.02; t-test). Maximal breath of the HIV gene product reactivity was achieved within 2 months of exposure for Nef-specific responses and by 4 months of exposure for responses directed to Env, Gag and reverse transcriptase.

2.2 INTRODUCTION

High levels of viral replication followed by induction of an immune response are characteristic features of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) primary infection (PI)^{1,2}. In PI, HIV-specific effector cells have been found as early as a few days after presentation with an acute seroconversion syndrome and weeks before the detection of neutralizing antibodies³. HIV-specific CD8+ effector cells appear to play an important role in controlling viral replication during PI. For both acute HIV and simian immunodeficiency virus (SIV) infection, the appearance of HIV- or SIV-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTL) is temporally associated with a dramatic fall in plasma viremia³⁻⁵. Furthermore, the absence of HIV-specific CTL3 or the development of a narrow oligoclonal primary immune response repertoire during PI⁶ is associated with poor prognosis. The most direct evidence that CD8+ T cells are involved in suppression of viral replication in vivo in PI comes from rhesus macaque models. Animals depleted of CD8+ T cells before infection with SHIV chimeric virus develop higher plasma viremia higher levels of virus in lymphoid tissue and more profound immunosuppression than control animals⁷. CD8+ CTL effector cells are also implicated in viral control during the chronic phase of infection where an inverse correlation between viral load and the frequency of HIV-specific effector cells specific for certain HIV epitopes has been observed⁸. The presence of strong and broad HIV-specific cytotoxic T lymphocyte (CTL) responses in long term non progressors with low viral loads⁹⁻¹¹ and declining CTL responses in HIV disease progressors^{11,12} also support an important role for HIV-specific effector cells in viral control. CD8+ cell depletion of rhesus macaques during chronic

SIV infection results in a rapid and marked increase in viremia that is suppressed with the re-emergence of SIV-specific CD8+ cells^{13,14}.

Despite the induction of HIV-specific immune responses during PI, HIV is not cleared and eventually establishes a persistent infection. The inability of HIV-specific CD8+ T cells to rid the body of HIV is not completely understood. Studies in several animal and human models of virus infection demonstrate that early virus-specific immune responses influence the course of disease^{6,15-18}. These data emphasize the importance of understanding the characteristics of HIV-specific CD8+ T cells can control HIV replication either through lysis of HIV-infected cells or by secretion of soluble mediators including the cytokines interferon-gamma (IFN- γ) and tumor necrosis factor α (TNF α), the chemokines macrophage inflammatory protein (MIP)-1 α , MIP-1 β and regulated upon activation normal T cell expressed and secreted (RANTES) and the cytotoxin, perforin¹⁹⁻²³

We report here data characterizing HIV-specific effector cell reactivity in 19 subjects screened within 4 months of exposure to HIV that resulted in establishment of infection. HIV-specific effector reactivity in this group is compared with that in 9 individuals tested later in the first year of HIV infection and 20 chronically HIV infected individuals. We evaluated the breadth and magnitude of HIV-specific CD8+ T cell recognition to panels of major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I restricted peptides derived from HIV-1 *env*, *gag*, *pol*, and *nef* sequences using an IFN- γ Elispot assay. This method for measuring the frequency of HIV-specific CD8+ T cells appears to correlate well with direct peptide-specific cytolysis and detection of HIV-specific T cells

using HLA class I-peptide tetramer complexes binding defined T cell receptors²³⁻²⁶. Furthermore, the ability of individual cells to secrete IFN- γ several hours after stimulation and differentiate into individual CTL clones further supports the functional relevance of this assay for measuring HIV-specific effector activity^{27,28}.

2.3 METHODS

Study population

We studied 25 male subjects enrolled in the Montreal HIV Primary Infection (PI) Cohort of individuals with documented recent HIV infection. Baseline characteristics of the PI study population are presented in Table 1. No subject had received any antiretroviral therapy before the time they were tested. Eligibility criteria for the PI study included negative tests for antibodies to p24 antigen by ELISA in subjects with p24 antigenemia; evolving humoral immune response with positive results for anti-p24 antibody ELISA tests and indeterminate Western blot and p24 antigenemia with emergent positive HIV serology within 3 months; HIV seroconversion within a 6-month period following negative anti-p24 antibody ELISA testing; and/or typical acute retroviral syndrome within the 3 previous months²⁹.

The presumed date of exposure resulting in infection was estimated using the date of onset of symptoms of an acute retroviral syndrome minus 15 days, or, for asymptomatic PI, the date of the first indeterminate Western blot minus 30 days. Information obtained from questionnaires addressing the timing of high-risk behavior for HIV transmission was used when available to confirm the presumed date of exposure resulting in seroconversion. Assignment of subjects to study groups was supported by laboratory tests showing a non reactive less-sensitive enzyme immunoassay (EIA) HIV p24 antibody test³⁰.

Two groups of PI study subjects were constituted based on the time elapsed between the presumed date of exposure and the time at which a sample was collected for testing. The early PI subject group was composed of 19 men naïve to highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART) tested for HIV-specific effector activity within 4 months of the presumed date of exposure (median 50 days; range 24 to 110 days). Samples from 9 HAART naïve male subjects were screened at later times in the first year of infection (median 251 days from exposure, range 173 to 285 days). This late PI group included three individuals in the early PI group who refused treatment with HAART while agreeing to be followed and 6 new subjects identified later in the first year of HIV infection. For comparison we also studied 20 asymptomatic age-matched subjects (19 males and 1 female) in the chronic phase of HIV infection. All of these individuals were HAART naïve and had been diagnosed as HIV seropositive a median of 6.1 years (range 1 to 15 years) at the time tested.

HIV-1 antibody testing was performed at three University hospital sites. Western blot analysis for HIV-1 antibodies and p24 antigen capture assays were performed at the Laboratoire de Santé Publique de Québec. Plasma viremia was measured using the Roche Amplicor assay (Roche Diagnostics, Mississauga, Ontario, Canada) with a limit of detection of 500 HIV-1 RNA copies/ml plasma. Plasma samples falling below this limit of detection were retested using the ultrasensitive method (Ultradirect, Roche) with a limit of detection of less than 50 copies/ml. T cell subset distribution was measured by flow cytometric analysis.

Cells and peptides: PBMC were isolated by density gradient centrifugation (Ficoll-Paque, Pharmacia, Upsala, Sweden) and frozen in 90% fetal calf serum (GIBCO BRL Life Technologies, Burlington, Ontario, Canada), 10% dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO, Sigma, St. Louis MO). Subjects were typed for MHC class I antigen expression by the

amplification refractory mutation system - polymerase chain reaction (ARMS-PCR) using 95 primer sets amplifying defined MHC class I alleles (ABC SSP Unitray, Pel-Freez Clinical Systems, Brown Deer, WI)³¹. HLA-A2 positive individuals were subtyped using high-resolution primer sets to identify the individuals who were A*0201. Genomic DNA for molecular HLA-typing was prepared from either fresh blood or Epstein-Barr virus transformed B (EBV-B) cell lines using the QIAamp DNA blood kit (Qiagen Inc. Mississauga, Ontario, Canada). The HIV-1 epitopes used for PBMC stimulation were chosen from the National Institutes of Health (NIH) HIV Molecular Immunology Database³². Peptides of 9-, 15-, or 20-amino acids in length containing these sequences were obtained from the Medical Research Council AIDS Reagent Project (Hertz UK) and the NIH AIDS Research and Reference Reagent Program (Rockville, MD). Lyophilized peptides were diluted to 1 mg/ml in Hank's buffered saline solution (HBSS); 10% DMSO and stored at -20°C. They were used for stimulation at a final concentration of 20 μM.

Elispot assay for single cell IFN- γ release: IFN- γ secretion by virus-specific CD8+ T cells was quantitated by the Elispot assay. Frozen PBMC were thawed and stimulated in microfuge tubes with 20 μ M of peptide for 3 hours before being seeded at 2 x 10⁵ and 5 x 10⁴ cells per well in duplicate into 96-well polyvinylidene difluoride backed plates (MAIPS 45; Millipore, Bedford MA) coated with 5 ug/ml of anti-IFN- γ mAb (1-DK-1; Mabtech AB, Stockholm, Sweden). Stimulating peptides were chosen based on their having amino acid sequence binding motifs for at least one of the MHC class I alleles expressed by the individuals being tested. Negative controls for these experiments consisted of stimulation with no peptide whereas positive controls consisted of

stimulation with anti-CD3 (Research Diagnostics, Inc., Flanders NJ). Stimulated cells were incubated 16-20 hours at 37°C in 5% CO₂. After washing off the cells, IFN-y secreting cells were detected as spots by sequential addition followed by washing of a second biotin-conjugated anti-IFN-y antibody (7-B6-1-biotin, Mabtech) diluted 1:2000, streptavidin alkaline phosphatase (Mabtech) diluted 1:2000 and 5-bromo-4-chloro-3indolyl phosphate toluidine (BCIP) p-nitro blue tetrazoliumchloride (NBT) substrate (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Richmond, CA). Spots were counted using a stereomicroscope (Carl Zeiss Canada, New York, Ontario, Canada). The number of spot forming cells (SFC) per million PBMC was calculated based on the number of input cells per well responding to antigen stimulation. Negative control results have been subtracted from the results reported. Negative control stimulation produced less than 5 spots per well in greater than 90% of experiments. In experimental wells the signal was considered positive if at least 10 spots per well over background was present in the wells plated with 2×10^5 cells, the number of spots obtained was proportional to the number of cells plated and the number of spots per well was at least 2-fold greater than the negative control wells. The identity of IFN- γ secreting cells as CD8+ was confirmed by the reduction of SFC numbers generated to all peptides stimulating above background responses following depletion of CD8+ cells with magnetic beads (Dynal, Lake Success, NY).

Statistical analyses: The significance of proportional between group differences in reactivity to all peptides in the screening panel and peptides derived from HIV gene products was tested by χ^2 analyses. The significance of between group differences was tested by the unpaired student t-test. The significance of the correlation coefficient

between the magnitude and breadth of the HIV-specific immune response and time from the presumed date of exposure was tested by the paired t-test. P-values of less than 0.05 were considered significant. Table 1 provides information on the age, sex, mode of HIV transmission, MHC class I type and whether symptoms of an acute retroviral syndrome were reported for each subject in the PI study groups. Table 1 also lists the estimated time from exposure resulting in seroconversion, absolute CD4 and CD8 counts and viral load at the time samples were screened for HIV-specific immune responses. The 25 HIV PI study subjects had a median age of 41.6 yrs (range 26 to 53 yrs) and the chronically infected individuals had a median age of 39.3 yrs (range 20 to 55 yrs). The early PI, late PI and chronically HIV infected groups were similar in age, CD4+, and CD8+ cell counts. The three groups were also similar in composition with respect to route of HIV acquisition. The median \log_{10} viral load was 5.45 [range 2.9 – 6.6], 4.8 [range 3,7 to 5.5] and 4 [range 1.7 to 5.5] for the early PI, late PI and chronically HIV infected group had a significantly higher viral load than the chronically infected group (p=0.018; unpaired t-test). Higher viral load in the early PI compared would be expected as this population contains a larger proportion of individuals with transient high levels of viremia characteristic of early infection^{33,34}.

HIV-specific IFN- γ **secreting cells.** HLA-restricted T cell responses were evaluated by the IFN- γ Elispot assay. The sequence of the synthetic peptides corresponding to HIV Env, Gag, RT and Nef used as stimuli are shown in Table 2. Fig. 1 shows for 4 representative subjects in each group the number of SFC generated following stimulation with the HIV peptide panel they were screened with. A median of 11 peptides was tested per individuals (range 5 to 21) depending on the HLA type. The number of HIV peptides

used to stimulate PBMC from individuals assigned to the 3 study groups was similar (unpaired t-test). There were no between group differences in two factors that could have influenced the selection of HIV peptides for testing, i.e. the proportion of individuals having homozygosity at any of the MHC class I loci or the proportion of subjects expressing MHC class I alleles having an allele frequency of less than 5% or 1% in the predominantly Canadian Caucasian population from which the study subjects were drawn³⁵. HIV-specific responses to at least one peptide were detected in 94% of subject in early PI, all subjects in late PI and 90% of subjects in the chronic phase of infection.

Early and late PI study subject groups were compared with each other and with the group in the chronic phase of infection for the breadth of their HIV-specific reactivity by testing for significant differences in the proportion of HIV peptides tested in each group that stimulated a positive response in an Elispot assay. The overall breadth of HIVspecific reactivity was greatest for the subjects in late PI, who reacted with 83 of 113 (73%) of the peptides tested. This was a significantly greater proportion than the 145 of 231 (63%) of peptides that stimulated a response in the early PI subjects group (p=0.05; χ^2 -test) or the 98 of 220 (45%) of HIV peptides tested that stimulated a response in the chronic HIV infection group (p<0.001; χ^2 -test) (Table 3). The early PI group also reacted with a greater proportion of HIV peptides than did the group in the chronic phase of HIV infection (p<0.001; χ^2 -test) (Table 3).

The three populations were next compared for reactivity to HIV peptides derived from individual HIV gene products. No between-group differences were detected for the proportion of HIV Env- or Gag-derived peptides able to stimulate a positive response. Fifty-three per cent, 79% and 35% of RT peptides used for screening stimulated reactivity in the early PI, late PI and chronic HIV infection groups, respectively (Table 3). All between group comparisons for the proportion of RT peptides able to stimulate responses were significantly different (χ^2 -test) (Table 3). Although no differences were observed in the proportion of Nef peptides that stimulated responses in early versus late PI subjects, both these groups reacted to a significantly higher proportion of Nef peptides than did subjects in chronic infection (Table 3).

The magnitude of the HIV-specific response for each subject was calculated by adding the frequency of IFN- γ secreting cells per million PBMC reacting to each individual peptide that stimulated a response considered to be above background. The average magnitude of the HIV-specific response for subjects in early PI, late PI and the chronic phase of infection was 2530 ± 2506 , 3193 ± 2619 and 1409 ± 1459 , respectively. Reactivity per peptide was determined by dividing the total number of HIV-specific IFN- γ secreting cells by the number of peptides able to stimulate above background levels of reactivity. The average reactivity per peptide for subjects in early PI, late PI and the chronic phase of infection was 297 ± 245 , 317 ± 186 and 275 ± 162 , respectively. Between-group comparisons revealed no statistically significant between group differences for either of these parameters (unpaired t-test).

Although the average magnitude of HIV-specific reactivity in the early PI group did not differ from that in the late PI group, a statistically significant correlation was observed between the magnitude of HIV-specific reactivity and the time elapsed from exposure for the 19 subjects in early PI (r=0.64, p<0.02; paired t-test [Fig. 2A]). So too, a statistically significant correlation was detected between the breadths of the HIV-specific response, as measured by the per cent of peptides stimulating a response in each

individual, and the time elapsed from exposure for subjects in early PI (r=0.63. p<0.02; paired t-test [Figure 2B]).

Because these results suggested that the breadth and magnitude of HIV-specific reactivity increased with time in the first 4 months following exposure resulting in seroconversion we reanalyzed the HIV effector data by separating the early PI subjects into 2 subgroups. Breadth of HIV-specific responses were compared between 11 subjects tested within 2 months of the presumed date of exposure and 8 subjects tested between 2 and 4 months of exposure. The breadth of reactivity to the HIV peptide panel tested in the 11 subjects screened within 2 months of infection was significantly lower than that in individuals tested between 2 and 4 months of infection (69 of 134 [51%] versus 76 of 97 [80%] of peptides tested stimulated positive responses, p<0.001, χ^2 -test) (Fig. 3A). The subgroup tested between 2 and 4 months of exposure also responded to a significantly higher proportion of Env-, Gag- and RT- derived peptides than did the subgroup tested within 2 month of exposure (Fig. 3B-D). In contrast, similar proportions of Nef peptides stimulated responses in both these subgroups (Fig. 3E). By 4 months from the presumed date of exposure, the breadth of the response was maximal for all the HIV gene products tested and was maintained through the first year of infection (Fig. 3A-E)

Eight individuals in the early PI group, 3 separate individuals in the late PI group and 13 subjects in the chronic infection group were HLA-A*0201 positive (Fig. 4). All were screened for reactivity to HLA-A*0201 restricted HIV peptides Gag 77-85 (SLYNTVATL) and RT 476-484 (ILKEPVGVY). Five of the 8 (62.5%) individuals in early PI responded to Gag 77-85 and RT 476-484. No significant proportional between group differences were detected for reactivity to either peptide. When the early and late

PI groups were combined and compared to the chronically infected group for reactivity to these two HLA-A*0201 restricted HIV epitopes, no proportional between group differences were detected for reactivity to Gag 77-85; a non statistically significant trend towards more frequent recognition of RT 476-484 was observed in subjects in the first year of infection versus those in chronic phase of HIV infection (7 of 11 [63%] PI subjects versus 4 of 13 [31%] chronic infection subjects responded to RT 476-484, $p=0.11; \chi^2$ -test).

2.5 DISCUSSION

We have screened HAART naïve HIV-infected subjects in early and late PI and in the chronic phase of infection for HIV-specific effector responses to a panel of HIV peptides. Our results show that newly infected subjects tested within 4 months of their presumed date of exposure recognized 145 of 231 (63%) of the MHC class I restricted HIV peptides used for screening. This level of responsiveness was significantly higher in those tested between 4 months and 1 year of exposure, as subjects in late PI responded to 83 of 113 (73%) of the HIV peptides tested. When these results were separated according to the HIV gene products the peptides were derived from, the increase in reactivity between the early and late PI study groups was only significant for RT derived peptides. Both PI study groups responded to more HIV peptides than did subjects in the chronic phase of infection. By dividing the early PI study group into subsets of individuals tested within 2 months of exposure and between 2 and 4 months of exposure it was possible to demonstrate that HIV-specific response to Nef-derived peptides are the first to achieve maximal breadth. Maximal breadth of the responses to Env-, Gag- and RT-derived peptides are achieved by 4 months from exposure and they, together with responses to Nef peptides, are maintained in the first year of infection. Although the average magnitude of the overall response and the magnitude of the response per peptide did not differ between groups, a correlation was observed for the early PI group between time elapsed from exposure and both the magnitude and breadth of the HIV-specific response. Several HLA-A*0201 positive subjects in early PI responded to the Gag 77-85 and the RT 476-484 epitopes restricted by this MHC class I allele.

Weak anti- HIV-specific effector activity in early PI has been reported others^{36,37}. Dalod et al. used a similar strategy to the one reported here for dating the presumed date of exposure. Their study population had a median time from exposure of 45 days (range 24 to 97 days), which is comparable to the median time from exposure of 50 days (range 24 to 110) for the early PI group described in this report. Eleven of the early PI subjects were tested within 60 days (median 39 [range 24 to 52 days]) of the presumed date of exposure and therefore are at an even earlier stage of infection than the population described by Dalod et al.³⁶. Altfield et al. studied a PI population that was largely in the acute phase of infection with negative HIV p24 EIA tests and HIV p24 antigen positivity and therefore at an even earlier stage of infection than most of the individuals studied here. Altfield et al. also reported a weak HIV-specific response in these subjects³⁷. Although the PI study population described here had a greater breadth and magnitude of HIV reactivity than that reported by others, the change in the pattern of reactivity to HIV peptides consistent with that published elsewhere^{36,37}. Subjects tested within 2 month of exposure reacted to fewer HIV peptides compared to subjects at later times in PI. Weak anti- HIV-specific effector activity observed in early PI may be akin to that reported in early Hepatitis C infection where antigen-specific cells temporarily failed to secrete IFN- γ during the acute phase of infection characterized by high viremia¹⁵. As viremia resolves this "stunned" antigen-specific cell phenotype disappears.

The comparison group of subject in chronic HIV infection did not exhibit as broad a response as did PI subjects at all but the earliest time from exposure. This reduction in breadth differs from the results reported by Dalod et al. but may be due to differences in the composition of the 2 chronically HIV infected populations with respect

to how long they had been seropositive³⁶. One factor that may account for reduced breadth and magnitude of T cell responses in the more advanced chronically infected subjects may be the selection over time of mutations in the infecting HIV viral isolate sequence. Immune responses to the infecting isolate may no longer recognize the peptides used to stimulate responses in the Elispot assay, which have sequences based largely on the HIV HXB2 isolate.

One explanation for the weak HIV-specific immune responses detected in early PI may be the choice of peptides that were used to screen for HIV-specific responses. The Los Alamos molecular immunology database from which the panel of HIV peptides used to screen for HIV-specific immune responses was drawn lists epitopes that are frequently recognized by HIV-infected individuals in the chronic phase of infection. It is possible that epitopes that are dominant in chronic infection are not dominant in PI and vice versa. Using overlapping peptide sets corresponding to entire HIV gene products to screen individuals in acute infection, Altfeld et al. identified several new epitopes not previously recognized in individuals in chronic infection³⁷. Goulder et al. reported that the HLA-A*0201 restricted Gag 77-85 SLYNTVATL epitope was not recognized in any of 11 individuals in early PI even though reactivity to this epitope could be detected later in infection³⁸. Changes in the dominance patterns of viral epitope recognition with disease stage occur in EBV infection, in which lytic, and not latent, antigen-specific responses dominate during the acute phase of $infection^{39,40}$. There is evidence that a change in the dominance pattern of viral epitope recognition may also occur in SIV infection of macaques⁴¹, and in Hepatitis C infection^{15,42}.

Twenty-four of 29 (84%) of the Nef peptides used to stimulate PBMC from subjects within 2 months of exposure elicited a positive response. Nineteen of 20 (95%) and 17 of 20 (85%) Nef peptides tested elicited a response from subjects tested between 2 and 4 months of infection and later in the first year of infection, respectively. This is in contrast to the proportion of Nef peptides recognized by subjects in chronic HIV infection in whom only 28 of 54 (52%) Nef peptides tested were recognized. These results suggest that by 2 months, maximal breadth of HIV Nef-specific reactivity had been achieved. CTL recognizing Nef should be able to lyse cells before mature virions are produced and may do so before a sufficient amount of Nef is available to downregulate the expression of MHC class I alleles, which would compromise CTL recognition of other HIV gene products^{43,44}. The proportion of reactive peptides derived from HIV Env, Gag and RT increased in subjects tested within the first 2 months of infection. The proportion of peptides from these 3 HIV gene products recognized by individuals in late PI did not increase significantly.

Goulder at al. reported that reactivity to the HLA-A*0201-restricted epitope Gag 77-85 was not observed in a group of 11 HLA-A2 positive individuals tested very early in infection. All had viral loads >750,000; six were HIV seronegative and p24 positive, 2 were ELISA positive and Western blot indeterminate and 3 were seropositive but within 129 days of HIV infection³⁸. In one subject, for whom longitudinal samples were available and who did not recognize this peptide at the first time point tested, anti-Gag 77-85-specific reactivity developed later in the second year of infection³⁸. These results were interpreted to support the notion that reactivity to Gag 77-85 is not dominant in PI.

In contrast, we found 5 of 8 HLA-A*0201 positive individuals in the early PI group and 2 of 3 HLA-A*0201 subjects in the late PI group who responded to this epitope. Although the two A*0201 positive individuals tested at earliest times from exposure (24 and 28 days) did not respond, a subject tested at 52 days from exposure did respond. Of the 13 HLA-A*0201 positive subjects in the chronic phase of infection 9 (69%) responded to Gag 77-85. This proportion of epitope-reactive HIV subjects is in agreement with data reported by others^{8,45-48}. These disparate results may be due to differences in the methods used to detect HIV-specific cells. Goulder et al used intracellular IFN- γ staining and peptide-MHC tetramer assays to detect antigen specific cells. These methods may not be as sensitive as the Elispot assay used here, which can detect as few as 50 to 100 IFN- γ secreting cells/million PBMC. The number of SFC produced following stimulation of the 5 individuals identified as having positive responses to Gag 77-85 was (221, 75, 212, 568 and 282 per million PBMC). This number of IFN- γ secreting cells is likely below the level of detection of intracellular IFN- γ staining and peptide-MHC tetramer assays.

A second HLA-A*0201 restricted epitope was used to stimulate PBMC from HLA-A*0201 positive subjects. RT 476-484 has been reported to stimulate a response in approximately 20% of HIV-infected HLA-A*0201 positive subjects. Four of 13 (31%) HLA-A*0201 subjects in the chronic phase of HIV infection responded to this epitope while 5 of 8 (62.5%) and 2 of 3 (66.6%) HLA-A*0201 positive subjects in early and late PI responded to this epitope, respectively. When both PI groups were combined and compared a non-significant trend was observed towards preferential recognition of this epitope by subjects in PI versus those in the chronic phase of infection.

In conclusion, HIV-specific effector responses are lower in magnitude and breadth in the earliest phase of PI. They achieve their maximal breadth and magnitude by 4 months from exposure. Responses to the Nef are among the first to appear. Our results do not show an absence of reactivity to the HLA-A*0201 restricted Gag 77-85 restricted epitope in subjects in early PI. The issue of what HIV-epitopes are immunodominant in early infection is an important one for vaccine design where the goal is to induce immunity that will play a role in controlling virus. Further study of the specificity of HIV-specific immunity in individuals in early PI is needed, as there is the possibility that these responses will be superior to those occurring in the chronic phase of infection for controlling virus replication. This information will make an important contribution to the design of effecting vaccines for HIV.

Figure 1







Figure 1 continued















Figure







Figure 3 continued











ID	Age/sex	Risk	Symptoms	Estimated time from infection	T cell counts		Log plasma HIV RNA	HLA type
					CD4	CD8		
E PI 002	44/M	MSM	Yes	25	612	720	6.0	A2, -, B62, B44, Cw3, Cw7
E PI 012	38/M	MSM	Yes	28	180	1540	6.18	A2, A3, B7, B35, Cw4, Cw7
E PI 013	36/M	MSM	Yes	30	729	1107	4.68	A11, A31, B44, B45, Cw4, Cw6
E PI 003	42/M	HSM	Yes	31	827	2220	5.9	A1, A29, B44, B57, Cw6, Cw16
E PI 010	45/M	MSM	Yes	32	357	4029	6.3	A1, A24, B8, B18, Cw5, Cw7
E PI 004	27/M	MSM	Yes	39	827	2220	5.9	A1, A30, B8, B18, Cw5, Cw7
E PI 005	40/M	MSM	Yes	41	300	447	5.7	A11, A24, B14, B60, -
E/L PI 014	29/M	IVDU	Yes	41	430	770	3.8	A3, A66, B18, B41, Cw7, Cw17
E/L PI 015	32/M	MSM	Yes	45	368	1040	4.26	A11, A25, B8, B35, Cw4, Cw7
E/L PI 016	48/M	MSM	Yes	50	580	920	6.23	A11, A23, B7, B35, Cw4, Cw7
E PI 006	53/M	MSM	Yes	52	560	7810	6.65	A1, A2, B8, -, Cw7. –
E PI 001	42/M	IVDU	Yes	61	1140	1090	5.0	A2, -, B18, B44, Cw5, Cw12
E PI 017	23/M	MSM	No	65	432	736	1.8	A2,-,B8, B57, Cw6, Cw7
E PI 018	43/M	Hetero	No	68	467	653	5.45	A3, A23, B35, B44, Cw4
E PI 007	37/M	MSM	Yes	74	228	528	5.08	A1, A30, B8, B51, Cw7, Cw16
E PI 011	41/M	MSM	No	79	350	1458	3.4	A2, A66, B14, B54, Cw1, Cw8
E PI 008	36/M	MSM	Yes	85	956	464	2.93	A2, A68, B39, B57, Cw7, Cw18
E PI 009	43/M	MSM	No	102	840	640	3.2	A23, A31, B44, -, Cw4, Cw5
E/L PI 019	40/M	IVDU	Yes	101	990	810	5.31	A2, A3, B60, B49, Cw3, Cw7
E/L PI 020	39/M	IVDU	Yes	173	500	681	3.7	A2, A24, B27, B40, Cw1, Cw3
L PI 002	41/M	MSM	No	201	309	1237	5.27	A1, A29, B8, B44, Cw7, Cw16
L PI 001	47/M	MSM	Yes	242	440	1110	5.4	A1, A23, B8, B44, Cw4, Cw7
L PI 008	50/M	IVDU	No	254	180	180 325 5.5 A31, A68, B40, B44, Cw2, Cw		A31, A68, B40, B44, Cw2, Cw3
L PI 009	51/M	MSM	No	263	720	640	4.1	A2, A32, B7, B27, Cw2, Cw7
L PI 010	40/M	MSM	Yes	285	657	542	3.4	A2, A3, B14, B52, Cw8, Cw12

Table 1. HIV Primary Infection Study Population Baseline Characteristics

Risk category – MSM = Homosexual exposure; IVDU = exposure through intravenous drug use; hetero = Heterosexual exposure.

Peptide Designation	Location	Sequence	MHC class I restriction specificity	
Nef-1*	(1-20)	GGKWSKSSVVGWPTVRERMR	B8	
Nef-7	(61-80)	EEEEVGFPVTPQVPLRPMTY	A1, B7, B35	
Nef-8	(71-90)	PQVPLRPMTYKAAVDLSHFL	A3 , A11	
Nef-9	(81-100)	KAAVDLSHFLKEKGGLEGLI	A11, B8, B40, Cw8	
Nef-10	(91-110)	KEKGGLEGLIHSQRRQDILD	A1, B60	
Nef-11	(101-120)	HSQRRQDILDEWIYHTQGYF	B7, B27	
Nef-12	(111-130)	LWIYHTQGYFPDWQNYTPGP	A1, B57	
Nef-13	(121-140)	PDWQNYTPGPGVRYPLTFGW	B7	
Nef-14	(131-150)	GVRYPLTFGWCYKLVPVEPD	A1, B18, B49	
Nef-18	(171-190)	GMDDPEREVEWRFDSRLAF	A25, A66	
Nef-19	(181-200)	EWRFDSRLAFHHVAREL	A1, A2, A3, A25, B52	
Nef-20	(191-210)	HHVARELHPEYFKNC	A1	
RT- 4	(18-26)	DGPKVKQWPLTEEKI	B8	
RT- 7	(32-47)	KALVEICTEMEKEGKI	A3	
RT- 9	(42-50)	EKEGKISKIGPENPYN	B51	
RT- 21	(103-117)	KKSVTVLDVGDAYGS	B35	
RT- 23	(113-127)	DAYFSVPLDEDFRKY	B51	
RT- 24	(118-132)	VPLDEDFRKYTAFTI	B35	
RT- 30	(148-162)	VLPQGWKGSPAIFQS	B51	
RT- 31	(153-167)	WKGSPAIFQSSMTKI	A3, A11, B7, B35	
RT- 35	(173-187)	KQNPDIVIYQYMDDL	B35	
RT- 36	(178-192)	IVIYQYMDDLYVGSD	A2	
RT- 38	(188-202)	YVGSDLEIGQHRT-KI	A3	
RT- 41	(203-217)	EELRQHLLRWGLTTP	B44	
RT- 47	(233-247)	ELHPDKWTVQPIVLP	A2	
RT- 49	(243-257)	PIVLPEKDSWTVNDI	B57	
BT- 59	(293-307)	IPLTEEAELELAENY\R	B35	
RT- 68	(338-352)	TYQIYQEPFKNLKTG	A11	
RT- 73	(363-377)	NDVKQLTEAVQKITT	A68	
RT- 75	(372-387)	VOKITTESIVIWGKTP	B57	
RT- 78	(388-402)	KEKI PIOKETWETWW	A32	
RT- 79	(393-407)	IOKETWETWWTEYWO	B44	
RT- 86	(427-442)		B35	
RT- 87	(433-447)	PIVGAETEYVDGAAN	A68	
RT- 88	(438-452)	ETEYVDGAANBETKI	A66	
PT- 90	(403-452)		A00	
DT_ 00	(448-462)	BETKI GKAGYVTNIKG	R14	
DT- 106	(440-402)		87	
RT (476-484)	(476-484)	ILKEPVHGV	A2	
017.3	(21-35)		A3. A24. B8	
17.4	(31-45)		B35	
o17.8	(71-85)	GSEELRSI YNTVATI	A1. B8	
17.9	(81-95)	TVATI YCVHORIDVK	A11	
17.13	(121-127)		B35	
///.10	(1217107)		A0	
017(77-85)	(77-85)	SLYNIVAIL	A2	
017(77-85)	(77-85)		CW3	

Table 2. List of HIV peptides used to screen for HIV-specific effector responses



p24.3		(21-40)	NAWVKVVEEKAFSPEVIPMF	B57
p24.4		(31-50)	AFSPEVIPMFSALSEGATPQ	A66, Cw1
p24.5		(41-60)	SALSEGATPQDLNTMLNTVG	B7, B40, B60
p24.7		(61-80)	GHQAAMQMLKETINEEAAEW	B39, B52
p24.8		(71-90)	ETINEEAAEWDRVHPVHAGP	A25, A66
p24.11		(101-120)	GSDIAGTTSTLQEQIGWMTN	B57
p24.13		(121-140)	NPPIPVGEIYKRWIILGLNK	B8, B35
p24.14		(131-150)	KRWIILGLNKIVRMYSPTSI	B27, B62
p24.15		(141-160)	IVRMYSPTSILDIRQGPKEP	B52
p24.17		(161-180)	FRDYVDRFYKTLRAEQASQD	A24, A66, B14, B18, B44
p24.18		(171-190)	TLRAEQASQDVKNWMTETLL	B44, B57
p24.20		(191-210)	VQNANPDCKTILKALGPAAT	B8
p24.22		(211-230)	LEEMMTACQGVGGPGHKARV	A11
Env 192	22	(586-598)	EKLWVTVYYGVPVWKEATTT	A3, A11, Cw7
Env 202	23	(656-673)	ERYLKDQQLLGF	A24, B8, B14
Env 204	43	(786-795)	IVELLGRRGWEVLKYWWNLL	B27
Env 204	49	(843-851)	LHIPTRIRQGLERALL	B7

* Peptide designations, locations and sequences refer to those provided by the NIH AIDS Reagent bank and the Medical Research Council AIDS Reagent Project.

Table 3. Comparison of the ex vivo functional repertoire of antiviral CD8+ T lymphocytes in early PI, late PI and chronic HIV infection

	Frequency of subjects responding to HIV peptides					% of responsive	Total SFC	Mean SFC/peptide ²
Subjects	#responses/#peptides tested (%)					subjects ¹	number ²	
	Env	Gag	RT	Nef	All			
Early PI	11/25 ³	51/83	41/74 ^{4,5}	43/49 ⁵	145/2314,5	94%	2530 ± 2507	297 ± 245
N=19	(44)	(51)	(55)	(88)	(63)			
Late PI	11/17	24/37 ⁴	31/396	17/206	83/1136	100%	3193 ± 2619	317 ± 186
N=9	(65)	(65)	(79)	(85)	(73)			
Chronic	9/22	35/71	26/74	28/54	98/220	90%	1410 ± 1459	275 ± 162
infection	(41)	(49)	(35)	· (52)	(45)			
N=20								

¹Per cent of subjects per group with at least 1 HIV peptide-specific reactivity.

²Mean \pm standard deviation.

⁻Mean ± standard deviation. ³Number of reactive peptides/number of peptides tested (percent reactive peptides). ⁴ p<0.05 Early versus late PI. ⁵ p<0.05 Early versus chronic HIV infection. ⁶ p<0.05 Late versus chronic HIV infection. SFC = spot forming cells; PI = primary infection.



Figure 1. Magnitude of responses to individual human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) peptides used to screen for HIV-specific CD8+ effector cells. Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) from subjects in early primary infection (PI) (panels A-D), late PI (panels E-H) and chronic phase of infection (panels I-L) were stimulated individually with the HIV peptides listed on the x-axis. The height of each bar indicates the number of spot forming cells (SFC) that were generated in response to each stimulus.

Figure 2. Correlation between HIV-specific effector activity and time elapsed from exposure to HIV resulting in seroconversion. Nineteen subjects were screened for HIV-specific effector responses by Interferon- γ (IFN- γ) Elispot assay within 4 months of their presumed date of exposure. Panel A displays the magnitude of the HIV-specific response versus time from exposure; Panel B displays the breadth of the HIV-specific responses as measured by the percent of HIV peptides tested able to stimulate a positive response versus time from exposure. In Panel A the number spot forming cells (SFC) is the sum of each individual peptide-specific response that generated results considered to be above background. In panel B the percent of reactive peptides refers to the number of peptides generating a positive response divided by the number of peptides tested.

Figure 3. Proportion of HIV peptides tested stimulating a positive response displayed by group. Panel A shows results for all HIV peptides tested. Panels B, C, D and E show results for Env-, Gag-, RT-, and Nef-derived HIV peptides, respectively.

Figure 4. Reactivity to HLA-A*0201 restricted peptides Gag 77-85 and RT 476-484 in subjects in PI and chronic infection. Seven HLA-A*0201 positive subjects in early PI, 4 in late PI and 13 in the chronic phase of infection were screened for reactivity to HLA-A*0201 restricted Gag 77-85 (Panel A) and RT 476-484 (Panel B) by the IFN- γ Elispot assay. SFC/million PBMC refers to the number of spot forming cells (IFN- γ secreting cells) generated per million peripheral blood mononuclear cells following stimulation with each peptide. Reactivity to no peptides has been subtracted from the results displayed in the graph.

2.6 REFERENCES

- Pantaleo G, Graziosi C, Fauci AS. Virologic and immunologic events in primary HIV infection. Springer Semin. Immunopathol. 1997;18:257-66.
- Kahn JO, Walker BD. Acute human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. N Engl. J. Med. 1998;339:33-9.
- Koup RA, Safrit JT, Cao Y, Andrews CA, McLoed G, Borkowsky W. Farthing C, Ho DD. Temporal association of cellular immune responses with the initial control of viremia in primary human immunodeficiency virus type 1 syndrome. J. Virol. 1994;68:4650-5.
- Pantaleo G, Desmarest JF, Soudeyns H, et al. Major expansion of CD8+ T cells with a predominant V beta usage during the primary immune response to HIV. Nature 1994;370:463-7.
- Borrow P, Lewicki H, Hahn BH, Shaw GM, Oldstone MBA. Virus-specific CD8+ cytotoxic T lymphocytes activity associated with control of viremia in primary human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. J. Virol. 1994;68:6103-10.
- 6. Pantaleo G, Desmarest JF, Schaker T et al. The qualitative nature of the primary immune response to HIV infection is a prognosticator of disease progression independent of the initial level of plasma viremia. PNAS 1997;94:254-8.
- Matano T, Shibata R, Siemon C, Connors M, Lane H, Martin M. Administration of an anti-CD8 monoclonal antibody interferes with the clearance of chimeric simian/human immunodeficiency virus during primary infection of rhesus macaques. J Virol 1998;72:164-9.

- Ogg GS, Xin J, Bonhoeffer S, et al. Quantitation of HIV-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes and plasma viral load RNA. Science 1998;279:2103-6.
- Harrer T, Harrer E, Kalams SA, et al. Cytotoxic T lymphocytes in asymptomatic long-term nonprogressing HIV-1 infection. Breadth and specificity of the response and relation to in vivo viral quasispecies in a persons with prolonged infection and low viral load. J Immunol 1996;156:2616-23.
- 10. Rinaldo C, Huang X-L, Fan Z, et al. High levels of anti-human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) memory cytotoxic T-lymphocyte activity and low viral load are associated with lack of disease in HIV-1-infected long-term nonprogressors. J Virol 1995;69:5838-42.
- 11. Klein M, van Baalen C, Holwerda AM, et al. Kinetics of Gag-specific cytotoxic T lymphocyte responses during the clinical course of HIV-1 infection: a longitudinal analysis of rapid progressors and long-term asymptomatics. J Exp Med 1995;181:1365-72.
- 12. Carmichael A, Jin X, Sissons P, Borysiewicz L. Quantitative analysis of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1(HIV-1)-specific cytotoxic T lymphocyte(CTL) response at different stages of HIV-1 infection: differential CTL responses to HIV-1 and Epstein-Barr virus in late disease. J Exp Med 1993; 177:249-56.
- 13. Schmitz JE, Kuroda MJ, Santra S, et al. Control of viremia in simian immunodeficiency virus infection by CD8+ lymphocytes. Science 1999;283:857-60.
- 14. Jin X, Bauer DE, Tuttleton SE, et al. Dramatic rise in plasma viremia after CD8+T cell depletion in simian immunodeficiency virus-infected macaques. J ExpMed. 1999;189:991-8.
- Lechner JF, Wong DKH, Dunbar RP, et al. Analysis of successful immune responses in persons infected with hepatitis C virus. J Exp Med. 2000;191:1499-1512.
- Maini MK, Boni C, Ogg GS, et al. Direct ex vivo analysis of hepatitis B virusspecific CD8(+) T cells associated with the control of infection. Gastroenterology. 1999;117:1386-96.
- 17. Rosenberg ES, Billingsley JM, Caliendo AM, Boswell SL, Sax PE, Kalams SA, Walker BD. Vigorous HIV-1-specific CD4+ T cell responses associated with control of viremia. Science 1997;278:1447-50.
- 18. Rosenberg ES, Altfeld M, Poon SH, et al. Immune control of HIV-1 after early treatment of acute infection. Nature 2000;407:523-6.
- 19. Guidotti LG, Chisari FV. To kill or to cure: options in host defense against viral infection. 1996;8:478-83.
- 20. Cocchi F, DeVico AL, Garzino DA, Arya SK, Gallo RC, Lusso P. Identification of RANTES, MIP-1 alpha and MIP-1 beta as the major HIV-suppressive factors produced by CD8+ T cells. Science 1995;270:1811-5.
- 21. Liu CC, Walsh CM, Yong JD. Perforin: structure and function. Immunol Today 1995;16:194-201.
- 22. Yang OO, Kalams SA, Trocha A, Cao H, Luster A, Johnson RP, Walker BD. Suppression of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 replication by CD8+ cells:

evidence for HLA class I-restricted triggering of cytolytic and noncytolytic mechanisms. J Virol 1997;71:3120-8.

- 23. Appay V, Nixon DF, Donahoe SM, et al. HIV-specific CD8+ T cells produce antiviral cytokines but are impaired in cytotoxic function. J Exp Med. 2000;192:63-75.
- 24. Muralli-Krishna K, Altman JD, Suresh M, et al. Counting antigen-specific CD8 T cells: A reevaluation of bystander activation during viral infection. Immunity 1998;8:177-87.
- 25. Butz EA, Bevan MJ. Massive expansion of antigen-specific CD8+ T cells during an acute virus infection. Immunity 1998;8:167-75.
- 26. Doherty PC. Update: the numbers game for virus-specific CD8+ T cells. Science 1998;180:227-8.
- 27. Dunbar PR, Ogg GS, Chen J, Rust N, van der Bruggen P, Cerundolo V. Direct isolation, phenotyping and cloning of low-frequency antigen-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes from peripheral blood. Curr Biol 1998;8:413-6.
- 28. Dunbar PR, Chen JL, Chao D, et al. Cutting edge: rapid cloning of tumor-specific CTL suitable for adoptive immunotherapy of melanoma. J Immunol 1999;162:6859-62.
- 29. Salomon H, Wainberg MA, Brenner B, et al. Prevalence of HIV-1 resistant to antiretroviral drugs in individuals newly infected by sexual contact or injecting drug use. AIDS 2000;14:F17-F23.

- 30. Janssen RS, Satten GA, Stramer ST, et al. New testing strategy to detect early HIV-1 infection for use in incidence estimates and for clinical and preventive purposes. JAMA 1998;280:42-8.
- 31. Bunce M., O'Neill CM, Barnardo MCNM, Krausa P, Browning MJ, Morris PJ, Welsh KI. Phototyping: comprehensive DNA typing for HLA-Am B, C, DRB1, DRB3, DRB4, DRB5, and DQB1 by PCR with 144 primer mixes utilizing sequence-specific primers (PCR-SSP). Tissue Antigens 1995;46:355-67.
- 32. <u>http://hiv-web.lanl.gov/immuno/index.html</u>. HIV immunology molecular database. National Institutes of Health, Bethesda MD, USA.
- 33. Daar ES, Moudgil T, Meyer RD, Ho DD. Transient high levels of viremia in patients with primary human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. N Engl J Med. 1991;324:961-4.
- 34. Piatak M, Saag MS, Yang LC, et al. High levels of HIV-1 in plasma during all stages of infection determined by competitive PCR. Science 1993;259:1749-54
- 35. Imanishi T, Akaza T, Mura T, et al. In 11th International Histocompatibility Workshop.
- 36. <u>Dalod M, Dupuis M,</u> Deschemin <u>J</u>-C, et al. Weak anti-HIV CD8+ T-cell effector activity in HIV primary infection. J Clin Invest 1999;104:1431-9.
- 37. Altfeld M, Rosenberg ES, Shankarappa R, et al. Cellular immune responses and viral diversity in individuals treated during acute and early HIV-1 infection. J Exp Med 2001;193:169-80.

- 38. Gouldner PRR, Altfeld MA, Rosenberg ES, et al. Substantial differences in specificity in HIV-specific cytotoxic T cells in acute and chronic HIV infection. J Exp Med 2001;193:181-93.
- 39. Rickinson AB, Moss D. Human cytotoxic T lymphocyte responses in Epstein-Barr virus infection. Ann Rev Immunol 1997;15:405-31.
- 40. Callan MF, Tan L, Annels N, et al. Direct visualization of antigen-specific CD8+ T cells during primary immune response to Epstein-Barr virus in vivo. J Exp Med 1998;187:1395-1402.
- 41. Allen T, O'Connor D, Jing P, et al. Tat-specific T lymphocytes select for SIV escape variants during resolution of primary viremia. Nature 2000;407:388-90.
- 42. Lechner F, Gruener NH, Urbani S, et al. CD8+ T lymphocyte responses are induced during acute hepatitis C virus infection but are nor sustained. Eur J Immunol 2000;30:2479-87.
- 43. Klotman ME, Kim S, Buchbinder A, DeRossi A, Baltimore D, Wong-Staal F. Kinetics of expression of multiply spliced RNA in early human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection of lymphocytes and monocytes. PNAS 1991;88:5011-5.
- 44. Collins KL, Chen BK, Kalams SA, Walker BD, Baltimore D. HIV-1 Nef protein protects infected primary cells against killing by cytotoxic T lymphocytes Nature 391;397-401:1998.
- 45. Gouldner PJR, Sewell AK, Lallou DG, et al. Patterns of immunodominance in HIV-1-specific cytotoxic T lymphocyte responses in two HLA identical siblings with HLA-A*0201 are influenced by epitope mutation J Exp Med 1997;185:1423-33,.

- 46. Brander C, Hartman KE, Trocha AK, et al. Lack of strong immune selection pressure by the immunodominant HLA-A*0201 restricted CTL response in chronic HIV-1 infection. J Clin Invest 1998;101:2559-66.
- 47. Gray C, Lawrence J, Shapiro JM, et al. Frequency of class I resptricted anti-HIV
 CD8+ T cells in individuals receiving highly active antiretroviral therapy. J Immunol 1999;162:1780-8.

Chapter 3: Longitudinal Analysis of HIV-Specific Effector Responses in Patients Initiating HAART in HIV PI In chapter 2 cross sectional data comparing HIV-specific immune responses in treatment naïve HIV infected individuals at various times from infection was evaluated. Despite limitations inherent in cross sectional studies, the work reveals that the HIV-specific immune response expanded both in breadth and magnitude during the first two months of infection and that Nef appeared to be preferentially targeted at this time.

At the time the Quebec PI cohort study population was recruited the standard of care was to offer HAART to all newly infected individuals. HAART has the ability to rescue or preserve HIV-specific CD4+ T cell activity in acute infection. Maintenance of these responses may permit HIV infected individuals to control HIV as do long term non progressor who also maintain their HIV-specific T cell function. The hope is that HIV-specific CD4+ T cells will make the immune system better able to respond to immunotherapeutic strategies, vaccines, or treatment interruptions.

Access to longitudinal samples collected from individuals starting HAART at various times in PI provided the impetus for the investigations presented in chapter 3. Here we address the potential "immune-preservative" role of therapy in patients receiving therapy beyond acute infection, thus to assess how long from infection could initiation of HAART be delayed without loosing its immunological reconstitutive effects.

LONGITUDINAL ASSESSMENT OF CHANGES IN HIV-SPECIFIC EFFECTOR ACTIVITY IN HIV INFECTED PATIENTS STARTING HAART IN PRIMARY INFECTION

Running Title: Longitudinal HIV-specific responses in primary HIV infection

Galit Alter*, George Hatzakis^{*}, Christos Micheal Tsoukas*, Karen Pelley^{*}, Danielle Rouleau[†], Roger LeBlanc^{*}, Jean-Guy Baril[‡], Harold Dion[§], Eric Lefebvre[§], Réjean Thomas[§], Pierre Côté[‡], Normand Lapointe[¶], Jean-Pierre Routy^{*}, Rafik-Pierre Sékaly[∥], Brian Conway[#], Nicole Flore Bernard^{*}

From the McGill University Health Centre, Montreal, QC^* , Centre hospitalier de l'Université de Montreal, Montreal, QC^{\dagger} , Clinique Médical du Quartier Latin, Montreal, QC^{\ddagger} , Clinique l'Actuel, Montreal, $QC^{\$}$, Hôpital Ste. Justine, Montreal, QC^{\P} , University of Montreal, Montreal, QC^{\P} , University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC[#]

Corresponding Author: Nicole F. Bernard, Ph.D., Montreal General Hospital Research Institute Rm C10 160, Montreal, QC, Canada, H3G 1A4. Tel.: (514) 934-1934 x-44584; Fax (514) 937-1424; e-mail <u>nicole.bernard@mcgill.ca</u> Key words: Human , CTL, AIDS, T-Lymphocytes, Antigens/Peptides/Epitopes

Published in the Journal of Immunology 171: 477-488, 2003.

3.1 Abstract

Both the magnitude and breadth of HIV-specific immunity was evaluated longitudinally on samples collected from 6 subjects starting highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART) pre-seroconversion (group 1), 11 recently infected subjects starting HAART post-seroconversion (group 2), 5 subjects starting HAART in the second half of the first year of infection (group 3) and 6 persons starting treatment in the chronic phase of infection (group 4). HIV-specific immunity was measured by Interferon-γ ELIspot, detecting the frequency of cells responding to a panel of HLA restricted HIV-1 peptides; intracellular cytokine staining was used to detect the frequency of HIV-1 Gag p55 specific CD4+ and CD8+ T cells in a subset of participants. The magnitude and breadth of HIV-specific responses persisted in all group 1 and in 5 of 11 (45%) group 2 subjects. Both these parameters declined in 6 of 11 (55%) group 2 and all group 3 and 4 individuals. All persons who maintained detectable numbers of HIV-1 Gag p55 specific CD4+ and CD8+ T cells after starting HAART preserved the intensity and breadth of their HIV-specific effector response. Our results show that HIV-specific immunity can be preserved even if HAART is initiated beyond the acute phase of infection.

3.2 Introduction

High levels of viral replication followed by induction of an immune response are characteristic features of HIV-1 primary infection (PI) ¹⁻⁴. HIV-specific CD8+ cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTL) are first detected during PI and are believed to play a key role in controlling viral replication at this time ³⁻⁶. The type of immune response induced during PI appears to determine viral set point and the subsequent course of infection ^{2;7-9}. Despite the development of HIV-specific immunity in PI, these responses are usually ineffective at eradicating the virus and disease progresses without treatment. A subpopulation of HIV-infected individuals termed long-term non-progressors has a more benign course of disease. They differ from most other HIV-infected individuals by preserving HIV-specific CD4+ activity and strong and broad CD8+ virus-specific T cell responses ¹⁰⁻¹². These observations have given impetus to finding treatment regimens that favor the preservation of HIV-specific immunity in the hopes that such responses will better control viral replication ⁹.

Highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART) including at least 2 reverse transcriptase inhibitors (RTI) and at least one protease inhibitor or non-nucleoside transcriptase inhibitor (NNRTI) can suppress the replication of HIV in most antiretroviral therapy naïve patients adhering to their drug regimens ^{13;14}. Initiating HAART is recommended for acute HIV-1 infection to reduce viral dissemination and its harmful effects on the immune system ¹⁵. Suppressive HAART started in acute infection preserves or rescues HIV-specific CD4+ T cell function ^{9;11;16;17}. At this stage of infection the breadth (number of HIV peptides recognized) and magnitude (The frequency of HIV specific CD8+ T cell response is significantly less than that observed later in infection ^{16;18;19}. HIV-specific effector function, that is present, persists but does not appear to expand after starting HAART ^{16;17}. One report showed that HIVspecific T helper activity was preserved when HAART was started as late as 137 days from HIV acquisition ²⁰. Based on these findings we hypothesized that there was a window beyond the acute seroconversion phase within which starting HAART would permit the preservation of a fully developed HIV-effector response due to persistence of HIV-specific T helper activity.

We present here the results of a longitudinal study comparing changes in the breadth and magnitude of CD8+ T cell effector responses in 4 groups of treatment naïve subjects following introduction of successful HAART that suppressed viral load to below 50 copies/ml of plasma. The study groups differed from each other in the interval elapsed between infection and start of HAART. Subjects in group 1 (n=6) started HAART preseroconversion. Subjects in group 2 (n=11) began HAART after seroconversion but within approximately 6 months of infection. Group 3 (n=5) included individuals who started therapy later in the first year of infection whereas subjects in group 4 (n=6) began treatment during the chronic phase of infection. Here, using a quantitative HIV-peptide specific Interferon- γ (IFN- γ) enzyme linked immunospot (ELIspot) assay, we show that all subjects in group 1, and 5 of 11 subjects in group 2, maintained the breadth and magnitude of HIV-specific effector activity after starting HAART. In contrast, HIVspecific effector activity declined in 6 of 11 subjects from group 2 as well as in those from groups 3 and 4. All individuals in groups 1 and 2, who maintained detectable levels of HIV-1 Gag p55-specific responses in both their CD4+ and CD8+ T cell compartments as evidenced by intracellular cytokine staining assays, also preserved the intensity and breadth of their HIV effector response. The persons in groups 2, 3 and 4 whose HIV-1 Gag p55-specific CD4+ and CD8+ T cells number fell below background levels also exhibited a decline in the intensity and a narrowing in the breadth of their HIV-specific effector response after starting HAART.

3.3 Methods

Study population: We studied 22 subjects enrolled in the Quebec HIV Primary Infection cohort and 6 subjects in the chronic phase of infection. The institutional review boards of all participating study sites approved the study and all participants signed informed consent. All subjects were anti-retroviral drug naïve at study entry. Subjects in the Quebec PI cohort were followed clinically at study entry, at week 2, 4, 6, 8 and every 3 months until month 24. Subjects in chronic infection were followed monthly for 24 months. All study participants, with the exception of MQPI018 and MQPI020, started HAART consisting of at least two RTI and at least 1 Protease Inhibitor or NNRTI at the first clinic visit. MQPI018 started HAART at visit 5 (2 months after study entry), and MQPI020 started HAART at visit 8 (9 months after study entry). The date HAART was started was defined as baseline for the results reported here.

Entry criteria for the Quebec HIV Primary Infection cohort have been described previously ¹⁹. The presumed date of infection was estimated for each individual using clinical and laboratory data as well as patient history information. The following guidelines proposed by the Acute HIV Infection and Early Disease Research Program sponsored by the National Institutes of Allergy and Infectious Disease Division of AIDS were used estimate the date of infection: the date of the first indeterminate Western blot minus 35 days; the date of a positive HIV RNA test or p24 antigen assay available on the same day as a negative HIV EIA test minus 14 days. The date of onset of symptoms of an acute retroviral syndrome minus 14 days was also used to estimate the date of infection ¹⁸. Information obtained from questionnaires addressing the timing of high-risk behavior for HIV transmission was used when available to confirm the presumed date of exposure.

Participants were classified into study groups based on the time elapsed between infection and start of HAART. Subjects in group 1 (n=6) started HAART before seroconversion as defined by a negative or indeterminate standard HIV-1 antibody enzyme immunoassay (EIA) and confirmatory Western blot. They were also negative in a less sensitive HIV-1 antibody EIA (LS-EIA). This assay can distinguish recent HIV infection from chronic infection ²¹. The cut off for the LS-EIA used to classify participants into groups for this study was 1.0, which identifies individuals as infected less than 170 days (95% confidence intervals 162-183 days). Subjects were classified as belonging to group 2 (n=11) if they began HAART at a time when they had positive results using in the standard EIA but were negative using the LS-EIA. Subjects classified as group 3 (n=5) were positive in both the standard and LS-EIA. For comparison group 4 included 6 asymptomatic chronically infected subjects who were seropositive a median of 4.4 (range 2-14) yrs.

Laboratory testing: HIV-1 antibody testing was performed at three University hospital sites. The LS-EIA was carried out at the University of California, San Francisco, CA using the Vironostica HIV-1 EIA (Organon-Tecnika, Boxtel, the Netherlands). Western blot analysis for HIV-1 antibodies and p24 antigen capture assays were performed at the Laboratoire de Santé Publique du Québec. Plasma viremia was measured using the Roche Amplicor Assay (Roche Diagnostics, Mississauga, Ontario, Canada) with detection limit of 500 HIV-1 RNA copies/ml of plasma. Plasma samples falling below the detection limit of this assay were retested using the ultrasensitive method (Ultradirect, Roche) with a detection limit of 50 copies/ml of plasma. T cell subset distribution was measured by flow cytometric analysis.

Cells and peptides: PBMCs were isolated by density gradient centrifugation (Ficoll-Paque, Pharmacia Upsala, Sweden) and frozen in 10% dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO, Sigma, St Louis MO) in 90% fetal calf serum (FCS, Montreal Biotech Inc., Montreal, QC, Canada). Subjects were typed for major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I antigen expression by the amplification refractory mutation system - polymerase chain reaction (ARMS-PCR) using 95 primer sets amplifying defined MHC class I alleles ²² (ABC SSP Unitray, Pel-Freez Clinical Systems, Brown Deer, WI). Genomic DNA for molecular HLA-typing was prepared from either fresh blood or Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) transformed B cell lines using the QIAamp DNA blood kit (Qiagen Inc., Mississauga, ON).

Peptide Selection: The HIV epitopes used for stimulation were chosen from the National Institutes of Health (NIH) HIV molecular immunology database ²³. Peptides of 9-, 15-, or 20-aa in length containing these sequences were obtained from the Medical Research Council AIDS Reagent Project (Hertz, UK) and the NIH AIDS Research and Reference Reagent Program (Rockville, MD). Lyophilized peptides were diluted to 1 mg/ml in Hanks' Balanced Salt Solution (GIBCO, Grand Island, NY) containing 10% DMSO and stored at -70°C. They were used at a final concentration of 10 μ M (20 to 40 ug/ml, depending on the peptide size).

Elispot assay for single cell IFN- γ release: IFN- γ secretion by virus-specific cells was quantified by ELIspot assay as described ¹⁹. Stimulating peptides were chosen on the basis of their having amino acid sequence binding motifs for the MHC class I alleles expressed by the person being tested. Stimulatory panels contained peptides restricted to multiple (2 to 5) MHC class I alleles per subject. Media, containing the

equivalent amount of DMSO as present in peptide stimulation conditions, was used as a negative control. Anti-CD3 antibody (Research Diagnostics Inc, Flanders N.J.) was used as a positive control stimulus. Cells were plated at two concentrations $(2x10^5 \text{ cells/well})$ and 5×10^4 cells/well) for each peptide condition. For a subset of experiments a pool of immunodominant HLA-A2- or HLA-B7-restricted EBV- and Cytomegalovirus- (CMV) derived peptides was also used as positive control stimuli. The frequency of reactivity to anti-CD3 and the EBV/CMV peptide pool stimuli occurring in longitudinally collected samples was used to control for between-time point variability in cell responsiveness. Results are expressed as spot forming cells $(SFC)/10^6$ PBMC following subtraction of negative controls. Negative control stimulation produced less than 5 spots per well in greater than 90% of experiments. The average number of spots in the negative control wells was 3.13 ± 3.12 . In experimental wells the signal was considered positive if at least 10 spots per well were present (>2 standard deviation above the mean), the number of spots obtained was proportional to the number of cells plated and the number of spots per well that was at least 2-fold greater than the negative control wells. The identity of IFN-y secreting cells as CD8+ was confirmed by the reduction of SFC numbers following depletion of CD8+ cells with magnetic beads (Dynal, Lake Success, NY).

Intracellular Cytokine Staining: The frequency of Gag p55-specific CD4+ and CD8+ T cells was quantitated by intracellular cytokine staining. Frozen and thawed PBMC were resuspended at 10^6 cells/ml in RPMI 1640 containing 10% FCS, 2 mM L-glutamine (ICN Biomedical Canada Ltd., Costa Mesa, CA), 50 IU/ml penicillin (ICN), 50 mcg/ml streptomycin (ICN) and 50 μ M 2-mercaptoethanol (Sigma) and stimulated with a pool of 122 HIV 15-mer peptides with 11 amino acid overlaps corresponding to

the HIV-1 HXB2 Gag p55 sequence (NIH AIDS Research and Reference Reagent Program). Staphylococcal enterotoxin B (SEB; Sigma) was employed as the positive control; medium alone served as the negative control. Cells were incubated for 2 hr at 37°C in 5% CO₂ with stimulatory peptides and 1 µg/ml each of anti-CD28 and anti-CD49d monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) (BD Biosciences, Mississauga, ON). Brefeldin A (Sigma) was added at a final concentration of 10 μ g/mL and incubated for an additional 4 hours at 37°C in 5% CO₂. Cells were permeabilized with FacsPerm according to manufacturer's direction (BD Biosciences). IFN-y secretion by recently stimulated CD4+ and CD8+ T cells was detected by staining samples with fluorescein isothiocyamate (FITC)-conjugated anti-CD4, phycoerythrin (PE)-conjugated anti-CD69, peridinin cholophyll protein (PerCP)-conjugated anti-IFN-y mAbs (BD Biosciences) and allophycocyanin (APC) conjugated anti-CD8 (BD Biosciences) for 30 minutes in the dark. In parallel, control samples were left unstained and stained with immunmoglobulin isotype control antibodies (BD Biosciences). After washing cells were resuspended in 1% paraformaldehyde (Polysciences, Inc., Warrington, PA) until four-color flow cytometric analysis was performed on a FACSCalibur instrument (BD Biosciences). Fifty thousand to 200,000 events were acquired and analyzed using Cellquest software. A response was considered positive if the frequency of CD69+INF-y+CD4+ or CD69+IFN-y+CD8+ cells present following an antigenic stimulation was greater than 0.1% over that seen with cells stimulated with no antigen.

Statistical Analysis: Two tailed unpaired t-tests were used to assess betweengroup differences in age, CD4 count, CD8 count, viral load at study entry as well as between group differences in the number of HIV peptides used to screen for HIV-specific

responses. Wilcoxon matched pairs tests were employed to assess within group differences at study entry versus on-therapy time points. Non-parametric Wald-Wolfowitz tests with adjusted z-score and corresponding adjusted p-value for small samples size were used to evaluate the significance of between group differences in the magnitude of HIV-specific responses. Fisher P-exact tests were utilized to test the significance of within- and between -group differences in the breadth of HIV responses. The Fisher P-exact test with Bonferonni correction was used to assess between group differences in the expression of common HLA alleles. P-values of less then 0.05 were considered significant.

3.4 Results

Study population: A description of the study population is provided in Table 1. Subjects in PI were separated into 3 groups based the interval between the presumed date of infection and start of HAART as described in the methods section. There were no differences between groups with respect to age, ratio of males to females, or their distribution in risk behavior categories. All study groups had similar CD4+ and CD8+ T cell counts at the time HAART was started and were followed over a similar period of time (Table 1). Viral load at entry was higher for the individuals in group 1 compared with those in groups 2 and 4. This is consistent with their being closer to acute infection at a time when viremia peaks prior to the establishment of a viral load set point ¹⁻⁴.

Table 2 provides information for each individual on the composition of HAART prescribed, the classification of each individual into the study groups described in the methods section, estimated date of infection, the clinical information and laboratory results used to derive an estimated date of infection, and expression of MHC class I alleles. The composition of the HIV peptide panels used to test individual subjects for HIV specific responses was dependent on the MHC class I alleles expressed by the subject being tested. For this reason the distribution of common MHC class I alleles such as HLA-A1, A2, A3, A24, B7, B8, B35 and B44 between groups was compared. No significant skewing in the distribution of these alleles was evident between the groups in PI (p= n.s., Fisher P-exact, with Bonferronni correction); nor were between group differences detected with respect to the distribution of alleles likely to be homozygous. Although all individuals in group 4 expressed HLA-A2 the inclusion of HIV peptides restricted to between 2 and 5 alleles per study subjects in each peptide screening panel

makes the possibility that the results reported are due to skewed distribution of MHC class I alleles between groups unlikely.

For many of the within- and between-group comparisons an on-therapy time point was examined. The time from infection to which this on-therapy sample corresponds was the available time point closest to 12 months from the start of treatment. This time point was a median of 348 (range 184-429) days from start of HAART for group 1, 349 (range 84-385) days for group 2, 189 (range 100-357) days for group 3, and 350 (range 266-362) days for group 4. The time used as the on-therapy time point was not significantly different between groups (p=n.s., unpaired t-tests). Furthermore decline in the breadth and magnitude of HIV-specific responses in study subjects in which this occurred after starting HAART was usually evident within 2 months and corresponded to control of viremia.

HIV Specific Effector Responses: Panels of MHC class I restricted HIV peptides were used to stimulate PBMC samples collected longitudinally from the time HAART was initiated. Table 3 lists the sequence and the MHC class I restriction specificity of peptides used in this analysis together with their sequence, location and MHC class I restriction specificity. For each peptide stimulus the frequency of IFN- γ secreting cells generated per 10⁶ PBMC was assessed in an ELIspot assay. The magnitude of the response to the HIV peptide panel tested was measured by adding the number of SFC/10⁶ PBMC generated to each stimulus that induced above background responses. The breadth of the responses was measured by calculating the number of positive responses in each peptide panel divided by the total number of peptides tested. Longitudinal changes in these parameters were assessed.

Figure 1A shows the changes in the magnitude and breadth of responses to an HIV peptide panel used to screen 1 subject from group 1. Subject MQPI005 began HAART 36 days from infection at which time the subject was positive in a standard EIA but indeterminate in a confirmatory Western blot test and negative in a LS-EIA. This representative group 1 individual maintained the magnitude and the breadth of his response to the HIV peptide panel tested for up to 684 days on therapy, despite suppression of viremia soon after starting HAART. The 5 other members of group 1 similarly maintained or increased the magnitude and breadth of their HIV-1 response to the peptides tested throughout the follow up period of 184, 358, 518, 535, and 630 days from the start of HAART that successfully controlled viral load. A within group comparison of the magnitude and breadth of responses at baseline versus those at the on-therapy time point closest to 12 months revealed a similar breadth and magnitude on therapy versus that at baseline (Table 4).

Figure 1B-L display the longitudinal assessments of reactivity to panels of MHC class I restricted peptides for all 11 individuals belonging to group 2 who began HAART early during infection but after seroconversion, as defined by their being negative in the LS-EIA. Therapy was associated with reduced viremia in this group as well. Two distinct patterns of change in HIV-specific responses were observed in this group after the start of HAART. Figure 1B-F show results for 5 subjects who maintained responses over a follow up of 230 to 815 days. Figure 1G-L show results from all 6 individuals belonging to group 2 whose HIV-specific responses fell in intensity and narrowed in specificity after HAART was initiated and viral load controlled. This decline occurred despite the maintenance of a stable frequency of cells specific for the EBV derived HLA-B7

restricted peptide RPPIFIRRL (Fig 1I) and the EBV derived HLA-B8 restricted peptide FLRGRAYGL (Fig 1J) ²⁴. Comparison of the intensity and breadth of HIV-peptide panel specific responses at baseline to those at the time point closest to 12 months on-therapy for subjects in group 2 showed a non statistically significant trend towards reduction in the magnitude of the response (p=0.7, Wilcoxon matched pairs test) while the breadth of the response fell significantly from baseline to the on-therapy time point (p=0.048, Fisher P-exact test) (Table 4).

Group 2 subjects who maintained their HIV-specific responses started HAART a median of 97 (range 69 to 138) days from infection whereas those who lost these responses began treatment a median 134 (range 72 to 173) days from infection. Although there was a tendency to maintain persistent effector responses after starting therapy in subjects treated at earlier versus later times after infection and seroconversion this differences was not statistically significant (p=0.27; unpaired t-test). No differences were detected in the viral load at therapy initiation between the subgroup that maintained versus the one that lost HIV-specific effector activity.

Retrospective statistical analysis of group 2, categorized by whether they maintained (group 2a) or lost (group 2b) HIV-specific effector responses, revealed that responses were as intense and broad in subgroup 2a following one year of therapy as they were prior to starting HAART. In contrast, for subjects belonging to group 2b, the breadth of this activity at the closest available time tested to 12 months on-therapy was lower than at baseline (p<0.02, Fisher P-exact test). The magnitude of HIV-specific reactivity showed a non-significant trend towards a reduced response (p=0.07, Wilcoxon matched pairs test) (Table 4).

Figure 1M and N display longitudinal analyses of HIV-specific reactivity for a group 3 (Fig 1M) and for a group 4 subject (Fig 1N). As has been described by others, persons starting HAART in the chronic phase of infection displayed reduced magnitude and breadth of HIV-specific responses following start of HAART in association with viral load suppression ²⁵⁻²⁸. Possibly due to small group size the reduction in the magnitude and breadth of the HIV responses from baseline to the closest available time point to 12 months on-therapy was only statistically significant for breadth for group 3 (p<0.001, χ^2 -test) (Table 4). No differences were detected for comparisons of the breadth and magnitude of HIV peptide panel specific responses at baseline and 12 months between groups 3 and 4. We therefore combined the study subjects in groups 3 and 4 into a single data set and assessed the significance of changes in breadth and magnitude of HIV-specific responses at baseline versus the on-therapy time points. For both measures responses were reduced on-therapy compared to baseline (p=0.02, Wilcoxon matched pairs test; p<0.001, Fisher P-exact test).

All of the subjects in the PI study groups were re-categorized according to whether they maintained or lost HIV-specific responses and compared for within- and between-group differences in HIV specific effector responses. To determine whether viral load could account for whether an individual maintained or lost of HIV specific immune responses in this population we compared viral load at baseline. No differences were detected between subjects who maintained (groups 1 + 2a) versus those who lost (group 2b + 3) HIV-specific responses after starting HAART (Fig. 2A). Comparisons of the breadth of responses to HIV peptide panels showed maintenance of the reactivity from baseline to the on-therapy time point for group 1 + 2a (p=n.s., Fisher P=exact test)

and a decline in responsiveness for group 2b + 3 (p<0.001, Fisher P-exact test) (Fig 2B). HIV-specific responses in these 2 groups were similar at baseline but significantly narrower at the time point closest to 12 months on-therapy for group 2b and 3 versus group 1 and 2a (p<0.001, Fisher P-exact test) (Fig 2B). Comparison of the magnitude also showed maintenance of the reactivity from baseline to the on-therapy time point for group 1 + 2a (p=n.s., Wilcoxon matched pairs test) and a decline in responsiveness for group 2b + 3 (p<0.03, Wilcoxon matched pairs test) (Fig 2C). HIV-specific reactivity appeared to be greater prior to starting HAART for subjects in groups 1 + 2a compared to those for group 2b + 3 but this difference was not statistically significant (Fig 2C). At the on-therapy time point between-group comparisons revealed that subjects in group 1 + 2a had a non statistically significant trend towards having a more intense response to the peptide panel tested than did subjects in group 2b + 3 (p=0.08, Wald-Wolfowitz with adjusted z-score) (Fig 2C).

Starting HAART in the acute phase of HIV infection has been shown to maintain HIV-specific CD4+ T cells, which are preferred targets for HIV infection ^{9;11;17}. We reasoned, based on the observation that HIV-specific effector responses could be preserved in some individuals starting HAART after seroconversion, that this reflected the preservation of functional HIV-specific CD4+ T cell levels. Detection of intracellular INF- γ production in the CD4+ and CD8+ compartments following stimulation with a pool of HIV-1 Gag p55 peptides was used to screen longitudinal samples from a subset of subjects from each group. All subjects tested from group 1 (24, 31, 54, and 58 days from presumed date of infection) maintained HIV specific activity in both compartments up to 12 months from start of HAART (Figure 3B and C). Seven 7 subjects from group 2 were

tested in this manner. Three individuals classified as belonging to group 2a (MQPI001, MQPI009, MQPI017, 69, 76, and 138 days from infection, respectively) maintained HIV specific activity as measured by ELIspot (Figure 1B, D and F). Four subjects from group 2 (MQPI012, MQPI013, MQPI014 and MQPI016, 83, 135, 146 and 173 days from infection, respectively) lost HIV-specific responses in association with viral control (Figure 1H, I, J and L). By intracellular cytokine staining for IFN-y HIV Gag p55specific CD4+ and CD8+ cells persisted in all group 2a subjects (Figure 3B and C). The decline in HIV-specific effector responses in group 2b individuals observed by ELIspot assay was also seen within 3 months of initiating HAART for HIV-1 Gag p55 CD4+ and CD8+ T cells (Figure 3 B and C). MQPI018 and MQPI021 from group 3 were estimated to be 272 and 279 days from infection when they began therapy. Both lost HIV specific cell numbers in both the CD4+ and CD8+ T cell compartments as early as 2 months from start of HAART (Figure 3 B and C). The two subjects tested from group 4 (CH5 and CH6) also showed a decline in the frequency of their HIV-1 Gag p55-specific CD4+ and CD8+ cells to below background values within one month of initiation of HAART (Figure 3B and C).

HIV-specific CD8+ and CD4+ T cell frequencies were monitored over time using the IFN-y ELIspot and intracellular cytokine staining assays in subjects starting HAART at various times during the first year of infection. This report shows that all individuals tested, who began HAART before seroconversion and 5 of 11 (45%) of those who started treatment after seroconversion while still negative in a LS-EIA maintained the breadth and magnitude of their HIV-specific effector response over follow up period ranging from 184 to 815 days after starting HAART that suppressed viremia. Four group 1 subjects and three group 2a individuals who maintained HIV-specific effector activity as determined by ELIspot assay, also maintained detectable levels of both CD8+ and CD4+ T cells specific for HIV-1 Gag p55 by intracellular cytokine staining for up to 12 months after starting HAART (Fig 3B and C). HIV-specific immunity in 6 of 11 (55%) seropositive subjects starting HAART at a time when they were negative by LS-EIA and in all subjects who began therapy when seropositive by both the standard and LS-EIA had a similar outcome to that in persons starting HAART in chronic infection. The magnitude and breadth of the response to the HIV peptide panel with which they were tested declined significantly from baseline values ²⁵⁻²⁸. Furthermore, the frequency of CD8+ and CD4+ T cells responding to HIV-1 Gag p55 fell to below background levels by 3 months after starting HAART in all the individuals tested from groups 2b, 3 and 4 who exhibited declining HIV-specific effector responses by ELIspot (Fig 3B and C).

The Los Alamos Molecular Immunology database was used to select the HLArestricted peptides included in stimulatory peptide panels. This database was compiled predominantly from data generated in subjects in the chronic phase of HIV infection ²⁹.

As the immunodominance pattern of HIV epitope recognition may differ with disease stage it is possible that subjects in PI would have poorer reactivity to peptide panels assembled in this manner ^{16;30}. Using a larger population of HIV infected patient population in PI, we confirmed the work of others by showing that HAART naïve subjects within 2 months of HIV infection have a significantly reduced breadth and magnitude of HIV-specific CD8+ T cell reactivity compared to individuals tested between 2 and 4 months of infection or later in the first year of infection ^{16;18;19;31}. The pre-seroconversion PI group (group 1) studied here did not have HIV responses of a lower magnitude than those starting HAART later in PI. The most likely explanation for failing to see a narrower and less intense HIV-specific response for group 1 is the small sample size. An alternate explanation may be that group 1 subjects, although preseroconversion, were at a later stage of PI than the population described by Altfeld et al. such that they had the opportunity to develop broader responses than those seen in subjects an earlier or acute phase of HIV infection ^{16;31}. Group 1 was estimated to be a median of 32 days from infection (range 21 to 58 days), which was at an earlier stage of infection than that studied by Dalod et al who also observed a more restricted HIVspecific response in their PI cohort ¹⁸. If results from subjects in group 1 were combined with those in group 2a and compared with those from subjects later in infection (group 2b and 3) a non significant trend towards a more intense responses was observed in the individuals who were more recently infected (Fig 2C).

The concentration of peptide used to stimulate PBMC from study subjects was approximately 10-fold higher than that used by others³²⁻³⁴. We performed some experiments to control for the possibility that between group differences in longitudinal

peptide reactivity in PBMC from subjects starting HAART at different times after infection are differentially susceptible to activation induced cell death (AICD) associated with high peptide concentrations. PBMC samples from multiple time points spanning the first year on HAART were stimulated with a titration series of several stimulatory peptides. Four serial 10-fold dilutions were tested starting with the same concentration of peptide used in the original experiments. A subset of subjects from each study group was screened with 3 to 4 stimulatory peptides each. All peptide/PBMC combinations that generated positive responses in the first experiment were positive in the titration experiment. All stimulatory peptides generated the same number of SFC/10⁶ PBMC at a dilution of at least 1:100 as they did at the concentration used in the initial experiments (not shown). Therefore between-group differences in susceptibility to AICD do not appear to play a role in the ELIspot results presented here using peptide concentrations of 10 uM as stimuli.

All of the individuals in groups 1 and 2 who developed persistent HIV-specific responses maintained not only the magnitude and breadth of their HIV specific response but also the hierarchy of their pre-therapy responses in terms of the intensity of reactivity to individual peptides for the entire follow up period. This observation contrasts with that seen in subjects who lost responses after starting HAART. The pattern of loss was similar in the subset of group 2 subjects with declining responses (group 2b) as it was for group 3 and 4 subjects (Figure 1G-N). The timing after infection at which responses could no longer be maintained after starting therapy appeared to be subject to biological variation but occurred after seroconversion and in all individuals tested who were 146 days and beyond infection. The biological variability is evident by contrasting MQPI011 and

MQPI013 who lost responses even through HAART was begun as early as 73 days and 83 days from estimated date of infection with MQPI017 who maintained responses when HAART was begun 138 days from estimated date of infection. In all three of these individuals information on the date on which symptoms of acute infection appeared or a dated indeterminate Western blot was available to estimate the timing of infection. While it is possible that MQPI011 and MQPI013 were infected earlier if the interval between infected later if the indeterminate Western blot test result reflected infection for longer than 35 days, it is unlikely that MQPI017 started HAART sooner after infection that MQPI011 and MQPI013.

The persistence of effector responses for patients on HAART appeared to be related to the ability to rescue or maintain HIV-specific CD4+ responses. The timing of the "point of no return" in terms of the potential to rescue HIV-specific responses is consistent with data generated by Malhotra et al. using proliferation to HIV-1 Gag p24 as a measure of HIV-specific CD4+ T cell responses ^{20;35}. These authors reported that HAART started as late as 137 days after infection could rescue HIV-1 Gag p24 proliferation responses. ^{20;35}.

The implication of the results presented here is that preservation of HIV-specific CD4+ and CD8+ responses is not limited to situations where HAART can be started during the acute phase of infection at a time when HIV-specific CD8+ T cell immunity appears to be reduced compared to that seen at later times in PI ^{16;18;19}. Delaying HAART initiation beyond the acute phase of infection may allow the breadth and magnitude of HIV-specific CD8+ T cell reactivity to develop to its full potential¹⁹ without losing the

advantage of being able to preserve or rescue HIV-specific CD4+ T cell responses ^{9;11;16;17;20;35}. Due to uncertainty as to when a particular individual will reach a stage in disease progression when HIV-specific immunity no longer persists on treatment underlines the advantage to starting therapy as soon as possible after infection in individuals who are negative in the LS-EIA.

High levels of HIV viremia appear to be required to drive the persistence of the HIV specific responses in subjects in late PI and the chronic phase of infection. If antigen load were the only explanation for elevated levels of virus specific immune cells, then one would assume that successfully treated subjects in early PI would also exhibit a decline in the frequency of HIV-specific reactivity. The maintenance of these responses in subjects initiating HAART in early PI is therefore likely due to the persistence of HIV-specific T helper activity. In the presence of T cell help low levels of virue are sufficient to maintain a potent and broad effector response to HIV. This situation may be analogous to that observed in long term non-progressors where HIV-specific T helper responses are also preserved and HIV-specific effector activity is maintained ^{9;11}. This phenomenon would be consistent with mouse models of LCMV infection where virus-specific T helper cells are required for persistence of CD8+ CTL function beyond the acute phase of infection and for establishment of functional LCMV-specific memory ³⁶⁻³⁹.

The individuals studied here have not been followed long enough to appreciate the clinical implications of preserving HIV-specific immunity by introduction of HAART early in PI but beyond seroconversion. Rosenberg et al. have demonstrated that a proportion of persons who initiated HAART during acute infection were able to control viremia after treatment was interrupted for the first time ^{9;40}. This proportion increased

with subsequent cycles of therapy withdrawal ^{9;40}. Preservation of HIV-specific CD4+ and CD8+ T cells function by starting HAART in early PI but after the acute phase of infection may mediate 2 alternative outcomes. Maintenance of HIV-specific immunity may be sufficient to control viremia upon treatment withdrawal in a similar fashion to that seen when HAART is begun during acute infection ^{16;40}. Alternately, the delay in initiation of HAART may result in the loss of the T cell clones best able to control virus. In macaques infected with simian immunodeficiency virus, CTL escape mutations occur within weeks of infection ⁴¹. If loss of the clones best able to control infection occurs early in HIV-1 infection, delaying HAART may compromise the ability to control virus when therapy is withdrawn even though a strong and broad HIV-specific immune response is present.

The results presented here support the conclusion that aggressive HAART before and in some cases soon after seroconversion permits the maintenance of HIV-specific CD4+ T helper and CD8 effector responses. Knowing whether therapy initiation within this interval has a clinical benefit in terms of preserving HIV-specific immunity able to control viremia upon HAART withdrawal similar to what has been reported for treatment during acute infection is important information for HIV-1 infected patient care. The acute HIV infection syndrome is non-specific, variable and does not occur in all individuals who become HIV-1 infected ⁴²⁻⁴⁷. As a result, symptoms of acute seroconversion can go unrecognized as due to early HIV infection, thereby resulting in delays in the start treatment. Increasing the window within which successful HAART can mediate a benefit on HIV-specific immune system preservation and clinical outcome to times soon after seroconversion would provide supporting data that a greater number of newly HIV-1 infected subjects can be treated optimally.

Acknowledgements

This work was funded by the National Institutes of Health grant # AI4326101A, the Canadian Institutes for Health Research grant #39893 and the Fonds de Recherche en Santé du Québec AIDS and Infectious Disease Network.

The authors wish to thank Ms. Famane Chung, Ms. Alefia Merchant, Ms. Rebecca Mullan, Mr. Jean-Pierre Fortin and Ms. Maryse Lainesse for expert technical help; Ms. Chantal Perpette, Ms. Sabrina Mastroprimiano and Ms. Marie D'Astout for nursing assistance, Mr. Mario Legault for study coordination and database management and Dr. E Delwart for performing the detuned assay on plasma samples from the Quebec Primary Infection Cohort.

Figure 1



Figure 2



Figure 3



		Pre- Seroconversion (Group 1) (n=6)	Post- Seroconversion, recently infected (Group 2)(n=11)	Post Seroconversion, infected 6 to 12 months (Group 3) (n=5)	Chronic (Group 4) (n=6)
Age		36 ¹ (27-42)	41 (29-53)	34 (19-48)	42 (35-55)
Viral Load		5.9 (4.6-6.3)	5.1 (2.7-6.7)	5.4 (4.4-6.4)	3.72 (3.2-5)
CD4		484 (300-1080)	533 (328-1140)	380 (34-918)	423 (264-480)
CD8		1269 (447-4029)	640 (396-4000)	1140 (193-1564)	1072 (575-2070)
Days from Infection		32 (21-58)	100 (69-172)	272 (244-279)	4.4 years (2-14)
Follow-Up		573 (209-716)	428 (203-841)	474 (235-865)	493 (265-563)
Symptoms	Yes	4	8	3	n/a ¹
	No	2	3	2	n/a ¹
Sex	М	6	11	4	7
	F	0	0	1	0
Mode of	MSM	6	11	3	7
Transmission	IVDU	0	0	2	0
Size of Peptide Screening Panels		14.5 (10-19)	14 (4-20)	17 (12-20)	16 (11-24)

Table 1 Study Population Characteristics at Raseline

¹ median (range) n/a = not available
			Estimated	Method	MHC Class I		
	Drugs	Group	Time from Infection	used to estimate date of infection	A	в	с
MQP1001	AZT, 3TC, Indinavir	2a	69	1, 4, 5	A2	B62/B44	Cw3/Cw7
MQPI002	Amprenavir, AZT, 3TC, Abacavir	1	21	1, 2, 4	A1/A29	B44/B57	Cw6/Cw16
MQP1003	3TC, d4T, Nelfinavir	1	28	1, 2, 4	A1/A18	B8/B18	Cw5/Cw7
MQPI004	d4T, 3TC, Indinavir	1	58	1, 2, 4, 5	A11/A24	B14/B60	Cw5
MQP1005	AZT, 3TC, Indinavir	1	24	1, 2, 4, 5	A1/A24	B8/B18	Cw5/Cw7
MQPI006	D4T, 3TC, Indinavir	1	36	2, 4, 5	A2/A25	B14/B56	Cw1/Cw3
MQP1007	AZT, 3TC, Indinavir	1	54	2, 4, 5	A2	B18/B44	Cw5/Cw12
MQPI008	AZT, 3TC, Indinavir	2a	97	1, 2, 4, 5	A1/A2	B8	Cw7
MQPI009	d4T, 3TC, Ritonavir, Saquinavir	2a	100	1, 2, 4, 5	A2/A68	B39/B57	Cw7/Cw18
MQPI010	AZT, 3TC, Ritonavir	2a	97	4,5	A1/A29	B8/B44	Cw16
MQPI011	AZT, 3TC, Ritonavir	2b	73	1, 2, 4, 5	A2/A24	B18/B51	Cw7/Cw15
MQP1012	AZT, 3TC, Indinavir	2b	135	1, 4, 5	A1/A30	B8/B51	Cw7/Cw16
MQPI013	AZT, 3TC, Indinavir	2b	83	1, 4, 5	A1/A24	B8/B35	Cw4/Cw7
MQPI014	AZT, 3TC, Ritonavir	2b	146	1, 4, 5	A1/A3	B7/B39	Cw7/Cw15
MQPI015	AZT, 3TC, Indinavir	2b	133	4, 5	A29/A30	B27	Cw2/Cw6
MQPI016	AZT, 3TC, Indinavir	2b	172	1, 4, 5	A24/A26	B8/B38	Cw7/Cw12
MQP1017	d4T, 3TC, Indinavir, Efavirenz	2a	138	2, 4, 5	A23/A31	B44	Cw4/Cw5
MQPI018	d4T, 3TC, Indinavir	3	272	4, 5	A2/A68	B14/B44	Cw5/Cw8
MQPI019	AZT, 3TC, Indinavir	3	333	4, 5	A11/A24	B35/B49	Cw4/Cw7
MQPI020	D4T, 3TC, Efavirenz	3	253	1, 4, 5	A2/A24	B18/B40	Cw3/Cw12
MQPI021	d4T, 3TC, Indinavir	3	244	4, 5	A3/A68	B7/B14	Cw7/Cw8
MQP1022	AZT, 3TC, Indinavir	3	362	4, 5	A1/A23	B8/B44	Cw4/Cw7
CH1	AZT, 3TC, Saquinavir	4	5 years	n/a	A2/A3	B35	Cw4
CH2	AZT, 3TC, Saquinavir	4	14 years	n/a	A2/A24	B44/B62	Cw3/Cw6
СНЗ	AZT, 3TC, Saquinavir	4	2 years	n/a	A2/A11	B18/B62	Cw4/Cw7
CH4	AZT, 3TC, Saquinavir	4	4 years	n/a	A2/A24	B62/B44	Cw3/Cw7
CH5	AZT, 3TC, Indinavir	4	5 years	n/a	A2/A25	B44	Cw5
CH7	AZT, 3TC, Indinavir	4	4 years	n/a	A2/A3	B7/B57	Cw7

Table 2 Patient Characterization at Baseline

1 Date of start of symptoms of acute retriviral syndrome -14days 2 Date of first available indeterminate Western Blot test -35 days 3 Date of first positive HIV-1 p24 antigen/negative standard HIV-1 antibody enzyme immunoassay (EIA) -14 days 4 Patient clinical history information 5 Results of less sensitive HIV-1 EIA

n/a = not available

		Sequence	Restrictions
nef 1	(1-20)	GGKWSKSSVVGWPTVRERMR	B8
nef 7	(61-80)	EEEEVGFPVTPQVPLRPMTY	A1, B7, B35
nef 8	(71-90)	PQVPLRPMTYKAAVDLSHFL	A3, A11
nef 9	(81-100)	KAAVDLSHFLKEKGGLEGLI	A11, B8, B40, Cw8
nef 10	(91-110)	KEKGGLEGLIHSQRRQDILD	A1, B60
nef 11	(101-120)	HSQRRQDILDEWIYHTQGYF	B7, B27
nef 12	(111-130)	LWIYHTQGYFPDWQNYTPGP	A1, B57
nef 13	(121-140)	PDWQNYTPGPGVRYPLTFGW	B7
nef 14	(131-150)	GVRYPLTFGWCYKLVPVEPD	A1, B18, B49
nef 18	(171-190)	GMDDPEREVEWRFDSRLAF	A25, A66
nef 19	(181-200)	EWRFDSRLAFHHVAREL	A1, A2, A3, A25, B52
nef 20	(191-210)	HHVARELHPEYFKNC	A1
RT 4	(18-26)		B8
RT 7	(32-47)		A3
RT 9	(42-50)	EKEGKISKIGPENPYN	R51
RT 21	(103-117)	KKSVTVI DVGDAVGS	B35
BT 23	(113-127)		B61
BT 24	(118-132)		B35
BT 30	(148-162)		B55
DT 91	(152-167)		A2 A11 D7 D25
	(155-107)		A0, A11, D7, D00
RI 35	(173-107)		D30
RT 36	(178-192)		AZ NO
RT 38	(188-202)		A3
RI 41	(203-217)	EELROHLLRWGLTTP	B44
RT 47	(233-247)		A2
RT 49	(243-257)		B57
RT 52	(200-277)		B15
RI 59	(293-307)		B35
RT 62	(309-318)	EILKEPVHGVYYDPS	B15
RT 68	(338-352)	TYQIYQEPFKNLKTG	A11
RT 73	(363-377)	NDVKQLTEAVQKITT	A68
RT 75	(372-387)	VQKITTESIVIWGKTP	B57
RT 78	(388-402)	KFKLPIQKETWETWW	A32
RT 79	(393-407)	IQKETWETWWTEYWQ	B44
RT 86	(427-442)	YQLEKEPIVGAETFYV	B35
RT 87	(433-447)	PIVGAETFYVDGAAN	A68
RT 88	(438-452)	ETFYVDGAANRETKL	A66
RT 89	(443-457)	DGAANRETKLGKAGY	A29
RT 90	(448-462)	RETKLGKAGYVTNKG	B14
RT 99	(496-505)	VNIVTDSQYALGI IQ	B14
RT 106	(528-542)	KEKVYLAWVPAHKGI	B7
RT (476-484)	(476-484)	ILKEPVHGV	A2
			10 104 DO
p17.3	(21-35)	LAPGGRARTALKAIV	A3, A24, D0
p17.3 p17.4	(21-35) (31-45)	LKHIVWASRELERFA	B35
p17.3 p17.4 p17.8	(21-35) (31-45) (71-85)	LKHIVWASRELERFA GSEELRSLYNTVATL	B35 A1, B8
p17.3 p17.4 p17.8 p17.9	(21-35) (31-45) (71-85) (81-95)	LKHIVWASRELERFA GSEELRSLYNTVATL TVATLYCVHQRIDVK	A3, A24, B6 B35 A1, B8 A11
p17.3 p17.4 p17.8 p17.9 p17.13	(21-35) (31-45) (71-85) (81-95) (121-137)	LAPGGRANTYLLANV LKHIVWASRELERFA GSEELRSLYNTVATL TVATLYCVHQRIDVK AAGTGNSSQVSQNY	B35 A1, B8 A11 B35

Table 3. List of MHC Class I Restricted Peptides Used as Stimuli

p24.2	(11-30)	VHQAISPRTLNAWVKVVEEK	A2, A25, B7, B57
p24.3	(21-40)	NAWVKVVEEKAFSPEVIPMF	B57
p24.4	(31-50)	AFSPEVIPMFSALSEGATPQ	A66, Cw1
p24.5	(41-60)	SALSEGATPQDLNTMLNTVG	B7, B40, B60
p24.7	(61-80)	GHQAAMQMLKETINEEAAEW	B39, B52
p24.8	(71-90)	ETINEEAAEWDRVHPVHAGP	A25, A66
p24.11	(101-120)	GSDIAGTTSTLQEQIGWMTN	B57
p24.13	(121-140)	NPPIPVGEIYKRWIILGLNK	B8, B35
p24.14	(131-150)	KRWIILGLNKIVRMYSPTSI	B27, B62
p24.15	(141-160)	IVRMYSPTSILDIRQGPKEP	B52
p24.17	(161-180)	FRDYVDRFYKTLRAEQASQD	A24, A66, B14, B18, B44
p24.18	(171-190)	TLRAEQASQDVKNWMTETLL	B44, B57
p24.20	(191-210)	VQNANPDCKTILKALGPAAT	B8
p24.22	(211-230)	LEEMMTACQGVGGPGHKARV	A11
p17(77-85)	(77-85)	SLYNTVATL	A2
Env 1922	(586-598)	EKLWVTVYYGVPVWKEATTT	A3, A11, Cw7
Env 2023	(656-673)	ERYLKDQQLLGF	A24, B8, B14
Env 2043	(786-795)	IVELLGRRGWEVLKYWWNLL	B27
Env 2049	(843-851)	LHIPTRIRQGLERALL	B7
CMV	NB27	NLVPMVATV	A2
EBV	NB25	RPPIFIRRL	B7
EBV	NB26	FLRGRAYGL	B8

	gan (1997)	Group 1	Group 2	Group 2a	Group 2b	Group 3	Group 4	Group 1+ 2a	Group 2b +3
	Baseline	60/76 (79%)	95/118 (81%)	29/41 (70%)	66/77 (86%)	46/73 (63%)	49/99 (49%)	89/117 (76%)	112/150 (75%)
Breadth	12 months	70/77 (92%)	66/118 (56%)	29/41 (70%)	37/77 (48%)	25/73 (34%)	36/99 (36%)	99/118 (84%)	62/150 (42%)
	p-valuea	0.3188	0.0479	1	0.0177	0.0277	0.1466	0.3437	0.0016
	Baseline	3261 (131- 3872)	4227 (0- 12341)	1013 (132- 4876)	9442 (0- 10563)	6193 (777- 9756)	1446 (260- 2950)	2930 (131- 4876)	7657 (0-10563)
Magnitude	12 months	4674 (1001- 6953)	1895 (0-6525)	2600 (422- 6525)	1137 (0-2244)	2120 (53- 4144)	596 (266- 2392)	2972 (422- 6953)	1215 (0-4144)
	p-valueb	0.5448	0.6622	0.7373	0.0693	0.7373	0.0951	0.3822	0.0289

Table 4. Within Group Differences

^a Fisher P-exact test for baseline versus 12 months ^b Wilcoxon matched pairs test for baseline versus 12 months

Figure 1. Longitudinal assessment of HIV-specific effector responses to major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I restricted panels of HIV peptides. Stacked bar graphs show changes with time in the number of spot forming cells per million peripheral blood mononuclear cells (SFC/10⁶ PBMC) generated following stimulation of lymphocytes from HIV infected patients starting HAART at various times after infection with a panel of major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I restricted HIV peptides. The x-axis indicated, for each bar, the number of days on highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART) at the time tested. The legends list the HIV peptides tested for each study subject. Peptides are identified by the HIV gene product from which they were derived. Also shown are changes in log_{10} viral load keyed to the right hand y-axis. Results are presented for 1 subject in Group 1 (starting HAART before seroconversion, Panels A), 11 subjects in group 2 (starting HAART post seroconversion but in early HIV infection, Panels B to L), 1 subject in group 3 (starting HAART post seroconversion and in the second half of the first year of infection, Panel M) and 1 subject in group 4 (starting HAART in the chronic phase of infection, Panel N). The shaded area in Panels I, M and N correspond to changes in reactivity to Epstein-Barr virus derived control peptides with time.

Figure 2. Comparison of viral load, breadth and magnitude of responses between subjects in primary infection who maintain or lose HIV-specific effector activity following initiation of HAART. Subjects in PI were separated based on whether they maintained or lost effector responses specific for a panel of major histocompatibility complex restricted HIV peptides. Group 1+2a included 6 subjects staring HAART preseroconversion (group1) and five recently infected persons who started HAART postseroconversion (group 2a). Group 2b+3 included 6 recently infected individuals who started HAART post-seroconversion (group 2b) and 5 persons who began HAART in the second half of the first year of infection (group 3). Shown are scatter plots of viral load at baseline (panel A), breadth (percent of reactive peptides) of HIV-specific responses at baseline and on-therapy time point (panel B) and magnitude (number of spot forming cell per million peripheral blood mononuclear cells [SFC/10⁶ PBMC]) of HIV-specific responses at baseline and on-therapy time point (panel C). The on-therapy data was generated from a lymphocyte sample taken at the closest available time point to 12 months on therapy as described in the results.

Figure 3. Longitudinal assessment of changes in the frequency of recently stimulated Interferon- γ (IFN- γ) producing HIV-1 Gag p55 specific CD4+ and CD8+ T cells. Panel A represents the control and p55 pool stimulated responses for subject MQPI006 at baseline. Bar graphs show the frequency (in percent) of CD69+ peripheral blood mononuclear cells producing IFN- γ in response to a pool of 122 15-mer peptides with 11 amino acid overlaps corresponding to HIV-1 Gag p55. Panel A displays a representative dot plot showing in the top right hand corner of each plot the percentage of CD69+ IFN- γ + CD4+ generated following a 6-hour stimulation with no antigen (left) and the Gag p55 peptide pool (middle). Also shown is a dot plot of the CD69+ IFN- γ + CD8+ cells generated following a 6-hour stimulation with the Gag p55 peptide pool (right). Longitudinal samples were analysed for HIV specific activity in the CD4+ (Panel B) and CD8+ T cell compartment (Panel C) from 4 subjects from group 1, 7 subjects from group 2, 2 subjects from group 3 and 2 subjects from group 4 were stimulated with no antigen and the Gag p55 peptide pool. The frequency of IFN- γ producing cells generated following stimulation with no peptide has been subtracted from the results shown. A frequency of 0.1% over background stimulation is considered a positive response.

3.6 Reference List

- 1. Kahn, J. O. and B. D. Walker. 1998. Acute human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. *N.Engl.J.Med.* 339:33-39.
- Pantaleo, G., J. F. Demarest, H. Soudeyns, C. Graziosi, F. Denis, J. W. Adelsberger,
 P. Borrow, M. S. Saag, G. M. Shaw, R. P. Sekaly, and . 1994. Major expansion of
 CD8+ T cells with a predominant V beta usage during the primary immune
 response to HIV. *Nature* 370:463-467.
- 3. Borrow, P., H. Lewicki, B. H. Hahn, G. M. Shaw, and M. B. Oldstone. 1994. Virusspecific CD8+ cytotoxic T-lymphocyte activity associated with control of viremia in primary human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. *J.Virol.* 68:6103-6110.
- Koup, R. A., J. T. Safrit, Y. Cao, C. A. Andrews, G. McLeod, W. Borkowsky, C. Farthing, and D. D. Ho. 1994. Temporal association of cellular immune responses with the initial control of viremia in primary human immunodeficiency virus type 1 syndrome. *J.Virol.* 68:4650-4655.
- Clark, S. J., M. S. Saag, W. D. Decker, S. Campbell-Hill, J. L. Roberson, P. J. Veldkamp, J. C. Kappes, B. H. Hahn, and G. M. Shaw. 1991. High titers of cytopathic virus in plasma of patients with symptomatic primary HIV-1 infection. *N.Engl.J.Med.* 324:954-960.
- Daar, E. S., T. Moudgil, R. D. Meyer, and D. D. Ho. 1991. Transient high levels of viremia in patients with primary human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. *N.Engl.J.Med.* 324:961-964.

- Musey, L., J. Hughes, T. Schacker, T. Shea, L. Corey, and M. J. McElrath. 1997. Cytotoxic-T-cell responses, viral load, and disease progression in early human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. *N.Engl.J.Med.* 337:1267-1274.
- Mellors, J. W., L. A. Kingsley, C. R. Rinaldo, Jr., J. A. Todd, B. S. Hoo, R. P. Kokka, and P. Gupta. 1995. Quantitation of HIV-1 RNA in plasma predicts outcome after seroconversion. *Ann.Intern.Med.* 122:573-579.
- Rosenberg, E. S., M. Altfeld, S. H. Poon, M. N. Phillips, B. M. Wilkes, R. L. Eldridge, G. K. Robbins, R. T. D'Aquila, P. J. Goulder, and B. D. Walker. 2000. Immune control of HIV-1 after early treatment of acute infection. *Nature* 407:523-526.
- Rinaldo, C., X. L. Huang, Z. F. Fan, M. Ding, L. Beltz, A. Logar, D. Panicali, G. Mazzara, J. Liebmann, M. Cottrill, and . 1995. High levels of anti-human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) memory cytotoxic T-lymphocyte activity and low viral load are associated with lack of disease in HIV-1-infected long-term nonprogressors. *J. Virol.* 69:5838-5842.
- Rosenberg, E. S., J. M. Billingsley, A. M. Caliendo, S. L. Boswell, P. E. Sax, S. A. Kalams, and B. D. Walker. 1997. Vigorous HIV-1-specific CD4+ T cell responses associated with control of viremia. *Science* 278:1447-1450.
- Harrer, T., E. Harrer, S. A. Kalams, P. Barbosa, A. Trocha, R. P. Johnson, T. Elbeik, M. B. Feinberg, S. P. Buchbinder, and B. D. Walker. 1996. Cytotoxic T lymphocytes in asymptomatic long-term nonprogressing HIV-1 infection. Breadth

and specificity of the response and relation to in vivo viral quasispecies in a person with prolonged infection and low viral load. *J.Immunol.* 156:2616-2623.

- Markowitz, M., M. Vesanen, K. Tenner-Racz, Y. Cao, J. M. Binley, A. Talal, A. Hurley, X. Jin, M. R. Chaudhry, M. Yaman, S. Frankel, M. Heath-Chiozzi, J. M. Leonard, J. P. Moore, P. Racz, D. F. Nixon, D. D. Ho, and J X. 1999. The effect of commencing combination antiretroviral therapy soon after human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection on viral replication and antiviral immune responses. *J.Infect.Dis.* 179:527-537.
- Gulick, R. M., J. W. Mellors, D. Havlir, J. J. Eron, C. Gonzalez, D. McMahon, D. D. Richman, F. T. Valentine, L. Jonas, A. Meibohm, E. A. Emini, and J. A. Chodakewitz. 1997. Treatment with indinavir, zidovudine, and lamivudine in adults with human immunodeficiency virus infection and prior antiretroviral therapy. *N.Engl.J.Med.* 337:734-739.
- 15. Ho, D. D. 1995. Time to hit HIV, early and hard. N.Engl.J.Med. 333:450-451.
- Altfeld, M., E. S. Rosenberg, R. Shankarappa, J. S. Mukherjee, F. M. Hecht, R. L. Eldridge, M. M. Addo, S. H. Poon, M. N. Phillips, G. K. Robbins, P. E. Sax, S. Boswell, J. O. Kahn, C. Brander, P. J. Goulder, J. A. Levy, J. I. Mullins, and B. D. Walker. 2001. Cellular immune responses and viral diversity in individuals treated during acute and early HIV-1 infection. *J.Exp.Med.* 193:169-180.
- Oxenius, A., D. A. Price, P. J. Easterbrook, C. A. O'Callaghan, A. D. Kelleher, J. A.
 Whelan, G. Sontag, A. K. Sewell, and R. E. Phillips. 2000. Early highly active

antiretroviral therapy for acute HIV-1 infection preserves immune function of CD8+ and CD4+ T lymphocytes. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A* 97:3382-3387.

- Dalod, M., M. Dupuis, J. C. Deschemin, C. Goujard, C. Deveau, L. Meyer, N. Ngo,
 C. Rouzioux, J. G. Guillet, J. F. Delfraissy, M. Sinet, and A. Venet. 1999. Weak
 anti-HIV CD8(+) T-cell effector activity in HIV primary infection. *J.Clin.Invest* 104:1431-1439.
- Alter, G., A. Merchant, C. M. Tsoukas, D. Rouleau, R. P. LeBlanc, P. Cote, J. G. Baril, R. Thomas, V. K. Nguyen, R. P. Sekaly, J. P. Routy, and N. F. Bernard. 2002. Human immunodeficiency virus (HIV)-specific effector CD8 T cell activity in patients with primary HIV infection. *J.Infect.Dis.* 185:755-765.
- Malhotra, U., S. Holte, S. Dutta, M. M. Berrey, E. Delpit, D. M. Koelle, A. Sette, L. Corey, and M. J. McElrath. 2001. Role for HLA class II molecules in HIV-1 suppression and cellular immunity following antiretroviral treatment. *J.Clin.Invest* 107:505-517.
- Janssen, R. S., G. A. Satten, S. L. Stramer, B. D. Rawal, T. R. O'Brien, B. J. Weiblen, F. M. Hecht, N. Jack, F. R. Cleghorn, J. O. Kahn, M. A. Chesney, and M. P. Busch. 1998. New testing strategy to detect early HIV-1 infection for use in incidence estimates and for clinical and prevention purposes. *JAMA* 280:42-48.
- 22. Bunce, M., C. M. O'Neill, M. C. Barnardo, P. Krausa, M. J. Browning, P. J. Morris, and K. I. Welsh. 1995. Phototyping: comprehensive DNA typing for HLA-A, B, C,

DRB1, DRB3, DRB4, DRB5 & DQB1 by PCR with 144 primer mixes utilizing sequence-specific primers (PCR-SSP). *Tissue Antigens* 46:355-367.

- 23. Brander, C. and Goulder, P. J. Recent Advances in the Optimization of HIV-Specific CTL Epitopes. In HIV Molecular Immunology Database. Korber, B. T. M., Brander, C., Walker, B. D., Koup, J., Moore, B., Haynes, B., and and Meyers, G. Los Alamos National Laboratory: Theoretical Biology and Biophysics, Los Alamos, NM. 2002.
- 24. Rickinson, A. B. and D. J. Moss. 1997. Human cytotoxic T lymphocyte responses to Epstein-Barr virus infection. *Annu.Rev.Immunol.* 15:405-31.:405-431.
- Kalams, S. A., P. J. Goulder, A. K. Shea, N. G. Jones, A. K. Trocha, G. S. Ogg, and
 B. D. Walker. 1999. Levels of human immunodeficiency virus type 1-specific cytotoxic T-lymphocyte effector and memory responses decline after suppression of viremia with highly active antiretroviral therapy. *J.Virol.* 73:6721-6728.
- Ogg, G. S., X. Jin, S. Bonhoeffer, P. Moss, M. A. Nowak, S. Monard, J. P. Segal, Y. Cao, S. L. Rowland-Jones, A. Hurley, M. Markowitz, D. D. Ho, A. J. McMichael, and D. F. Nixon. 1999. Decay kinetics of human immunodeficiency virus-specific effector cytotoxic T lymphocytes after combination antiretroviral therapy. J.Virol. 73:797-800.
- Casazza, J. P., M. R. Betts, L. J. Picker, and R. A. Koup. 2001. Decay kinetics of human immunodeficiency virus-specific CD8+ T cells in peripheral blood after initiation of highly active antiretroviral therapy. *J. Virol.* 75:6508-6516.

- 28. Gray, C. M., J. Lawrence, J. M. Schapiro, J. D. Altman, M. A. Winters, M. Crompton, M. Loi, S. K. Kundu, M. M. Davis, and T. C. Merigan. 1999. Frequency of class I HLA-restricted anti-HIV CD8+ T cells in individuals receiving highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART). *J.Immunol.* 162:1780-1788.
- Brander, C., P. J. Goulder, K. Luzuriaga, O. O. Yang, K. E. Hartman, N. G. Jones,
 B. D. Walker, and S. A. Kalams. 1999. Persistent HIV-1-specific CTL clonal expansion despite high viral burden post in utero HIV-1 infection. *J.Immunol.* 162:4796-4800.
- Goulder, P. J., M. A. Altfeld, E. S. Rosenberg, T. Nguyen, Y. Tang, R. L. Eldridge, M. M. Addo, S. He, J. S. Mukherjee, M. N. Phillips, M. Bunce, S. A. Kalams, R. P. Sekaly, B. D. Walker, and C. Brander. 2001. Substantial differences in specificity of HIV-specific cytotoxic T cells in acute and chronic HIV infection. *J.Exp.Med.* 193:181-194.
- Yu, X. G., M. M. Addo, E. S. Rosenberg, W. R. Rodriguez, P. K. Lee, C. A. Fitzpatrick, M. N. Johnston, D. Strick, P. J. Goulder, B. D. Walker, and M. Altfeld. 2002. Consistent patterns in the development and immunodominance of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1)-specific CD8+ T-cell responses following acute HIV-1 infection. *J. Virol.* 76:8690-8701.
- 32. McMichael, A., M. Mwau, and T. Hanke. 2002. Design and tests of an HIV vaccine. *Br.Med.Bull.* 62:87-98.:87-98.

- 33. Currier, J. R., E. G. Kuta, E. Turk, L. B. Earhart, L. Loomis-Price, S. Janetzki, G. Ferrari, D. L. Birx, and J. H. Cox. 2002. A panel of MHC class I restricted viral peptides for use as a quality control for vaccine trial ELISPOT assays. *J.Immunol.Methods* 260:157-172.
- Russell, N. D., M. G. Hudgens, R. Ha, C. Havenar-Daughton, and M. J. McElrath.
 2003. Moving to human immunodeficiency virus type 1 vaccine efficacy trials: defining T cell responses as potential correlates of immunity. *J.Infect.Dis.* 187:226-242.
- Malhotra, U., M. M. Berrey, Y. Huang, J. Markee, D. J. Brown, S. Ap, L. Musey, T. Schacker, L. Corey, and M. J. McElrath. 2000. Effect of combination antiretroviral therapy on T-cell immunity in acute human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. *J.Infect.Dis.* 181:121-131.
- Ahmed, R., L. D. Butler, and L. Bhatti. 1988. T4+ T helper cell function in vivo: differential requirement for induction of antiviral cytotoxic T-cell and antibody responses. J. Virol. 62:2102-2106.
- 37. Rahemtulla, A., W. P. Fung-Leung, M. W. Schilham, T. M. Kundig, S. R. Sambhara, A. Narendran, A. Arabian, A. Wakeham, C. J. Paige, R. M. Zinkernagel, and . 1991. Normal development and function of CD8+ cells but markedly decreased helper cell activity in mice lacking CD4. *Nature* 353:180-184.

- Zajac, A. J., J. N. Blattman, K. Murali-Krishna, D. J. Sourdive, M. Suresh, J. D. Altman, and R. Ahmed. 1998. Viral immune evasion due to persistence of activated T cells without effector function. *J.Exp.Med.* 188:2205-2213.
- Battegay, M., D. Moskophidis, A. Rahemtulla, H. Hengartner, T. W. Mak, and R. M. Zinkernagel. 1994. Enhanced establishment of a virus carrier state in adult CD4+ T-cell-deficient mice. *J.Virol.* 68:4700-4704.
- 40. Altfeld, M. and B. D. Walker. 2001. Less is more? STI in acute and chronic HIV-1 infection. *Nat.Med.* 7:881-884.
- O'Connor, D. H., T. M. Allen, T. U. Vogel, P. Jing, I. P. DeSouza, E. Dodds, E. J. Dunphy, C. Melsaether, B. Mothe, H. Yamamoto, H. Horton, N. Wilson, A. L. Hughes, and D. I. Watkins. 2002. Acute phase cytotoxic T lymphocyte escape is a hallmark of simian immunodeficiency virus infection. *Nat.Med.* 8:493-499.
- Vanhems, P., R. Allard, D. A. Cooper, L. Perrin, J. Vizzard, B. Hirschel, S. Kinloch-de Loes, A. Carr, and J. Lambert. 1997. Acute human immunodeficiency virus type 1 disease as a mononucleosis-like illness: is the diagnosis too restrictive? *Clin.Infect.Dis.* 24:965-970.
- 43. Vanhems, P., B. Hirschel, A. N. Phillips, D. A. Cooper, J. Vizzard, J. Brassard, and L. Perrin. 2000. Incubation time of acute human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) infection and duration of acute HIV infection are independent prognostic factors of progression to AIDS. *J.Infect.Dis.* 182:334-337.

- 44. Routy, J. P., P. Vanhems, D. Rouleau, C. Tsoukas, E. Lefebvre, P. Cote, R. LeBlanc, B. Conway, M. Alary, J. Bruneau, and R. P. Sekaly. 2000. Comparison of Clinical Features of Acute HIV-1 Infection in Patients Infected Sexually or Through Injection Drug Use. J.Acquir.Immune.Defic.Syndr. 24:425-432.
- 45. Schacker, T., A. C. Collier, J. Hughes, T. Shea, and L. Corey. 1996. Clinical and epidemiologic features of primary HIV infection. *Ann.Intern.Med.* 125:257-264.
- Cooper, D. A., J. Gold, P. Maclean, B. Donovan, R. Finlayson, T. G. Barnes, H. M. Michelmore, P. Brooke, and R. Penny. 1985. Acute AIDS retrovirus infection. Definition of a clinical illness associated with seroconversion. *Lancet* 1:537-540.
- Ho, D. D., M. G. Sarngadharan, L. Resnick, F. Dimarzoveronese, T. R. Rota, and M. S. Hirsch. 1985. Primary human T-lymphotropic virus type III infection. *Ann.Intern.Med.* 103:880-883.

Chapter 4: Longitudinal Analysis of HIV-Specific Effector Responses in Untreated HIV

PI

Data from chapter 3 demonstrates that HAART, the standard of care for HIV infection, plays an important role in shaping the antiviral immune response. Subjects initiating therapy early enough in infection to preserve HIV specific CD4+ T cell responses appear to maintain consistent HIV specific CD8+ T cell activity over the follow up period. Conversely, subjects who are treated at a time when HIV specific helper activity is not recovered, exhibit significant contractions in both the magnitude and the breadth of their HIV specific effector activity over time.

Removal of HIV antigen in the setting of chronic infection, and as mentioned in chapter 3 in patients later in the first year of infection, leads to the contraction of the immune response in subjects that have lost HIV specific T cell help. Thus changes in antigen level and within the antigen sequence may have a profound impact on the shape of the immune response, and thus it is clear that therapy interferes with the natural evolution of the host immune response.

A subset of subjects recruited in the first year of infection into the Quebec PI cohort, elect to remain untreated. Follow up of the changes that occur in the antiviral immune response pattern in these subjects offered a unique opportunity to study the natural evolution of these responses over time, reflecting the dynamic interplay between the host and virus at this early critical stage of disease.

ASSESSMENT OF LONGITUDINAL CHANGES IN HIV-SPECIFIC EFFECTOR ACTIVITY IN SUBJECTS UNDERGOING UNTREATED PRIMARY HIV INFECTION

Running Title: HIV-specific immunity in untreated primary HIV infection

Galit Alter*, Christos Micheal Tsoukas*, Danielle Rouleau[†], Pierre Côté[‡], Jean-Pierre Routy*, Rafik-Pierre Sékaly^{||}, Nicole Flore Bernard*

From the McGill University Health Centre, Montreal, QC^* , Centre hospitalier de l'Université de Montreal, Montreal, QC^{\dagger} , Clinique Médical du Quartier Latin, Montreal, QC^{\ddagger} , University of Montreal, Montreal, QC^{\parallel} .

Corresponding Author: Nicole F. Bernard, Ph.D., McGill University Health Centre Research Institute, Montreal General Hospital Rm C10 160, Montreal, QC, Canada, H3G 1A4. Tel.: (514) 934-1934 x-44584; Fax (514) 937-1424; e-mail nicole.bernard@mcgill.ca

Key words: Human, CTL, AIDS, T-Lymphocytes, Antigens/Peptides/Epitopes

Submitted to Blood August 15th, 2003.

Abstract

Despite the failure of HIV-specific responses to clear the virus, they play a critical role in the control of viral replication throughout HIV infection. Untreated individuals, recruited in HIV primary infection (PI), were monitored for the natural evolution of HIV-specific immune responses starting in early HIV disease. Longitudinal analysis of changes in the magnitude and breadth of HIV specific responses to a panel of major histocompatibility complex class I restricted peptides was performed using the quantitative interferon-y ELISPOT assay. Although immune responses were detected in all individuals at all times tested, the pattern of the immune responses differed significantly from that seen in subjects treated in early PI. Untreated PI subjects exhibited dramatic changes with time in the frequency of individual HIV peptide-specific CD8+ and CD4+ T cell responses whereas subjects who were treated early enough in infection to preserve HIV-specific activity did not. The overall magnitude of HIV-specific reactivity persisted over at least 12 months whereas the number of peptides recognized declined. Given that a significant relationship existed between the magnitude of the HIV specific response and viral load, it is likely that these effector cell expansions and contractions are driven by changes in antigen load.

INTRODUCTION

HIV-specific T cells are thought to play a central role in controlling HIV infection. The temporal association between the decline in peak viremia levels observed in acute infection and the appearance of HIV-specific CD8+ T cell responses^{1,2} as well as increases in viral load with decline in these responses in late stage disease supports the importance of HIV-specific effector cells in suppressing HIV replication³⁻⁵. The strongest evidence of a role for HIV-specific CD8+ T cells in suppression of viral replication comes from animal models. In macaques infected with simian immunodeficiency virus (SIV) depletion of CD8+ T cells results in an increase in viral load ^{6,7}. CD8+ cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTL) appear to exert an immune pressure on the virus sequences they recognize as demonstrated by the preferential emergence of viral escape mutations in sequences corresponding to CTL epitopes in both SIV-infected macaques and HIV-infected humans⁸⁻¹⁴.

The pattern of the immune response induced during PI appears to determine viral set point and the subsequent course of infection¹⁵⁻¹⁸. Despite the development of HIV-specific immunity in HIV primary infection (PI), these responses do not clear the virus infection and disease progresses without treatment in most infected individuals. Highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART) can suppress the replication of HIV in most anti-retroviral therapy naïve patients adhering to their drug regimens^{19, 20}. Initiating HAART is recommended for acute HIV-1 infection to reduce viral dissemination and its harmful effects on the immune system²¹⁻²⁴.

While 69% of HIV infected subjects within the Quebec PI cohort reported having had symptoms of acute infection²⁵, not all cases of HIV infection are detected and

diagnosed during this acute stage. Many individuals whose infection is diagnosed after seroconversion may remain untreated for months to years. We have shown previously that starting treatment during acute infection/early disease (AIED) preserves HIV specific effector and helper activity in a significant proportion of subjects²¹. The beneficial effect on the maintenance of HIV-specific responses of starting HAART is lost sometime during early disease such that almost all individuals who initiate treatment 6 months or later after infection exhibit a decline in the breadth and magnitude of their HIV-specific CD4+ and CD8+ T cell responses in association with viral load control. These observations underline the importance of virus host interactions occurring in HIV PI on subsequent disease course. Characterization of the immune response to the virus at this time in infection is a step towards understanding the dynamic interaction between the virus and the host response and how this interaction impacts on disease course.

We present here the results of a longitudinal study on 12 subjects enrolled in the Quebec PI cohort who elected to remain untreated after HIV infection was diagnosed. We examined changes in the breadth and magnitude of CD8+ T cell effector responses to a panel of major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I restricted peptides in these individuals. Using a quantitative HIV-peptide specific Interferon- γ (IFN- γ) enzyme linked immunospot (ELISPOT) assay, we show that untreated subjects exhibit expansions and contractions in the frequency of cells specific for individual peptides not seen in individuals at a similar stage of infection who start HAART. The overall magnitude of the responses to the peptide panels tested do not change significantly over the course of a 12 month period whereas the number of peptides recognized declines.

Methods:

Study population: In this report we present results generated in 17 subjects enrolled in the Quebec HIV PI cohort. Five of these subjects started HAART at various times during PI and are a subset of a larger group of individuals for whom information of HIV-specific immune responses have been previously reported²¹. The institutional review boards of all participating sites approved the study and all participants signed informed consent. All 17 subjects were HAART naïve at study entry. Subjects enrolled in this cohort were followed clinically at study entry and at week 2, 4, 6, 8 and every 3 months until month 24. We compared 12 subjects electing to remain untreated with 5 previously reported subjects who started HAART during PI. MQPI008 began therapy 99 days, MQPI009 102 days, MQPI010 47 days, MQPI011 53 days and MQPI013 195 days from infection. HAART consisted of at least two reverse transcriptase inhibitors and at least 1 protease inhibitor or non-nucleoside transcriptase inhibitor.

Entry criteria for the Quebec HIV PI cohort have been described previously²⁶. The presumed date of infection was estimated for each individual using clinical and laboratory data as well as patient history information. The following guidelines proposed by the Acute HIV Infection and Early Disease Research Program sponsored by the National Institutes of Allergy and Infectious Disease Division of AIDS (Bethesda, MD) were used to estimate the date of infection: the date of the first indeterminate Western blot minus 35 days; the date of a positive HIV RNA test or p24 antigen assay available on the same day as a negative standard HIV enzyme immunoassay (EIA) test minus 14 days. The date of onset of symptoms of an acute retroviral syndrome minus 14 days was also used to estimate the date of infection. Information obtained from questionnaires

addressing the timing of high-risk behavior for HIV transmission was used when available to confirm the presumed date of infection. Study entry for each individual was defined as the date of the first clinic visit.

In this report we define acute infection as pre-seroconversion when viral load levels are usually at their peak 3 to 6 weeks after infection. A study subject is seropositive if their plasma samples produce a positive result in a standard HIV EIA and detect at least 3 bands in a confirmatory Western blot. Seroconversion occurs approximately 6 to 8 weeks from infection²⁷⁻³². Early disease refers to the period after seroconversion when subjects are still negative in a less sensitive HIV-1 EIA (detuned assay). Plasma from individuals in early disease are therefore seropositive but generate an optical density result in the detuned EIA assay of less than 1.0 when they are within 170 days of infection (95% confidence intervals 163 to 183 days)^{33,34}.

Laboratory testing: HIV-1 EIA antibody testing was performed at three university hospital sites. The detuned assay was carried out at the University of California, San Francisco, CA using the Vironostica HIV-1 EIA (Organon-Tecnika, Boxtel, the Netherlands). Western blot analysis for HIV-1 antibodies and p24 antigen capture assays were performed at the Laboratoire de Santé Publique du Québec (Ste. Anne de Bellevue, QC, Canada). Plasma viremia was measured using the Roche Amplicor Assay (Roche Diagnostics, Mississauga, ON, Canada) with detection limit of 500 HIV-1 RNA copies/ml of plasma. Plasma samples falling below the detection limit of this assay were retested using the ultrasensitive method (Ultradirect, Roche) with a

detection limit of 50 copies/ml of plasma. T cell subset distribution was measured by flow cytometry.

Cells and peptides: PBMCs were isolated by density gradient centrifugation (Ficoll-Paque, Pharmacia Upsala, Sweden) and frozen in 10% dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO, Sigma, St Louis MO) in 90% fetal calf serum (FCS, Montreal Biotech Inc., Montreal, QC, Canada). Subjects were typed for MHC class I antigen expression by the amplification refractory mutation system - polymerase chain reaction (ARMS-PCR) using 95 primer sets amplifying defined MHC class I alleles³⁵ (ABC SSP Unitray, Pel-Freez Clinical Systems, Brown Deer, WI). Genomic DNA for molecular HLA-typing was prepared from either fresh blood or Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) transformed B cell lines using the QIAamp DNA blood kit (Qiagen Inc., Mississauga, ON).

Peptide Selection: The HIV epitopes used for stimulation were chosen from the National Institutes of Health (NIH) HIV molecular immunology database³⁶. Peptides of 9-, 15-, or 20-aa in length containing these sequences were obtained from the Medical Research Council AIDS Reagent Project (Hertz, UK) and the NIH AIDS Research and Reference Reagent Program (Rockville, MD). Lyophilized peptides were diluted to 1 mg/ml in Hanks' Balanced Salt Solution (GIBCO, Grand Island, NY) containing 10% DMSO and stored at -70°C. They were used at a final concentration of 10 μ M (20 to 40 ug/ml, depending on the peptide size).

ELISPOT assay for single cell IFN-y release: IFN-y secretion by virus-specific cells was quantified by ELISPOT assay as described²⁶. Stimulating peptides were chosen on the basis of their having amino acid sequence binding motifs for the MHC class I alleles expressed by the person being tested. Stimulatory panels contained peptides restricted to multiple (2 to 5) MHC class I alleles per subject. Media, containing the equivalent amount of DMSO as present in peptide stimulation conditions, was used as a negative control. Anti-CD3 antibody (Research Diagnostics Inc, Flanders N.J.) was used as a positive control stimulus. Cells were plated at two concentrations $(2x10^5 \text{ cells/well})$ and 5×10^4 cells/well) for each peptide condition. The frequency of reactivity to anti-CD3 and the EBV/cytomegalovirus (CMV) peptide pool stimuli occurring in longitudinally collected samples was used to control for between-time point variability in cell responsiveness. Results are expressed as spot forming cells (SFC)/10⁶ PBMC following subtraction of negative controls. Negative control stimulation produced less than 5 spots per well in greater than 90% of experiments. The average number of spots in the negative control wells was 3.13 ± 3.12 . In experimental wells the signal was considered positive if at least 10 spots per well were present, the number of spots obtained was proportional to the number of cells plated and the number of spots per well that was at least 2-fold greater than the negative control wells. The identity of IFN- γ secreting cells as CD8+ was confirmed by the reduction of SFC numbers following depletion of CD8+ cells with magnetic beads (Dynal, Lake Success, NY).

Statistical Analysis: Paired student t-tests were employed to assess within group differences at study entry and after 1 year of follow up. Fisher P-exact tests were utilized

to test the significance of within- group differences in the breadth of HIV responses. Spearman correlation was used to examine if a relation existed between the immune response and a number of clinical parameters such as the relation between the magnitude or the breadth and the viral load, CD4 or CD8 T cell numbers. After normalizing individual peptide-specific responses by taking into consideration their proportional contribution to the sum of the magnitude of all positive responses for a given time point, the variance of individuals peptide specific responses was examined using a variance score measure. Variance scores assessed, for each time tested, how much the individual peptide-specific responses varied compared with the mean response at all times tested and was obtained by dividing the number of SFC/10⁶PBMC generated to a peptide at a particular time point by the average number of SFC/10⁶ PBMC for all times tested. χ^{2-} analysis was employed to assess whether expansions and contractions occurred more frequently in the untreated population than in the treated subjects who preserved HIVspecific responses. Immune responses that were 3 standard deviations greater or lower than the average standard deviation of all peptide specific responses in the treated patients were considered as perturbations. P-values of less then 0.05 were considered significant.

RESULTS

Study Population:

Twelve untreated subjects and 5 treated subjects who were recruited to the Quebec PI cohort in the fist year of infection but were studied. Viral loads, CD4, and CD8 T cell counts at study entry, presumed date from infection, route of transmission, HLA type, are shown in Table 1. Individuals were a median 38 years old (range 17 to 50) and exhibited a median log₁₀ viral load of 4.64 (range 1.8 to 5.5) at study entry. Subjects manifested median CD4 counts of 461 cells/ml (range100 to 960) and CD8 counts of 709 cells/ml (range 325 to1338). Subjects entered the study at different times from infection at a median of 105 days from the presumed date of infection (range 30 to 263 days).

Immune Responses:

The quantitative IFN-γ ELISPOT assay was employed to monitor the HIVspecific immune response to a panel of HIV peptides selected based on their ability to bind to HLA alleles expressed by each subject. Figure 1 shows results for the longitudinal assessment of HIV-specific effector responses to a panel of MHC class I restricted peptides in three categories of Quebec PI cohort participants. Figure 1A displays data generated for one individual who is representative of 11 others tested and reported elsewhere who were treated early enough in AIED to preserve HIV-specific immune responses²¹. Figure 1B shows results for 1 subject who is representative of 11 others reported elsewhere who started HAART later in PI and who exhibited declines in the breadth and magnitude of their HIV-specific immunity in association with viral load control²¹. This pattern is similar to that seen when subjects start treatment in the chronic

phase of infection³⁷⁻³⁹. Similar analyses are presented in Figure 1C-F for 6 representative subjects recruited at different times from infection in PI who elected not to be treated. Individuals starting HAART early enough in AIED to preserve the breadth and magnitude of HIV-specific immune responses also maintained the hierarchy of these responses. This pattern contrasts with that seen in patients treated later in the first year of infection (Fig.1B) and in untreated subjects (Figure 1C-F). While untreated subjects undergoing PI had immune responses to between 5 and 15 HIV peptides tested during the follow up period, these individual peptide specific responses appeared to expand and contract over time suggesting that amplifications and contractions of cell populations able to secrete IFN- γ in response to individual HIV epitopes occurred during the period being studied.

To assess the extent of expansion and contraction in the hierarchy of the HIVspecific response observed in untreated individuals, in contrast to that seen in the other study groups, a variance score was generated that assigned a value to the degree of variation within individual peptide specific responses at each time tested. The variance score was calculated by dividing the number of SFC/10⁶ PBMC generated to a peptide stimulus for a particular time point by the average number of SFC/10⁶ PBMC generated to that stimulus at all times tested. To eliminate variation attributable to small changes in the cumulative magnitude of the response at each visit, individual peptide specific responses were normalized at each time with respect to the cumulative magnitude of that particular time point before the variance score was generated. Thus a score of 1 indicated no difference from the average reactivity to an individual peptide whereas a very large or small number indicated an increase or decrease in the number of peptide reactive cells at

that time compared to the average response. Longitudinal responses having a variance score approaching 1 at all times tested would indicate a stable hierarchy of peptide specific responses. The variance score pattern over time for 4 representative subjects that were treated early enough in PI to maintain the hierarchy of the response is represented in Figure 2A-D. All four patients appeared to have stable responses that fell within a narrow range around a variance score of 1. In contrast, the longitudinal delta score distribution of 4 subjects undergoing untreated PI showed that there were dramatic expansions (large delta scores) and contractions (low delta scores) in cells specific for individual peptides within this population. Moreover, expansions and contractions occurred significantly more frequently in the untreated than in the treated population (p=0.01, χ^2 -test).

Individual peptide-specific responses were not present at all time points tested. Comparison of baseline versus 1-year follow up values for the breadth and the magnitude of HIV peptide specific immune responses revealed that there was a statistically significant decrease in the breadth of the response over the 1-year follow up, but not in the magnitude of the response (Figure 3A and B). The average magnitude of the response to the HIV peptide panels tested in these 12 untreated subjects was 3644 SFC/10⁶ PBMC. After 1 year the average magnitude was 2887 SFC/10⁶ PBMC (p=n.s., paired t-test). While 88% of all peptides tested were recognized at baseline only 48% were recognized after 1 year of follow up (p<0.001, χ^2 -test).

Given that high viral loads have been correlated with the magnitude of HIV specific responses in chronically infected individuals, and that reduction of viral replication leads to dampening of effector activities as early as 3 months from infection³⁷⁻³⁹, we questioned whether a relation existed between ongoing viral replication and both

the magnitude and the breadth of the immune response. Viral load was monitored at each time tested in order to assess its relationship to the breadth and magnitude of the immune response to the peptide panel tested. While no correlation existed between the breadth (Fig 4B) of the immune response and viral load, a statistically significant correlation was observed between the magnitude of the response to the peptide panel tested and viral load (r=0.6, p<0.001 spearman correlation)(Fig 4A).

Discussion:

We present here results describing patterns of change in the intensity and breadth of HIV-specific immune responses to a panel of MHC class I restricted peptides observed over a 1-year follow up in 12 subjects recruited during PI. Changes in the pattern of immune responses in treatment naïve subjects should reflect the natural evolution of the HIV-specific immune response. We have shown previously²¹ that all subjects initiating HAART pre-seroconversion and 5 of 11 initiating treatment in early disease maintained both the magnitude and the breadth of their HIV specific immune responses (Fig1A). Concurrently, 6 of 11 subjects initiating therapy later in early disease and all subjects who started treatment beyond 6 months of infection experienced contractions in both of these parameters once therapy was initiated and viral load controlled²¹ (Fig1B). In contrast, in subjects recruited during the first year of infection who remain treatment naïve, HIV peptide specific immune responses expand and contract such that the overall magnitude of the response to a stimulatory peptide panels used for screening persists while the number of peptide recognized falls. These expansions and contractions appeared to be governed by changes in viral burden, as a significant correlation existed between the magnitude but not the breadth of the immune response and changes in viral load.

Expansions and contractions of T cell receptor (TCR) variable beta (V β) chain usage in HIV PI have been described by others⁴⁰⁻⁴³. It was hypothesized that these changes in the TCR repertoire usage pattern was antigen driven and reflected shifts in HIV-specific effector activity. Our results confirm that this is the case by showing expansions and contractions in cells specific for HIV peptides. TCRV β perturbations appear to stabilize with initiation of HAART in PI likely due to reduction of antigen with therapy⁴². In this report, we show that significant perturbations are occurring in antigen specific T cell secretion of IFN- γ . Additionally, given the relationship between the magnitude of HIV specific activity and viral load, it appears that changes in viral replication, and therefore in antigen load, may have profound effects on the number of HIV peptide specific effector cells as it does on TCRV β expression patterns.

Two potential immune mechanisms may account for changes in the immune response to viral infection during the course of untreated PI. Persistent viral replication and high doses of cognate antigen may lead to T-cell responses becoming terminally differentiated or deleted due to activation induced cell death⁴⁴. Clonal exhaustion has been implicated in the loss of virus specific activity in a number of viral infections such as in Lymphocytic Choriomeningitis Virus (LCMV) and EBV infection⁴⁵. In HIV infection data presented here show that virus specific effector functions change and shift over time in untreated early PI. Yet unlike LCMV infection, although HIV specific immune responses may not appear at all time-points, reemergence of specificities sometimes occurs later in follow up. This phenomenon suggests that although terminal differentiation may eliminate high affinity antigen-specific T cells, the global antiviral response appears to remain unaffected allowing for the reemergence of specificities during untreated infection.

Several studies have shown that virus from acutely infected individuals was homogeneous even when the infecting partner's virus was genetically diverse ⁴⁶⁻⁴⁸, probably reflecting the transmission of one or few viral isolates and/or replication of a dominant strain. Variation in the viral sequence becomes apparent as early as a few

weeks post infection, within the seronegative window^{49,50}. This early heterogeneity of HIV most probably reflects the emergence of viral variants due to the host immune response⁵¹. Given that significant changes may occur in the sequence of CTL epitopes, HIV-specific cells that no longer recognize their cognate antigen may contract into a memory phase. As viral quasispecies are never lost completely, and are archived within established reservoirs, these variants may remerge during subsequent infection and reactivate these memory responses. Thus through constant competition for fitness between virus subspecies, antigen induced immune responses may reappear at later times from infection, and thus never be lost completely but may be clonally expanded and narrowed during the course of viral infection. It would be necessary to monitor virus specific immune responses to viral peptides derived from the sequence of the dominant autologous strain for each time tested in each individual to effectively address this issue.

In summary, the strength of the immune response to virus remains constant in the early phase of untreated HIV infection, while the breadth of the immune response contracts. While treatment early in infection has the potential to preserve the hierarchy of the immune response, the pattern of immunodominance shifts significantly in untreated HIV infection. It is plausible that antigen driven expansions and contractions of the immune response occurring during untreated PI may account for the erratic pattern of HIV peptide-specific immune responses. Characterization of responses that are integral to control of viral replication, or peptide-specific responses that are lost when viral load spikes, during this early period of intense immune activation may identify epitopes that are desirable targets for vaccine design. Additionally, monitoring the pattern of changes that occur in the viral sequence that account for this shifting pattern in the immune

response may contribute to a better understanding of the correlates of immunity that are important in establishing rates of disease progression.

Acknowledgements

This work was funded by the National Institutes of Health grant #AI4326101A, the Canadian Institutes for Health Research grant #39893 and the Fonds de Recherche en Santé du Québec AIDS and Infectious Disease Network.

The authors wish to thank Ms. Famane Chung, Mr. Jean-Pierre Fortin and Ms. Maryse Lainesse for expert technical help; Mr. Mario Legault for study coordination and database management and Dr. Eric Delwart for performing the detuned assay on plasma samples from the Quebec Primary Infection Cohort and Dr. Brian Conway for viral load assessments. We also wish to express our gratitude to Dr. Hugo Soudeyns for critical review of the manuscript.
Figure 1

















Viral Load (Log₁₀)

A WALC I. I OPPERATOR CIRCICLESCE.	Table	1.	Population	Characteristics
------------------------------------	-------	----	-------------------	------------------------

1	Days from Infection	Viral Load	CD8	CD4	Age	Sex	Route of Transmission	Symptoms	A Loc	us	B Loc	us	C Locus	3	Treatment
MQPI006	32	3.34	720	330	36	М	MSM	yes	A1	A24	B8	B18	Cw5	Cw7	AZT, 3TC, Indinavir
MQPI007	53	3.1	1276	552	42	М	MSM	yes	A2	A25	B14	B56	Cw1	Cw3	d4T, 3TC, Indinavir
MQP1008	52	6.7	810	560	53	м	MSM	no	A1	A2	B8	-	Cw7		AZT, 3TC, Indinavir
MQPI013	76	5.25	2672	781	32	м	MSM	yes	A1	A24	B8	B35	Cw4	Cw7	AZT, 3TC, Indinavir
MQPI017	138	3.23	840	640	41	М	MSM	yes	A23	A31	B44		Cw4	Cw5	d4T, 3TC, Indinavir, Efavirenz
MQPI023	68	5.45	653	467	43	м	hetero	no	A 3	A23	B35	B44	Cw4		n/a*
MQPI024	41	5.5	770	430	17	F	IDU	yes	A3	A66	B18	B41	Cw7	Cw17	n/a*
MQP1025	60	4.83	555	333	33	М	MSM	yes	A11	A24	B8	B35	Cw4	Cw7	n/a*
MQPI026	114	3.351	657	542	41	М	MSM	yes	A2	A3	B14	B52	Cw12	Cw8	n/a*
MQPI027	127	4.45	1638	822	26	М	MSM	yes	A2	A24	B18	B40	Cw3	Cw12	n/a*
MQPI028	90	1.8	736	432	37	М	MSM	yes	A2		B8	B57	Cw6	Cw7	n/a*
MQP1029	84	2.67	593	399	28	М	MSM	yes	A3	A2	B40	B44	Cw3	Cw16	n/a*
MQP1030	55	3.73	1540	960	39	М	MSM	yes	A23	A24	B44	, <u> </u>	Cw4	Cw5	n/a*
MQP1031	150	3.727	681	500	39	M	IDU	yes	A2	A24	B27	B40	Cw1	Cw3	n/a*
MQPI032	150	5.31	990	810	43	М	IDU	yes	A2	A3	B40	B49	Cw3	Cw7	n/a*
MQPI033	210	5.47	325	180	50	М	IDU	no	A31	A68	B40	B44	Cw2	Cw3	n/a*
MQPI034	263	5.5	1310	100	36	М	MSM	no	A3		B35	B15	Cw2	Cw3	n/a*

*n/a= not applicable

,

Peptide (Sequenc	ID e Location)	Sequence	MHC Restriction(s)
nef 1	(1-20)	GGKWSKSSVVGWPTVRERMR	B8
nef 7	(61-80)	EEEEVGFPVTPQVPLRPMTY	A1, B7, B35
nef 8	(71-90)	PQVPLRPMTYKAAVDLSHFL	A3 , A11
nef 9	(81-100)	KAAVDLSHFLKEKGGLEGLI	A11, B8, B40, Cw8
nef 10	(91-110)	KEKGGLEGLIHSQRRQDILD	A1, B60
nef 11	(101-120)	HSQRRQDILDEWIYHTQGYF	B7, B27
nef 12	(111-130)	LWIYHTQGYFPDWQNYTPGP	A1, B57
nef 13	(121-140)	PDWQNYTPGPGVRYPLTFGW	B7
nef 14	(131-150)	GVRYPLTFGWCYKLVPVEPD	A1, B18, B49
nef 18	(171-190)	GMDDPEREVEWRFDSRLAF	A25, A66
nef 19	(181-200)	EWRFDSRLAFHHVAREL	A1, A2, A3, A25, B52
nef 20	(191-210)	HHVARELHPEYFKNC	A1
RT 4	(18-26)	DGPKVKQWPLTEEKI	B8
RT 7	(32-47)	KALVEICTEMEKEGKI	A3
RT 9	(42-50)	EKEGKISKIGPENPYN	B51
RT 21	(103-117)	KKSVTVLDVGDAYGS	B35
RT 23	(113-127)	DAYFSVPLDEDFRKY	B51
RT 24	(118-132)	VPLDEDFRKYTAFTI	B35
RT 30	(148-162)	VLPQGWKGSPAIFQS	B51
BT 31	(153-167)	WKGSPAIFQSSMTKI	A3, A11, B7, B35
BT 35	(173-187)	KONPDIVIYOYMDDL	B35
BT 36	(178-192)		A2
RT 38	(188-202)	YVGSDLEIGQHRTKI	A3
RT 41	(203-217)	FELBOHLI BWGI TTP	B44
BT 47	(233-247)		Δ <u>2</u>
RT 49	(243-257)		B57
RT 52	(260-271)	IQKLVGKLNWASQIYP	B15
RT 59	(293-307)	IPLTEEAELELAENY\B	B35
BT 62	(309-318)	EILKEPVHGVYYDPS	B15
DT 69	(338-352)		A11
	(330-332)		ATT A68
RI 73	(303-377)	VOKITTESIVIWOKTB	A08
HI /5	(372-307)		B37
HI /0	(300-402)		R32
RI 79	(393-407)		B44
RI 00	(427-442)		B33
RT 87	(433-447)		A08
HI 88	(438-452)		A66
HI 89	(443-457)	DGAANRETKLGKAGY	A29
RI 90	(448-462)		B14
RI 99	(490-505)	VNVTDSQTAEGING	814
HT 106 BT (476-	(528-542)	KEKVYLAWVPAHKGI	87
484)	(476-484)	ILKEPVHGV	A2
p17.3	(21-35)	LRPGGKKKYKLKHIV	A3, A24, B8
p17.4	(31-45)	LKHIVWASRELERFA	B35
p17.8	(71-85)	GSEELRSLYNTVATL	A1, B8
p17.9	(81-95)	TVATLYCVHQRIDVK	A11
p17.13	(121-137)	AAGTGNSSQVSQNY	B35
P17.10	(121-107)		000

Table 2. List of MHC Class I Restricted Peptides Used as Stimuli

p24.1	(1-20)	PIVQNLQGQMVHQAISPRTL	Cw3
p24.2	(11-30)	VHQAISPRTLNAWVKVVEEK	A2, A25, B7, B57
p24.3	(21-40)	NAWVKVVEEKAFSPEVIPMF	B57
p24.4	(31-50)	AFSPEVIPMFSALSEGATPQ	A66, Cw1
p24.5	(41-60)	SALSEGATPQDLNTMLNTVG	B7, B40, B60
p24.7	(61-80)	GHQAAMQMLKETINEEAAEW	B39, B52
p24.8	(71-90)	ETINEEAAEWDRVHPVHAGP	A25, A66
p24.11	(101-120)	GSDIAGTTSTLQEQIGWMTN	B57
p24.13	(121-140)	NPPIPVGEIYKRWIILGLNK	B8, B35
p24.14	(131-150)	KRWIILGLNKIVRMYSPTSI	B27, B62
p24.15	(141-160)	IVRMYSPTSILDIRQGPKEP	B52
p24.17	(161-180)	FRDYVDRFYKTLRAEQASQD	A24, A66, B14, B18, B44
p24.18	(171-190)	TLRAEQASQDVKNWMTETLL	B44, B57
p24.20	(191-210)	VQNANPDCKTILKALGPAAT	B8
p24.22	(211-230)	LEEMMTACQGVGGPGHKARV	A11
p17(77-85)	(77-85)	SLYNTVATL	A2
Env 1922	(586-598)	EKLWVTVYYGVPVWKEATTT	A3, A11, Cw7
Env 2023	(656-673)	ERYLKDQQLLGF	A24, B8, B14
Env 2043	(786-795)	IVELLGRRGWEVLKYWWNLL	B27
Env 2049	(843-851)	LHIPTRIRQGLERALL	B7
CMV	NB27	NLVPMVATV	A2
EBV	NB25	RPPIFIRRL	B7
EBV	NB26	FLRGRAYGL	B8

Figure 1. Longitudinal assessment of HIV-specific effector responses to MHC class I-restricted panels of HIV peptides. Stacked bar graphs show changes with time in the number of spot forming cells per million peripheral blood mononuclear cells (SFC/10⁶ PBMC) generated after stimulating PBMC from HIV-infected patients with a panel of major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I restricted peptides. The *x*-axis indicates, for each bar, the number of days elapsed from baseline (the first clinic visit). The legend at the right of each panel lists the HIV peptides tested for each study subject. Peptides are identified by the HIV gene product from which they were derived. For the location and amino acid sequence of each peptide see Table 2. Also shown are changes in the log₁₀ viral load keyed to the right hand y-axis. Results are presented for one subject treated early in primary infection (PI) who maintained HIV specific CD4+ and CD8+ T cell responses after initiation of highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART) (Panel A), one subject treated later in primary infection who lost HIV specific CD4+ and CD8+ T cell responses after initiation of HAART (Panel B), and 4 subjects recruited PI who remained untreated (Panel C-F).

Figure 2. Longitudinal assessment of expansions and contractions in the HIV specific effector response. Bar graphs display variance scores for individual HIV peptides tested at the follow up times indicated on the x-axis. The y-axis indicates the variance score (peptide specific response/mean peptide specific response for all times tested) for each peptide tested. The legend below each panel lists the HIV peptides tested for each study subject. Peptides are identified by the HIV gene product from which they were derived. For the location and amino acid sequence of each peptide see Table 2.

Results are presented for 4 subjects treated early in HIV primary infection who maintained HIV specific effector responses over time (Panel A-D) and 4 treatment naïve subjects (Panel E-H).

Figure 3. Comparison of the cumulative magnitude and breadth of the HIV-specific effector response at baseline and 1 year of follow-up. Shown are scatter plots illustrating the magnitude (number of spot forming cells per million peripheral blood mononuclear cells [SFC/10⁶ PBMC]) (Panel A) and the breadth (number of peptides recognized/number of peptides tested) (Panel B) at baseline and 1 year of follow up for all untreated subjects studied.

Figure 4. Analysis of the relation between the magnitude or breadth of the HIV specific responses and time. Shown are scatter plots of the correlation analysis of magnitude (number of spot forming cells per million peripheral blood mononuclear cells $[SFC/10^6 PBMC]$) (Panel A) or the breadth (number of peptides recognized/number of peptides tested) (Panel B) over the follow-up period for all untreated subjects.

Reference List

- Koup RA, Safrit JT, Cao Y et al. Temporal association of cellular immune responses with the initial control of viremia in primary human immunodeficiency virus type 1 syndrome. J Virol. 1994;68:4650-4655.
- (2) Borrow P, Lewicki H, Hahn BH, Shaw GM, Oldstone MB. Virus-specific CD8+ cytotoxic T-lymphocyte activity associated with control of viremia in primary human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. J Virol. 1994;68:6103-6110.
- (3) Graziosi C, Pantaleo G, Butini L et al. Kinetics of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) DNA and RNA synthesis during primary HIV-1 infection. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1993;90:6405-6409.
- (4) Klein MR, van Baalen CA, Holwerda AM et al. Kinetics of Gag-specific cytotoxic T lymphocyte responses during the clinical course of HIV-1 infection: a longitudinal analysis of rapid progressors and long-term asymptomatics. J Exp Med. 1995;181:1365-1372.
- (5) Carmichael A, Jin X, Sissons P, Borysiewicz L. Quantitative analysis of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1)-specific cytotoxic T lymphocyte (CTL) response at different stages of HIV-1 infection: differential CTL responses to HIV-1 and Epstein-Barr virus in late disease. J Exp Med. 1993;177:249-256.

- (6) Schmitz JE, Kuroda MJ, Santra S et al. Control of viremia in simian immunodeficiency virus infection by CD8+ lymphocytes. Science. 1999;283:857-860.
- (7) Jin X, Bauer DE, Tuttleton SE et al. Dramatic rise in plasma viremia after CD8(+)
 T cell depletion in simian immunodeficiency virus-infected macaques. J Exp
 Med. 1999;189:991-998.
- (8) Goulder PJ, Brander C, Tang Y et al. Evolution and transmission of stable CTL escape mutations in HIV infection. Nature. 2001;412:334-338.
- (9) Goulder PJ, Phillips RE, Colbert RA et al. Late escape from an immunodominant cytotoxic T-lymphocyte response associated with progression to AIDS. Nat Med. 1997;3:212-217.
- (10) Kelleher AD, Long C, Holmes EC et al. Clustered mutations in HIV-1 gag are consistently required for escape from HLA-B27-restricted cytotoxic T lymphocyte responses. J Exp Med. 2001;193:375-386.
- (11) Price DA, Goulder PJ, Klenerman P et al. Positive selection of HIV-1 cytotoxic T
 lymphocyte escape variants during primary infection. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.
 1997;94:1890-1895.
- (12) Allen TM, O'Connor DH, Jing P et al. Tat-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes select for SIV escape variants during resolution of primary viraemia. Nature. 2000;407:386-390.

- (13) Kaur A, Alexander L, Staprans SI et al. Emergence of cytotoxic T lymphocyte escape mutations in nonpathogenic simian immunodeficiency virus infection. Eur J Immunol. 2001;31:3207-3217.
- (14) O'Connor DH, Allen TM, Vogel TU et al. Acute phase cytotoxic T lymphocyte escape is a hallmark of simian immunodeficiency virus infection. Nat Med. 2002;8:493-499.
- (15) Pantaleo G, Demarest JF, Schacker T et al. The qualitative nature of the primary immune response to HIV infection is a prognosticator of disease progression independent of the initial level of plasma viremia. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1997;94:254-258.
- (16) Musey L, Hughes J, Schacker T et al. Cytotoxic-T-cell responses, viral load, and disease progression in early human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. N Engl J Med. 1997;337:1267-1274.
- (17) Mellors JW, Kingsley LA, Rinaldo CR, Jr. et al. Quantitation of HIV-1 RNA in plasma predicts outcome after seroconversion. Ann Intern Med. 1995;122:573-579.
- (18) Rosenberg ES, Altfeld M, Poon SH et al. Immune control of HIV-1 after early treatment of acute infection. Nature. 2000;407:523-526.
- (19) Markowitz M, Vesanen M, Tenner-Racz K et al. The effect of commencing combination antiretroviral therapy soon after human immunodeficiency virus type

1 infection on viral replication and antiviral immune responses. J Infect Dis. 1999;179:527-537.

- (20) Gulick RM, Mellors JW, Havlir D et al. Treatment with indinavir, zidovudine, and lamivudine in adults with human immunodeficiency virus infection and prior antiretroviral therapy. N Engl J Med. 1997;337:734-739.
- (21) Alter G, Hatzakis G, Tsoukas CM et al. Longitudinal Assessment of Changes in HIV-Specific Effector Activity in HIV-Infected Patients Starting Highly Active Antiretroviral Therapy in Primary Infection. J Immunol. 2001;171:477-488.
- (22) Oxenius A, Price DA, Easterbrook PJ et al. Early highly active antiretroviral therapy for acute HIV-1 infection preserves immune function of CD8+ and CD4+ T lymphocytes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2000;97:3382-3387.
- (23) Malhotra U, Holte S, Dutta S et al. Role for HLA class II molecules in HIV-1 suppression and cellular immunity following antiretroviral treatment. J Clin Invest. 2001;107:505-517.
- (24) Finzi D, Blankson J, Siliciano JD et al. Latent infection of CD4+ T cells provides a mechanism for lifelong persistence of HIV-1, even in patients on effective combination therapy. Nat Med. 1999;5:512-517.
- (25) Routy JP, Vanhems P, Rouleau D et al. Comparison of Clinical Features of Acute HIV-1 Infection in Patients Infected Sexually or Through Injection Drug Use. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2000;24:425-432.

- (26) Alter G, Merchant A, Tsoukas CM et al. Human immunodeficiency virus (HIV)specific effector CD8 T cell activity in patients with primary HIV infection. J Infect Dis. 2002;185:755-765.
- (27) Cooper DA, Imrie AA, Penny R. Antibody response to human immunodeficiency virus after primary infection. J Infect Dis. 1987;155:1113-1118.
- (28) Yu K, Daar ES. Primary HIV infection. Current trends in transmission, testing, and treatment. Postgrad Med. 2000;107:114-122.
- (29) Daar ES, Little S, Pitt J et al. Diagnosis of primary HIV-1 infection. Los Angeles County Primary HIV Infection Recruitment Network. Ann Intern Med. 2001;134:25-29.
- (30) Henrard DR, Daar E, Farzadegan H et al. Virologic and immunologic characterization of symptomatic and asymptomatic primary HIV-1 infection. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr Hum Retrovirol. 1995;9:305-310.
- (31) Clark SJ, Shaw GM. The acute retroviral syndrome and the pathogenesis of HIV-1 infection. Semin Immunol. 1993;5:149-155.
- (32) Quinn TC. Acute primary HIV infection. JAMA. 1997;278:58-62.
- (33) Janssen RS, Satten GA, Stramer SL et al. New testing strategy to detect early HIV-1 infection for use in incidence estimates and for clinical and prevention purposes. JAMA. 1998;280:42-48.

- (34) McFarland W, Busch MP, Kellogg TA et al. Detection of early HIV infection and estimation of incidence using a sensitive/less-sensitive enzyme immunoassay testing strategy at anonymous counseling and testing sites in San Francisco. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 1999;22:484-489.
- (35) Bunce M, O'Neill CM, Barnardo MC et al. Phototyping: comprehensive DNA typing for HLA-A, B, C, DRB1, DRB3, DRB4, DRB5 & DQB1 by PCR with 144 primer mixes utilizing sequence-specific primers (PCR-SSP). Tissue Antigens. 1995;46:355-367.
- (36) Brander C, Korber B, Walker B, Koup R, Moore B, Haynes BF et al. Recent Advances in the Optimization of HIV-Specific CTL Epitopes. In the Molecular Immunology Database. Los Alamos National Laboratory: Theoretical Biology and Biophysics, Los Alamos, NM. 2003.
- (37) Kalams SA, Buchbinder SP, Rosenberg ES et al. Association between virusspecific cytotoxic T-lymphocyte and helper responses in human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. J Virol. 1999;73:6715-6720.
- (38) Ogg GS, Jin X, Bonhoeffer S et al. Decay kinetics of human immunodeficiency virus-specific effector cytotoxic T lymphocytes after combination antiretroviral therapy. J Virol. 1999;73:797-800.
- (39) Casazza JP, Betts MR, Picker LJ, Koup RA. Decay kinetics of human immunodeficiency virus-specific CD8+ T cells in peripheral blood after initiation of highly active antiretroviral therapy. J Virol. 2001;75:6508-6516.

- (40) Soudeyns H, Rebai N, Pantaleo GP et al. The T cell receptor V beta repertoire in HIV-1 infection and disease. Semin Immunol. 1993;5:175-185.
- (41) Pantaleo G, Demarest JF, Soudeyns H et al. Major expansion of CD8+ T cells with a predominant V beta usage during the primary immune response to HIV. Nature. 1994;370:463-467.
- (42) Soudeyns H, Campi G, Rizzardi GP et al. Initiation of antiretroviral therapy during primary HIV-1 infection induces rapid stabilization of the T-cell receptor beta chain repertoire and reduces the level of T-cell oligoclonality. Blood. 2000;95:1743-1751.
- (43) Soudeyns H, Champagne P, Holloway CL et al. Transient T cell receptor betachain variable region-specific expansions of CD4+ and CD8+ T cells during the early phase of pediatric human immunodeficiency virus infection: characterization of expanded cell populations by T cell receptor phenotyping. J Infect Dis. 2000;181:107-120.
- (44) Callan MF, Fazou C, Yang H et al. CD8(+) T-cell selection, function, and death in the primary immune response in vivo. J Clin Invest. 2000;106:1251-1261.
- (45) Moskophidis D, Lechner F, Pircher H, Zinkernagel RM. Virus persistence in acutely infected immunocompetent mice by exhaustion of antiviral cytotoxic effector T cells. Nature. 1993;362:758-761.
- (46) Zhu T, Mo H, Wang N et al. Genotypic and phenotypic characterization of HIV-1 patients with primary infection. Science. 1993;261:1179-1181.

- (47) Zhu T, Wang N, Carr A et al. Genetic characterization of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 in blood and genital secretions: evidence for viral compartmentalization and selection during sexual transmission. J Virol. 1996;70:3098-3107.
 - (48) Kuiken CL, Zwart G, Baan E et al. Increasing antigenic and genetic diversity of the V3 variable domain of the human immunodeficiency virus envelope protein in the course of the AIDS epidemic. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1993;90:9061-9065.
- (49) Pang S, Shlesinger Y, Daar ES et al. Rapid generation of sequence variation during primary HIV-1 infection. AIDS. 1992;6:453-460.
- (50) Ferbas J, Daar ES, Grovit-Ferbas K et al. Rapid evolution of human immunodeficiency virus strains with increased replicative capacity during the seronegative window of primary infection. J Virol. 1996;70:7285-7289.
- (51) Altfeld M, Rosenberg ES, Shankarappa R et al. Cellular immune responses and viral diversity in individuals treated during acute and early HIV-1 infection. J Exp Med. 2001;193:169-180.

Chapter 5: Evaluation of the Matrix ELISPOT

Peptide panel ELISPOTs are commonly employed to monitor immune responses to HIV (chapter 2, 3 and 4). The great limitation to this technique is that the panels are assembled based on epitopes characterized in patients in chronic infection. Given that the immune response appears to evolve with time leading to striking differences in the response patterns in early versus later stages of infection (chapter 2), the use of peptide panels may overlook a great deal of previously uncharacterized responses. Thus chapter 5 focuses on a novel strategy, that may overcome the limitations of the peptide panel ELISPOT, for screening immune responses across all expressed HIV gene products in an unbiased manner.

EVALUATION OF THE MATRIX ELISPOT

Running Title: Mapping the HIV-specific effector response

Galit Alter, Marie-Pierre Boisvert, Jean-Pierre Routy, Nicole F. Bernard.

From the McGill University Health Centre, Montreal, QC.

Corresponding Author: Nicole F. Bernard, Ph.D., McGill University Health Centre Research Institute, Montreal General Hospital Rm C10-160, Montreal, QC, Canada H3G 1A4. Tel.: (514) 934-1934 x44584; Fax: (514) 937-1424; email: Nicole.bernard@mcgill.ca

Key Words: Human, CTL, T-Lymphocytes, peptides

Manuscript in preparation

New approaches combining peptide sets spanning all expressed HIV genes and the high throughput enzyme linked immunospot (ELISPOT) assay should provide a more complete picture of the number and location of peptides recognized as well as of the frequency of cells recognizing these peptides in HIV infected persons than was previously possible. Here we have assessed the utility and the applicability of peptide pool-matrices to screen peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) from 2 HIV infected subjects for HIV-specific immune responses using an ELISPOT assay. This approach assessed the breadth, magnitude and specificity of PBMC secreting IFN-y in response to peptide stimuli derived from all expressed HIV genes. The matrix with verification approach improved our ability to describe these parameters for cells that secrete IFN-y in response to HIV peptides. The approach taken here for assessing HIV-specific responses overcomes limitations inherent in selecting peptide panels as stimuli to describe the frequency and specificity of HIV-specific cells in HIV infected individuals. This type of analysis is a first step towards identifying the regions of the virus that may be important for control of viral replication at different phases of HIV disease and may be useful for identifying the correlates of protection against progression.

5.2 Introduction:

Several lines of evidence support a role for cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTL) in the control of viremia in human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) infection. In acute infection, CTL induction is temporally associated with a reduction in plasma viremia^{9,20}. In late stage disease, as CTL function declines, a rise in viremia occurs^{19,24}. Selection for mutations within sequences recognized by CTL provides evidence that these immune responses exert pressure that suppresses viral replication^{4,15,18,21,22,25}. The most direct support for virus specific CTL suppressing viral replication comes from studies in an animal model for HIV infection, i.e. macaques infected with simian immunodeficiency virus (SIV). CD8+T cell depletion in macaques results in uncontrolled viremia and rapid disease progression^{16,26}.

Previous work aiming to describe the HIV specific immune response have relied on the use of peptide panels based on epitopes recognized mainly by chronically infected individuals restricted by particular HLA alleles^{5,6,8,13,23}. This approach was chosen because it balanced obtaining a picture (albeit limited) of the magnitude and breadth of the HIV-specific immune response and how this changes with time and a variety of interventions with the high cost of peptides sets spanning all expressed HIV genes and limitations in the availability of cells at any particular time point. There are two main drawbacks to using such selected peptide panels to assess the pattern of HIV-specific immune responses of subjects infected with HIV. Firstly, peptides that are selected because they are immunodominant in a population in the chronic phase of infection may not be the same as those that are immunodominant in subjects at other stages of infection, who spontaneously control viremia such as long-term non progressors or who remain uninfected despite exposure to HIV. A number of reports provide evidence that this is in fact the case^{6,8,12,14,17}. The second limitation lies in the fact that testing a set number of peptides may overlook the true breadth and magnitude of the HIV-specific response as not all epitopes presented by any particular HLA allele have been described^{3,12}. In order to more fully describe HIV specific immune responses, it would be necessary to test peptides spanning all gene products.

Availability of HIV peptide sets corresponding to all expressed HIV genes and high throughput assays such as the enzyme linked immunospot (ELISPOT) assay have permitted the design of screening strategies for HIV-specific immune responses that are unbiased with respect to previously described approaches based on major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I restriction specificity^{3,12}. Using such approaches should provide a more complete picture of the number and location of peptides recognized as well as of the frequency of cells recognizing these peptides in HIV infected persons than was previously possible. This type of analysis is a first step towards identifying the regions of the virus that may be important for control of viral replication at different phases of HIV disease and may be useful for identifying the correlates of protection against progression.

In this report, we have assessed the utility and the applicability of peptide poolmatrices to screen peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) from 2 HIV infected subjects for HIV-specific immune responses using an ELISPOT assay. This approach assessed the breadth, magnitude and specificity of PBMC secreting IFN- γ in response to peptide stimuli derived from all expressed HIV genes.

5.3 Methods:

Study subjects: Two HIV infected subjects were analyzed. The institutional review board of the study site approved this work and the participants signed informed consent. The presumed date of infection was estimated for each individual using clinical and laboratory data as well as patient history information. The following guidelines proposed by the Acute HIV Infection and Early Disease Research Program sponsored by the National Institutes of Allergy and Infectious Disease Division of AIDS (Bethesda, MD) were used to estimate the date of infection: The date of the first indeterminate Western blot minus 35 days; The date of a positive HIV RNA test or p24 antigen assay available on the same day as a negative standard HIV enzyme immunoassay (EIA) test minus 14 days. The date of onset of symptoms of an acute retroviral syndrome minus 14 days was also used to estimate the date of infection. Information obtained from questionnaires addressing the timing of high-risk behavior for HIV transmission was used when available to confirm the presumed date of infection.

Laboratory testing: HIV-1 EIA antibody testing was performed at three university hospital sites. The detuned assay was carried out at the University of California, San Francisco, CA using the Vironostica HIV-1 EIA (Organon-Tecnika, Boxtel, the Netherlands). Western blot analysis for HIV-1 antibodies and p24 antigen capture assays were performed at the Laboratoire de Santé Publique du Québec (Ste. Anne de Bellevue, QC, Canada). Plasma viremia was measured using the Roche Amplicor Assay (Roche Diagnostics, Mississauga, ON, Canada) with detection limit of 500 HIV-1 RNA copies/ml of plasma. Plasma samples falling below the detection limit of this assay were retested using the ultrasensitive method (Ultradirect, Roche) with a detection limit of 50 copies/ml of plasma. T cell subset distribution was measured by flow cytometric analysis.

Cells: PBMCs were isolated by density gradient centrifugation (Ficoll-Paque, Pharmacia Upsala, Sweden) and frozen in 10% dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO, Sigma, St Louis MO) in 90% fetal calf serum (FCS, Montreal Biotech Inc., Montreal, QC, Canada).

HLA typing: Subjects were typed for MHC class I antigen expression by the amplification refractory mutation system - polymerase chain reaction (ARMS-PCR) using 95 primer sets amplifying defined MHC class I alleles¹¹ (ABC SSP Unitray, Pel-Freez Clinical Systems, Brown Deer, WI). Genomic DNA for molecular HLA-typing was prepared from Epstein-Barr virus transformed B cell lines using the QIAamp DNA blood kit (Qiagen Inc., Mississauga, ON).

Peptide Panel Selection: Results generated using The HIV peptide panels as stimuli were compared to results generated using the HIV peptide pool matrix approach. HIV peptide panels were selected from the National Institutes of Health (NIH) HIV molecular immunology database based on their predicted ability to bind the HLA alleles of the subjects being tested¹⁰.

Design of Peptide Matrices: The HIV peptide sets used for stimulation were either 15 amino acid (aa) with 11 aa overlaps (Gag, Env, Nef, Tat, Rev, Vpr, Vpu, Vif) or 20 aa

with 10 aa overlaps (Pol). The peptides were obtained from the NIH AIDS Research and Reference Reagent Program (Rockville, MD). Lyophilized peptides (n=621) spanning all HIV-1 gene products were dissolved to a final concentration 10 mg/ml in DMSO (Sigma) and stored at -70° C. These included 100 Pol 20- mers and 123 Gag 15 mers corresponding to the HIV-1_{HXB2R} clade B isolate , 49 Nef, 27 Rev, 23 Tat, 46 Vif, 22 Vpr and 19 Vpu 15-mers corresponding to consensus HIV ([Vpu] or consensus clade B sequence (Nef, Rev, Tat, Vif, Vpr) and 212 Env-15 mers corresponding the HIV_{MN} clade B isolate. Pools containing 2-15 peptides were prepared and organized into matrices of Gag, Pol, Nef, Env and accessory gene peptide pools such that each peptide was present in two pools within each peptide matrix.

ELISPOT assay for single cell IFN- γ release: IFN- γ secretion by HIV-specific cells was quantified using the ELISPOT assay. Cells were plated at 6 x 10⁴ to 10⁵ PBMCs per well and were stimulated in round-bottomed plates with the peptide pools for 3 hours. The final concentration of each peptide within a pool was 2 to 4 µg/ml. Media alone was used as a negative control and anti-CD3 antibody (Research Diagnostics Inc, Flanders N.J.) was used as a positive control stimulus. Results are expressed as spot forming cells per million peripheral blood mononuclear cells (SFC/10⁶ PBMC) following subtraction of negative controls. Negative control stimulation produced less than 5 spots per well in greater than 90% of experiments. The average number of spots in the negative control wells was 3.13 ± 3.12. In experimental wells the signal was considered positive if at least 10 spots per well were present and the number of spots was at least 3-fold greater than the negative control wells.

Confirmation of Peptide Specificity: The stimulatory capacity of candidate stimulatory peptides identified in the peptide pool matrix ELISPOT assay was confirmed in a second experiment with cells from the same time point stimulated with individual peptides that were common to two stimulatory peptide pools in the initial ELISPOT screen. Verification peptide panels consisted of 4-64 potential peptide candidates. For peptide verification experiments, cells were plated in triplicates with 4 μ g/ml of individual candidate peptides. Responses were considered positive if the number of spots per well were at least 2 fold over background and over 50 SFC/10⁶ cells.

5.4 Results:

HIV Specific Effector Responses: HIV peptide pool matrices corresponding to peptides spanning all expressed HIV genes were employed to assess the feasibility and advantages of the matrix strategy compared with the previously used stimulatory peptide panel experiments in PBMCs from the 2 HIV infected subjects. Specificities identified in the peptide poll matrix strategy were then compared to the peptides that would have been selected for testing based on the peptide panel strategy.

HTM 305 is a male who was infected at 39 years of age on the 15th of March of 1996. HTM 305 was treated with a 10-day cycle of AZT and 3TC in June of 1996, and elected to remain untreated for the remainder of his follow up. HTM 305 had the following HLA type: A11, A24, B8, B35, Cw4, Cw7. PBMC from May 15th, 2002 were used for the experiments described here, at a time when the subject was untreated and in the chronic phase of infection. At the time tested his CD4 count was 222 cells/µl and he had a viral load of <50 copies/ml. HTM 310 is a female who was infected at 22 years of age on the presumed date of February 20th, 1997 via heterosexual contact. HTM 310 started treatment on April 1st, 1997 with D4T/3TC/Ritonavir, and 5 months later began Indinavir to replace previously prescribed Ritonavir. HTM 310 had the following HLA types: A11, A68, B27, B57, Cw1, Cw6. PBMC from June 19th, 2002 were used for the experiments described here. At this time point HTM 310 had been on successful HAART continuously since April 1st, 1997 had a CD4 count of 650 cells/µl and an undetectable viral load of <50 copies/ml.

Using the peptide panel to stimulate cells from HTM 305 we would have selected the peptides listed in Table I. These 29 peptides include epitopes previously identified as

being restricted to 5 of the 6 MHC class I alleles expressed by this individual and included 11 epitopes within Gag gene products, 9 within Pol, 5 within Nef, and 4 within the Env gene products.

Data generated using the matrix ELISPOT identified 57 potential peptide candidates whose immunogenicity once verified in a second experiment was confirmed for 10 peptides (Table II)(Fig 1). The same previously characterized epitope was present in two overlapping peptides tested in four cases (Table II, yellow boxes)(Fig 2 A-D), stimulating with equal intensity, and likely are stimulating the same T cells. Some peptides may contain more than one epitope as is seen for pol4285 where a response to either AIFQSSMTK or SMTKILEPFR (or both) may be responsible for the number of SFC/10⁶ PBMC observed (Fig2 E). The only way to confirm this is to synthesize individual optimal epitopes and test them separately. Also, despite the 10 aa overlap between peptides pol4285 and 4286, they do not contain the same A11 restricted epitope. Rather pol4286 contains a B35 restricted epitope (Fig2 E).

From the verification experiment if one adds up the number of SFC/10⁶ PBMC to individual peptide and averages responses likely targeting the same epitope, HTM 305 responds to a total of 10 or 11 different epitopes in 10 peptides with a cumulative magnitude of 9230 SFC/10⁶ PBMCs. Of these HIV-specific responses, 8 have been previously characterized and are represented in the peptide panel strategy. Yet 2 previously uncharacterized peptides were identified by the matrix strategy that would have been overlooked using peptide panels (Table II). One of these responses is to a peptide in the Gag gene product and the other is within Vif, a member of the accessory proteins. Given that immune response to the accessory genes are less well characterized

than for other gene products, it is likely that one would miss identifying several specificities by selecting peptide panels based on previously reported data. Thus approximately 20% of the HIV specific immune responses in HTM 305 would be overlooked by screening this subject's PBMC using the peptide panels strategy.

The peptide panel generated for HTM 310 is presented in Table III. The panel contains a total of 20 potential peptides restricted to 5 of the 6 MHC class I alleles expressed by this individual, of which 8 localize to the Gag gene products, 6 to Pol, 4 to Nef, and 2 to Env gene products. Sixty-four peptides were identified as potential candidates in a peptide pool matrix ELISPOT assay and their stimulatory capacity was verified in a confirmatory ELSIPOT assay. Of the 64 peptides tested 10 peptide responses were confirmed (Fig 3); these 10 responses had a cumulative magnitude of 9485 SFC/ 10^6 PBMC. In contrast to the results seen in HTM 305, there were no responses to epitopes common to two overlapping peptides among the HTM 310 responses (Table IV). Thirty percent of the responses were directed to peptides derived from the Pol gene products, and the remaining 7 responses targeted Gag gene products. Surprisingly, of the 10 identified responses, only 3 were previously described. Peptide pol 4300 contains ILKEPVHGV restricted by HLA-A68, peptide gag 5026 contains KAFSPEVIPMF restricted by HLA-B57 and pol 4296 contains QIYPGIKVR restricted by the HLA-A3 supertype of which HLA-A11 is a member (Table IV). Only 1 of these 3 would have been included if a peptide panel had been used to screen this individual (Table III). The 7 previously undescribed HIV specific immune responses in HTM 310 would also have been overlooked using the peptide panels screening method.

5.5 Discussion:

In this report we aimed to describe the feasibility and advantages of the "matrix with verification" approach over the traditional "peptide panel" ELISPOT assay. The peptide pool matrix approach frequently required larger cell numbers than did the peptide panels strategy, and cells for testing had to be frozen in two aliquots. The peptide pool matrix was more laborious than the alternate method in its initial set up and the fact that two experiments needed to be performed to identify responses. Despite these drawbacks, the matrix with verification approach was feasible and improved our ability to describe the breadth, magnitude and specificity of cells that secrete IFN-y in response to HIV peptides. It is clear from the data presented here that information on the HIV specific immune response may be overlooked with the use of peptide panels. The approach taken here for assessing HIV-specific responses overcomes limitations inherent in selecting peptide panels as stimuli to describe the frequency and specificity of HIV-specific cells in HIV infected individuals. For example, previously undescribed epitopes can be identified without the bias introduced due to selecting stimuli based on MHC class I restriction. Responses were identified to 10 or 11 specificities for HTM 305, of which 2 were previously uncharacterized, and 10 specificities for HTM 310 of which 7 were not previously described.

Using the peptide pool matrix approach together with other methodologies it is possible to obtain further information on HIV-specific immune responses. For example pol4285 may contain more than 1 epitope recognized by HTM 305. To determine whether this is the case it would be necessary to test optimal epitopes separately to determine whether both are stimulatory. MHC class I allele restriction can be verified or

determined for novel recognition specificities using peptide pulsed EBV lines matched with responder cells for single HLA alleles. Induction of secretion of IFN- γ in responder cell, measured by flow cytometry, occurs when peptide is presented in the context of the correct HLA allele^{7,10}. The minimal sequence that stimulates responder cells with the highest dilution in an ELISPOT assay identifies an optimal epitope.

Several groups have reported that individuals in primary infection respond to different epitopes than subjects observed in the chronic phase of HIV infection^{6,8,12,14}. It is therefore reasonable to speculate that different populations of HIV infected patients may have different immunodominance patterns of HIV recognition. Thus subjects in primary infection, long term non progressors, slow progressors and subjects that are exposed to HIV yet uninfected may respond to different regions of the virus than subjects in chronic infection. Given the fact that peptide panels are designed largely using data reported on chronically infected subjects, it is likely that one would miss a great deal of information by using this approach to study other populations. It is therefore certain that the matrix approach will be integral in assessing immune responses that may be associated with protection in these populations.

While only 2 of the HIV specific responses were previously undescribed in HTM 305, as many as 7 of 10 were uncharacterized for HTM 310 despite the fact that they have both been infected for a similar duration. A plausible explanation for this difference may be related to the fact that HTM 310 began aggressive HAART 45 days post-infection, while HTM 305 remained largely untreated throughout follow up. We have shown previously^{5,6} that early initiation of treatment can stabilize the breadth, magnitude, specificity and hierarchy of the immune response, whereas in untreated

individuals shifts in the pattern of effector responses occurs in the first year of infection with reduction in breadth and maintenance of the magnitude of the HIV-specific response. Thus the immune responses identified in HTM 310 may reflect the preserved effector activity she possessed in primary infection due to the immune protective effects of HAART. The identification of 7 previously undescribed peptide reactivities in PBMC from HTM 310 may reflect the fact that the immunodominance pattern of HIV recognition is different in primary infection than in chronic infection and that this pattern has been maintained by successful HAART since its initiation in April 1997. Comparison of immune responses in the first year of follow up with those presented here would formally address the question as to whether continuous HAART that suppresses viral replication can maintain HIV-specific immune responses for 5 or more years. Nevertheless, identification of previously undescribed peptides reinforces the advantages of the matrix approach in the analysis of populations that are not treatment naïve chronically infected individuals.

Despite 6 years of untreated infection, HTM 305 still possesses 2 uncharacterized specificities. Recently a few studies have emerged that identify a few epitopes that are targeted within the HIV accessory gene products such as Vpr⁷, Vpu¹,Vif, Rev and Tat², yet is clear that a deficit still exists in our understanding of the role of immune responses that target these regions. Given the paucity of characterized epitopes in these accessory proteins, it is likely that the HIV peptide pool matrix approach will be integral in identifying immune responses in these uncharted regions. Of note is that one of the newly described peptides was directed against an epitope within the Gag gene product. Although responses to peptides derived from this gene product are well characterized this

does not preclude the identification of responses that have not yet been characterized perhaps due to shifting immunodominance patterns.

One of the greatest obstacles in mapping the immune response to HIV is the high mutability of the virus, and consequently potential escape of CTL epitopes from recognition. As the virus evolves to incorporate mutations, dominant responses may be lost and replaced by subdominant responses. Previously undescribed subdominant responses may be uncharacterized and overlooked with peptide panels. Using the peptide pool matrix approach can not only map the immune response but also partially monitor the evolution of the response over time in response to changes in the virus. The high mutability of the virus has another consequence that relates to describing the true breadth of the HIV-specific immune response. The use of peptide sets based on reference or consensus clade B HIV sequences rather than autologous virus likely underestimates the breadth magnitude and complete description of the specificity of immunity to HIV. However, until it is possible to work with autologous virus sequences, the peptide pool matrix strategy based on standard viral sequences provides several advantages over describing HIV specific immunity using selected peptide panels.

Figure 1








Figure 3

Table I. Peptide Panel for HTM 305

HTN	1 305	
	p17(84-92)	TVA TLYCVHQRI DVK
	p24(349-359)	LEEMMTACQGVGGPGKARV
	RT(313-321)	WKGSP AIFOSSMTK I
A11	nef(73-82)	P QVPLRPMTYK AAVDLSHFL
	nef(84-92)	KA AVDLSHFLK EKGGLEGLI
	RT(507-519)	TY QIYQEPFKNLKTG
	gp120(36-46)	EKLW <u>VTVYYGVPVWK</u> EATTT
	gp41(584-591)	E <u>RYLKDQQLL</u> GF
A24	p24(296-306)	F RDYVDRFYKTL RAEQASQD
	p17(28-36)	LRPGGKK <u>KYKLKHIV</u>
	p17(24-32)	LRP <u>GGKKKYKLK</u> HIV
	p17(74-82)	GSE ELRSLYNTV ATL
	p24(127-135)	NPPIPVG EIYKRWII LGLNK
B8	p24(197-205)	VQNANP <u>DCKTILKAL</u> GPAAT
	RT(18-26)	D <u>GPKVKQWPL</u> TEEKI
	gp(586-593)	ER <u>YLKDQQLL</u> GF
	nef(13-20)	GGKWSKSSVVG <u>WPTVRERM</u> R
	nef(90-97)	KAAVDLSH <u>FLKEKGGL</u> EGLI
	p17(36-44)	LKHIV WASRELERE A
	p17(124-132)	AAGTG <u>NSSQVSQNY</u>
	p24(122-130)	N <u>PPIPVGEIY</u> KRWIILGLNK
	RT(107-115)	KKSV <u>TVLDVGDAY</u> GS
B 35	RT(118-127)	VPLDEDFRKYTAFTI
	RT(156-164)	WKG <u>SPAIFQSSM</u> TKI
	RT(175-183)	KQ <u>NPDIVIYQY</u> MDDL
	RT(293-301)	IPLTEEAELELAENR
	RT(432-440)	YQLEK <u>EPIVGAETF</u> YV
	nef(68-76)	EEEEVG <u>FPVTPQVPL</u> RPMTY
Cw4	none	
Cw7	gp(586-598)	EKLWVT VYYGVPWKEA

Table II. Matrix Analysis for HTM 305

HLA:	AII,	A24,	B8,	B33,	Cw4,	Cw7	
				11		8	

Peptide Designation	Matr	ix	Verif	Peptide Sequence	Characterized Epitope	HLA Restriction
gag5038	211	1475	491	DRVHPVHAGPIAPGQ	none reported	
gag5048	566	471	825	NPPIPVGEIYKRWII	GEIYKRWII	B 8
gag5049	481	1475	825	PVGEIYKRWIILGLN	GEIYKRWII	50
pol4285	204	1141	791	SPAIFQSSMTKILEPFRKQN	AIFQSSMTK SMTKILEPFR	A11 A3 supertype*
pol4286	359	1141	425	KILEPFRKQNPDIVIYQYMD	NPDIVIYQY	B35
pol4303	703	625	675	QWTYQIYQEPFKNLKTGKYA	IYQEPFKNL	A11
nef5141	232	458	291	SVVGWPTVRERMRRA	WPTVRERM	B8
nef5142	386	1025	291	WPTVRERMRRAEPAA	WPTVRERM	20
nef5156	291	941	1025	PVRPQVPLRPMTYKA	QVPLRPMTYK	A11
nef5161	280	525	391	HFLKEKGGLEGLIYS	FLKEKGGL	B8
nef5171	195	525	675	PGPGIRYPLTFGWCF	YPLTFGWCF	B35
nef5172	158	225	675	IRYPLTFGWCFKLVP	YPLTFGWCF	200
vif6032	439	442	925	IPLGDAKLVITTYWG	none reported	2
vif6033	296	925	925	DAKLVITTYWGLHTG	none reported	•

putative optimal epitope
 potential optimal epitope
 peptide overlap, no common epitope
 peptide overlap with a common epitope

*HLA-A11 is one of the alleles included in the HLA-A3 supertype

Table III. Peptide Panel for HTM 310

HTM	310	·····
	p17(84-92)	TVA TLYCVHQRI DVK
	p24(349-359)	LEEMMTACQGVGGPGKARV
	RT(313-321)	WKGSPAIFQSSMTK
A11	nef(73-82)	P QVPLRPMTYK AAVDLSHFL
	nef(84-92)	KA AVDLSHFLK EKGGLEGLI
	RT(507-519)	TY QIY QEPFKNLKTG
	gp120(36-46)	EKLW <u>VTVYYGVPVWK</u> EATTT
A68	RT(364-372)	N DVKQLTEAV QKITT
7.00	RT(434-447)	P <u>IVGAETFYVDGAAN</u>
	p24(131-140)	KRWIILGLNKIVRMYSPTSI
B27	gp(786-795)	IVELLGRRGWEVLKYWWNLL
	nef(105-114)	HSQ RRQDILDEWI YHTQGYF
	p24(15-23)	VHQA <u>ISPRTLNAW</u> VKVVEEK
	p24(30-37)	NAWVKVVEE KAFSPEVIPMF
	p24(176-184)	TLRAE QASQDVKNWMTETLL
B57	Rt(374-383)	VQ KITTESIVIW GKTP
	RT(244-252)	PIVLPEKDSWTVNDI
	nef(116-125)	LWIYHTQG YFPDWQNYT PGP
	p24(108-117)	GSDIAGT <u>TSTLQEQIGW</u> MTN
Cw1	p24(36-43)	AFSPE <u>VIPMFSAL</u> SEGATPQ
Cw6	none	

Table IV. Matrix Analysis for HTM 310HLA: A11, A68, B27, B57, Cw6, Cw7

Peptide Designation	Matrix		Verif	Peptide Sequence	Characterized Epitope	HLA Restriction
pol4296	302.5	312.5	1170	WASQIYPGIKVRQLCKLLRG	QIYPGIKVR	A3 supertype
pol4300	312.5	312.5	780	NREILKEPVHGVYYDPSKDL	ILKEPVHGV	A68
pol4350	312.5	272.5	1000	EGAVVIQDNSDIKVVPRRKA	none reported	
gag4992	312.5	722.5	850	YKLKHIVWASRELER	none reported	
gag4996	182.5	722.5	870		none reported	
gag5013	272.5	722.5	1180	KKAQQAAADTGHSNQ	none reported	
gag5026	312.5	162.5	755	EKAFSPEVIPMFSAL	none reported	
9-9					KAFSPEVIPMF	B57
gag5065	302.5	722.5	1080	LLVQNANPDCKTILK	none reported	
				-	none reported	
gag5068	272.5	722.5	960	ILKALGPAATLEEMM	none reported	
gag5079	272.5	182.5	840	MMQRGNFRNQRKIVK	none reported	

putative optimal epitope potential optimal epitope

Figure 1. Total HIV specific effector responses generated by HTM 305. Bar graphs represent the peptide specific responses, from the confirmatory experiment, in SFCs per million PBMCs (SFCs/10⁶ PBMCs). Following the matrix ELISPOT, using pools of overlapping peptides spanning all HIV-expressed gene products, peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) from subject HTM 305 were stimulated with the peptide panel, 57 peptides, identified as candidate stimuli from the matrix ELISPOT. The *x*-axis indicates, for each bar, the 10 peptides that induced responses in the confirmatory experiment.

Figure 2. Comparison of the magnitude of the HIV specific response for overlapping peptides for HTM 305. Bar graphs represent the magnitude in SFCs/10⁶ PBMCs for each of the two characterized overlapping peptides that were tested in the confirmatory experiment. Overlapping peptides containing the same previously characterized epitope (A-C), containing an undescribed possibly common epitope (D), and two potentially distinct epitopes (E) are presented here.

Figure 3. Global HIV specific effector activity for HTM 310. Bar graphs depict the peptide specific responses, from the confirmation experiment, in SFCs/10⁶ PBMCs. The *x*-axis represents, for each bar, the 10 peptide specific responses that were identified in the confirmatory experiment from the 64 potential responses that emerged from the matrix ELISPOT.

5.6 Reference List:

- 1. Addo MM, Altfeld M, Rathod A et al. HIV-1 Vpu represents a minor target for cytotoxic T lymphocytes in HIV-1-infection. AIDS 2002; 16:1071-3.
- Addo MIM, Altfeld M, Rosenberg ES et al. The HIV-1 regulatory proteins Tat and Rev are frequently targeted by cytotoxic T lymphocytes derived from HIV-1infected individuals. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2001; 98:1781-6.
- Addo MM, Yu XG, Rathod A et al. Comprehensive epitope analysis of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1)-specific T-cell responses directed against the entire expressed HIV-1 genome demonstrate broadly directed responses, but no correlation to viral load. J Virol 2003; 77:2081-92.
- Allen TM, O'Connor DH, Jing P et al. Tat-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes select for SIV escape variants during resolution of primary viraemia. Nature 2000; 407:386-90.
- Alter G, Hatzakis G, Tsoukas CM et al. Longitudinal Assessment of Changes in HIV-Specific Effector Activity in HIV-Infected Patients Starting Highly Active Antiretroviral Therapy in Primary Infection. J Immunol 2003; 171:477-88.
- Alter G, Merchant A, Tsoukas CM et al. Human immunodeficiency virus (HIV)specific effector CD8 T cell activity in patients with primary HIV infection. J Infect Dis 2002; 185:755-65.

- Altfeld M, Addo MM, Eldridge RL et al. Vpr is preferentially targeted by CTL during HIV-1 infection. J Immunol 2001; 167:2743-52.
- Altfeld M, Rosenberg ES, Shankarappa R et al. Cellular immune responses and viral diversity in individuals treated during acute and early HIV-1 infection. J Exp Med 2001; 193:169-80.
- Borrow P, Lewicki H, Hahn BH, Shaw GM, and Oldstone MB. Virus-specific CD8+ cytotoxic T-lymphocyte activity associated with control of viremia in primary human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. J Virol 1994; 68:6103-10.
- Brander, C., Korber, B. T., Walker, B., Koup, R., Moore, B., Haynes, B. F., Meyers, G., and Goulder, P. Recent Advances in the Optimization of HIV-Specific CTL Epitopes.In the HIV Molecular Immunology Database. Los Alamos National Laboratory: Theoretical Biology and Biophysics, Los Alamos, NM. 2002.
- 11. Bunce M, O'Neill CM, Barnardo MC et al. Phototyping: comprehensive DNA typing for HLA-A, B, C, DRB1, DRB3, DRB4, DRB5 & DQB1 by PCR with 144 primer mixes utilizing sequence-specific primers (PCR-SSP). Tissue Antigens 1995; 46:355-67.
- Cao J, McNevin J, Holte S, Fink L, Corey L, and McElrath MJ. Comprehensive analysis of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1)-specific gamma interferon-secreting CD8+ T cells in primary HIV-1 infection. J Virol 2003; 77:6867-78.

- 13. Dalod M, Dupuis M, Deschemin JC et al. Broad, intense anti-human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) ex vivo CD8(+) responses in HIV type 1-infected patients: comparison with anti-Epstein-Barr virus responses and changes during antiretroviral therapy. J Virol 1999; 73:7108-16.
- Goulder PJ, Altfeld MA, Rosenberg ES et al. Substantial differences in specificity of HIV-specific cytotoxic T cells in acute and chronic HIV infection. J Exp Med 2001; 193:181-94.
- 15. Goulder PJ, Phillips RE, Colbert RA et al. Late escape from an immunodominant cytotoxic T-lymphocyte response associated with progression to AIDS. Nat Med 1997; 3:212-7.
- Jin X, Bauer DE, Tuttleton SE et al. Dramatic rise in plasma viremia after CD8(+) T cell depletion in simian immunodeficiency virus-infected macaques. J Exp Med 1999; 189:991-8.
- 17. Kaul R, Rowland-Jones SL, Kimani J et al. New insights into HIV-1 specific cytotoxic T-lymphocyte responses in exposed, persistently seronegative Kenyan sex workers. Immunol Lett 2001; 79:3-13.
- Kelleher AD, Long C, Holmes EC et al. Clustered mutations in HIV-1 gag are consistently required for escape from HLA-B27-restricted cytotoxic T lymphocyte responses. J Exp Med 2001; 193:375-86.
- Klein MR, van Baalen CA, Holwerda AM et al. Kinetics of Gag-specific cytotoxic
 T lymphocyte responses during the clinical course of HIV-1 infection: a

longitudinal analysis of rapid progressors and long-term asymptomatics. J Exp Med 1995; 181:1365-72.

- 20. Koup RA, Safrit JT, Cao Y et al. Temporal association of cellular immune responses with the initial control of viremia in primary human immunodeficiency virus type 1 syndrome. J Virol 1994; 68:4650-5.
- 21. McMichael AJ and Phillips RE. Escape of human immunodeficiency virus from immune control. Annu Rev Immunol 1997; 15:271-96.:271-96.
- O'Connor DH, Allen TM, Vogel TU et al. Acute phase cytotoxic T lymphocyte escape is a hallmark of simian immunodeficiency virus infection. Nat Med 2002; 8:493-9.
- 23. Oxenius A, Price DA, Easterbrook PJ et al. Early highly active antiretroviral therapy for acute HIV-1 infection preserves immune function of CD8+ and CD4+ T lymphocytes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2000; 97:3382-7.
- 24. Pantaleo G and Fauci AS. New concepts in the immunopathogenesis of HIV infection. Annu Rev Immunol 1995; 13:487-512.:487-512.
- Price DA, Goulder PJ, Klenerman P et al. Positive selection of HIV-1 cytotoxic T lymphocyte escape variants during primary infection. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1997; 94:1890-5.

26. Schmitz JE, Kuroda MJ, Santra S et al. Control of viremia in simian immunodeficiency virus infection by CD8+ lymphocytes. Science 1999; 283:857-60.

Chapter 6: Comprehensive Analysis of HIV-Specific Effector Responses in Chronic HIV

Infection

The chronic phase of infection follows PI as patients enter their first year of infection. While initiation of therapy in early PI appears to preserve HIV specific immune responses, patients who do not begin effective treatment early enough (chapter 3) or who elect to remain untreated (chapter 4) appear to respond to the virus differently than patients in early PI (chapter 2). Given that the hierarchy of the immune response changes considerably during the first year of infection (chapter 4), it is clear that viral replication and changes in the virus. Thus to grasp the impact of viral replication on the host response it is essential to characterize the strength, breadth, and specificity of the immune response at different stages of disease.

Reports intended to characterize the immune response in chronic infection have been greatly limited by the use of peptide panels, given the data presented in chapter 5, it is clear that a great deal of information may be overlooked with the use of this strategy. Thus new strategies such as the matrix (chapter 5) now allow for the dissection of the true pattern of the immunodominance of the antiviral response in an unbiased fashion.

CHARACTERIZATION OF THE BREADTH, MAGNITUDE, AND SPECIFICITY OF THE HIV-SPECIFIC EFFECTOR RESPONSE IN 24 HLA-A2 UNTREATED CHRONICALLY INFECTED SUBJECTS

Running Title: HIV-specific effector activity in chronic infection

Galit Alter, Yoav Peretz, Marie-Pierre Boisvert, Christos M. Tsoukas, Nicole F. Bernard

From the McGill University Health Centre, Montreal, QC.

Corresponding Author: Nicole F. Bernard, Ph.D., McGill University Health Centre Research Institute, Montreal General Hospital Rm C10-160, Montreal, QC, Canada H3G 1A4. Tel.: (514) 934-1934 x44584; Fax: (514) 937-1424; email: nicole.bernard@mcgill.ca

Key Words: Human, chronic infection, CTL, T-Lymphocytes, peptides

Manuscript in preparation

The asymptomatic phase of the disease caused by the human immunodeficiency virus is characterized by a relatively stable plasma viremia set point, which is maintained through a balance between the rate of viral production, and the rate of viral clearance by cells of the immune system. In this report, we have employed peptide pool-matrices to screen peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) from chronically HIV infected HLA-A2 positive subjects for HIV-specific immune responses using an ELISPOT assay. The matrix ELISPOT overcomes limitations inherent in selecting peptide panels as stimuli to describe the frequency and specificity of HIV-specific cells in HIV infected individuals. Responses were identified to 111 specificities, 41 (37%) of which were previously not characterized in the literature. It appears that chronically infected subjects display a heterogeneous HIV-specific response with respect to breadth and magnitude. HIV specific effector responses to nef being the second most frequently recognized gene product. In twelve individuals in which antigen specific IFN- γ secretion and CTL activity to the same HIV peptide were evaluated these two responses were frequently discordant.

6.2 Introduction:

Infection with the human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) can be divided into three phases: primary infection often associated with an acute seroconversion syndrome and a spike in viral load that falls as HIV-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTL) are induced, an extended asymptomatic period that lasts from 2-10 years and a late phase usually lasting less than 2 years in untreated patients beginning with diagnosis of acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS)²⁹. CTL play an integral role in the control of viremia in HIV infection. In acute infection, CTL induction is temporally associated with a reduction in plasma viremia^{8,22}. In late stage disease, as CTL function declines, a rise in viremia occurs^{21,29}. Moreover, selection for mutations within sequences recognized by CTL provides evidence that these immune responses exert pressure that suppresses viral replication^{17,20,24,26,30}.

The asymptomatic phase of the disease is characterized by a relatively stable plasma viral load set point, which is maintained through a balance between the rate of viral production, and the rate of viral clearance by cells of the immune system²⁹. Studies in an animal model for HIV infection, i.e. macaques infected with simian immunodeficiency virus (SIV) demonstrate that CD8+ T cell depletion in macaques, during this phase of the disease, results in uncontrolled viremia and rapid disease progression^{19,33}. As many as 1-2% of circulating cells are HIV-specific as determined by staining with HIV peptide tetramer reagents²⁵.

Broad and intense CTL responses have been observed in the chronic phase of HIV infection¹⁴. Several studies have characterized the breadth, magnitude and specificity of HIV-specific immune responses using panels of peptides selected based on

their being restricted to one of the MHC class I alleles expressed by the person being tested^{2-4,14,15,28}. Availability of HIV peptide sets corresponding to all expressed HIV genes and high throughput assays such as the enzyme-linked immunospot assay (ELISPOT) assay have permitted the design of screening strategies for HIV-specific immune responses that are unbiased with respect to previously described MHC class I restricted peptides^{1,7,10}. Using such approaches should provide a more complete picture of the number and location of peptides recognized as well as of the frequency of cells recognizing these peptides in HIV infected persons than was previously possible. This type of analysis is a first step towards identifying the regions of the virus that may be important for control of viral replication in the chronic phase of HIV disease and may be useful for identifying the correlates of protection against progression. In this report, we have employed peptide pool-matrices to screen peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) from chronically HIV infected HLA-A2 positive subjects for HIV-specific immune responses using an ELISPOT assay. This approach assessed the breadth, magnitude and specificity of PBMC secreting IFN-y in response to peptide stimuli derived from all expressed HIV genes.

6.3 Methods:

Study population: Twenty-four (24) HIV infected HLA-A2 positive subjects in the chronic phase of infection who were naïve to highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART) were analyzed. The institutional review board of the study site approved this study and all participants signed informed consent. Viral load measurements were performed using the HIV RNA b-DNA version 2.0 assay (Chiron, Corp. Emeryville, CA) with a lower limit of detection of 500 HIV RNA copies/ml of plasma.

Cells: PBMCs were isolated from blood by density gradient centrifugation (Ficoll-Paque, Pharmacia Upsala, Sweden) and cryopreserved in 10% dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO, Sigma, St Louis MO) with 90% fetal calf serum (FCS., Canadian Life Technology, Burlington, On).

Flow Cytometry: CD3 FITC, CD4 APC and CD8 PE reagents (Becton Dickinson, Mississauga, Ontario) were employed to assess absolute CD4 and CD8 T cell numbers.

HLA typing: Subjects were typed for major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I antigen expression by the amplification refractory mutation system - polymerase chain reaction (ARMS-PCR) using 95 primer sets amplifying defined MHC class I alleles (ABC SSP Unitray, Pel-Freez Clinical Systems, Brown Deer, WI)⁹. Genomic DNA for molecular HLA-typing was prepared from Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) transformed B cell lines using the QIAamp DNA blood kit (Qiagen Inc., Mississauga, ON).

Design of Peptide Matrices: The HIV peptide sets used for stimulation were 15 amino acids (aa) with 11 aa overlaps (Gag, Env, Nef, Tat, Rev, Vpr, Vpu, Vif) or 20 aa with 10 aa overlaps (Pol). The peptides were obtained from the NIH AIDS Research and Reference Reagent Program (Rockville, MD). Lyophilized peptides (n=621) spanning all HIV-1 gene products were dissolved to a final concentration 10 mg/ml in DMSO (Sigma) and stored at -70°C. These included 100 Pol 20-mers and 123 Gag 15-mers corresponding to the HIV-1_{HXB2R} clade B isolate, 49 Nef, 27 Rev, 23 Tat, 46 Vif, 22 Vpr and 19 Vpu 15-mers corresponding to consensus HIV (Vpu) or consensus clade B sequence (Nef, Rev, Tat, Vif, Vpr) and 212 Env-15-mers corresponding the HIV_{MN} clade B isolate. Pools containing 2-15 peptides were prepared and organized into matrices of Gag, Pol, Nef, Env and accessory gene peptide pools such that each peptide was present in two pools within each peptide matrix.

ELISPOT assay for single cell Interferon- γ (IFN- γ) release: IFN- γ secretion by HIVspecific cells was quantified using the ELISPOT assay. Cells were plated at 6 x10⁴ to 10⁵ PBMCs per well and were stimulated in round-bottomed plates with the peptide pools for 3 hours. The final concentration of each peptide within a pool was 2 to 4 µg/ml. Media alone was used as a negative control and anti-CD3 antibody (Research Diagnostics Inc, Flanders N.J.) was used as a positive control stimulus. Results are expressed as spot forming cells per million PBMC (SFC/10⁶ PBMC) following subtraction of negative controls. Negative control stimulation produced less than 5 spots per well in greater than 90% of experiments. The average number of spots in the negative control wells was 3.13 \pm 3.12. In experimental wells the signal was considered positive if at least 10 spots per

well were present and the number of spots was at least 3-fold greater than the negative control wells. The identity of IFN- γ secreting cells as CD8+ was confirmed by the reduction of SFC numbers following depletion of CD8+ cells with magnetic beads (Dynal, Lake Success, NY).

Confirmation of Peptide Specificity: The stimulatory capacities of candidate stimulatory peptides identified in the peptide-pool matrix ELISPOT assay were confirmed in a second experiment with cells from the same time point stimulated with individual peptides that were common to two stimulatory peptide pools in the initial ELISPOT screen. Confirmation peptide panels consisted of 4-54 potential peptide candidates. For single peptide verification experiments, cells were plated in triplicates with 4 μ g/ml of individual candidate peptides. The same criteria were used in the verification assay as in the original peptide pool matrix experiment to identify positive responses. For a subset of experiments an immunodominant HLA-A2-restricted EBV-derived peptide (NLVPMVATV) was also used as positive control stimuli.

Cytotoxicity Assay: CTL lines were established using 10^6 PBMC stimulated with 10µM HLA-A2 restricted optimal peptides Gag 77-85 (SLYNTVATL) and RT 476-484 (ILKEPVHGV) in the presence of 40ng/ml of interleukin-7 (IL-7). Cells were grown in RPMI 1640 (GIBCO, Grans Island, NY) containing 10% FCS (Montreal Biotech Inc., Montreal, QC, Canada), 2 mM L-glutamine (ICN Biomedical Ltd, Aurora, OH), 50 IU/ml penicillin (ICN), 50 mcg/ml streptomycin (ICN) and 50 µM 2-mercaptoethanol (Sigma, St. Louis, MO). Following a 3-day stimulation in the presence of the peptide

alone, cells were maintained at a final concentration of 200 IU/ml of interleukin-2 (IL-2) for an additional 18 days. On day 21 these cells were used as effectors in a 4-hour chromium release assay. Targets were autologous Epstein Barr virus -transformed B cell lines labeled with 200 μ Ci Na₂⁵¹CrO₄ overnight and washed three times before plating. Targets were plated at 5 x 10³ cells/well and pulsed with peptide at a concentration of 50 μ g/ml for 1 hr before adding effector cells. Effectors were added at an effector to target ratio (E:T) of 20:1, 10:1 and 5:1. Maximal release was determined from wells containing target cells treated with 1% NP-40 and spontaneous release from wells containing target cells incubated with media alone. Percent specific lysis was calculated using the equation: ((experimental release - spontaneous release)/(maximal release – spontaneous release)) x100. Percent specific lysis was considered positive if > 10% over background with at least 2 E:T .

Statistical Analysis: The Student T-test was utilized in order to assess the significance of differences in the magnitude of responses to gene products and the distribution of viral load, CD4 and CD8 T cell numbers among subjects who did or did not possess lytic activity. Pearson linear correlation analyses were employed to establish the strength of the relationship between HIV specific effector parameters (breadth, magnitude, and CTL activity) and several clinical parameters (viral load, CD4 and CD8 T cell numbers). P-values of less then 0.05 were considered significant.

Study population: A description of the study population is provided in Table 1. One of the 24 subjects was female, the median age of the sample was 34 (range 14-44) yrs. Twenty-one subjects were infected through sexual exposure, 1 via intravenous drug use, and 2 were hemophilia patients infected through the transfusion of contaminated blood products. The median duration of infection was 3.3 (range 1-11) yrs. Patients manifested median CD4 counts of 612 (range 525-1140) cells/mL, median CD8 T cell numbers were 1139 (range 689-2046) cells/mL, and the median viral load was 943 (range 499-22600) HIV RNA copies/ml of plasma. For all viral loads below the limit of detection, a value of 499 copies/mL was assigned. All subjects expressed HLA-A2; no other HLA allele appeared over-represented in the study population.

HIV Specific Effector Responses: HIV peptide pool matrices corresponding to peptides spanning all expressed HIV genes were employed to assess the pattern and strength of the HIV specific response in PBMC from the study population. Subjects responded to a median of 5 (range 0 to 13) peptides, (Fig1 A) with a median magnitude of 1412 (range 0-5833) SFC/10⁶ (Fig1 B). Each subject recognized an average of 2 gene products. A significant correlation was observed between the breadth and the magnitude of the response (r^2 =0.7; p=0.00, Pearson linear correlation) (Fig1 C).

Immune responses for individual gene products were normalized so that both the magnitude and the breadth were assessed proportionally to the size of the individual gene products within the viral sequence. According to the Los Alamos database p17, p24, p15, protease, reverse transcriptase (RT), integrase, Vif, Vpr, Tat, Rev, Vpu, gp120, gp41and

Nef represent 4.5%, 7.6%, 4.2%, 5.3%, 18.1%, 9.6%, 6.3%, 3.2%, 3.35%, 3.35%, 2.7%, 17.1%, 11.1% and 6.65% of the protein sequence, respectively. Note that Gag p55 includes Gag p17, p24 and p15; Pol includes protease, RT and integrase; and Env gp160 includes gp 120 and gp41. Despite the fact that Gag p55 only represents 16.3% of the entire HIV amino acid sequence, peptides derived from this gene product were targeted more frequently (35 of 88 [46%] of all peptides recognized by this group of chronically infected subjects were derived from Gag p55, Fig1 A) and with a higher magnitude (46419 of 80075 SFC/10⁶ PBMC [57%] of all HIV-specific cells recognized Gag p55, Fig 1B) than any other viral gene product (p<0.001 for both breadth, χ^2 test, and magnitude, unpaired T-test) (Fig1 D and E). RT represents 18% of the entire HIV amino acid sequence. Eight percent of the cumulative magnitude and 18% of the breadth were directed against peptides derived from this protein (Fig1 D and E). Sixteen percent of the breadth and 14.4% of the magnitude of the response to all expressed HIV genes were directed at peptides derived from the Nef protein, which only spans 6.65% of the protein sequence (Fig1 D and E).

Interestingly, PBMC from 8 of 24 (33%) individuals in this chronically infected population recognized accessory gene products. To date, accessory gene products have been understudied with respect to the mapping of HIV derived CTL epitopes. The approach taken here permitted the identification of several responses directed to accessory gene products including previously undescribed epitopes (Fig1 D and E). Surprisingly, 7.8% of the breadth and 6.1% of the magnitude were directed at sequences derived from the Rev protein, which represents as little as 3.35% of the total HIV sequence (Fig1 D and E). Similarly, 4.7% of the breadth and as much as 10.8% of the

cumulative magnitude of the HIV-specific immune responses in these 24 subjects recognized peptides derived from the Vpr sequence, representing 3.2% of the HIV aa sequence (Fig1 D and E). The remaining gene products contributed minimally to the breadth and magnitude of the immune response.

Given the heterogeneity of the immune response to HIV, we sought to establish whether a correlation existed between any clinical parameters and the strength (Figure 2A, C, E) or breadth (Fig 2B, D, F) of the immune response. No correlation was observed between the absolute CD4 T cell number (Fig2 A, B), absolute CD8 T cell count (Fig2 C and D), or viral load (Fig2 E and F) and either the breadth or the magnitude of the immune response to HIV (p=not significant for all comparisons).

Of the subjects tested by ELISPOT assay, 12 of 24 (50%) recognized the Gag 77-85 epitope an average magnitude of 330 ± 368 SFC/10⁶ PBMCs and 5 of 24 (20%) recognized RT 476-484 with an average magnitude of 284 ± 191 SFC/10⁶ PBMCs. Others have shown that despite significant proportions of HIV specific tetramer positive cells present during the chronic phase of the infection, these cells may be functionally impaired in their ability to proliferate, express perforin and, lyse targets¹⁸. Given that several subjects had detectable levels of cells that responded to these HLA-A2 restricted epitopes by secreting IFN- γ , we investigated whether these cells could also develop lytic activity specific for these epitopes.

For these experiments a subset of 12 individuals were tested for both secretion of IFN- γ by ELISPOT assay and indirect CTL activity to Gag 77-85 and RT 427-484. As shown in Table 2, 8 of 12 (75%) subjects tested recognized Gag 77-85 by secreting IFN- γ while only 3 of these individuals mounted a CTL response directed at this epitope (Table

2). Six of 12 (50%) subjects secreted IFN- γ in responses to RT 476-484; of these 6 individuals 3 also mounted a CTL response to this peptide (Table 2). All those who mounted a peptide specific CTL response also secreted IFN- γ upon recognizing antigen. However only a subset of those having a positive peptide specific response by ELISPOT also recognized that peptide in an indirect CTL assay (Table 2). No between group differences existed for viral load, CD4 or CD8 T cell numbers between subjects that exhibited CTL specific lysis and those that did not (p=0.8, unpaired T-test). Additionally, no correlation was observed between CTL activity and the magnitude, or the breadth of IFN- γ secretion (data not shown). This data shows that despite the presence of antigen specific cells able to secrete IFN- γ , functional defects in antigen specific cells were nevertheless evident in this chronically infected population.

We mapped the breadth, magnitude and specificity of cells that secrete IFN- γ in response to HIV peptide stimulation in 24 untreated HLA-A2 subjects in the chronic phase of infection. In this report we found that chronically infected subjects display a heterogeneous HIV-specific response with respect to breadth and magnitude. HIV specific effector responses directed to HIV Gag gene products (p17, p24, and p15) predominated with responses to Nef being the second most frequently recognized gene product (Fig 1d and e). Neither the breadth nor the magnitude of HIV-specific responses in each individual correlated with viral load levels, absolute CD4 or CD8 T cell numbers. In twelve individuals in whom antigen specific IFN- γ secretion and CTL activity to the same HIV peptide were evaluated only a subset of individuals with peptide specific ELISPOT responses also had lytic activity to the same peptide.

The approach taken here for assessing HIV-specific responses overcomes limitations inherent in selecting peptide panels as stimuli to describe the frequency and specificity of HIV-specific cells in HIV infected individuals. For example, previously undescribed epitopes can be identified without the bias introduced due to selecting stimuli based on MHC class I restriction. Responses were identified to 111 specificities, 41 (37%) of which were previously not characterized in the literature. Thus 37% of specificities observed in this study are potentially new targets that may be important for the control of viral replication.

Previous reports have described broad and intense HIV specific effector activity in chronically infected patients¹⁴. Yet it appears that not all HIV infected subjects in the chronic phase of infection respond to HIV by developing a high frequency of PBMC

secreting IFN- γ to a broad range of peptides. Rather the pattern appears quite variable, and does not correlate with clinical parameters such as viral load, CD4 or CD8 T cell numbers. Dalod et al. described 34 chronically HIV infected subjects who responded to a mean of 5 peptides with a total intensity of 4084 SFC/10⁶ cells. This is consistent with results reported here where subjects within our study also responded to a median of 5 peptides, (range 0-13 peptides); the median intensity of the HIV-specific responses was 1412 SFC/10⁶ (range 0-5833 SFC/10⁶SFC), lower than that reported by Dalod et al.¹⁴. One explanation for the lower median magnitude of HIV-specific responses seen in the population studies here may be that viral load drives the immune response as has been reported by others^{12,14,27,34}. The mean viral load in the population studied by Dalod et al was 10-fold higher than that seen in our sample¹⁴.

A number of reports suggest that polyclonal responses may be associated with better clinical outcome than narrow responses^{6,11,17,30}. Subjects with monoclonal responses appear to lose the ability to control viral replication in the event that the virus escapes immune recognition. Data from our study suggests that there is no clear association between the polyclonality of the response and a number of clinical parameters that are associated with clinical outcome. Thus the individuals with only a few responses may be as effective in controlling their viral loads as subjects exhibiting up to a dozen different specificities. This suggests that viral control may be mediated by not only targeting a broad range of epitopes but also by targeting the correct specificities.

The population studied here is not representative of typical HIV disease progressors as many individuals included in this report have lower viral loads and higher CD4 T cell numbers than typical HIV disease progressors. Therefore caution should be

exercised in extrapolating results generated in this population to all chronically HIV infected progressors. Nevertheless it is interesting to note that in this relatively healthy population of chronically HIV infected individuals discordance between IFN-y secretion and CTL activity to individual peptides is evident. Lytic activity was independent of viral load, CD4 and CD8 T cell counts. Thus it is unlikely that high viral loads, perhaps resulting in greater CD4 depletion, would be the cause of this impaired effector activity. Moreover, the inability to mediate this essential effector function, while HIV specific IFN-γ secretion appears functional, has been previously described⁵. The indirect CTL assays used to assess the presence of HIV peptide specific CTL activity were performed on T cell lines prepared from PBMCs stimulated with specific HIV peptides followed by a 21 day culture period. In order for these T cell lines to have antigen specific lytic activity peptide specific cells must proliferate. Absence of lytic activity may therefore be due to the predominance of terminally differentiated antigen specific cells in the individuals being tested^{5,13,25}. This may be the reason that an ex vivo assay such as the ELISPOT assay and the CTL assay frequently give discordant results in the population tested. Champagne et al showed that HIV infected individuals had a skewed distribution of memory CD8+ T cell subsets characterized by the accumulation of HIV specific cells at a pre-terminally differentiated stage that was not able to efficiently develop into effector cells able to lyse targets nor to proliferate efficiently^{5,13}. One can speculate that these defects may be established early in disease, during the primary phase of the infection, where HIV specific CD4 T cells are preferentially infected and depleted or anergized¹⁶. Several reports have described the critical nature of the preservation of HIVspecific CD4 T cell responses in order to maintain effective CD8 T cells in the context of

primary infection and long term non progressive infection^{23,31,32}. Depletion of these cells during acute HIV infection can lead to an ineffective response to the virus. Thus in this study, we show that in spite of relatively high CD4 numbers, virus specific cells may already be eliminated or non functional, leading to reduced maturation, proliferation, and impaired effector activity. Thus a relatively intact immune system with high CD4 numbers may not be indicative of an effective immune response.

In summary, here for the first time, we present a complete picture of the immune response in 24 treatment naïve chronically infected HLA-A2 HIV+ patients. The HIV specific immune response in untreated chronic infection appears to be heterogeneous. Data presented here demonstrates that the magnitude and breadth of HIV-specific immunity are directed predominantly towards proteins derived from the gag p55 gene product. No clear relationship was discernable between clinical markers such as CD4, CD8, or viral load with respect to effector responses. Using the peptide pool matrix ELISPOT approach to assess responses directed at all expressed HIV genes identified a significant number of previously undescribed peptides, particularly in gene products poorly characterized with respect to epitope mapping such as rev and vpr. Thus it is clear that the use of this technique will be critical in allowing for the complete characterization of immune responses in populations at different stages of infection. Consequently it may now be possible to identify novel responses associated with the maintenance of viral load set point and potentially protection from progression.





LUDIC I. DESCI CHIEVE DIMEISTICS	Table	I.	Descriptive	Statistics
----------------------------------	-------	----	-------------	------------

	Sex	Mode of Transmission	Age	CD4	CD8	Viral Load	A Loci	JS	B Loci	us	C Locu	IS
MQCH01	М	MSM	34	525	935	4245	A2	A11	B14	B39	Cw7	Cw8
MQCH02	М	MSM	32	960	928	516	A2	A11	B44		Cw4	Cw5
MQCH03	М	MSM	25	725	1450	758	A2	A3	B7	B14	Cw7	Cw8
MQCH04	М	MSM	34	999	1377	1358	A2	A11	B7	B14	Cw8	Cw7
MQCH05	м	MSM	28	572	1222	1846	A2	A29	B15	B27	Cw1	Cw2
MQCH06	м	MSM	33	660	1144	564	A2	A24	B18	B44	Cw4	Cw5
MQCH07	м	MSM	26	504	2412	5952	A2	A26	B15	B38	Cw3	Cw12
MQCH08	М	MSM	44	525	1071	1792	A2		B41	B51	Cw14	Cw17
MQCH09	м	MSM	40	561	1782	1857	A2	A1	B27	B44	Cw2	Cw5
MQCH10	М	MSM	42	682	880	926	A2	A26	B35	B40	Cw2	Cw4
MQCH11	М	MSM	37	510	1700	499	A2	A26	B53	B72	Cw2	Cw4
MQCH12	м	MSM	44	638	1012	499	A2	-	B40	B44	Cw2	Cw5
MQCH13	М	MSM	34	1092	2912	499	A2		B27	B40	Cw2	Cw16
MQCH14	F	Transfusion	35	589	798	499	A2	A11	B27	B 52	Cw2	Cw12
MQCH15	М	MSM	36	520	1000	499	A2	A26	B27	B62	Cw1	Cw3
MQCH16	М	MSM	36	529	689	22600	A2	A24	B7	B27	Cw1	Cw7
MQCH17	М	MSM	42	840	1428	776	A2	A1	B44	B57	Cw6	Cw16
MQCH18	м	MSM	29	595	1890	1414	A2	A11	B7	B 35	Cw4	Cw5
MQCH19	М	Hemophiliac	14	1140	782	1736	A2		B40	B47	Cw2	Cw15
MQCH20	М	IVDU	29	552	1344	499	A2	A1	B8	B18	Cw8	Cw18
MQCH21	М	MSM	31	525	1134	1874	A2	A24	B15	B40	Cw3	
MQCH22	М	MSM	31	667	966	499	A2	A3	B14	B44	Cw8	Cw5
MQCH23	М	MSM	27	630	735	8961	A2	A33	B14	B40	Cw2	Cw8
MQCH24	М	MSM	33	891	2046	959	A2	A31	B40	B44	Cw3	Cw5

	Gag 77- 85	Gag 77-85	RT 476- 484	RT 476- 484	Total	Total Magnitude
	% specific lysis	SFC/106 PBMC	% specific lysis	SFC/106 PBMC	Breadth	SFC/106 PBMC
MQCH02	1	340	0	0	2	557
MQCH04	24	550	18	215	4	493
MQCH05	3	233	1	0	7	1930
MQCH06	37	228	36	150	3	433
MQCH08	6	0	2	0	2	1198
MQCH09	1	138	7	210	3	1175
MQCH11	19	115	4	0	6	3547
MQCH14	0	105	1	133	11	3498
MQCH15	2	0	11	110	6	4973
MQCH18	0	0	0	0	8	3886
MQCH20	0	113	0	208	2	313
MQCH24	2	0	4	0	0	0

Table II. Summary of HIV specific effector activity

Figure 1. Comprehensive analysis of the global HIV-specific effector activity. 24 chronically infected HAART naïve HLA-A2 subjects were screened for HIV specific effector responses by interferon- γ (IFN- γ) matrix ELISPOT. Bar graphs represent the breadth (A) and the magnitude in SFC per million PBMCs (SFCs/10⁶ PBMCs) (B) of HIV specific activity for all subjects tested. Scatter plots (C) show the correlation between the magnitude and the breadth of the HIV-specific effector response for al 24 subjects tested. Pie chart analysis depicts the distribution of HIV specific effector breadth (D) and magnitude (E) over all HIV gene products.

Figure 2. Correlation between HIV specific effector activity and viral load, CD4 or CD8 T cell numbers. Scatter plots represent the association of the magnitude in $SFCs/10^6$ PBMCs (A, C, E) or the breadth (B, D, F) and CD4 T cell numbers (A, B), CD8 T cell numbers (C,D) or viral load (E, F) for all 24 subjects tested.

6.6 Reference List

- Addo MM, Yu XG, Rathod A et al. Comprehensive epitope analysis of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1)-specific T-cell responses directed against the entire expressed HIV-1 genome demonstrate broadly directed responses, but no correlation to viral load. J Virol 2003; 77:2081-92.
- Alter G, Hatzakis G, Tsoukas CM et al. Longitudinal Assessment of Changes in HIV-Specific Effector Activity in HIV-Infected Patients Starting Highly Active Antiretroviral Therapy in Primary Infection. J Immunol 2003; 171:477-88.
- Alter G, Merchant A, Tsoukas CM et al. Human immunodeficiency virus (HIV)specific effector CD8 T cell activity in patients with primary HIV infection. J Infect Dis 2002; 185:755-65.
- Altfeld M, Rosenberg ES, Shankarappa R et al. Cellular immune responses and viral diversity in individuals treated during acute and early HIV-1 infection. J Exp Med 2001; 193:169-80.
- Appay V, Nixon DF, Donahoe SM et al. HIV-specific CD8(+) T cells produce antiviral cytokines but are impaired in cytolytic function. J Exp Med 2000; 192:63-75.
- Barouch DH, Kunstman J, Glowczwskie J et al. Viral escape from dominant simian immunodeficiency virus epitope-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes in DNAvaccinated rhesus monkeys. J Virol 2003; 77:7367-75.

- 7. Betts MR, Ambrozak DR, Douek DC et al. Analysis of total human immunodeficiency virus (HIV)-specific CD4(+) and CD8(+) T-cell responses: relationship to viral load in untreated HIV infection. J Virol 2001; 75:11983-91.
- Borrow P, Lewicki H, Hahn BH, Shaw GM, and Oldstone MB. Virus-specific CD8+ cytotoxic T-lymphocyte activity associated with control of viremia in primary human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. J Virol 1994; 68:6103-10.
- Bunce M, O'Neill CM, Barnardo MC et al. Phototyping: comprehensive DNA typing for HLA-A, B, C, DRB1, DRB3, DRB4, DRB5 & DQB1 by PCR with 144 primer mixes utilizing sequence-specific primers (PCR-SSP). Tissue Antigens 1995; 46:355-67.
- Cao J, McNevin J, Holte S, Fink L, Corey L, and McElrath MJ. Comprehensive analysis of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1)-specific gamma interferon-secreting CD8+ T cells in primary HIV-1 infection. J Virol 2003; 77:6867-78.
- 11. Carrington M, Nelson GW, Martin MP et al. HLA and HIV-1: heterozygote advantage and B*35-Cw*04 disadvantage. Science 1999; 283:1748-52.
- 12. Casazza JP, Betts MR, Picker LJ, and Koup RA. Decay kinetics of human immunodeficiency virus-specific CD8+ T cells in peripheral blood after initiation of highly active antiretroviral therapy. J Virol 2001; 75:6508-16.
- Champagne P, Ogg GS, King AS et al. Skewed maturation of memory HIV-specific CD8 T lymphocytes. Nature 2001; 410:106-11.
- 14. Dalod M, Dupuis M, Deschemin JC et al. Broad, intense anti-human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) ex vivo CD8(+) responses in HIV type 1-infected patients: comparison with anti-Epstein-Barr virus responses and changes during antiretroviral therapy. J Virol 1999; 73:7108-16.
- 15. Day CL, Shea AK, Altfeld MA et al. Relative dominance of epitope-specific cytotoxic T-lymphocyte responses in human immunodeficiency virus type 1-infected persons with shared HLA alleles. J Virol 2001; 75:6279-91.
- Douek DC, Brenchley JM, Betts MR et al. HIV preferentially infects HIV-specific CD4+ T cells. Nature 2002; 417:95-8.
- 17. Goulder PJ, Phillips RE, Colbert RA et al. Late escape from an immunodominant cytotoxic T-lymphocyte response associated with progression to AIDS. Nat Med 1997; 3:212-7.
- Goulder PJ, Tang Y, Brander C et al. Functionally inert HIV-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes do not play a major role in chronically infected adults and children. J Exp Med 2000; 192:1819-32.
- Jin X, Bauer DE, Tuttleton SE et al. Dramatic rise in plasma viremia after CD8(+) T cell depletion in simian immunodeficiency virus-infected macaques. J Exp Med 1999; 189:991-8.
- Kelleher AD, Long C, Holmes EC et al. Clustered mutations in HIV-1 gag are consistently required for escape from HLA-B27-restricted cytotoxic T lymphocyte responses. J Exp Med 2001; 193:375-86.

- Klein MR, van Baalen CA, Holwerda AM et al. Kinetics of Gag-specific cytotoxic T lymphocyte responses during the clinical course of HIV-1 infection: a longitudinal analysis of rapid progressors and long-term asymptomatics. J Exp Med 1995; 181:1365-72.
- 22. Koup RA, Safrit JT, Cao Y et al. Temporal association of cellular immune responses with the initial control of viremia in primary human immunodeficiency virus type 1 syndrome. J Virol 1994; 68:4650-5.
- 23. Malhotra U, Holte S, Dutta S et al. Role for HLA class II molecules in HIV-1 suppression and cellular immunity following antiretroviral treatment. J Clin Invest 2001; 107:505-17.
- 24. McMichael AJ and Phillips RE. Escape of human immunodeficiency virus from immune control. Annu Rev Immunol 1997; 15:271-96.:271-96.
- 25. McMichael AJ and Rowland-Jones SL. Cellular immune responses to HIV. Nature 2001; 410:980-7.
- O'Connor DH, Allen TM, Vogel TU et al. Acute phase cytotoxic T lymphocyte escape is a hallmark of simian immunodeficiency virus infection. Nat Med 2002; 8:493-9.
- 27. Ogg GS, Jin X, Bonhoeffer S et al. Decay kinetics of human immunodeficiency virus-specific effector cytotoxic T lymphocytes after combination antiretroviral therapy. J Virol 1999; 73:797-800.

- 28. Oxenius A, Price DA, Easterbrook PJ et al. Early highly active antiretroviral therapy for acute HIV-1 infection preserves immune function of CD8+ and CD4+ T lymphocytes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2000; 97:3382-7.
- 29. Pantaleo G and Fauci AS. New concepts in the immunopathogenesis of HIV infection. Annu Rev Immunol 1995; 13:487-512.:487-512.
- Price DA, Goulder PJ, Klenerman P et al. Positive selection of HIV-1 cytotoxic T lymphocyte escape variants during primary infection. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1997; 94:1890-5.
- 31. Rosenberg ES, Altfeld M, Poon SH et al. Immune control of HIV-1 after early treatment of acute infection. Nature 2000; 407:523-6.
- 32. Rosenberg ES, Billingsley JM, Caliendo AM et al. Vigorous HIV-1-specific CD4+ T cell responses associated with control of viremia. Science 1997; 278:1447-50.
- 33. Schmitz JE, Kuroda MJ, Santra S et al. Control of viremia in simian immunodeficiency virus infection by CD8+ lymphocytes. Science 1999; 283:857-60.
- 34. Soudeyns H, Campi G, Rizzardi GP et al. Initiation of antiretroviral therapy during primary HIV-1 infection induces rapid stabilization of the T-cell receptor beta chain repertoire and reduces the level of T-cell oligoclonality. Blood 2000; 95:1743-51.

Chapter 7: Summary of original findings

Several novel findings arose from the research described in this thesis.

- Chapter 2 investigated the pattern of the HIV specific immune response in a cross sectional study of a group of 25 treatment naïve subjects in primary infection.
 - a. Subjects in the first year of infection recognize more peptides than subjects in the chronic phase of infection.
 - b. The immune response broadens and intensifies during the first two month after infection.
 - c. PBMCs from subjects screened at a time when they were 2 months or less from infection exhibited significantly narrower responses to viral epitopes than subjects in PI infected for more than 2 months.
 - d. Earlier targeting of peptides derived from the Nef gene product suggests that immune responses directed towards this viral protein may be induced earlier than responses directed to other viral gene products.

In summary, we were able to demonstrate for the first time that there is a clear evolution in the immune response to HIV with time during PI.

- 2) In Chapter 3 we explored the impact on the anti-viral immune response to HIV of initiating HAART at various times from infection.
 - a. Longitudinal follow-up of subjects treated at different times from infection revealed that treatment of all seronegative, and 5/11 sero-positive/detunednegative (s+/d-) subjects maintained both the breadth and magnitude of their HIV specific effector responses despite the suppression of viral

replication. In contrast, all seropositive/detuned-positive (s+/d+), chronically infected subjects, as well as the remaining 6/11 (s+/d-) individuals experienced a significant contraction in the breadth and intensity of the HIV-specific immune response over time.

- b. Preservation of the immune response was not correlated with reduced plasma viremia at the time of therapy initiation.
- c. An association was observed between the preservation of HIV-specific CD4 IFN- γ secretion and maintenance of HIV specific effector activity. Gag p55 specific IFN- γ secretion by both the CD4 and CD8 T cell compartments was detected in subjects tested that were s-/d- and subjects maintaining effector responses that were s+/d- over the follow-up period. In contrast, all individuals tested who showed a narrowing and decrease in the intensity of HIV-specific immunity after treatment also exhibited a declining frequency of IFN- γ + HIV Gag p55-specific CD4+ and CD8+ T cells. Thus it is likely that the maintenance of HIV-specific CD4+ T cell help may be an important factor in the preservation of HIV specific effector responses over time.

In this chapter, for the first time, we demonstrated that initiation of HAART beyond the acute phase of HIV infection can still have beneficial effects on the preservation of HIV specific immune responses. The deciding factor as to whether this will occur appears to be whether initiation of HAART can still rescue HIV-specific CD4+ T cell function. This work provides a rationale for using the detuned assay as a clinical tool for decision making in the context of whether to start HAART in recently infected individuals. All seronegative and approximately half of seropositive detuned assay negative subjects should maintain HIV-specific immune responses by starting HAART.

- 3) Chapter 4 assessed the evolution of the pattern of the HIV-specific immune response in untreated PI.
 - a. The individuals described in chapter 3, who maintained the breadth and magnitude of HIV-specific immune responses for at least 1 year after starting HAART early in infection, also preserved the hierarchy of this response. Subjects treated later in the first year of infection experienced an exponential decline in both the breadth and magnitude of their HIV specific effector response. In contrast, subjects in untreated PI experienced perturbations in the hierarchical pattern of their HIV specific immune response over the same 1 year follow-up period.
 - b. The magnitude of the HIV specific effector response remained stable, while the breadth of the immune response fell significantly in the untreated population over 1 year of follow-up.
 - c. Using variance scores (measure of the degree of variation of the magnitude of a peptide specific response at each time tested over the average magnitude of that response for the entire follow-up period) revealed that subjects in untreated PI experienced dramatic changes in the number of SFC/10⁶ PBMCs responding to a particular peptide over time. Expansions appeared as variance scores greater than 1, and contractions

appeared as variance scores smaller than 1. In contrast, subjects treated early in the first year of infection, at a time where they preserved both their CD4+ and CD8+ HIV specific effector responses, experienced minimal changes in their variance scores over time.

Here, for the first time, we reported the presence of significant expansions and contractions in the HIV peptide-specific IFN- γ effector response in untreated PI.

- Chapter 5 describes the utility of the "matrix" ELISPOT method of screening HIV specific effector responses to all expressed HIV gene products.
 - a. As few as 9x10⁶ PBMCs from HIV infected patients are required to test all expressed HIV genes.
 - Results generated in the peptide pool matrix assay and confirmed in a verification experiment identify the set of HIV peptides recognized by HIV infected individuals in an unbiased manner.
 - c. In a comparison of the new matrix approach vs. the old peptide panel approach, the matrix approach was superior for the identification of the global HIV specific response.
 - d. Moreover, the matrix ELISPOT identified a significant proportion of previously uncharacterized novel responses in two subjects for whom results were reported in this chapter.
 - Twenty percent of specificities were previously undescribed for HTM 305

ii. Seven of 10 responses were novel for subject HTM 310

Here, we describe the strength of the peptide pool matrix ELISPOT approach compared to the commonly employed peptide panel ELISPOT. Application of the peptide pool matrix ELISPOT approach for screening PBMC for responses to HIV gene products will allow for the comprehensive analysis of HIV specific responses in patients at various stages of infection.

- Chapter 6 is a comprehensive analysis of the HIV specific immune response in a group of 24 HLA-A2 HIV+ HAART naïve chronically infected subjects.
 - a. Patients in chronic infection display heterogenous responses both with respect to the breadth and the magnitude of their HIV specific effector responses.
 - b. Despite the fact that a trememdous amount of research has been performed on the identification of immune responses in chronic infection, as many as 37% of identified specificities within the population tested were previously unreported.
 - c. Subjects in the chronic phase of HIV infection target Gag gene products predominantly.
 - d. A significant proportion of the breadth was directed at the poorly characterized Vpr accessory gene product.
 - e. Although subjects respond via IFN-γ release to two well-characterized HLA-A2 restricted epitopes, the majority of subjects tested are unable to mediate cytolysis upon recognition of these epitopes.

Here, for the first time, we characterized the global HIV-specific immune response pattern in a group of chronically infected patients.

Chapter 8: Discussion

8.1 Patterns of HIV specific immune activity in PI

Until recently little was known about the pattern of the immune response to HIV in early HIV PI. It is certain that the adaptive immune response at this time is very important in viral control as a critical temporal correlation has been established between the induction of CTL activity and a reduction in viral load¹⁷⁴. Yet the pattern of the evolution of the immune response to the virus has been described for a limited number of patients⁴⁰³⁻⁴⁰⁵. Characterization of the evolution of the immune response during this critical period may reveal important clues into mechanisms of viral control. While a few studies have demonstrated that subjects in acute infection exhibit narrower responses than subjects in the chronic phase of infection²⁴¹, little work has been performed on understanding how the immune response pattern diversifies following acute infection.

In chapter 2 we explored the pattern of the immune response in treatment naïve subjects tested at different times following infection. Immune responses were monitored using a panel of HLA-restricted HIV peptides. The data revealed a number of interesting clues as to the behavior of the immune system in early PI. When PI subjects were separated into those tested within 4 months of infection and after 4 months from infection, no between-group differences were observed in the magnitude or the breadth of the HIV specific response. Yet, when the subjects tested within the first 4 months were further sub-grouped into those who were screened earlier than 2 months from infection, and those who were between 2 and 4 months from infection, a significant between-group difference in both these parameters was observed. This suggests that the immune response expands and amplifies, within the first 2 months of infection, during a critical window in the clinical course of the infection (chapter 2, Fig 2A and B).

The data presented in chapter 2 shows that in the first 2 months of infection, when most individuals are still seronegative, the adaptive immune response is developing. This window may represent the time necessary to recover from a "stunned phenotype" associated with high viremia as has been described for acute hepatitis C virus infection^{406,407}. The effect of viral diversification on the evolution of an immune response can only be speculated on at this time and the data generated and presented in this thesis does not address this issue directly. The next section discusses how emerging viral diversity may impact on the evolution of HIV-specific immune responses. The cross sectional data presented in chapter 2 demonstrates that after the first two months of HIV infection, the breadth and magnitude of the immune response achieves a plateau. Longitudinal data presented in chapter 4, for untreated subjects recruited during PI, confirms that for the first year of follow up, the magnitude of HIV-specific immune responses is stable although the breadth declines and dramatic shifts with time are seen in the specificity of HIV recognition.

8.2 Why does the immune response broaden over time?

Several studies have shown that the virus from acutely infected individuals is homogeneous even when the infecting partner's virus is genetically diverse^{242,408}. The transmission of a single viral species occurs more frequently in men than women⁴⁰⁹. Longitudinal observation of the viral sequence reveals an interesting phenomenon. It appears that the viral sequence begins to diversify as CTL responses appear^{320,410-412}. There is a 4-7 day delay in the initiation of the adaptive immune response, during which time the virus can replicate relatively unaffected by antigen specific activity in the T cell compartment. The effect of CTL activity on viral diversity was observed in patients that were treated in acute HIV infection. Altfeld et al. demonstrated that the diversification of envelope sequences began in the later stages of acute infection²⁴¹. More simply, subjects who were effectively treated in acute infection, leading to suppression of viral load below undetectable levels, maintained homogenous Env sequences. Conversely, poor adherence in a subject, associated with several viral rebounds, led to significant changes in the viral Env sequence. This observation supports the notion that prolonged viral replication in the face of CTL activity can lead to the diversification of viral subspecies.

It has been speculated that several rounds of mutations resulting in escape from existing CTL pressure may be responsible for the generation of new epitopes that induce novel immune responses to the virus leading to a broader immune response over time. Thus narrow responses, particularly effective in suppressing viral replication, may dominate in acute infection, until viral variants emerge that can escape pressure from those few responses. As the viral variant recognized by the original dominant CTL response is overtaken by mutant virus, the size of the pool of antigen-specific clone(s) contracts allowing subdominant responses to take the forefront in the antiviral attack. With time new immunogenic peptides may be generated from new viral variants that may lead to the generation and proliferation of HIV clones to diverse gene products. Thus the correlation between the breadth and time from infection seen in chapter 2 may be a result of the production of viral variants leading to the diversification of the viral targets and vice versa.

8.3 Why is Nef preferentially recognized earliest in infection?

Several studies have presented data supporting the conclusion that the immune response in AIED is qualitatively different from that in later stages of HIV infection^{241,404,413}. In addition to being narrower²⁴¹ these immune responses may be directed at different gene products at this stage of disease^{321,404}. Work in the SIV infected macaque model has demonstrated enhanced targeting of accessory gene products at this early stage of disease compared to later disease stages^{320,321}. Gene products expressed early in the viral life cycle, such as Tat, appear to be frequently targeted by CTLs in acute SIV infection^{320,321}. Given that multiply spliced gene products dominate early in infection⁴⁹, significant quantities of this protein may be produced in early infection. Thus Tat may represent an important CTL target for the control of viral infection during the acute phase of the disease. Targets such as Tat may additionally confer added protection to the immune system as it would afford the opportunity for the removal of newly infected cells before the release of new infectious virions. To support the notion that CTL pressure on the Tat protein is an important feature of SIV acute infection, Allen et al. demonstrated the preferential incorporation of several mutations in Tat following the resolution of PI that resulted in escape from CTL pressure directed at this protein³²¹.

Recent studies employing strategies to screen all expressed gene products have recognized that a greater degree of targeting of accessory gene products occurs in human AIED than in chronic infection as well^{404,414}. As is seen in the SIV infected macaque model, it is clear that intense targeting of accessory gene products occurs in human infection as well, suggesting that the products of early viral mRNA transcripts may be important targets of the immune response at this stage of the disease. In chapter 2 we

show that Nef derived peptides were the only ones recognized comparably in individuals tested within the first 2 months of infection compared to subjects screened at later times in PI, suggesting that immunity targeting this gene product emerged earlier than responses directed to other gene products tested. The Nef gene product is produced in large quantities from a spliced mRNA species generated early in the replicative cycle⁴⁹. Thus substantial production of this protein early in infection may allow for the early evolution of immune responses targeting this protein. Unfortunately due to cell number constraints and the fact that accessory genes are poorly characterized, we were not able to assess the degree of targeting of accessory genes in the work presented in chapter 2. Based on knowledge described in this section it is likely that responses to other expressed accessory genes would also be detected in acute infection.

8.4 Implications for STIs?

The data presented in chapters 2 and 3 may have an important impact on several aspects of HIV patient management. Initiation of HAART in acute infection leads to rescue of HIV-specific CD4+ T cell function but also the maintenance of a restricted HIV specific response²³⁸. Thus it seems that initiation of therapy at this early stage of infection may prevent the development of a full and broad immune response to the virus.

Although starting treatment in acute infection may stunt the immune response, it may be critical in preventing the immunopathogenic events associated with viral replication. Thus strategies such as repeated cycles of STIs may allow for the development of novel immune responses that could eventually lead to spontaneous control of viral replication. In an effort to test this hypothesis, STIs were employed as a means of aiding in the induction of novel immune responses that could potentially control

viral replication spontaneously²³⁸. Subjects in acute infection were exposed to their autologous virus in order to allow for the natural induction of immune responses with repeated on/off therapy cycles. Repeated cycles would allow for exposure of the immune system to the virus, but not long enough to allow the virus to escape control.

As described in chapter 2, given that the immune response is not fully developed within the first 2 months, it may be advantageous to start HAART after the first 2 months of infection. Treatment following the first 2 months would ensure the preservation of a fully developed immune response following the natural evolution of the antiviral response. STIs administered in subjects treated following this critical immunological window may take advantage of the previously established "mature" immune response and aid in boosting additional protective responses over time. Thus the additive effects of the protective responses incurred early in infection as well as the added specificities developed with additional interventions may lead to the spontaneous control of viral infections.

On the other hand it may be that treatment in acute infection is critical for the effective use of STIs. If the breadth of the immune response evolves due to several rounds of immune escape, it may be that treatment prior to these escape events may allow for the containment of a relatively homogeneous viral species. Several rounds of short STIs may allow for short windows of viral rebound that would limit viral diversification while inducing novel immune responses. Thus the induction of several novel specificities targeting multiple areas of a homogenous viral population would make it exceedingly difficult for the virus to escape immune control. To test the hypothesis, it would be

essential to characterize the changes occurring in the viral epitope sequences during these early events of the evolution of the immune response towards the virus.

8.5 What is the effect of aggressive HAART therapy on the antiviral response over time in patients treated in PI?

While it is clear the HAART may protect immune responses induced in acute infection^{238,241}, little is known about the effects of HAART on the immune response when treatment is initiated later in PI. Additionally, in the context of chronic infection it is certain that these subjects experience dramatic contractions in HIV specific responses over time^{283,284}. Yet several reports allude to the possibility of preserving immune responses with aggressive therapy later in PI beyond acute infection. Oxenius et al. observed subjects treated following acute infection that continued to respond to viral epitopes despite a reduction in viral load due to effective therapy⁴⁰³. Similarly, Malhotra et al. demonstrated that HAART started as late as 147 days from infection could lead to the preservation of HIV specific CD4+ T proliferative responses³¹⁹. Thus it is clear that treatment beyond acute infection may preserve antiviral activity, yet the precise window of opportunity for this effect remains unclear. Additionally, understanding the mechanism required for the persistence of HIV specific effector responses with treatment beyond acute infection remains unresolved.

As described in chapter 3, some subjects treated well beyond acute infection preserved HIV specific responses over time. It was clear that among the subjects that were treated beyond seroconversion but during the first half of the first year of infection, 5 of 11 preserved immune responses while the remaining 6 did not. Among the 11 individuals in this group tested, all who preserved immune responses as measured by

ELISPOT assays maintained both HIV specific CD4+ and CD8+ effector responses at all times tested, while those who exhibited declining effector responses also lost both HIV specific CD4+ and CD8+ activity. Thus there was an association between the preservation of HIV-specific CD4+ T cells and the maintenance of HIV specific CD8+ activity.

Data presented in chapter 3 has implications relating to patient management. Given the difficulty in identifying patients during acute infection, the data presented in chapter 3 increases the window period during which initiation of HAART can result in preservation of antiviral immunity. Moreover, subjects treated beyond acute infection, who preserve HIV specific CD4 activity, may be equally good at controlling virus replication during therapy interruption as subjects treated in acute infection who undergo several rounds of STI to amplify HIV-specific immune responses, as mentioned above. Thus early treatment, beyond acute infection, may result in the preservation of an intact antiviral response that may support the induction of novel specificities that contribute to the spontaneous control of viral replication in such patient populations.

The information in chapter 3 is a first step to our understanding of the mechanisms behind HAART's potential effects on the persistence of antiviral activity. Intense viral replication in acute infection results in viral dissemination and cytopathic effects, leading to the infection of large numbers of CD4+ T cells^{16,175}. This burst in viremia is additionally associated with intense immune activation, leading to significant immunopathogenic events. Combined, the cytophatic and immunopathogenic effects may lead to the destruction of essential immune responses. Thus it is likely that HAART, in reducing viral replication, may prevent exposure of the immune system to these

destructive events, and thus provide a means to preserve essential antiviral responses. It would be interesting to know whether individuals who maintained HIV-specific immunity among the 11 seropositive detuned negative subjects had lower peak viremia than those in whom HAART was ineffective in preserving those essential responses. Because these subjects were recruited after seroconversion this information is not available. However comparison of viral load at the last therapy naïve time point revealed no between group differences (Chapter 3 Fig 2A).

8.6 The detuned assay: a new clinical tool?

The greatest obstacle clinicians face in treating patients in acute infection is the difficulty of diagnosing infection at this stage of disease. For one, only 60-90% of subjects exhibit acute retroviral symptoms²⁷⁹. Moreover, many of the symptoms experienced during an acute infection syndrome are non-specific flu-like complaints that can often be overlooked as due to recent HIV infection^{279,415,416}. The standard diagnostic test for HIV infection, a i.e a positive HIV-1 EIA, which detects antibody to Gag p24 in an ELISA, is usually negative at this early stage in infection or if positive produces an indeterminate result in a confirmatory Western blot^{272,274}. Tests, such as the p24 antigen ELISA and viral load assays based on branched chain DNA or PCR can detect a presumed infection earlier than does the HIV EIA assay but high false positive results have impeded their adoption as diagnostic tests for HIV infection. Despite this, informed physicians can be alerted to possible HIV infection using these tests together with patient history information and confirm seroconversion due to infection by repeating the standard diagnostic test.

In addition to the difficulty in identifying patients in acute infection, it is equally difficult to determine the exact date of infection for a large proportion of newly diagnosed patients. Estimating an individual's exact "time from infection" can prove to be complicated as it is possible that the clinical and behavioral information may not concord. The less sensitive HIV EIA or detuned assay provides an additional objective laboratory tool that aids in assigning a time from infection. The detuned assay was developed to attempt to confirm time from infection based on the kinetics of antibody development⁴¹⁷. The assay is simply a less sensitive version of the standard HIV EIA, incorporating a shorter incubation time using diluted plasma samples. Given that antibody concentration increases to a plateau over the early period of infection, subjects who produce higher optical densities (ODs) in the assay have a greater concentration of antibodies to p24 than subjects with lower ODs. Thus using data generated from a cohort of a 1000 subjects with known dates of infection, a curve was established that significantly correlates the OD with a given length of time from infection^{417,418}. Thus the detuned assay scores could potentially be employed in a clinical setting to estimate the length of time elapsed since infection.

The data presented in chapters 2 and 3 can be used as the basis for clinical investigations aimed at improving patient management by increasing the likelihood of treating HIV infected subjects in PI who will derive an immunological benefit. Although current treatment recommendations include treating subjects who are in acute infection, and those with CD4 counts below 200/uL³⁴⁸, the findings in chapter 3 may encourage further investigations on when and in whom to initiate therapy. The results in this chapter suggest that a significant proportion of seropositive patients who are still negative in a

detuned assay will derive immunological benefit from starting HAART. Still in question is how the balance between the long term toxicities associated with prolonged therapy, and the benefits associated with preserved immune function will play out. The best case scenario would be that preserved immune function will favor control of viral replication during therapy interruption.

8.7 What is the role of CD4 T cell help in HIV infection?

It is clear from the work presented in chapter 3 that an association exists between the preservation of HIV-specific CD4+ and CD8+ function. The precise role of CD4+ T cell help in development of functional antigen-specific CD8+ T cell responses is currently the subject of intense investigation. Several reports have found that antigenspecific CD4+ T cells are required for the development of effective memory CD8+ T cells in another chronic viral infection model (persistent LCMV infection)^{214,214-217}. According to this model, CD4+ T cell help must be present during the priming phase of the CTL responses. Antigen specific CD8+ T cells induced without CD4+ T cell help respond similarly to CD8+ T cells induced with CD4+ T cell help during the primary response to virus. However, these "un-helped" CTLs display dramatic defects during the secondary response to antigen. These cells display a lethargic response pattern, exhibiting low proliferation and reduced effector activity, during the recall response⁴¹⁹. It is likely that end-stage CTL activity may be compromised due to the reduced proliferative capacity of CD8 T cells that were induced in the absence of CD4 T cell help. As CTLs induced in the absence of help proliferate to a lesser extent, these cells may not be able to expand sufficiently to mount an effective CTL response. By analogy, the presence of HIV-specific CD4+ T cells may also be essential in the context of HIV infection to guarantee the production of effective virus specific memory cells that can control the virus.

In HIV infected individuals, the virus preferentially infects naïve HIV-specific CD4+ T cells²¹² making them unavailable to optimally help generate effective CD8+ memory responses. Relating this to the data presented in chapter 3, starting HAART early limits infection of HIV-specific CD4+ T cells preserving their function with respect to helping generate CD8+ T cell activity. This is perhaps what has occurred in group 1 and 2a described in chapter 3. In contrast, HIV-specific CD4+ T cell function is not maintained after HAART is started in subjects belonging to groups 2b, 3 and chronically infected persons described in chapter 3. In these individuals HIV has impaired antigen specific CD4+ T cells sufficiently so that they are no longer able to optimally help generate CD8+ responses without the presence of antigen to drive the responses. Viral load control due to introduction of HAART reduces antigen resulting in narrowing and decline in HIV-specific immune responses in these groups.

Given the high mutability of HIV, it is additionally likely that therapy, which preserves HIV specific CD4+ T cells, may allow for the induction of novel protective effector responses over time. Thus the preservation of the newly developing CD4+ T cell compartment may also be essential for the development of new responses in the context of new therapeutic strategies. Therefore, is early therapy intended to preserve both the established and novel antiviral helper responses?

In order to effectively approach this issue it is imperative to establish whether memory responses to HIV develop stochastically or if they evolve with time. Several reports support the theory that the development of memory is a stochastic event, in which

the specificity and the size of the effector pool correlates with the size and specificity of the memory pool^{215,420}. Thus memory responses are pre-determined during the early events in viral infection²¹⁴⁻²¹⁷. The interaction between CD8+ effectors and CD4+ help appears to only be critical during the primary response, and is dispensable in the recall response to antigen²¹⁴⁻²¹⁷. It is possible that the early interaction between naïve CD4+ and CD8+ T cells specific for the same antigen leads to a degree of "pre-programming" which is responsible for the scheduled contraction of the immune response to that antigen. If this is the case then why aren't memory CD8+ T cells established in acute infection sufficient for controlling HIV infection?

The greatest difficulty in extrapolating these findings to HIV viral infection is that the LCMV model does not take into consideration the high mutability of HIV. Although epitopes have been shown to escape recognition in the context of influenza, LCMV and $EBV^{323,342,421}$, the majority of characterized epitopes do not appear to mutate efficiently. In the context of LCMV infection, mutations in dominant epitopes that lead to CTL evasion lead to subsequent emergence of a subdominant specificity that was also established early in infection. HIV infection may be dramatically different in that epitope evasion occurs frequently as the viral genome may be more forgiving to the error prone nature of the reverse transcriptase enzyme. As the virus changes over time, it is likely that new specificities may emerge, as the immune system is exposed to new antigens that it has never seen before. Thus the establishment of novel memory responses throughout infection may be necessary in the control of HIV unlike other persistent viral infections. It is therefore plausible that memory is an evolving process in HIV infection. Thus due to the preferential loss of HIV specific CD4+ T cells, novel responses primed later in

disease become progressively more ineffective (lethargic)⁴¹⁹. Perhaps early treatment, that preserves HIV specific CD4+ T cell help, as shown in chapter 3, also leads to the maintenance of the naive CD4+ T cell compartment that may be essential for priming novel immune responses later in disease or in the context of novel therapeutic strategies such as STIs or therapeutic vaccination. It would be essential to test overlapping peptides for all gene products longitudinally in these early treated subjects in order to determine if the preservation of CD4+ T cell help consequently also leads to the creation of novel effector responses that can effectively control the virus throughout the course of the infection.

8.8 The effects of CD4 T cell loss

Gross defects have been characterized in the context of chronic HIV infection within the CD8+ T cell compartment. Champagne et al. showed that HIV specific CD8+ T cells lack a number of differentiation markers that are characteristically expressed on end stage terminally differentiated effector cells¹⁹⁹. These end stage cells are essential for pathogen clearance as they possess the necessary lytic activity required for removal of virally infected cells. According to this work the functional defects seen in the CTL population in progressive disease may be accounted for by an inability of memory cells to differentiate and mature to end stage effector cells. Thus a blockade occurs in the differentiation process leading to an accumulation of cells in a pre-end stage phenotype.

Moreover, functional studies in progressive infection have elucidated the gradual loss of effector functions in the HIV-specific CD8+ T cell population such as reduced proliferative capacity, inability to lyse target cells, failure to produce IL-2, TNF- α , and finally IFN- $\gamma^{195,213}$. Bourgeois et al., from studies done on murine LCMV infection,

proposed a model whereby early interactions between antigen specific CD8+ and CD4+ T cells, in collaboration with APC, lead to a DNA "programming" event, as mentioned above, where the CD8+ T cell would be able to function optimally on second encounter with antigen²¹⁵. If CD4+ T cells are depleted, as is evident in progressive HIV infection, this signal is lost leading to ineffective priming and DNA rearrangement and thus potentially leading to the functional defects associated with HIV infection. It may be that T cell responses induced in PI, in the presence of CD4+ T cell help may be effective as they receive the proper maturation signals. As disease progresses and the virus mutates to escape these early responses, novel CTL specificities are induced with suboptimal T cell help. These CTL responses rely on the presence of high levels of antigen to drive them and would contract or disappear as viral load in controlled by HAART. As seen in chapter 3 this is indeed what happens to HIV-specific effector responses when HAART is initiated too late in PI or in chronic infection to preserve CD4+ T cell help.

A second explanation for the functional defects that are evident in the HIVspecific CD8 T cell population may be attributable to persistent viral loads⁴²². In the context of LCMV infection, Wherry et al. demonstrated that while high viral loads lead to clonal exhaustion, persistent low viral loads lead to "functional exhaustion" of virus specific responses. Thus it is possible that clones that are essential in reducing viremia in PI may be clonally deleted due to high viral loads during this period. Consequently, novel clones that are induced as disease progresses may become functionally exhausted due to persistent low viral loads during the chronic period of infection.

In the murine model of persistent LCMV infection, these functional defects take effect in a hierarchical pattern beginning with a loss in CTL activity (as described in chapter 6), followed by a loss in IL-2 secretion, then by a deficit in TNF- α secretion, ending with a loss of IFN- γ production^{422,423}. Thus in addition to reduced CD4+ T cell help, persistence of low doses of antigen in HIV infection may also induce these functional defects. Yet it is possible that functional senescence, as is described here, may be a mechanism by which the immune system attempts to control the cytopathic effects induced by continual anti-viral activity, in the setting of persistent viral replication. The outcome of such a mechanism would limit lysing activity that could cause extreme tissue injury⁴²³. Similarly, constantly elevated levels of TNF- α can lead to high fever and septic shock, while over-production of IL-2 could lead to the uncontrolled clonal expansion of cells resulting in clonal exhaustion^{422,423}. Thus persistent antigen may set off an immune mechanism that progressively shuts down activity that can be harmful to the host. These effects of persistent viral replication may be further amplified in the absence of CD4+ T cells, as in the absence of help, CD8+ T cells do not receive the signal to mount an effective response.

8.9 Lessons from untreated PI

Chapter 4 describes features of the HIV specific immune response in untreated PI. This report is the first to document changes in the pattern of the immune response over time reflecting host/virus interactions unaffected by therapeutic intervention. Longitudinal monitoring of antiviral responses in treatment naïve subjects describes the natural evolution of the host immune response to changes in viral replication. In contrast to subjects treated in early PI who exhibit a stable hierarchy in the immunodominance pattern of their HIV specific response, untreated subjects followed from PI exhibit dramatic perturbations in their HIV-specific effector responses (chapter 4, figure 1). Given the hypothesis that several rounds of viral escape leads to the generation of the breadth of the immune response, it is possible that mutations gives rise to significant changes in the breadth of the response over time as immune responses to new specificities are induced. One of the limitations of the data presented in chapter 4 is that immune responses were monitored to peptide panels rather than all expressed HIV gene products. Despite this it was evident that dramatic changes over time were occurring in the size of the effector pool responding to particular peptides. The finding of a significant correlation between the magnitude of immune responses and the viral load (figure 4, chapter 4), supports the conclusion that changes in the level of viral replication contributes to alterations in the size of the effector pool.

Since these subjects are maintaining a viral set point, changes in the immunodominance pattern may reflect the expansion of effective responses capable of controlling replication of the dominant viral species at each time tested. From the data presented in chapter 4, we speculate that broad immune responses put pressure on the virus at multiple sites making escape of all viral variants unlikely even though escape from one specificity at a time could result in the contraction of effector cell populations specific for that variant. Fluctuations in viral quasispecies due to natural selection may lead to the elimination and the reappearance of antigen over time. A limitation of the data presented in this chapter is the absence of sequence information on the predominant viral variants present at each time immune responses were tested and information on responsiveness to variant peptides compared with the reference peptide sequences used. Generation of this type of information would elucidate the connection between virus

mutation and evolution of the HIV specific immune responses that can only be speculated on here.

8.10 Mapping the immune response to HIV:

Although it is clear that there are significant changes in the pattern of the immune response in untreated PI, it is difficult to assess the true evolution of the specificity of these responses using peptide panels targeting only previously described MHC/HIV peptide combinations. Additionally given the complex nature of the establishment of immunodominance, characterization of the changes in the breadth of the immune response is severely limited by the use of selected peptide panels as stimuli. The most significant problem with the use of peptide panels is the fact that the majority of the peptides characterized in the Los Alamos Database have been identified in the chronically infected population. Several reports have suggested that subjects in PI may have a different immunodominance pattern of HIV recognition compared with subjects in chronic infection^{404,413}. Incorporating peptides from all expressed HIV genes into screening strategies has revealed responses to previously uncharacterized gene products^{404,414,424-426}. Impartial assessment of responses at any stage of disease would require testing overlapping peptides derived from whole gene products. This technique would permit monitoring of changes in the immunodominance pattern via longitudinal characterization of responses. This was the impetus for the work reported in chapter 5, which explores the utility of the matrix ELISPOT.

Chapter 5 demonstrates the power of the peptide pool matrix approach for screening PBMCs from HIV infected subjects for peptide specific IFN- γ secretion.

Despite having been infected for over 6 years, HTM 310 was treated within the acute phase of infection. Chronologically one would assume that she is in chronic infection, yet the matrix analysis revealed reactivity to only 3 previously reported epitopes. The matrix screening strategy effectively identified an additional 7 uncharacterized specificities that would have been overlooked using peptide panels as stimuli. It is likely that early treatment may alter the immunodominance pattern permitting HTM 310 to recognize similar epitopes after 6 years of infection as she did in PI. It would be necessary to screen PBMC samples collected before treatment to formally show that this is the case.

Two previously unreported specificities were identified in PBMC from HTM 305, an untreated chronically infected subject. One of these novel responses mapped to the Vif accessory gene products that has been poorly characterized with respect to epitope mapping to date. Thus the data presented in chapter 5 emphasizes the advantages of using the peptide pool matrix approach over the peptide panel strategy to more fully characterize, in an unbiased manner, the HIV specific response in HIV infected patients from all different stages of infection.

8.11 Viral targets in chronic infection:

The peptide pool matrix ELISPOT described in chapter 5 was used to screen a population of chronically infected subjects in chapter 6. Despite the fact that the majority of epitopes classified in the Los Alamos Database were identified in individuals studied in chronic infection, data generated in chapter 6 demonstrated that as many as 37% of the HIV specific effector responses identified in the 24 HLA-A2 HAART naïve chronically infected subjects tested were directed at novel previously uncharacterized epitopes. Additionally, 21% of the breadth of the response was directed at epitopes within the

poorly characterized HIV accessory gene products. Thus the use of peptide panels to describe immune responses in this chronically infected population, would have underestimated the data generated with the peptide pool matrix strategy presented in chapter 6.

Using the matrix approach responses directed against Gag gene products predominated both with respect to magnitude and specificity of HIV specific responses in the untreated chronically infected population. Several studies have demonstrated that subjects in PI recognize different regions than subjects in chronic infection^{241,404,413}. The chronological expression of viral proteins expressed at different stages of the HIV viral life cycle may aid in establishing why the immune response focuses on different proteins at different stages of infection, as mentioned previously. During later stages of infection, Gag, required for virion production, is highly expressed, leading to high concentrations of this gene product in the cellular environment, and thus may be more likely to be presented to the immune system²¹. Therefore it is probable that the increased concentration of structural proteins may drive the immune response to focus on these gene products probably due to the fact that the immune system cannot efficiently focus on all regions of the virus, and thus develops mechanisms to focus on gene products that may lead to the greatest level of protection.

Chapter 9: Future Directions

The work presented here has provided the background to prompt further lines of investigation.

- Data in chapter 2 suggests that the immune response develops in the first 2 months and that treatment beyond acute infection can preserve CD4 and CD8 T cell responses (chapter 3). It would be important to address if STIs performed on patients that are treated beyond the first two months of infection, once the immune response is fully developed, will respond differently than subjects undergoing STIs after treatment in acute infection. The following research questions could be addressed:
 - i. Between-group comparison of time to peak viral load rebound, level of viral load rebound, level of viral load set point off therapy and time to undetectable viremia after restarting therapy will address whether one group is better than the other at controlling viral replication off therapy.
 - ii. Peptide pool matrix ELISPOT analysis will identify known or novel immune responses, associated with viral control, that are induced at the time at which spontaneous control is achieved.
 - iii. Peptide pool matrix ELISPOT analyses performed before and after each STI in subjects treated at several times beyond infection may reveal that subjects treated in acute infection develop different patterns of responses with several rounds of

STIs than subjects who are treated at a time when the immune response is fully developed and HIV specific CD4 T cells are preserved.

Thus the goal of this work will be to identify novel responses associated with viral containment and to address the issue of the best time to treat to achieve the best results with STIs.

- 2) Longitudinal combination of the peptide pool matrix ELISPOT with viral sequence analyses can be employed to perform an in depth characterization of the evolution of the immune response during early PI with respect to changes in the viral sequence.
 - i. Matrix analysis will identify previously uncharacterized epitopes that may be protective during early untreated infection.
 - ii. Longitudinal characterization of immune responses following infection may reveal the preferential induction of immune responses in a hierarchical manner to specific HIV gene products over time. Moreover, changes in the immunodominance pattern of peptide-specific responses may reveal important information as to the contribution of these viral targets in the control of viremia.
 - iii. Viral sequence analysis will monitor changes occurring in known and uncharacterized CTL epitopes over time during

early infection in order to link viral evolution to host immune pressure.

iv. ELISPOT analysis can assess the impact, on binding and recognition, of changes in the viral sequence within and around targeted CTL epitope variants.

Combination of the data from the two techniques, peptide pool matrix ELISPOT and viral sequencing, will describe the manner in which host and viral interactions contribute to changes that occur in the breadth and the hierarchy of the immune response following infection.

- 3) Finally, the matrix technique will allow for the evaluation of patterns of immune responses associated with slow progression or protection. Stratification of patients based on several clinical markers of disease progression may yield interesting patterns of immune responses associated with differential disease courses. Subjects may be stratified:
 - i. By the degree of CD4 loss over time
 - ii. The magnitude of peak viremia
 - iii. The level of the viral load at set point

Thus, cumulatively this data will provide a greater understanding of immune mechanisms potentially associated with protection against disease progression. Chapter 10: References
- 1. Garrett and K. Laurie. The Coming Plague: Emerging Diseases in a World Out of Balance. Viking Penguin, New York, New York, USA.
- Barre-Sinoussi, F., J. C. Chermann, F. Rey, M. T. Nugeyre, S. Chamaret, J. Gruest, C. Dauguet, C. Axler-Blin, F. Vezinet-Brun, C. Rouzioux, W. Rozenbaum, and L. Montagnier. 1983. Isolation of a T-lymphotropic retrovirus from a patient at risk for acquired immune deficiency syndrome (AIDS). *Science* 220:868-871.
- Gallo, R. C., P. S. Sarin, E. P. Gelmann, M. Robert-Guroff, E. Richardson, V. S. Kalyanaraman, D. Mann, G. D. Sidhu, R. E. Stahl, S. Zolla-Pazner, J. Leibowitch, and M. Popovic. 1983. Isolation of human T-cell leukemia virus in acquired immune deficiency syndrome (AIDS). *Science* 220:865-867.
- Levy, J. A., A. D. Hoffman, S. M. Kramer, J. A. Landis, J. M. Shimabukuro, and L. S. Oshiro. 1984. Isolation of lymphocytopathic retroviruses from San Francisco patients with AIDS. *Science* 225:840-842.
- Poiesz, B. J., F. W. Ruscetti, A. F. Gazdar, P. A. Bunn, J. D. Minna, and R. C. Gallo. 1980. Detection and isolation of type C retrovirus particles from fresh and cultured lymphocytes of a patient with cutaneous T-cell lymphoma. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A* 77:7415-7419.
- Miyoshi, I., I. Kubonishi, M. Sumida, S. Hiraki, T. Tsubota, I. Kimura, K. Miyamoto, and J. Sato. 1980. A novel T-cell line derived from adult T-cell leukemia. *Gann* 71:155-156.

- Coffin, J., A. Haase, J. A. Levy, L. Montagnier, S. Oroszlan, N. Teich, H. Temin, K. Toyoshima, H. Varmus, P. Vogt, and . 1986. What to call the AIDS virus? *Nature* 321:10.
- Eigen, M. and K. Nieselt-Struwe. 1990. How old is the immunodeficiency virus? AIDS 4 Suppl 1:S85-93.:S85-S93.
- Korber, B., M. Muldoon, J. Theiler, F. Gao, R. Gupta, A. Lapedes, B. H. Hahn, S. Wolinsky, and T. Bhattacharya. 2000. Timing the ancestor of the HIV-1 pandemic strains. *Science* 288:1789-1796.
- Sharp, P. M., E. Bailes, R. R. Chaudhuri, C. M. Rodenburg, M. O. Santiago, and B. H. Hahn. 2001. The origins of acquired immune deficiency syndrome viruses: where and when? *Philos.Trans.R.Soc.Lond B Biol.Sci.* 356:867-876.
- 11. Chitnis, A., D. Rawls, and J. Moore. 2000. Origin of HIV type 1 in colonial French Equatorial Africa? *AIDS Res.Hum.Retroviruses* 16:5-8.
- Hooper, E. *The River: A Journey to the Source of HIV and AIDS*. Harmondsworth
 Penguin, Little, Brown, Boston, USA.
- Plotkin, S. A. 2001. Untruths and consequences: the false hypothesis linking CHAT type 1 polio vaccination to the origin of human immunodeficiency virus. *Philos.Trans.R.Soc.Lond B Biol.Sci.* 356:815-823.
- Plotkin, S. A. and H. Koprowski. 2000. No evidence to link polio vaccine with HIV.. *Nature* 407:941.

15. UNAIDS Statistics December 2002. UNAIDS . 1-12-2002.

Ref Type: Electronic Citation

- 16. Levy, J. A. *HIV and the Pathogenesis of AIDS*. American Society of Microbiology, Washington, D.C.
- 17. Gelderblom, H. R., M. Ozel, and G. Pauli. 1989. Morphogenesis and morphology of HIV. Structure-function relations. *Arch. Virol.* 106:1-13.
- 18. Yu, X., Q. C. Yu, T. H. Lee, and M. Essex. 1992. The C terminus of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 matrix protein is involved in early steps of the virus life cycle. *J.Virol.* 66:5667-5670.
- Earl, P. L., R. W. Doms, and B. Moss. 1990. Oligomeric structure of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope glycoprotein. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A* 87:648-652.
- McCune, J. M., L. B. Rabin, M. B. Feinberg, M. Lieberman, J. C. Kosek, G. R. Reyes, and I. L. Weissman. 1988. Endoproteolytic cleavage of gp160 is required for the activation of human immunodeficiency virus. *Cell* 53:55-67.
- 21. Oroszlan, S. and R. B. Luftig. 1990. Retroviral proteinases. *Curr.Top.Microbiol.Immunol.* 157:153-85.:153-185.
- 22. Wei, P., M. E. Garber, S. M. Fang, W. H. Fischer, and K. A. Jones. 1998. A novel CDK9-associated C-type cyclin interacts directly with HIV-1 Tat and mediates its high-affinity, loop-specific binding to TAR RNA. *Cell* 92:451-462.

- 23. Simmons, A., V. Aluvihare, and A. McMichael. 2001. Nef triggers a transcriptional program in T cells imitating single-signal T cell activation and inducing HIV virulence mediators. *Immunity*. 14:763-777.
- 24. Collins, K. L., B. K. Chen, S. A. Kalams, B. D. Walker, and D. Baltimore. 1998.
 HIV-1 Nef protein protects infected primary cells against killing by cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *Nature* 391:397-401.
- 25. Glushakova, S., J. Munch, S. Carl, T. C. Greenough, J. L. Sullivan, L. Margolis, and F. Kirchhoff. 2001. CD4 down-modulation by human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Nef correlates with the efficiency of viral replication and with CD4(+) T-cell depletion in human lymphoid tissue ex vivo. *J.Virol.* 75:10113-10117.
- Zheng, Y. H., A. Plemenitas, T. Linnemann, O. T. Fackler, and B. M. Peterlin.
 2001. Nef increases infectivity of HIV via lipid rafts. *Curr.Biol.* 11:875-879.
- 27. Xu, X. N., B. Laffert, G. R. Screaton, M. Kraft, D. Wolf, W. Kolanus, J. Mongkolsapay, A. J. McMichael, and A. S. Baur. 1999. Induction of Fas ligand expression by HIV involves the interaction of Nef with the T cell receptor zeta chain. *J.Exp.Med.* 189:1489-1496.
- Geleziunas, R., W. Xu, K. Takeda, H. Ichijo, and W. C. Greene. 2001. HIV-1 Nef inhibits ASK1-dependent death signalling providing a potential mechanism for protecting the infected host cell. *Nature* 410:834-838.

- 29. Schaeffer, E., R. Geleziunas, and W. C. Greene. 2001. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Nef functions at the level of virus entry by enhancing cytoplasmic delivery of virions. *J.Virol.* 75:2993-3000.
- Sherman, M. P., C. M. de Noronha, M. I. Heusch, S. Greene, and W. C. Greene.
 2001. Nucleocytoplasmic shuttling by human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vpr.
 J.Virol. 75:1522-1532.
- Vodicka, M. A., D. M. Koepp, P. A. Silver, and M. Emerman. 1998. HIV-1 Vpr interacts with the nuclear transport pathway to promote macrophage infection. *Genes Dev.* 12:175-185.
- 32. Margottin, F., S. P. Bour, H. Durand, L. Selig, S. Benichou, V. Richard, D. Thomas, K. Strebel, and R. Benarous. 1998. A novel human WD protein, h-beta TrCp, that interacts with HIV-1 Vpu connects CD4 to the ER degradation pathway through an F-box motif. *Mol.Cell* 1:565-574.
- Greene, W. C. and B. M. Peterlin. 2002. Charting HIV's remarkable voyage through the cell: Basic science as a passport to future therapy. *Nat.Med.* 8:673-680.
- 34. Bowman, M. R., K. D. MacFerrin, S. L. Schreiber, and S. J. Burakoff. 1990. Identification and structural analysis of residues in the V1 region of CD4 involved in interaction with human immunodeficiency virus envelope glycoprotein gp120 and class II major histocompatibility complex molecules. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A* 87:9052-9056.

- 35. Kwong, P. D., R. Wyatt, J. Robinson, R. W. Sweet, J. Sodroski, and W. A. Hendrickson. 1998. Structure of an HIV gp120 envelope glycoprotein in complex with the CD4 receptor and a neutralizing human antibody. *Nature* 393:648-659.
- 36. Moore, J. P., J. A. McKeating, W. A. Norton, and Q. J. Sattentau. 1991. Direct measurement of soluble CD4 binding to human immunodeficiency virus type 1 virions: gp120 dissociation and its implications for virus-cell binding and fusion reactions and their neutralization by soluble CD4. J. Virol. 65:1133-1140.
- Doms, R. W. and D. Trono. 2000. The plasma membrane as a combat zone in the HIV battlefield. *Genes Dev.* 14:2677-2688.
- 38. Liu, R., W. A. Paxton, S. Choe, D. Ceradini, S. R. Martin, R. Horuk, M. E. MacDonald, H. Stuhlmann, R. A. Koup, and N. R. Landau. 1996. Homozygous defect in HIV-1 coreceptor accounts for resistance of some multiply-exposed individuals to HIV-1 infection. *Cell* 86:367-377.
- 39. Chan, D. C. and P. S. Kim. 1998. HIV entry and its inhibition. Cell 93:681-684.
- Luban, J., K. L. Bossolt, E. K. Franke, G. V. Kalpana, and S. P. Goff. 1993. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Gag protein binds to cyclophilins A and B. *Cell* 73:1067-1078.
- 41. Bukrinskaya, A., B. Brichacek, A. Mann, and M. Stevenson. 1998. Establishment of a functional human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) reverse transcription complex involves the cytoskeleton. *J.Exp.Med.* 188:2113-2125.

- Miller, M. D., C. M. Farnet, and F. D. Bushman. 1997. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 preintegration complexes: studies of organization and composition. *J.Virol.* 71:5382-5390.
- Bukrinsky, M. I., S. Haggerty, M. P. Dempsey, N. Sharova, A. Adzhubel, L. Spitz, P. Lewis, D. Goldfarb, M. Emerman, and M. Stevenson. 1993. A nuclear localization signal within HIV-1 matrix protein that governs infection of non-dividing cells. *Nature* 365:666-669.
- Gallay, P., T. Hope, D. Chin, and D. Trono. 1997. HIV-1 infection of nondividing cells through the recognition of integrase by the importin/karyopherin pathway. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A* 94:9825-9830.
- 45. Heinzinger, N. K., M. I. Bukinsky, S. A. Haggerty, A. M. Ragland, V. Kewalramani, M. A. Lee, H. E. Gendelman, L. Ratner, M. Stevenson, and M. Emerman. 1994. The Vpr protein of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 influences nuclear localization of viral nucleic acids in nondividing host cells. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A* 91:7311-7315.
- 46. Adams, M., L. Sharmeen, J. Kimpton, J. M. Romeo, J. V. Garcia, B. M. Peterlin,
 M. Groudine, and M. Emerman. 1994. Cellular latency in human immunodeficiency virus-infected individuals with high CD4 levels can be detected by the presence of promoter-proximal transcripts. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A* 91:3862-3866.

- Engelman, A., G. Englund, J. M. Orenstein, M. A. Martin, and R. Craigie. 1995. Multiple effects of mutations in human immunodeficiency virus type 1 integrase on viral replication. *J.Virol.* 69:2729-2736.
- 48. Greene, W. C. 1991. The molecular biology of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. *N.Engl.J.Med.* 324:308-317.
- Robert-Guroff, M., M. Popovic, S. Gartner, P. Markham, R. C. Gallo, and M. S. Reitz. 1990. Structure and expression of tat-, rev-, and nef-specific transcripts of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 in infected lymphocytes and macrophages. *J.Virol.* 64:3391-3398.
- Dayton, A. I., J. G. Sodroski, C. A. Rosen, W. C. Goh, and W. A. Haseltine.
 1986. The trans-activator gene of the human T cell lymphotropic virus type III is required for replication. *Cell* 44:941-947.
- 51. Cullen, B. R. 1998. Retroviruses as model systems for the study of nuclear RNA export pathways. *Virology* 249:203-210.
- Feinberg, M. B., R. F. Jarrett, A. Aldovini, R. C. Gallo, and F. Wong-Staal. 1986. HTLV-III expression and production involve complex regulation at the levels of splicing and translation of viral RNA. *Cell* 46:807-817.
- Freed, E. O. 1998. HIV-1 gag proteins: diverse functions in the virus life cycle.
 Virology 251:1-15.

- 54. Campbell, S. M., S. M. Crowe, and J. Mak. 2001. Lipid rafts and HIV-1: from viral entry to assembly of progeny virions. *J.Clin.Virol.* 22:217-227.
- 55. Janeway Jr., C. A. and P. Travers. *Immunobiology: The Immune System in Health* and Disease. Current Biology Ltd./Garland Publishing Inc., London, San Francisco, and New York.
- 56. Roitt, I., J. Brostoff, and D. Male. *Immunology*. Mosby, Times Mirror International Publisher Limited, Barcelona, Spain.
- Vander, A., J. Sherman, and D. Luciano. 2001. Defense Mechanisms of the Body. In *Human Physiology*. McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc., New York, New York, USA., pp. 687-732.
- Gromme, M. and J. Neefjes. 2002. Antigen degradation or presentation by MHC class I molecules via classical and non-classical pathways. *Mol.Immunol.* 39:181-202.
- 59. Del Val, M. and D. Lopez. 2002. Multiple proteases process viral antigens for presentation by MHC class I molecules to CD8(+) T lymphocytes. *Mol.Immunol.* 39:235-247.
- Bodmer, J. G., S. G. Marsh, E. D. Albert, W. F. Bodmer, R. E. Bontrop, D. Charron, B. Dupont, H. A. Erlich, R. Fauchet, B. Mach, W. R. Mayr, P. Parham, T. Sasazuki, G. M. Schreuder, J. L. Strominger, A. Svejgaard, and P. I. Terasaki. 1997. Nomenclature for factors of the HLA System, 1996. *Hum.Immunol.* 53:98-128.

- Goulder, P. J., C. Brander, K. Annamalai, N. Mngqundaniso, U. Govender, Y. Tang, S. He, K. E. Hartman, C. A. O'Callaghan, G. S. Ogg, M. A. Altfeld, E. S. Rosenberg, H. Cao, S. A. Kalams, M. Hammond, M. Bunce, S. I. Pelton, S. A. Burchett, K. McIntosh, H. M. Coovadia, and B. D. Walker. 2000. Differential narrow focusing of immunodominant human immunodeficiency virus gag-specific cytotoxic T-lymphocyte responses in infected African and caucasoid adults and children. *J.Virol.* 74:5679-5690.
- 62. Rechsteiner, M. 1987. Ubiquitin-mediated pathways for intracellular proteolysis. *Annu.Rev.Cell Biol.* 3:1-30.:1-30.
- 63. Finley, D. and V. Chau. 1991. Ubiquitination. Annu. Rev. Cell Biol. 7:25-69.:25-69.
- 64. Ciechanover, A. 1994. The ubiquitin-proteasome proteolytic pathway. *Cell* 79:13-21.
- Hershko, A., D. Ganoth, V. Sudakin, A. Dahan, L. H. Cohen, F. C. Luca, J. V. Ruderman, and E. Eytan. 1994. Components of a system that ligates cyclin to ubiquitin and their regulation by the protein kinase cdc2. *J.Biol.Chem.* 269:4940-4946.
- 66. Palombella, V. J., O. J. Rando, A. L. Goldberg, and T. Maniatis. 1994. The ubiquitin-proteasome pathway is required for processing the NF-kappa B1 precursor protein and the activation of NF-kappa B. *Cell* 78:773-785.
- 67. Varshavsky, A. 1992. The N-end rule. Cell 69:725-735.

- Tobery, T. W. and R. F. Siliciano. 1997. Targeting of HIV-1 antigens for rapid intracellular degradation enhances cytotoxic T lymphocyte (CTL) recognition and the induction of de novo CTL responses in vivo after immunization. *J.Exp.Med.* 185:909-920.
- Grant, E. P., M. T. Michalek, A. L. Goldberg, and K. L. Rock. 1995. Rate of antigen degradation by the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway influences MHC class I presentation. *J.Immunol.* 155:3750-3758.
- 70. Baumeister, W., J. Walz, F. Zuhl, and E. Seemuller. 1998. The proteasome: paradigm of a self-compartmentalizing protease. *Cell* 92:367-380.
- 71. Arendt, C. S. and M. Hochstrasser. 1997. Identification of the yeast 20S proteasome catalytic centers and subunit interactions required for active-site formation. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A* 94:7156-7161.
- Kloetzel, P. M. 2001. Antigen processing by the proteasome. *Nat.Rev.Mol.Cell Biol.* 2:179-187.
- Kisselev, A. F., T. N. Akopian, and A. L. Goldberg. 1998. Range of sizes of peptide products generated during degradation of different proteins by archaeal proteasomes. *J.Biol.Chem.* 273:1982-1989.
- 74. Cardozo, C. and R. A. Kohanski. 1998. Altered properties of the branched chain amino acid-preferring activity contribute to increased cleavages after branched chain residues by the "immunoproteasome". *J.Biol.Chem.* 273:16764-16770.

- 75. Dick, L. R., C. Aldrich, S. C. Jameson, C. R. Moomaw, B. C. Pramanik, C. K. Doyle, G. N. DeMartino, M. J. Bevan, J. M. Forman, and C. A. Slaughter. 1994. Proteolytic processing of ovalbumin and beta-galactosidase by the proteasome to a yield antigenic peptides. *J.Immunol.* 152:3884-3894.
- 76. Groettrup, M., T. Ruppert, L. Kuehn, M. Seeger, S. Standera, U. Koszinowski, and P. M. Kloetzel. 1995. The interferon-gamma-inducible 11 S regulator (PA28) and the LMP2/LMP7 subunits govern the peptide production by the 20 S proteasome in vitro. *J.Biol.Chem.* 270:23808-23815.
- Benham, A. M. and J. J. Neefjes. 1997. Proteasome activity limits the assembly of MHC class I molecules after IFN-gamma stimulation. *J.Immunol.* 159:5896-5904.
- Niedermann, G., R. Grimm, E. Geier, M. Maurer, C. Realini, C. Gartmann, J. Soll, S. Omura, M. C. Rechsteiner, W. Baumeister, and K. Eichmann. 1997.
 Potential immunocompetence of proteolytic fragments produced by proteasomes before evolution of the vertebrate immune system. *J.Exp.Med.* 186:209-220.
- DeMars, R., R. Rudersdorf, C. Chang, J. Petersen, J. Strandtmann, N. Korn, B. Sidwell, and H. T. Orr. 1985. Mutations that impair a posttranscriptional step in expression of HLA-A and -B antigens. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A* 82:8183-8187.
- Deverson, E. V., I. R. Gow, W. J. Coadwell, J. J. Monaco, G. W. Butcher, and J. C. Howard. 1990. MHC class II region encoding proteins related to the multidrug resistance family of transmembrane transporters. *Nature* 348:738-741.

- Yewdell, J. W. 2001. Not such a dismal science: the economics of protein synthesis, folding, degradation and antigen processing. *Trends Cell Biol.* 11:294-297.
- Montoya, M. and M. Del Val. 1999. Intracellular rate-limiting steps in MHC class I antigen processing. *J.Immunol.* 163:1914-1922.
- Reits, E. A., J. C. Vos, M. Gromme, and J. Neefjes. 2000. The major substrates for TAP in vivo are derived from newly synthesized proteins. *Nature* 404:774-778.
- Falk, K., O. Rotzschke, and H. G. Rammensee. 1990. Cellular peptide composition governed by major histocompatibility complex class I molecules. *Nature* 348:248-251.
- Momburg, F., J. Roelse, G. J. Hammerling, and J. J. Neefjes. 1994. Peptide size selection by the major histocompatibility complex-encoded peptide transporter. *J.Exp.Med.* 179:1613-1623.
- Heemels, M. T. and H. L. Ploegh. 1994. Substrate specificity of allelic variants of the TAP peptide transporter. *Immunity*. 1:775-784.
- Neisig, A., J. Roelse, A. J. Sijts, F. Ossendorp, M. C. Feltkamp, W. M. Kast, C. J. Melief, and J. J. Neefjes. 1995. Major differences in transporter associated with antigen presentation (TAP)-dependent translocation of MHC class I-presentable peptides and the effect of flanking sequences. *J.Immunol.* 154:1273-1279.

- Momburg, F., J. Roelse, J. C. Howard, G. W. Butcher, G. J. Hammerling, and J. J. Neefjes. 1994. Selectivity of MHC-encoded peptide transporters from human, mouse and rat. *Nature* 367:648-651.
- Sidney, J., H. M. Grey, S. Southwood, E. Celis, P. A. Wentworth, M. F. del Guercio, R. T. Kubo, R. W. Chesnut, and A. Sette. 1996. Definition of an HLA-A3-like supermotif demonstrates the overlapping peptide-binding repertoires of common HLA molecules. *Hum.Immunol.* 45:79-93.
- Sidney, J., S. Southwood, M. F. del Guercio, H. M. Grey, R. W. Chesnut, R. T. Kubo, and A. Sette. 1996. Specificity and degeneracy in peptide binding to HLA-B7-like class I molecules. *J.Immunol.* 157:3480-3490.
- Falk, K., O. Rotzschke, M. Takiguchi, B. Grahovac, V. Gnau, S. Stevanovic, G. Jung, and H. G. Rammensee. 1994. Peptide motifs of HLA-A1, -A11, -A31, and -A33 molecules. *Immunogenetics* 40:238-241.
- 92. Ortmann, B., M. J. Androlewicz, and P. Cresswell. 1994. MHC class I/beta 2microglobulin complexes associate with TAP transporters before peptide binding. *Nature* 368:864-867.
- 93. Neefjes, J. J. and H. L. Ploegh. 1988. Allele and locus-specific differences in cell surface expression and the association of HLA class I heavy chain with beta 2microglobulin: differential effects of inhibition of glycosylation on class I subunit association. *Eur.J.Immunol.* 18:801-810.

- Isenman, L. D. and J. F. Dice. 1993. Selective release of peptides from lysosomes. J.Biol. Chem. 268:23856-23859.
- 95. Reis e Sousa and R. N. Germain. 1995. Major histocompatibility complex class I presentation of peptides derived from soluble exogenous antigen by a subset of cells engaged in phagocytosis. *J.Exp.Med.* 182:841-851.
- 96. Gromme, M., F. G. Uytdehaag, H. Janssen, J. Calafat, R. S. van Binnendijk, M. J. Kenter, A. Tulp, D. Verwoerd, and J. Neefjes. 1999. Recycling MHC class I molecules and endosomal peptide loading. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A* 96:10326-10331.
- 97. Jondal, M., R. Schirmbeck, and J. Reimann. 1996. MHC class I-restricted CTL responses to exogenous antigens. *Immunity*. 5:295-302.
- 98. Rotem-Yehudar, R., S. Winograd, S. Sela, J. E. Coligan, and R. Ehrlich. 1994. Downregulation of peptide transporter genes in cell lines transformed with the highly oncogenic adenovirus 12. J.Exp.Med. 180:477-488.
- Levitskaya, J., M. Coram, V. Levitsky, S. Imreh, P. M. Steigerwald-Mullen, G. Klein, M. G. Kurilla, and M. G. Masucci. 1995. Inhibition of antigen processing by the internal repeat region of the Epstein-Barr virus nuclear antigen-1. *Nature* 375:685-688.
- 100. Kern, F., I. P. Surel, N. Faulhaber, C. Frommel, J. Schneider-Mergener, C. Schonemann, P. Reinke, and H. D. Volk. 1999. Target structures of the CD8(+)-

T-cell response to human cytomegalovirus: the 72-kilodalton major immediateearly protein revisited. *J.Virol.* 73:8179-8184.

- 101. Ossendorp, F., M. Eggers, A. Neisig, T. Ruppert, M. Groettrup, A. Sijts, E. Mengede, P. M. Kloetzel, J. Neefjes, U. Koszinowski, and C. Melief. 1996. A single residue exchange within a viral CTL epitope alters proteasome-mediated degradation resulting in lack of antigen presentation. *Immunity*. 5:115-124.
- 102. Schwartz, O., V. Marechal, S. Le Gall, F. Lemonnier, and J. M. Heard. 1996. Endocytosis of major histocompatibility complex class I molecules is induced by the HIV-1 Nef protein. *Nat.Med.* 2:338-342.
- 103. Flores-Villanueva, P. O., E. J. Yunis, J. C. Delgado, E. Vittinghoff, S. Buchbinder, J. Y. Leung, A. M. Uglialoro, O. P. Clavijo, E. S. Rosenberg, S. A. Kalams, J. D. Braun, S. L. Boswell, B. D. Walker, and A. E. Goldfeld. 2001. Control of HIV-1 viremia and protection from AIDS are associated with HLA-Bw4 homozygosity. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A* 98:5140-5145.
- 104. MacDonald, K. S., J. E. Embree, N. J. Nagelkerke, J. Castillo, S. Ramhadin, S. Njenga, J. Oyug, J. Ndinya-Achola, B. H. Barber, J. J. Bwayo, and F. A. Plummer. 2001. The HLA A2/6802 supertype is associated with reduced risk of perinatal human immunodeficiency virus type 1 transmission. *J.Infect.Dis.* 183:503-506.

- 105. Carrington, M., G. W. Nelson, M. P. Martin, T. Kissner, D. Vlahov, J. J. Goedert,
 R. Kaslow, S. Buchbinder, K. Hoots, and S. J. O'Brien. 1999. HLA and HIV-1: heterozygote advantage and B*35-Cw*04 disadvantage. *Science* 283:1748-1752.
- Hogan, C. M. and S. M. Hammer. 2001. Host determinants in HIV infection and disease. Part 2: genetic factors and implications for antiretroviral therapeutics. *Ann.Intern.Med.* 134:978-996.
- 107. MacDonald, K. S., K. R. Fowke, J. Kimani, V. A. Dunand, N. J. Nagelkerke, T. B. Ball, J. Oyugi, E. Njagi, L. K. Gaur, R. C. Brunham, J. Wade, M. A. Luscher, P. Krausa, S. Rowland-Jones, E. Ngugi, J. J. Bwayo, and F. A. Plummer. 2000. Influence of HLA supertypes on susceptibility and resistance to human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. *J.Infect.Dis.* 181:1581-1589.
- 108. Goulder, P. J., M. Bunce, P. Krausa, K. McIntyre, S. Crowley, B. Morgan, A. Edwards, P. Giangrande, R. E. Phillips, and A. J. McMichael. 1996. Novel, cross-restricted, conserved, and immunodominant cytotoxic T lymphocyte epitopes in slow progressors in HIV type 1 infection. *AIDS Res.Hum.Retroviruses* 12:1691-1698.
- Paroli, M., A. Propato, D. Accapezzato, V. Francavilla, E. Schiaffella, and V. Barnaba. 2001. The immunology of HIV-infected long-term non-progressors--a current view. *Immunol.Lett.* 79:127-129.
- 110. Heeney, J. L. 1995. AIDS: a disease of impaired Th-cell renewal? *Immunol.Today* 16:515-520.

- 111. Kaslow, R. A., M. Carrington, R. Apple, L. Park, A. Munoz, A. J. Saah, J. J. Goedert, C. Winkler, S. J. O'Brien, C. Rinaldo, R. Detels, W. Blattner, J. Phair, H. Erlich, and D. L. Mann. 1996. Influence of combinations of human major histocompatibility complex genes on the course of HIV-1 infection. *Nat.Med.* 2:405-411.
- Westby, M., F. Manca, and A. G. Dalgleish. 1996. The role of host immune responses in determining the outcome of HIV infection. *Immunol.Today* 17:120-126.
- Makedonas, G., J. Bruneau, H. Lin, R. P. Sekaly, F. Lamothe, and N. F. Bernard.
 2002. HIV-specific CD8 T-cell activity in uninfected injection drug users is associated with maintenance of seronegativity. *AIDS* 16:1595-1602.
- 114. Rowland-Jones, S., J. Sutton, K. Ariyoshi, T. Dong, F. Gotch, S. McAdam, D. Whitby, S. Sabally, A. Gallimore, T. Corrah, and . 1995. HIV-specific cytotoxic T-cells in HIV-exposed but uninfected Gambian women. *Nat.Med.* 1:59-64.
- 115. Kaul, R., S. L. Rowland-Jones, J. Kimani, K. Fowke, T. Dong, P. Kiama, J. Rutherford, E. Njagi, F. Mwangi, T. Rostron, J. Onyango, J. Oyugi, K. S. MacDonald, J. J. Bwayo, and F. A. Plummer. 2001. New insights into HIV-1 specific cytotoxic T-lymphocyte responses in exposed, persistently seronegative Kenyan sex workers. *Immunol.Lett.* 79:3-13.

- 116. Bernard, N. F., C. M. Yannakis, J. S. Lee, and C. M. Tsoukas. 1999. Human immunodeficiency virus (HIV)-specific cytotoxic T lymphocyte activity in HIVexposed seronegative persons. *J.Infect.Dis.* 179:538-547.
- 117. Cantin, R., J. F. Fortin, G. Lamontagne, and M. Tremblay. 1997. The presence of host-derived HLA-DR1 on human immunodeficiency virus type 1 increases viral infectivity. J. Virol. 71:1922-1930.
- 118. Arthur, L. O., J. W. Bess, Jr., R. C. Sowder, R. E. Benveniste, D. L. Mann, J. C. Chermann, and L. E. Henderson. 1992. Cellular proteins bound to immunodeficiency viruses: implications for pathogenesis and vaccines. *Science* 258:1935-1938.
- Robertson, M. J., M. A. Caligiuri, T. J. Manley, H. Levine, and J. Ritz. 1990.
 Human natural killer cell adhesion molecules. Differential expression after activation and participation in cytolysis. *J.Immunol.* 145:3194-3201.
- Biron, C. A., K. B. Nguyen, G. C. Pien, L. P. Cousens, and T. P. Salazar-Mather.
 1999. Natural killer cells in antiviral defense: function and regulation by innate cytokines. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 17:189-220.:189-220.
- 121. Brutkiewicz, R. R., S. J. Klaus, and R. M. Welsh. 1992. Window of vulnerability of vaccinia virus-infected cells to natural killer (NK) cell-mediated cytolysis correlates with enhanced NK cell triggering and is concomitant with a decrease in H-2 class I antigen expression. *Nat.Immun.* 11:203-214.

- 122. Lorenzo, M. E., H. L. Ploegh, and R. S. Tirabassi. 2001. Viral immune evasion strategies and the underlying cell biology. *Semin.Immunol.* 13:1-9.
- 123. Cohen, G. B., R. T. Gandhi, D. M. Davis, O. Mandelboim, B. K. Chen, J. L. Strominger, and D. Baltimore. 1999. The selective downregulation of class I major histocompatibility complex proteins by HIV-1 protects HIV-infected cells from NK cells. *Immunity*. 10:661-671.
- 124. Martin, M. P., X. Gao, J. H. Lee, G. W. Nelson, R. Detels, J. J. Goedert, S. Buchbinder, K. Hoots, D. Vlahov, J. Trowsdale, M. Wilson, S. J. O'Brien, and M. Carrington. 2002. Epistatic interaction between KIR3DS1 and HLA-B delays the progression to AIDS. *Nat.Genet.* 31:429-434.
- 125. Fontana, L., M. C. Sirianni, G. de Sanctis, M. Carbonari, B. Ensoli, and F. Aiuti. 1986. Deficiency of natural killer activity, but not of natural killer binding, in patients with lymphoadenopathy syndrome positive for antibodies to HTLV-III. *Immunobiology* 171:425-435.
- 126. Ahmad, R., S. T. Sindhu, P. Tran, E. Toma, R. Morisset, J. Menezes, and A. Ahmad. 2001. Modulation of expression of the MHC class I-binding natural killer cell receptors, and NK activity in relation to viral load in HIV-infected/AIDS patients. *J.Med.Virol.* 65:431-440.
- 127. Bonavida, B., J. Katz, and M. Gottlieb. 1986. Mechanism of defective NK cell activity in patients with acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS) and AIDS-

related complex. I. Defective trigger on NK cells for NKCF production by target cells, and partial restoration by IL 2. *J.Immunol.* 137:1157-1163.

- 128. Hu, P. F., L. E. Hultin, P. Hultin, M. A. Hausner, K. Hirji, A. Jewett, B. Bonavida, R. Detels, and J. V. Giorgi. 1995. Natural killer cell immunodeficiency in HIV disease is manifest by profoundly decreased numbers of CD16+CD56+ cells and expansion of a population of CD16dimCD56- cells with low lytic activity. J.Acquir.Immune.Defic.Syndr.Hum.Retrovirol. 10:331-340.
- 129. Bandres, J. C., J. Trial, D. M. Musher, and R. D. Rossen. 1993. Increased phagocytosis and generation of reactive oxygen products by neutrophils and monocytes of men with stage 1 human immunodeficiency virus infection. *J.Infect.Dis.* 168:75-83.
- 130. Biggs, B. A., M. Hewish, S. Kent, K. Hayes, and S. M. Crowe. 1995. HIV-1 infection of human macrophages impairs phagocytosis and killing of Toxoplasma gondii. *J.Immunol.* 154:6132-6139.
- 131. Dudhane, A., B. Conti, T. Orlikowsky, Z. Q. Wang, N. Mangla, A. Gupta, G. P. Wormser, and M. K. Hoffmann. 1996. Monocytes in HIV type 1-infected individuals lose expression of costimulatory B7 molecules and acquire cytotoxic activity. *AIDS Res.Hum.Retroviruses* 12:885-892.
- 132. Roy, S., L. Fitz-Gibbon, L. Poulin, and M. A. Wainberg. 1988. Infection of human monocytes/macrophages by HIV-1: effect on secretion of IL-1 activity. *Immunology* 64:233-239.

- 133. Smith, P. D., K. Ohura, H. Masur, H. C. Lane, A. S. Fauci, and S. M. Wahl. 1984. Monocyte function in the acquired immune deficiency syndrome. Defective chemotaxis. *J.Clin.Invest* 74:2121-2128.
- 134. Malaspina, A., S. Moir, S. Kottilil, C. W. Hallahan, L. A. Ehler, S. Liu, M. A. Planta, T. W. Chun, and A. S. Fauci. 2003. Deleterious Effect of HIV-1 Plasma Viremia on B Cell Costimulatory Function. *J.Immunol.* 170:5965-5972.
- 135. Moir, S., K. M. Ogwaro, A. Malaspina, J. Vasquez, E. T. Donoghue, C. W. Hallahan, S. Liu, L. A. Ehler, M. A. Planta, S. Kottilil, T. W. Chun, and A. S. Fauci. 2003. Perturbations in B cell responsiveness to CD4+ T cell help in HIV-infected individuals. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A* 100:6057-6062.
- 136. Banchereau, J., F. Briere, C. Caux, J. Davoust, S. Lebecque, Y. J. Liu, B.
 Pulendran, and K. Palucka. 2000. Immunobiology of dendritic cells.
 Annu.Rev.Immunol. 18:767-811.:767-811.
- 137. Hu, J., M. B. Gardner, and C. J. Miller. 2000. Simian immunodeficiency virus rapidly penetrates the cervicovaginal mucosa after intravaginal inoculation and infects intraepithelial dendritic cells. *J.Virol.* 74:6087-6095.
- 138. Patterson, S., A. Rae, N. Hockey, J. Gilmour, and F. Gotch. 2001. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells are highly susceptible to human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection and release infectious virus. J.Virol. 75:6710-6713.
- Steinman, R. M. 2000. DC-SIGN: a guide to some mysteries of dendritic cells. Cell 100:491-494.

- 140. Blauvelt, A., H. Asada, M. W. Saville, V. Klaus-Kovtun, D. J. Altman, R. Yarchoan, and S. I. Katz. 1997. Productive infection of dendritic cells by HIV-1 and their ability to capture virus are mediated through separate pathways. *J.Clin.Invest* 100:2043-2053.
- 141. Smith, B. A., S. Gartner, Y. Liu, A. S. Perelson, N. I. Stilianakis, B. F. Keele, T. M. Kerkering, A. Ferreira-Gonzalez, A. K. Szakal, J. G. Tew, and G. F. Burton. 2001. Persistence of infectious HIV on follicular dendritic cells. *J.Immunol.* 166:690-696.
- 142. Geijtenbeek, T. B., D. S. Kwon, R. Torensma, S. J. van Vliet, G. C. van Duijnhoven, J. Middel, I. L. Cornelissen, H. S. Nottet, V. N. KewalRamani, D. R. Littman, C. G. Figdor, and Y. van Kooyk. 2000. DC-SIGN, a dendritic cellspecific HIV-1-binding protein that enhances trans-infection of T cells. *Cell* 100:587-597.
- Izmailova, E., F. M. Bertley, Q. Huang, N. Makori, C. J. Miller, R. A. Young, and
 A. Aldovini. 2003. HIV-1 Tat reprograms immature dendritic cells to express chemoattractants for activated T cells and macrophages. *Nat.Med.* 9:191-197.
- Macatonia, S. E., R. Lau, S. Patterson, A. J. Pinching, and S. C. Knight. 1990.
 Dendritic cell infection, depletion and dysfunction in HIV-infected individuals.
 Immunology 71:38-45.

- 145. Belsito, D. V., M. R. Sanchez, R. L. Baer, F. Valentine, and G. J. Thorbecke. 1984. Reduced Langerhans' cell Ia antigen and ATPase activity in patients with the acquired immunodeficiency syndrome. *N.Engl.J.Med.* 310:1279-1282.
- 146. Knight, S. C. 1996. Bone-marrow-derived dendritic cells and the pathogenesis of AIDS. AIDS 10:807-817.
- Macatonia, S. E., N. A. Hosken, M. Litton, P. Vieira, C. S. Hsieh, J. A. Culpepper, M. Wysocka, G. Trinchieri, K. M. Murphy, and A. O'Garra. 1995. Dendritic cells produce IL-12 and direct the development of Th1 cells from naive CD4+ T cells. *J.Immunol.* 154:5071-5079.
- 148. Spira, A. I., P. A. Marx, B. K. Patterson, J. Mahoney, R. A. Koup, S. M. Wolinsky, and D. D. Ho. 1996. Cellular targets of infection and route of viral dissemination after an intravaginal inoculation of simian immunodeficiency virus into rhesus macaques. *J.Exp.Med.* 183:215-225.
- 149. Zhang, Z., T. Schuler, M. Zupancic, S. Wietgrefe, K. A. Staskus, K. A. Reimann, T. A. Reinhart, M. Rogan, W. Cavert, C. J. Miller, R. S. Veazey, D. Notermans, S. Little, S. A. Danner, D. D. Richman, D. Havlir, J. Wong, H. L. Jordan, T. W. Schacker, P. Racz, K. Tenner-Racz, N. L. Letvin, S. Wolinsky, and A. T. Haase.
 1999. Sexual transmission and propagation of SIV and HIV in resting and activated CD4+ T cells. *Science* 286:1353-1357.
- Schacker, T., S. Little, E. Connick, K. Gebhard-Mitchell, Z. Q. Zhang, J. Krieger,
 J. Pryor, D. Havlir, J. K. Wong, D. Richman, L. Corey, and A. T. Haase. 2000.

Rapid accumulation of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) in lymphatic tissue reservoirs during acute and early HIV infection: implications for timing of antiretroviral therapy. *J.Infect.Dis.* 181:354-357.

- 151. Lafeuillade, A., H. Khiri, S. Chadapaud, G. Hittinger, and P. Halfon. 2001. Persistence of HIV-1 resistance in lymph node mononuclear cell RNA despite effective HAART. AIDS 15:1965-1969.
- 152. Racz, P., K. Tenner-Racz, C. Kahl, A. C. Feller, P. Kern, and M. Dietrich. 1986. Spectrum of morphologic changes of lymph nodes from patients with AIDS or AIDS-related complexes. *Prog.Allergy* 37:81-181.:81-181.
- 153. Clark, S. J., M. S. Saag, W. D. Decker, S. Campbell-Hill, J. L. Roberson, P. J. Veldkamp, J. C. Kappes, B. H. Hahn, and G. M. Shaw. 1991. High titers of cytopathic virus in plasma of patients with symptomatic primary HIV-1 infection. *N.Engl.J.Med.* 324:954-960.
- 154. Embretson, J., M. Zupancic, J. L. Ribas, A. Burke, P. Racz, K. Tenner-Racz, and A. T. Haase. 1993. Massive covert infection of helper T lymphocytes and macrophages by HIV during the incubation period of AIDS. *Nature* 362:359-362.
- 155. Clayton, F., G. Snow, S. Reka, and D. P. Kotler. 1997. Selective depletion of rectal lamina propria rather than lymphoid aggregate CD4 lymphocytes in HIV infection. *Clin.Exp.Immunol.* 107:288-292.
- 156. Hockett, R. D., J. M. Kilby, C. A. Derdeyn, M. S. Saag, M. Sillers, K. Squires, S. Chiz, M. A. Nowak, G. M. Shaw, and R. P. Bucy. 1999. Constant mean viral copy

number per infected cell in tissues regardless of high, low, or undetectable plasma HIV RNA. *J.Exp.Med.* 189:1545-1554.

- Perelson, A. S., A. U. Neumann, M. Markowitz, J. M. Leonard, and D. D. Ho.
 1996. HIV-1 dynamics in vivo: virion clearance rate, infected cell life-span, and viral generation time. *Science* 271:1582-1586.
- 158. Pakker, N. G., D. W. Notermans, R. J. de Boer, M. T. Roos, F. de Wolf, A. Hill, J. M. Leonard, S. A. Danner, F. Miedema, and P. T. Schellekens. 1998. Biphasic kinetics of peripheral blood T cells after triple combination therapy in HIV-1 infection: a composite of redistribution and proliferation. *Nat.Med.* 4:208-214.
- Douek, D. C., R. D. McFarland, P. H. Keiser, E. A. Gage, J. M. Massey, B. F. Haynes, M. A. Polis, A. T. Haase, M. B. Feinberg, J. L. Sullivan, B. D. Jamieson, J. A. Zack, L. J. Picker, and R. A. Koup. 1998. Changes in thymic function with age and during the treatment of HIV infection. *Nature* 396:690-695.
- Pantaleo, G., S. Menzo, M. Vaccarezza, C. Graziosi, O. J. Cohen, J. F. Demarest,
 D. Montefiori, J. M. Orenstein, C. Fox, L. K. Schrager, and . 1995. Studies in subjects with long-term nonprogressive human immunodeficiency virus infection. *N.Engl.J.Med.* 332:209-216.
- 161. Spiegel, H., H. Herbst, G. Niedobitek, H. D. Foss, and H. Stein. 1992. Follicular dendritic cells are a major reservoir for human immunodeficiency virus type 1 in lymphoid tissues facilitating infection of CD4+ T-helper cells. *Am.J.Pathol.* 140:15-22.

- 162. Shen, A., M. C. Zink, J. L. Mankowski, K. Chadwick, J. B. Margolick, L. M. Carruth, M. Li, J. E. Clements, and R. F. Siliciano. 2003. Resting CD4+ T lymphocytes but not thymocytes provide a latent viral reservoir in a simian immunodeficiency virus-Macaca nemestrina model of human immunodeficiency virus type 1-infected patients on highly active antiretroviral therapy. *J.Virol.* 77:4938-4949.
- 163. Gandhi, R. T. and B. D. Walker. 2002. Immunologic control of HIV-1. Annu.Rev.Med. 53:149-72.:149-172.
- 164. Kwong, P. D., M. L. Doyle, D. J. Casper, C. Cicala, S. A. Leavitt, S. Majeed, T. D. Steenbeke, M. Venturi, I. Chaiken, M. Fung, H. Katinger, P. W. Parren, J. Robinson, D. Van Ryk, L. Wang, D. R. Burton, E. Freire, R. Wyatt, J. Sodroski, W. A. Hendrickson, and J. Arthos. 2002. HIV-1 evades antibody-mediated neutralization through conformational masking of receptor-binding sites. *Nature* 420:678-682.
- 165. Scarlatti, G., J. Albert, P. Rossi, V. Hodara, P. Biraghi, L. Muggiasca, and E. M. Fenyo. 1993. Mother-to-child transmission of human immunodeficiency virus type 1: correlation with neutralizing antibodies against primary isolates. *J.Infect.Dis.* 168:207-210.
- 166. Albert, J., B. Abrahamsson, K. Nagy, E. Aurelius, H. Gaines, G. Nystrom, and E. M. Fenyo. 1990. Rapid development of isolate-specific neutralizing antibodies after primary HIV-1 infection and consequent emergence of virus variants which resist neutralization by autologous sera. *AIDS* 4:107-112.

- 167. Castro, B. A., C. M. Walker, M. Tateno, C. Cheng-Mayer, R. Heberling, J. W. Eichberg, and J. A. Levy. 1989. Human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) from experimentally infected chimpanzees: isolation and characterization. *J.Med.Primatol.* 18:337-342.
- 168. Ho, D. D., M. G. Sarngadharan, M. S. Hirsch, R. T. Schooley, T. R. Rota, R. C. Kennedy, T. C. Chanh, and V. L. Sato. 1987. Human immunodeficiency virus neutralizing antibodies recognize several conserved domains on the envelope glycoproteins. *J. Virol.* 61:2024-2028.
- 169. Matthews, T. J., A. J. Langlois, W. G. Robey, N. T. Chang, R. C. Gallo, P. J. Fischinger, and D. P. Bolognesi. 1986. Restricted neutralization of divergent human T-lymphotropic virus type III isolates by antibodies to the major envelope glycoprotein. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A* 83:9709-9713.
- 170. Javaherian, K., A. J. Langlois, G. J. LaRosa, A. T. Profy, D. P. Bolognesi, W. C. Herlihy, S. D. Putney, and T. J. Matthews. 1990. Broadly neutralizing antibodies elicited by the hypervariable neutralizing determinant of HIV-1. *Science* 250:1590-1593.
- 171. Beaumont, T., A. van Nuenen, S. Broersen, W. A. Blattner, V. V. Lukashov, and H. Schuitemaker. 2001. Reversal of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 IIIB to a neutralization-resistant phenotype in an accidentally infected laboratory worker with a progressive clinical course. *J. Virol.* 75:2246-2252.

- Harrer, T., E. Harrer, S. A. Kalams, T. Elbeik, S. I. Staprans, M. B. Feinberg, Y. Cao, D. D. Ho, T. Yilma, A. M. Caliendo, R. P. Johnson, S. P. Buchbinder, and B. D. Walker. 1996. Strong cytotoxic T cell and weak neutralizing antibody responses in a subset of persons with stable nonprogressing HIV type 1 infection. *AIDS Res.Hum.Retroviruses* 12:585-592.
- 173. Rowland-Jones, S. L., T. Dong, L. Dorrell, G. Ogg, P. Hansasuta, P. Krausa, J. Kimani, S. Sabally, K. Ariyoshi, J. Oyugi, K. S. MacDonald, J. Bwayo, H. Whittle, F. A. Plummer, and A. J. McMichael. 1999. Broadly cross-reactive HIV-specific cytotoxic T-lymphocytes in highly-exposed persistently seronegative donors. *Immunol.Lett.* 66:9-14.
- Koup, R. A., J. T. Safrit, Y. Cao, C. A. Andrews, G. McLeod, W. Borkowsky, C. Farthing, and D. D. Ho. 1994. Temporal association of cellular immune responses with the initial control of viremia in primary human immunodeficiency virus type 1 syndrome. *J.Virol.* 68:4650-4655.
- Pantaleo, G. and A. S. Fauci. 1995. New concepts in the immunopathogenesis of HIV infection. *Annu.Rev.Immunol.* 13:487-512.:487-512.
- 176. Mascola, J. R., G. Stiegler, T. C. VanCott, H. Katinger, C. B. Carpenter, C. E. Hanson, H. Beary, D. Hayes, S. S. Frankel, D. L. Birx, and M. G. Lewis. 2000. Protection of macaques against vaginal transmission of a pathogenic HIV-1/SIV chimeric virus by passive infusion of neutralizing antibodies. *Nat.Med.* 6:207-210.

- 177. Connick, E., D. G. Marr, X. Q. Zhang, S. J. Clark, M. S. Saag, R. T. Schooley, and T. J. Curiel. 1996. HIV-specific cellular and humoral immune responses in primary HIV infection. *AIDS Res.Hum.Retroviruses* 12:1129-1140.
- 178. Wei, X., J. M. Decker, S. Wang, H. Hui, J. C. Kappes, X. Wu, J. F. Salazar-Gonzalez, M. G. Salazar, J. M. Kilby, M. S. Saag, N. L. Komarova, M. A. Nowak, B. H. Hahn, P. D. Kwong, and G. M. Shaw. 2003. Antibody neutralization and escape by HIV-1. *Nature* 422:307-312.
- 179. Kolchinsky, P., E. Kiprilov, P. Bartley, R. Rubinstein, and J. Sodroski. 2001. Loss of a single N-linked glycan allows CD4-independent human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection by altering the position of the gp120 V1/V2 variable loops. *J.Virol.* 75:3435-3443.
- 180. Street, N. E., J. H. Schumacher, T. A. Fong, H. Bass, D. F. Fiorentino, J. A. Leverah, and T. R. Mosmann. 1990. Heterogeneity of mouse helper T cells. Evidence from bulk cultures and limiting dilution cloning for precursors of Th1 and Th2 cells. *J.Immunol.* 144:1629-1639.
- Clerici, M. and G. M. Shearer. 1993. A TH1-->TH2 switch is a critical step in the etiology of HIV infection. *Immunol.Today* 14:107-111.
- 182. Klein, M. R., C. A. van Baalen, A. M. Holwerda, G. Kerkhof, Sr., R. J. Bende, I.
 P. Keet, J. K. Eeftinck-Schattenkerk, A. D. Osterhaus, H. Schuitemaker, and F.
 Miedema. 1995. Kinetics of Gag-specific cytotoxic T lymphocyte responses

during the clinical course of HIV-1 infection: a longitudinal analysis of rapid progressors and long-term asymptomatics. *J.Exp.Med.* 181:1365-1372.

- Picker, L. J. and E. C. Butcher. 1992. Physiological and molecular mechanisms of lymphocyte homing. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 10:561-91.:561-591.
- 184. Champagne, P., A. R. Dumont, and R. P. Sekaly. 2001. Learning to remember: generation and maintenance of T-cell memory. *DNA Cell Biol*. 20:745-760.
- 185. Monks, C. R., B. A. Freiberg, H. Kupfer, N. Sciaky, and A. Kupfer. 1998. Threedimensional segregation of supramolecular activation clusters in T cells. *Nature* 395:82-86.
- 186. Bromley, S. K., W. R. Burack, K. G. Johnson, K. Somersalo, T. N. Sims, C. Sumen, M. M. Davis, A. S. Shaw, P. M. Allen, and M. L. Dustin. 2001. The immunological synapse. *Annu.Rev.Immunol.* 19:375-96.:375-396.
- 187. Sprent, J. and J. F. Miller. 1974. Effect of recent antigen priming on adoptive immune responses. II. Specific unresponsiveness of circulating lymphocytes from mice primed with heterologous erythrocytes. J.Exp.Med. 139:1-12.
- Xie, H., Y. C. Lim, F. W. Luscinskas, and A. H. Lichtman. 1999. Acquisition of selectin binding and peripheral homing properties by CD4(+) and CD8(+) T cells. *J.Exp.Med.* 189:1765-1776.

- 189. Sprent, J. 1976. Fate of H2-activated T lymphocytes in syngeneic hosts. I. Fate in lymphoid tissues and intestines traced with 3H-thymidine, 125I-deoxyuridine and 51chromium. *Cell Immunol.* 21:278-302.
- 190. Badovinac, V. P., A. R. Tvinnereim, and J. T. Harty. 2000. Regulation of antigenspecific CD8+ T cell homeostasis by perforin and interferon-gamma. *Science* 290:1354-1358.
- 191. Chambers, C. A. and J. P. Allison. 1997. Co-stimulation in T cell responses. Curr.Opin.Immunol. 9:396-404.
- 192. Van Parijs, L., D. A. Peterson, and A. K. Abbas. 1998. The Fas/Fas ligand pathway and Bcl-2 regulate T cell responses to model self and foreign antigens. *Immunity*. 8:265-274.
- 193. Strasser, A. 1995. Life and death during lymphocyte development and function: evidence for two distinct killing mechanisms. *Curr.Opin.Immunol.* 7:228-234.
- 194. McMichael, A. J. and S. L. Rowland-Jones. 2001. Cellular immune responses to HIV. *Nature* 410:980-987.
- 195. Appay, V., D. F. Nixon, S. M. Donahoe, G. M. Gillespie, T. Dong, A. King, G. S. Ogg, H. M. Spiegel, C. Conlon, C. A. Spina, D. V. Havlir, D. D. Richman, A. Waters, P. Easterbrook, A. J. McMichael, and S. L. Rowland-Jones. 2000. HIV-specific CD8(+) T cells produce antiviral cytokines but are impaired in cytolytic function. *J.Exp.Med.* 192:63-75.

- 196. Poulin, J. F. and R. P. Sekaly. 1999. Function of the thymus in HIV-infected adults. JAMA 282:219.
- 197. Sprent, J. and C. D. Surh. 2002. T cell memory. Annu.Rev.Immunol. 20:551-79.:551-579.
- Wherry, E. J., V. Teichgraber, T. C. Becker, D. Masopust, S. M. Kaech, R. Antia,
 U. H. von Andrian, and R. Ahmed. 2003. Lineage relationship and protective immunity of memory CD8 T cell subsets. *Nat.Immunol.* 4:225-234.
- 199. Champagne, P., G. S. Ogg, A. S. King, C. Knabenhans, K. Ellefsen, M. Nobile, V. Appay, G. P. Rizzardi, S. Fleury, M. Lipp, R. Forster, S. Rowland-Jones, R. P. Sekaly, A. J. McMichael, and G. Pantaleo. 2001. Skewed maturation of memory HIV-specific CD8 T lymphocytes. *Nature* 410:106-111.
- 200. Borrow, P., H. Lewicki, B. H. Hahn, G. M. Shaw, and M. B. Oldstone. 1994.
 Virus-specific CD8+ cytotoxic T-lymphocyte activity associated with control of viremia in primary human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. *J.Virol.* 68:6103-6110.
- 201. Schmitz, J. E., M. J. Kuroda, S. Santra, V. G. Sasseville, M. A. Simon, M. A. Lifton, P. Racz, K. Tenner-Racz, M. Dalesandro, B. J. Scallon, J. Ghrayeb, M. A. Forman, D. C. Montefiori, E. P. Rieber, N. L. Letvin, and K. A. Reimann. 1999. Control of viremia in simian immunodeficiency virus infection by CD8+ lymphocytes. *Science* 283:857-860.

- 202. Jin, X., D. E. Bauer, S. E. Tuttleton, S. Lewin, A. Gettie, J. Blanchard, C. E. Irwin, J. T. Safrit, J. Mittler, L. Weinberger, L. G. Kostrikis, L. Zhang, A. S. Perelson, and D. D. Ho. 1999. Dramatic rise in plasma viremia after CD8(+) T cell depletion in simian immunodeficiency virus-infected macaques. *J.Exp.Med.* 189:991-998.
- 203. Cao, Y., L. Qin, L. Zhang, J. Safrit, and D. D. Ho. 1995. Virologic and immunologic characterization of long-term survivors of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. *N.Engl.J.Med.* 332:201-208.
- 204. Rinaldo, C., X. L. Huang, Z. F. Fan, M. Ding, L. Beltz, A. Logar, D. Panicali, G. Mazzara, J. Liebmann, M. Cottrill, and . 1995. High levels of anti-human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) memory cytotoxic T-lymphocyte activity and low viral load are associated with lack of disease in HIV-1-infected long-term nonprogressors. *J. Virol.* 69:5838-5842.
- 205. Carmichael, A., X. Jin, P. Sissons, and L. Borysiewicz. 1993. Quantitative analysis of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1)-specific cytotoxic T lymphocyte (CTL) response at different stages of HIV-1 infection: differential CTL responses to HIV-1 and Epstein-Barr virus in late disease. *J.Exp.Med.* 177:249-256.
- 206. Yang, O. O., A. C. Tran, S. A. Kalams, R. P. Johnson, M. R. Roberts, and B. D. Walker. 1997. Lysis of HIV-1-infected cells and inhibition of viral replication by universal receptor T cells. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A* 94:11478-11483.

- 207. Meylan, P. R., J. C. Guatelli, J. R. Munis, D. D. Richman, and R. S. Kornbluth.
 1993. Mechanisms for the inhibition of HIV replication by interferons-alpha, beta, and -gamma in primary human macrophages. *Virology* 193:138-148.
- 208. Harrer, T., C. Jassoy, E. Harrer, R. P. Johnson, and B. D. Walker. 1993. Induction of HIV-1 replication in a chronically infected T-cell line by cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *J.Acquir.Immune.Defic.Syndr.* 6:865-871.
- 209. Cocchi, F., A. L. DeVico, A. Garzino-Demo, S. K. Arya, R. C. Gallo, and P. Lusso. 1995. Identification of RANTES, MIP-1 alpha, and MIP-1 beta as the major HIV-suppressive factors produced by CD8+ T cells. *Science* 270:1811-1815.
- Wagner, L., O. O. Yang, E. A. Garcia-Zepeda, Y. Ge, S. A. Kalams, B. D. Walker, M. S. Pasternack, and A. D. Luster. 1998. Beta-chemokines are released from HIV-1-specific cytolytic T-cell granules complexed to proteoglycans. *Nature* 391:908-911.
- 211. Mackewicz, C. E., E. Barker, and J. A. Levy. 1996. Role of beta-chemokines in suppressing HIV replication. *Science* 274:1393-1395.
- 212. Douek, D. C., J. M. Brenchley, M. R. Betts, D. R. Ambrozak, B. J. Hill, Y. Okamoto, J. P. Casazza, J. Kuruppu, K. Kunstman, S. Wolinsky, Z. Grossman, M. Dybul, A. Oxenius, D. A. Price, M. Connors, and R. A. Koup. 2002. HIV preferentially infects HIV-specific CD4+ T cells. *Nature* 417:95-98.

- 213. Harari, A., G. P. Rizzardi, K. Ellefsen, D. Ciuffreda, P. Champagne, P. A. Bart, D. Kaufmann, A. Telenti, R. Sahli, G. Tambussi, L. Kaiser, A. Lazzarin, L. Perrin, and G. Pantaleo. 2002. Analysis of HIV-1- and CMV-specific memory CD4 T-cell responses during primary and chronic infection. *Blood* 100:1381-1387.
- Shedlock, D. J. and H. Shen. 2003. Requirement for CD4 T cell help in generating functional CD8 T cell memory. *Science* 300:337-339.
- Bourgeois, C., B. Rocha, and C. Tanchot. 2002. A role for CD40 expression on CD8+ T cells in the generation of CD8+ T cell memory. *Science* 297:2060-2063.
- 216. Janssen, E. M., E. E. Lemmens, T. Wolfe, U. Christen, M. G. von Herrath, and S.
 P. Schoenberger. 2003. CD4+ T cells are required for secondary expansion and memory in CD8+ T lymphocytes. *Nature* 421:852-856.
- 217. Sun, J. C. and M. J. Bevan. 2003. Defective CD8 T cell memory following acute infection without CD4 T cell help. *Science* 300:339-342.
- Rosenberg, E. S., J. M. Billingsley, A. M. Caliendo, S. L. Boswell, P. E. Sax, S. A. Kalams, and B. D. Walker. 1997. Vigorous HIV-1-specific CD4+ T cell responses associated with control of viremia. *Science* 278:1447-1450.
- 219. Kalams, S. A., S. P. Buchbinder, E. S. Rosenberg, J. M. Billingsley, D. S. Colbert, N. G. Jones, A. K. Shea, A. K. Trocha, and B. D. Walker. 1999. Association between virus-specific cytotoxic T-lymphocyte and helper responses in human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. J.Virol. 73:6715-6720.
- 220. Clerici, M., N. I. Stocks, R. A. Zajac, R. N. Boswell, D. R. Lucey, C. S. Via, and G. M. Shearer. 1989. Detection of three distinct patterns of T helper cell dysfunction in asymptomatic, human immunodeficiency virus-seropositive patients. Independence of CD4+ cell numbers and clinical staging. *J.Clin.Invest* 84:1892-1899.
- 221. Pitcher, C. J., C. Quittner, D. M. Peterson, M. Connors, R. A. Koup, V. C. Maino, and L. J. Picker. 1999. HIV-1-specific CD4+ T cells are detectable in most individuals with active HIV-1 infection, but decline with prolonged viral suppression. *Nat.Med.* 5:518-525.
- 222. Valentine, F. T., A. Paolino, A. Saito, and R. S. Holzman. 1998. Lymphocyteproliferative responses to HIV antigens as a potential measure of immunological reconstitution in HIV disease. *AIDS Res.Hum.Retroviruses* 14 Suppl 2:S161-6.:S161-S166.
- 223. Musey, L. K., J. N. Krieger, J. P. Hughes, T. W. Schacker, L. Corey, and M. J. McElrath. 1999. Early and persistent human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1)-specific T helper dysfunction in blood and lymph nodes following acute HIV-1 infection. *J.Infect.Dis.* 180:278-284.
- 224. Markowitz, M., M. Vesanen, K. Tenner-Racz, Y. Cao, J. M. Binley, A. Talal, A. Hurley, X. Jin, M. R. Chaudhry, M. Yaman, S. Frankel, M. Heath-Chiozzi, J. M. Leonard, J. P. Moore, P. Racz, D. F. Nixon, D. D. Ho, and J X. 1999. The effect of commencing combination antiretroviral therapy soon after human

immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection on viral replication and antiviral immune responses. *J.Infect.Dis.* 179:527-537.

- 225. Zinkernagel, R. M., D. Moskophidis, T. Kundig, S. Oehen, H. Pircher, and H. Hengartner. 1993. Effector T-cell induction and T-cell memory versus peripheral deletion of T cells. *Immunol.Rev.* 133:199-223.:199-223.
- 226. Callan, M. F., N. Steven, P. Krausa, J. D. Wilson, P. A. Moss, G. M. Gillespie, J. I. Bell, A. B. Rickinson, and A. J. McMichael. 1996. Large clonal expansions of CD8+ T cells in acute infectious mononucleosis. *Nat.Med.* 2:906-911.
- 227. Heslop, H. E., C. Y. Ng, C. Li, C. A. Smith, S. K. Loftin, R. A. Krance, M. K. Brenner, and C. M. Rooney. 1996. Long-term restoration of immunity against Epstein-Barr virus infection by adoptive transfer of gene-modified virus-specific T lymphocytes. *Nat.Med.* 2:551-555.
- 228. Pantaleo, G., J. F. Demarest, H. Soudeyns, C. Graziosi, F. Denis, J. W. Adelsberger, P. Borrow, M. S. Saag, G. M. Shaw, R. P. Sekaly, and . 1994. Major expansion of CD8+ T cells with a predominant V beta usage during the primary immune response to HIV. *Nature* 370:463-467.
- 229. Walter, E. A., P. D. Greenberg, M. J. Gilbert, R. J. Finch, K. S. Watanabe, E. D. Thomas, and S. R. Riddell. 1995. Reconstitution of cellular immunity against cytomegalovirus in recipients of allogeneic bone marrow by transfer of T-cell clones from the donor. *N.Engl.J.Med.* 333:1038-1044.

230. Pilcher, Christopher D. PHI and Transmission Risk (Part 2): Epidemiology and Infectivity. The PRN Notebook Special Edition, 11-15. 1-2-2002.

Ref Type: Generic

- 231. Pilcher, C. D., D. C. Shugars, S. A. Fiscus, W. C. Miller, P. Menezes, J. Giner, B. Dean, K. Robertson, C. E. Hart, J. L. Lennox, J. J. Eron, Jr., and C. B. Hicks.
 2001. HIV in body fluids during primary HIV infection: implications for pathogenesis, treatment and public health. *AIDS* 15:837-845.
- 232. Koopman, James. PHI and Transmission Risk (Part 1): The Contribution of Mathematical Modeling. DevelopPrimary HIV Infection - Developing Options for the Newly Infecteding Options for the Newly Infected. The PRN Notebook Special Edition, 8-10. 1-2-2002.

Ref Type: Generic

233. Finzi, D., M. Hermankova, T. Pierson, L. M. Carruth, C. Buck, R. E. Chaisson, T. C. Quinn, K. Chadwick, J. Margolick, R. Brookmeyer, J. Gallant, M. Markowitz, D. D. Ho, D. D. Richman, and R. F. Siliciano. 1997. Identification of a reservoir for HIV-1 in patients on highly active antiretroviral therapy. *Science* 278:1295-1300.

234. Ho, David D. Forward. The PRN Notebook Special Edition, 2. 1-2-2002.Ref Type: Generic

235. Siliciano, R. 1999. HARRT for life. Hopkins. HIV. Rep. 11:2.

- 236. Ramratnam, B., J. E. Mittler, L. Zhang, D. Boden, A. Hurley, F. Fang, C. A. Macken, A. S. Perelson, M. Markowitz, and D. D. Ho. 2000. The decay of the latent reservoir of replication-competent HIV-1 is inversely correlated with the extent of residual viral replication during prolonged anti-retroviral therapy. *Nat.Med.* 6:82-85.
- 237. Finzi, D., J. Blankson, J. D. Siliciano, J. B. Margolick, K. Chadwick, T. Pierson,
 K. Smith, J. Lisziewicz, F. Lori, C. Flexner, T. C. Quinn, R. E. Chaisson, E.
 Rosenberg, B. Walker, S. Gange, J. Gallant, and R. F. Siliciano. 1999. Latent
 infection of CD4+ T cells provides a mechanism for lifelong persistence of HIV1, even in patients on effective combination therapy. *Nat.Med.* 5:512-517.
- 238. Rosenberg, E. S., M. Altfeld, S. H. Poon, M. N. Phillips, B. M. Wilkes, R. L. Eldridge, G. K. Robbins, R. T. D'Aquila, P. J. Goulder, and B. D. Walker. 2000.
 Immune control of HIV-1 after early treatment of acute infection. *Nature* 407:523-526.
- 239. Norris, P. J. and E. S. Rosenberg. 2002. CD4(+) T helper cells and the role they play in viral control. *J.Mol.Med.* 80:397-405.
- 240. Rosenberg, E. S. and B. D. Walker. 1998. HIV type 1-specific helper T cells: a critical host defense. *AIDS Res.Hum.Retroviruses* 14 Suppl 2:S143-7.:S143-S147.
- 241. Altfeld, M., E. S. Rosenberg, R. Shankarappa, J. S. Mukherjee, F. M. Hecht, R. L. Eldridge, M. M. Addo, S. H. Poon, M. N. Phillips, G. K. Robbins, P. E. Sax, S. Boswell, J. O. Kahn, C. Brander, P. J. Goulder, J. A. Levy, J. I. Mullins, and B. D.

Walker. 2001. Cellular immune responses and viral diversity in individuals treated during acute and early HIV-1 infection. *J.Exp.Med.* 193:169-180.

- 242. Zhu, T., H. Mo, N. Wang, D. S. Nam, Y. Cao, R. A. Koup, and D. D. Ho. 1993. Genotypic and phenotypic characterization of HIV-1 patients with primary infection. *Science* 261:1179-1181.
- 243. Borrow, P., H. Lewicki, X. Wei, M. S. Horwitz, N. Peffer, H. Meyers, J. A. Nelson, J. E. Gairin, B. H. Hahn, M. B. Oldstone, and G. M. Shaw. 1997. Antiviral pressure exerted by HIV-1-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTLs) during primary infection demonstrated by rapid selection of CTL escape virus. *Nat.Med.* 3:205-211.
- 244. Padian, N. S., S. C. Shiboski, and N. P. Jewell. 1991. Female-to-male transmission of human immunodeficiency virus. *JAMA* 266:1664-1667.
- 245. Mertens, T. E. and A. Burton. 1996. Estimates and trends of the HIV/AIDS epidemic. *AIDS* 10 Suppl A:S221-8.:S221-S228.
- 246. Quinn, T. C., M. J. Wawer, N. Sewankambo, D. Serwadda, C. Li, F. Wabwire-Mangen, M. O. Meehan, T. Lutalo, and R. H. Gray. 2000. Viral load and heterosexual transmission of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. Rakai Project Study Group. *N.Engl.J.Med.* 342:921-929.
- 247. Chun, T. W. and A. S. Fauci. 1999. Latent reservoirs of HIV: obstacles to the eradication of virus. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A* 96:10958-10961.

- 248. Piatak, M., Jr., M. S. Saag, L. C. Yang, S. J. Clark, J. C. Kappes, K. C. Luk, B. H. Hahn, G. M. Shaw, and J. D. Lifson. 1993. High levels of HIV-1 in plasma during all stages of infection determined by competitive PCR. *Science* 259:1749-1754.
- 249. Daar, E. S., T. Moudgil, R. D. Meyer, and D. D. Ho. 1991. Transient high levels of viremia in patients with primary human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. *N.Engl.J.Med.* 324:961-964.
- 250. Perelson, A. S., P. Essunger, Y. Cao, M. Vesanen, A. Hurley, K. Saksela, M. Markowitz, and D. D. Ho. 1997. Decay characteristics of HIV-1-infected compartments during combination therapy. *Nature* 387:188-191.
- 251. Mellors, J. W., C. R. Rinaldo, Jr., P. Gupta, R. M. White, J. A. Todd, and L. A. Kingsley. 1996. Prognosis in HIV-1 infection predicted by the quantity of virus in plasma. *Science* 272:1167-1170.
- 252. Garcia, F., M. Plana, C. Vidal, A. Cruceta, W. A. O'Brien, G. Pantaleo, T. Pumarola, T. Gallart, J. M. Miro, and J. M. Gatell. 1999. Dynamics of viral load rebound and immunological changes after stopping effective antiretroviral therapy. *AIDS* 13:F79-F86.
- 253. Chun, T. W., D. Finzi, J. Margolick, K. Chadwick, D. Schwartz, and R. F. Siliciano. 1995. In vivo fate of HIV-1-infected T cells: quantitative analysis of the transition to stable latency. *Nat.Med.* 1:1284-1290.
- 254. Siliciano, J. D., J. Kajdas, D. Finzi, T. C. Quinn, K. Chadwick, J. B. Margolick,C. Kovacs, S. J. Gange, and R. F. Siliciano. 2003. Long-term follow-up studies

confirm the stability of the latent reservoir for HIV-1 in resting CD4+ T cells. *Nat.Med.* 9:727-728.

- 255. Wong, J. K., M. Hezareh, H. F. Gunthard, D. V. Havlir, C. C. Ignacio, C. A. Spina, and D. D. Richman. 1997. Recovery of replication-competent HIV despite prolonged suppression of plasma viremia. *Science* 278:1291-1295.
- 256. Chun, T. W., L. Stuyver, S. B. Mizell, L. A. Ehler, J. A. Mican, M. Baseler, A. L. Lloyd, M. A. Nowak, and A. S. Fauci. 1997. Presence of an inducible HIV-1 latent reservoir during highly active antiretroviral therapy. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A* 94:13193-13197.
- 257. Blankson, J. N., D. Finzi, T. C. Pierson, B. P. Sabundayo, K. Chadwick, J. B. Margolick, T. C. Quinn, and R. F. Siliciano. 2000. Biphasic decay of latently infected CD4+ T cells in acute human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. *J.Infect.Dis.* 182:1636-1642.
- 258. Persaud, D., Y. Zhou, J. M. Siliciano, and R. F. Siliciano. 2003. Latency in human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection: no easy answers. *J.Virol.* 77:1659-1665.
- Wilson, J. D., G. S. Ogg, R. L. Allen, C. Davis, S. Shaunak, J. Downie, W. Dyer,
 C. Workman, S. Sullivan, A. J. McMichael, and S. L. Rowland-Jones. 2000.
 Direct visualization of HIV-1-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes during primary infection. *AIDS* 14:225-233.
- 260. Wolinsky, S. M., B. T. Korber, A. U. Neumann, M. Daniels, K. J. Kunstman, A. J. Whetsell, M. R. Furtado, Y. Cao, D. D. Ho, and J. T. Safrit. 1996. Adaptive

evolution of human immunodeficiency virus-type 1 during the natural course of infection. *Science* 272:537-542.

- 261. Pantaleo, G., C. Graziosi, and A. S. Fauci. 1997. Virologic and immunologic events in primary HIV infection. *Springer Semin.Immunopathol.* 18:257-266.
- 262. Pantaleo, G., H. Soudeyns, J. F. Demarest, M. Vaccarezza, C. Graziosi, S. Paolucci, M. Daucher, O. J. Cohen, F. Denis, W. E. Biddison, R. P. Sekaly, and A. S. Fauci. 1997. Evidence for rapid disappearance of initially expanded HIV-specific CD8+ T cell clones during primary HIV infection. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A* 94:9848-9853.
- 263. Pantaleo, G., J. F. Demarest, T. Schacker, M. Vaccarezza, O. J. Cohen, M. Daucher, C. Graziosi, S. S. Schnittman, T. C. Quinn, G. M. Shaw, L. Perrin, G. Tambussi, A. Lazzarin, R. P. Sekaly, H. Soudeyns, L. Corey, and A. S. Fauci. 1997. The qualitative nature of the primary immune response to HIV infection is a prognosticator of disease progression independent of the initial level of plasma viremia. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A* 94:254-258.
- 264. Grant, M. D., F. M. Smaill, K. Laurie, and K. L. Rosenthal. 1993. Changes in the cytotoxic T-cell repertoire of HIV-1-infected individuals: relationship to disease progression. *Viral Immunol.* 6:85-95.
- 265. Wei, X., S. K. Ghosh, M. E. Taylor, V. A. Johnson, E. A. Emini, P. Deutsch, J. D. Lifson, S. Bonhoeffer, M. A. Nowak, B. H. Hahn, and . 1995. Viral dynamics in human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. *Nature* 373:117-122.

- 266. Ho, D. D., A. U. Neumann, A. S. Perelson, W. Chen, J. M. Leonard, and M. Markowitz. 1995. Rapid turnover of plasma virions and CD4 lymphocytes in HIV-1 infection. *Nature* 373:123-126.
- 267. Cameron, P. U., P. S. Freudenthal, J. M. Barker, S. Gezelter, K. Inaba, and R. M. Steinman. 1992. Dendritic cells exposed to human immunodeficiency virus type-1 transmit a vigorous cytopathic infection to CD4+ T cells. *Science* 257:383-387.
- 268. Zack, J. A., A. M. Haislip, P. Krogstad, and I. S. Chen. 1992. Incompletely reverse-transcribed human immunodeficiency virus type 1 genomes in quiescent cells can function as intermediates in the retroviral life cycle. *J.Virol.* 66:1717-1725.
- 269. Frankel, S. S., B. M. Wenig, and A. Ferlito. 1997. Human immunodeficiency virus-1 infection of the lymphoid tissues of Waldeyer's ring. Ann.Otol.Rhinol.Laryngol. 106:611-618.
- 270. Gandhi, R. T., B. K. Chen, S. E. Straus, J. K. Dale, M. J. Lenardo, and D. Baltimore. 1998. HIV-1 directly kills CD4+ T cells by a Fas-independent mechanism. J.Exp. Med. 187:1113-1122.
- 271. Siliciano, R. F., T. Lawton, C. Knall, R. W. Karr, P. Berman, T. Gregory, and E. L. Reinherz. 1988. Analysis of host-virus interactions in AIDS with anti-gp120 T cell clones: effect of HIV sequence variation and a mechanism for CD4+ cell depletion. *Cell* 54:561-575.

- 272. Cooper, D. A., J. Gold, P. Maclean, B. Donovan, R. Finlayson, T. G. Barnes, H.
 M. Michelmore, P. Brooke, and R. Penny. 1985. Acute AIDS retrovirus infection.
 Definition of a clinical illness associated with seroconversion. *Lancet* 1:537-540.
- 273. Vanhems, P., B. Hirschel, A. N. Phillips, D. A. Cooper, J. Vizzard, J. Brassard, and L. Perrin. 2000. Incubation time of acute human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) infection and duration of acute HIV infection are independent prognostic factors of progression to AIDS. *J.Infect.Dis.* 182:334-337.
- 274. Schacker, T., A. C. Collier, J. Hughes, T. Shea, and L. Corey. 1996. Clinical and epidemiologic features of primary HIV infection. *Ann.Intern.Med.* 125:257-264.
- 275. Quinn, T. C. 1997. Acute primary HIV infection. JAMA 278:58-62.
- 276. Clark, S. J. and G. M. Shaw. 1993. The acute retroviral syndrome and the pathogenesis of HIV-1 infection. *Semin.Immunol.* 5:149-155.
- 277. Cooper, D. A., A. A. Imrie, and R. Penny. 1987. Antibody response to human immunodeficiency virus after primary infection. *J.Infect.Dis.* 155:1113-1118.
- 278. Braun, J. D. Antibody-Negative but HIV-RNA Positive: Is PHI in your Differential? Primary HIV Infection: Developing Options for the Newly Infected. The PRN Notebook Special Edition, 3-4. 1-2-2002.

Ref Type: Generic

279. Daar, E. S., S. Little, J. Pitt, J. Santangelo, P. Ho, N. Harawa, P. Kerndt, J. V. Glorgi, J. Bai, P. Gaut, D. D. Richman, S. Mandel, and S. Nichols. 2001.

Diagnosis of primary HIV-1 infection. Los Angeles County Primary HIV Infection Recruitment Network. *Ann.Intern.Med.* 134:25-29.

- 280. Pantaleo, G. and A. S. Fauci. 1996. Immunopathogenesis of HIV infection. Annu.Rev.Microbiol. 50:825-54.:825-854.
- Ogg, G. S., X. Jin, S. Bonhoeffer, P. R. Dunbar, M. A. Nowak, S. Monard, J. P. Segal, Y. Cao, S. L. Rowland-Jones, V. Cerundolo, A. Hurley, M. Markowitz, D. D. Ho, D. F. Nixon, and A. J. McMichael. 1998. Quantitation of HIV-1-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes and plasma load of viral RNA. *Science* 279:2103-2106.
- 282. Gray, C. M., J. Lawrence, J. M. Schapiro, J. D. Altman, M. A. Winters, M. Crompton, M. Loi, S. K. Kundu, M. M. Davis, and T. C. Merigan. 1999. Frequency of class I HLA-restricted anti-HIV CD8+ T cells in individuals receiving highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART). *J.Immunol.* 162:1780-1788.
- 283. Casazza, J. P., M. R. Betts, L. J. Picker, and R. A. Koup. 2001. Decay kinetics of human immunodeficiency virus-specific CD8+ T cells in peripheral blood after initiation of highly active antiretroviral therapy. J.Virol. 75:6508-6516.
- 284. Ogg, G. S., X. Jin, S. Bonhoeffer, P. Moss, M. A. Nowak, S. Monard, J. P. Segal, Y. Cao, S. L. Rowland-Jones, A. Hurley, M. Markowitz, D. D. Ho, A. J. McMichael, and D. F. Nixon. 1999. Decay kinetics of human immunodeficiency virus-specific effector cytotoxic T lymphocytes after combination antiretroviral therapy. J.Virol. 73:797-800.

- 285. Ogg, G. S., S. Kostense, M. R. Klein, S. Jurriaans, D. Hamann, A. J. McMichael, and F. Miedema. 1999. Longitudinal phenotypic analysis of human immunodeficiency virus type 1-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes: correlation with disease progression. J. Virol. 73:9153-9160.
- 286. Buchbinder, S. P., M. H. Katz, N. A. Hessol, P. M. O'Malley, and S. D. Holmberg. 1994. Long-term HIV-1 infection without immunologic progression. *AIDS* 8:1123-1128.
- 287. Miedema, F., A. J. Petit, F. G. Terpstra, J. K. Schattenkerk, F. de Wolf, B. J. Al, M. Roos, J. M. Lange, S. A. Danner, J. Goudsmit, and . 1988. Immunological abnormalities in human immunodeficiency virus (HIV)-infected asymptomatic homosexual men. HIV affects the immune system before CD4+ T helper cell depletion occurs. J. Clin. Invest 82:1908-1914.
- 288. Lucey, D. R., G. P. Melcher, C. W. Hendrix, R. A. Zajac, D. W. Goetz, C. A. Butzin, M. Clerici, R. D. Warner, S. Abbadessa, K. Hall, and . 1991. Human immunodeficiency virus infection in the US Air Force: seroconversions, clinical staging, and assessment of a T helper cell functional assay to predict change in CD4+ T cell counts. *J.Infect.Dis.* 164:631-637.
- 289. Buchbinder, S. and E. Vittinghoff. 1999. HIV-infected long-term nonprogressors: epidemiology, mechanisms of delayed progression, and clinical and research implications. *Microbes.Infect.* 1:1113-1120.

- 290. Sheppard, H. W., W. Lang, M. S. Ascher, E. Vittinghoff, and W. Winkelstein. 1993. The characterization of non-progressors: long-term HIV-1 infection with stable CD4+ T-cell levels. *AIDS* 7:1159-1166.
- 291. Easterbrook, P. J. 1994. Non-progression in HIV infection. AIDS 8:1179-1182.
- 292. Greenough, T. C., M. Somasundaran, D. B. Brettler, R. M. Hesselton, A. Alimenti, F. Kirchhoff, D. Panicali, and J. L. Sullivan. 1994. Normal immune function and inability to isolate virus in culture in an individual with long-term human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. *AIDS Res.Hum.Retroviruses* 10:395-403.
- 293. Binley, J. M., X. Jin, Y. Huang, L. Zhang, Y. Cao, D. D. Ho, and J. P. Moore. 1998. Persistent antibody responses but declining cytotoxic T-lymphocyte responses to multiple human immunodeficiency virus type 1 antigens in a longterm nonprogressing individual with a defective p17 proviral sequence and no detectable viral RNA expression. *J. Virol.* 72:3472-3474.
- 294. Kirchhoff, F., T. C. Greenough, D. B. Brettler, J. L. Sullivan, and R. C. Desrosiers. 1995. Brief report: absence of intact nef sequences in a long-term survivor with nonprogressive HIV-1 infection. *N.Engl.J.Med.* 332:228-232.
- 295. Hoover, D. R., N. M. Graham, B. Chen, J. M. Taylor, J. Phair, S. Y. Zhou, and A. Munoz. 1992. Effect of CD4+ cell count measurement variability on staging HIV-1 infection. *J.Acquir.Immune.Defic.Syndr.* 5:794-802.

- 296. Ferbas, J., A. H. Kaplan, M. A. Hausner, L. E. Hultin, J. L. Matud, Z. Liu, D. L. Panicali, H. Nerng-Ho, R. Detels, and J. V. Giorgi. 1995. Virus burden in long-term survivors of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) infection is a determinant of anti-HIV CD8+ lymphocyte activity. *J.Infect.Dis.* 172:329-339.
- 297. Cao, Y., L. Qin, L. Zhang, J. Safrit, and D. D. Ho. 1996. Characterization of longterm survivors of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. *Immunol.Lett.* 51:7-13.
- 298. Schwartz, D., U. Sharma, M. Busch, K. Weinhold, T. Matthews, J. Lieberman, D. Birx, H. Farzedagen, J. Margolick, T. Quinn, and . 1994. Absence of recoverable infectious virus and unique immune responses in an asymptomatic HIV+ long-term survivor. *AIDS Res.Hum.Retroviruses* 10:1703-1711.
- 299. Premkumar, D. R., X. Z. Ma, R. K. Maitra, B. K. Chakrabarti, J. Salkowitz, B. Yen-Lieberman, M. S. Hirsch, and H. W. Kestler. 1996. The nef gene from a long-term HIV type 1 nonprogressor. *AIDS Res.Hum.Retroviruses* 12:337-345.
- 300. Huang, Y., L. Zhang, and D. D. Ho. 1998. Characterization of gag and pol sequences from long-term survivors of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. *Virology* 240:36-49.
- 301. Learmont, J., B. Tindall, L. Evans, A. Cunningham, P. Cunningham, J. Wells, R. Penny, J. Kaldor, and D. A. Cooper. 1992. Long-term symptomless HIV-1 infection in recipients of blood products from a single donor. *Lancet* 340:863-867.

- 302. Wang, B., Y. C. Ge, P. Palasanthiran, S. H. Xiang, J. Ziegler, D. E. Dwyer, C. Randle, D. Dowton, A. Cunningham, and N. K. Saksena. 1996. Gene defects clustered at the C-terminus of the vpr gene of HIV-1 in long-term nonprogressing mother and child pair: in vivo evolution of vpr quasispecies in blood and plasma. *Virology* 223:224-232.
- 303. Rump, J. A., H. H. Peter, J. Schneider, O. Haller, and A. Meyerhans. 1996. Longterm survivors with continuously high levels of HIV type 1. AIDS Res.Hum.Retroviruses 12:757-758.
- 304. Harrer, T., E. Harrer, P. Barbosa, F. Kaufmann, R. Wagner, S. Bruggemann, J. R. Kalden, M. Feinberg, R. P. Johnson, S. Buchbinder, and B. D. Walker. 1998.
 Recognition of two overlapping CTL epitopes in HIV-1 p17 by CTL from a long-term nonprogressing HIV-1-infected individual. *J.Immunol.* 161:4875-4881.
- 305. Wagner, R., B. Leschonsky, E. Harrer, C. Paulus, C. Weber, B. D. Walker, S. Buchbinder, H. Wolf, J. R. Kalden, and T. Harrer. 1999. Molecular and functional analysis of a conserved CTL epitope in HIV-1 p24 recognized from a long-term nonprogressor: constraints on immune escape associated with targeting a sequence essential for viral replication. *J.Immunol.* 162:3727-3734.
- 306. Hendel, H., S. Caillat-Zucman, H. Lebuanec, M. Carrington, S. O'Brien, J. M. Andrieu, F. Schachter, D. Zagury, J. Rappaport, C. Winkler, G. W. Nelson, and J. F. Zagury. 1999. New class I and II HLA alleles strongly associated with opposite patterns of progression to AIDS. *J.Immunol.* 162:6942-6946.

- 307. Rappaport, J., Y. Y. Cho, H. Hendel, E. J. Schwartz, F. Schachter, and J. F. Zagury. 1997. 32 bp CCR-5 gene deletion and resistance to fast progression in HIV-1 infected heterozygotes. *Lancet* 349:922-923.
- Hendel, H., N. Henon, H. Lebuanec, A. Lachgar, H. Poncelet, S. Caillat-Zucman, C. A. Winkler, M. W. Smith, L. Kenefic, S. O'Brien, W. Lu, J. M. Andrieu, D. Zagury, F. Schachter, J. Rappaport, and J. F. Zagury. 1998. Distinctive effects of CCR5, CCR2, and SDF1 genetic polymorphisms in AIDS progression. J.Acquir.Immune.Defic.Syndr.Hum.Retrovirol. 19:381-386.
- 309. Kelleher, A. D., C. Long, E. C. Holmes, R. L. Allen, J. Wilson, C. Conlon, C. Workman, S. Shaunak, K. Olson, P. Goulder, C. Brander, G. Ogg, J. S. Sullivan, W. Dyer, I. Jones, A. J. McMichael, S. Rowland-Jones, and R. E. Phillips. 2001. Clustered mutations in HIV-1 gag are consistently required for escape from HLA-B27-restricted cytotoxic T lymphocyte responses. *J.Exp.Med.* 193:375-386.
- Goulder, P. J., C. Brander, Y. Tang, C. Tremblay, R. A. Colbert, M. M. Addo, E. S. Rosenberg, T. Nguyen, R. Allen, A. Trocha, M. Altfeld, S. He, M. Bunce, R. Funkhouser, S. I. Pelton, S. K. Burchett, K. McIntosh, B. T. Korber, and B. D. Walker. 2001. Evolution and transmission of stable CTL escape mutations in HIV infection. *Nature* 412:334-338.
- 311. Goulder, P. J., R. E. Phillips, R. A. Colbert, S. McAdam, G. Ogg, M. A. Nowak,
 P. Giangrande, G. Luzzi, B. Morgan, A. Edwards, A. J. McMichael, and S.
 Rowland-Jones. 1997. Late escape from an immunodominant cytotoxic Tlymphocyte response associated with progression to AIDS. *Nat.Med.* 3:212-217.

- 312. Imami, N., A. Pires, G. Hardy, J. Wilson, B. Gazzard, and F. Gotch. 2002. A balanced type 1/type 2 response is associated with long-term nonprogressive human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. *J.Virol.* 76:9011-9023.
- 313. Propato, A., E. Schiaffella, E. Vicenzi, V. Francavilla, L. Baloni, M. Paroli, L. Finocchi, N. Tanigaki, S. Ghezzi, R. Ferrara, R. Chesnut, B. Livingston, A. Sette, R. Paganelli, F. Aiuti, G. Poli, and V. Barnaba. 2001. Spreading of HIV-specific CD8+ T-cell repertoire in long-term nonprogressors and its role in the control of viral load and disease activity. *Hum.Immunol.* 62:561-576.
- 314. Heintel, T., M. Sester, M. M. Rodriguez, C. Krieg, U. Sester, R. Wagner, H. W. Pees, B. Gartner, R. Maier, and A. Meyerhans. 2002. The fraction of perforin-expressing HIV-specific CD8 T cells is a marker for disease progression in HIV infection. *AIDS* 16:1497-1501.
- 315. Migueles, S. A., A. C. Laborico, W. L. Shupert, M. S. Sabbaghian, R. Rabin, C. W. Hallahan, D. van Baarle, S. Kostense, F. Miedema, M. McLaughlin, L. Ehler, J. Metcalf, S. Liu, and M. Connors. 2002. HIV-specific CD8+ T cell proliferation is coupled to perforin expression and is maintained in nonprogressors. *Nat.Immunol.* 3:1061-1068.
- 316. Boaz, M. J., A. Waters, S. Murad, P. J. Easterbrook, and A. Vyakarnam. 2002. Presence of HIV-1 Gag-specific IFN-gamma+IL-2+ and CD28+IL-2+ CD4 T cell responses is associated with nonprogression in HIV-1 infection. *J.Immunol.* 169:6376-6385.

- 317. Swann, S. A., M. Williams, C. M. Story, K. R. Bobbitt, R. Fleis, and K. L. Collins. 2001. HIV-1 Nef blocks transport of MHC class I molecules to the cell surface via a PI 3-kinase-dependent pathway. *Virology* 282:267-277.
- 318. Siliciano, R. F. 1998. A reservoir for HIV in patients on combination antiretroviral therapy. *Hopkins.HIV.Rep.* 10:1, 5-6, 11.
- 319. Malhotra, U., S. Holte, S. Dutta, M. M. Berrey, E. Delpit, D. M. Koelle, A. Sette, L. Corey, and M. J. McElrath. 2001. Role for HLA class II molecules in HIV-1 suppression and cellular immunity following antiretroviral treatment. *J.Clin.Invest* 107:505-517.
- 320. O'Connor, D. H., T. M. Allen, T. U. Vogel, P. Jing, I. P. DeSouza, E. Dodds, E. J. Dunphy, C. Melsaether, B. Mothe, H. Yamamoto, H. Horton, N. Wilson, A. L. Hughes, and D. I. Watkins. 2002. Acute phase cytotoxic T lymphocyte escape is a hallmark of simian immunodeficiency virus infection. *Nat.Med.* 8:493-499.
- 321. Allen, T. M., D. H. O'Connor, P. Jing, J. L. Dzuris, B. R. Mothe, T. U. Vogel, E. Dunphy, M. E. Liebl, C. Emerson, N. Wilson, K. J. Kunstman, X. Wang, D. B. Allison, A. L. Hughes, R. C. Desrosiers, J. D. Altman, S. M. Wolinsky, A. Sette, and D. I. Watkins. 2000. Tat-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes select for SIV escape variants during resolution of primary viraemia. *Nature* 407:386-390.
- 322. Price, D. A., P. J. Goulder, P. Klenerman, A. K. Sewell, P. J. Easterbrook, M. Troop, C. R. Bangham, and R. E. Phillips. 1997. Positive selection of HIV-1

cytotoxic T lymphocyte escape variants during primary infection. Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A 94:1890-1895.

- 323. Campos-Lima, P. O., V. Levitsky, J. Brooks, S. P. Lee, L. F. Hu, A. B. Rickinson, and M. G. Masucci. 1994. T cell responses and virus evolution: loss of HLA A11restricted CTL epitopes in Epstein-Barr virus isolates from highly A11-positive populations by selective mutation of anchor residues. *J.Exp.Med.* 179:1297-1305.
- 324. Slifka, M. K., J. N. Blattman, D. J. Sourdive, F. Liu, D. L. Huffman, T. Wolfe, A. Hughes, M. B. Oldstone, R. Ahmed, and M. G. von Herrath. 2003. Preferential escape of subdominant CD8+ T cells during negative selection results in an altered antiviral T cell hierarchy. *J.Immunol.* 170:1231-1239.
- 325. Bertoletti, A., A. Costanzo, F. V. Chisari, M. Levrero, M. Artini, A. Sette, A. Penna, T. Giuberti, F. Fiaccadori, and C. Ferrari. 1994. Cytotoxic T lymphocyte response to a wild type hepatitis B virus epitope in patients chronically infected by variant viruses carrying substitutions within the epitope. *J.Exp.Med.* 180:933-943.
- 326. Pircher, H., D. Moskophidis, U. Rohrer, K. Burki, H. Hengartner, and R. M. Zinkernagel. 1990. Viral escape by selection of cytotoxic T cell-resistant virus variants in vivo. *Nature* 346:629-633.
- 327. Roberts, J. D., K. Bebenek, and T. A. Kunkel. 1988. The accuracy of reverse transcriptase from HIV-1. *Science* 242:1171-1173.

- 328. Bebenek, K., J. Abbotts, J. D. Roberts, S. H. Wilson, and T. A. Kunkel. 1989. Specificity and mechanism of error-prone replication by human immunodeficiency virus-1 reverse transcriptase. *J.Biol. Chem.* 264:16948-16956.
- 329. Katz, R. A. and A. M. Skalka. 1990. Generation of diversity in retroviruses. Annu.Rev.Genet. 24:409-45.:409-445.
- 330. Coffin, J. M. 1995. HIV population dynamics in vivo: implications for genetic variation, pathogenesis, and therapy. *Science* 267:483-489.
- 331. O'Connor, D., T. Friedrich, A. Hughes, T. M. Allen, and D. Watkins. 2001. Understanding cytotoxic T-lymphocyte escape during simian immunodeficiency virus infection. *Immunol.Rev.* 183:115-26.:115-126.
- 332. Chen, Z. W., L. Shen, M. D. Miller, S. H. Ghim, A. L. Hughes, and N. L. Letvin.
 1992. Cytotoxic T lymphocytes do not appear to select for mutations in an immunodominant epitope of simian immunodeficiency virus gag. *J.Immunol.* 149:4060-4066.
- 333. Chen, Z. W., A. Craiu, L. Shen, M. J. Kuroda, U. C. Iroku, D. I. Watkins, G. Voss, and N. L. Letvin. 2000. Simian immunodeficiency virus evades a dominant epitope-specific cytotoxic T lymphocyte response through a mutation resulting in the accelerated dissociation of viral peptide and MHC class I. *J.Immunol.* 164:6474-6479.
- 334. Mortara, L., F. Letourneur, H. Gras-Masse, A. Venet, J. G. Guillet, and I. Bourgault-Villada. 1998. Selection of virus variants and emergence of virus

escape mutants after immunization with an epitope vaccine. J.Virol. 72:1403-1410.

- 335. Evans, D. T., P. Jing, T. M. Allen, D. H. O'Connor, H. Horton, J. E. Venham, M. Piekarczyk, J. Dzuris, M. Dykhuzen, J. Mitchen, R. A. Rudersdorf, C. D. Pauza, A. Sette, R. E. Bontrop, R. DeMars, and D. I. Watkins. 2000. Definition of five new simian immunodeficiency virus cytotoxic T-lymphocyte epitopes and their restricting major histocompatibility complex class I molecules: evidence for an influence on disease progression. *J.Virol.* 74:7400-7410.
- 336. Koenig, S., A. J. Conley, Y. A. Brewah, G. M. Jones, S. Leath, L. J. Boots, V. Davey, G. Pantaleo, J. F. Demarest, C. Carter, and . 1995. Transfer of HIV-1-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes to an AIDS patient leads to selection for mutant HIV variants and subsequent disease progression. *Nat.Med.* 1:330-336.
- 337. Phillips, R. E., S. Rowland-Jones, D. F. Nixon, F. M. Gotch, J. P. Edwards, A. O. Ogunlesi, J. G. Elvin, J. A. Rothbard, C. R. Bangham, C. R. Rizza, and . 1991. Human immunodeficiency virus genetic variation that can escape cytotoxic T cell recognition. *Nature* 354:453-459.
- 338. Couillin, I., F. Connan, B. Culmann-Penciolelli, E. Gomard, J. G. Guillet, and J. Choppin. 1995. HLA-dependent variations in human immunodeficiency virus Nef protein alter peptide/HLA binding. *Eur.J.Immunol.* 25:728-732.

- 339. Gotch, F., A. McMichael, G. Smith, and B. Moss. 1987. Identification of viral molecules recognized by influenza-specific human cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *J.Exp.Med.* 165:408-416.
- 340. Murray, R. J., M. G. Kurilla, J. M. Brooks, W. A. Thomas, M. Rowe, E. Kieff, and A. B. Rickinson. 1992. Identification of target antigens for the human cytotoxic T cell response to Epstein-Barr virus (EBV): implications for the immune control of EBV-positive malignancies. *J.Exp.Med.* 176:157-168.
- Nowak, M. A. and A. J. McMichael. 1995. How HIV defeats the immune system. Sci.Am. 273:58-65.
- 342. Moskophidis, D. and R. M. Zinkernagel. 1995. Immunobiology of cytotoxic Tcell escape mutants of lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus. *J.Virol.* 69:2187-2193.
- 343. Dalod, M., M. Dupuis, J. C. Deschemin, D. Sicard, D. Salmon, J. F. Delfraissy, A. Venet, M. Sinet, and J. G. Guillet. 1999. Broad, intense anti-human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) ex vivo CD8(+) responses in HIV type 1-infected patients: comparison with anti-Epstein-Barr virus responses and changes during antiretroviral therapy. J. Virol. 73:7108-7116.
- 344. McMichael, A. J. and R. E. Phillips. 1997. Escape of human immunodeficiency virus from immune control. *Annu.Rev.Immunol*. 15:271-96.:271-296.
- 345. Goulder, P. J., C. Pasquier, E. C. Holmes, B. Liang, Y. Tang, J. Izopet, K. Saune,
 E. S. Rosenberg, S. K. Burchett, K. McIntosh, M. Barnardo, M. Bunce, B. D.
 Walker, C. Brander, and R. E. Phillips. 2001. Mother-to-child transmission of

HIV infection and CTL escape through HLA-A2-SLYNTVATL epitope sequence variation. *Immunol.Lett.* 79:109-116.

- 346. Chesney, M. 2003. Adherence to HAART regimens. AIDS Patient.Care STDS. 17:169-177.
- 347. Altfeld, M. and B. D. Walker. 2001. Less is more? STI in acute and chronic HIV-1 infection. *Nat.Med.* 7:881-884.
- 348. The U.S.Department of Health and Human Resources. AIDS Info Treatment Guidlines. National Institutes on Health . 2003.

Ref Type: Electronic Citation

- 349. Gulick, R. M., J. W. Mellors, D. Havlir, J. J. Eron, C. Gonzalez, D. McMahon, D. D. Richman, F. T. Valentine, L. Jonas, A. Meibohm, E. A. Emini, and J. A. Chodakewitz. 1997. Treatment with indinavir, zidovudine, and lamivudine in adults with human immunodeficiency virus infection and prior antiretroviral therapy. *N.Engl.J.Med.* 337:734-739.
- 350. Temesgen, Z. 2001. Current status of antiretroviral therapies. *Expert.Opin.Pharmacother.* 2:1239-1246.
- 351. Soriano, V. and C. de Mendoza. 2002. Genetic mechanisms of resistance to NRTI and NNRTI. *HIV.Clin.Trials* 3:237-248.
- 352. O'Brien, W. A. 2003. New classes of HIV drugs on the horizon. A review of the presentation at the satellite symposium "New hope: advancing care in HIV

infection" at the 15th annual Association of Nurses in AIDS Care conference, November 2002. *AIDS Read.* 13:S4-S8.

- 353. Pozniak, A. 2001. HIV fusion inhibitors. J.HIV.Ther. 6:91-94.
- 354. Kilby, J. M. and J. J. Eron. 2003. Novel therapies based on mechanisms of HIV-1 cell entry. *N.Engl.J.Med.* 348:2228-2238.
- 355. Mansky, L. M. 2002. HIV mutagenesis and the evolution of antiretroviral drug resistance. *Drug Resist.Updat.* 5:219-223.
- Deeks, S. G. 1998. Practical issues regarding the use of antiretroviral therapy for HIV infection. West J.Med. 168:133-139.
- 357. Moyle, G. 2001. Resistance and cross-resistance to abacavir. *HIV.Med.* 2:154-162.
- 358. Deeks, S. G., T. Wrin, T. Liegler, R. Hoh, M. Hayden, J. D. Barbour, N. S. Hellmann, C. J. Petropoulos, J. M. McCune, M. K. Hellerstein, and R. M. Grant. 2001. Virologic and immunologic consequences of discontinuing combination antiretroviral-drug therapy in HIV-infected patients with detectable viremia. *N.Engl.J.Med.* 344:472-480.
- 359. Chun, T. W., R. T. Davey, Jr., M. Ostrowski, J. J. Shawn, D. Engel, J. I. Mullins, and A. S. Fauci. 2000. Relationship between pre-existing viral reservoirs and the re-emergence of plasma viremia after discontinuation of highly active antiretroviral therapy. *Nat.Med.* 6:757-761.

- 360. Zhang, L., C. Chung, B. S. Hu, T. He, Y. Guo, A. J. Kim, E. Skulsky, X. Jin, A. Hurley, B. Ramratnam, M. Markowitz, and D. D. Ho. 2000. Genetic characterization of rebounding HIV-1 after cessation of highly active antiretroviral therapy. *J.Clin.Invest* 106:839-845.
- Kotler, D. P. 2003. HIV infection and lipodystrophy. *Prog.Cardiovasc.Dis.* 45:269-284.
- 362. Kotler, D. P. 2003. HIV lipodystrophy etiology and pathogenesis. Body composition and metabolic alterations: etiology and pathogenesis. *AIDS Read*. 13:S5-S9.
- 363. Newman, M. D. 2003. Bone disorders, hypertension, and mitochondrial toxicity in HIV disease. *Top.HIV.Med.* 11:10-15.
- 364. Berrey, M. M., T. Schacker, A. C. Collier, T. Shea, S. J. Brodie, D. Mayers, R. Coombs, J. Krieger, T. W. Chun, A. Fauci, S. G. Self, and L. Corey. 2001. Treatment of primary human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection with potent antiretroviral therapy reduces frequency of rapid progression to AIDS. *J.Infect.Dis.* 183:1466-1475.
- 365. Barreiro, P., T. Garcia-Benayas, V. Soriano, and J. Gallant. 2002. Simplification of antiretroviral treatment--how to sustain success, reduce toxicity and ensure adherence avoiding PI use. *AIDS Rev.* 4:233-241.
- Montaner, L. J. 2001. Structured treatment interruptions to control HIV-1 and limit drug exposure. *Trends Immunol.* 22:92-96.

- 367. Lisziewicz, J., E. Rosenberg, J. Lieberman, H. Jessen, L. Lopalco, R. Siliciano, B. Walker, and F. Lori. 1999. Control of HIV despite the discontinuation of antiretroviral therapy. *N.Engl.J.Med.* 340:1683-1684.
- 368. Lori, F. and J. Lisziewicz. 2001. Structured treatment interruptions for the management of HIV infection. *JAMA* 286:2981-2987.
- 369. Lori, F., M. G. Lewis, J. Xu, G. Varga, D. E. Zinn, Jr., C. Crabbs, W. Wagner, J. Greenhouse, P. Silvera, J. Yalley-Ogunro, C. Tinelli, and J. Lisziewicz. 2000. Control of SIV rebound through structured treatment interruptions during early infection. *Science* 290:1591-1593.
- 370. Robbins, G. K., M. M. Addo, H. Troung, A. Rathod, K. Habeeb, B. Davis, H. Heller, N. Basgoz, B. D. Walker, and E. S. Rosenberg. 2003. Augmentation of HIV-1-specific T helper cell responses in chronic HIV-1 infection by therapeutic immunization. *AIDS* 17:1121-1126.
- 371. Oxenius, A., D. A. Price, H. F. Gunthard, S. J. Dawson, C. Fagard, L. Perrin, M. Fischer, R. Weber, M. Plana, F. Garcia, B. Hirschel, A. McLean, and R. E. Phillips. 2002. Stimulation of HIV-specific cellular immunity by structured treatment interruption fails to enhance viral control in chronic HIV infection. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A* 99:13747-13752.
- 372. Fagard, C., A. Oxenius, H. Gunthard, F. Garcia, M. Le Braz, G. Mestre, M. Battegay, H. Furrer, P. Vernazza, E. Bernasconi, A. Telenti, R. Weber, D. Leduc, S. Yerly, D. Price, S. J. Dawson, T. Klimkait, T. V. Perneger, A. McLean, B.

Clotet, J. M. Gatell, L. Perrin, M. Plana, R. Phillips, and B. Hirschel. 2003. A prospective trial of structured treatment interruptions in human immunodeficiency virus infection. *Arch.Intern.Med.* 163:1220-1226.

- 373. Papasavvas, E., G. M. Ortiz, R. Gross, J. Sun, E. C. Moore, J. J. Heymann, M. Moonis, J. K. Sandberg, L. A. Drohan, B. Gallagher, J. Shull, D. F. Nixon, J. R. Kostman, and L. J. Montaner. 2000. Enhancement of human immunodeficiency virus type 1-specific CD4 and CD8 T cell responses in chronically infected persons after temporary treatment interruption. *J.Infect.Dis.* 182:766-775.
- 374. Carcelain, G., R. Tubiana, A. Samri, V. Calvez, C. Delaugerre, H. Agut, C. Katlama, and B. Autran. 2001. Transient mobilization of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV)-specific CD4 T-helper cells fails to control virus rebounds during intermittent antiretroviral therapy in chronic HIV type 1 infection. J.Virol. 75:234-241.
- 375. Ruiz, L., G. Carcelain, J. Martinez-Picado, S. Frost, S. Marfil, R. Paredes, J. Romeu, E. Ferrer, K. Morales-Lopetegi, B. Autran, and B. Clotet. 2001. HIV dynamics and T-cell immunity after three structured treatment interruptions in chronic HIV-1 infection. *AIDS* 15:F19-F27.
- 376. Autran, B. 2002. Strategies toward restoration of immunity to HIV. AIDS 16:4-6.
- 377. Autran, B., P. Debre, B. Walker, and C. Katlama. 2003. Therapeutic vaccines against HIV need international partnerships. *Nat.Rev.Immunol.* 3:503-508.

- 378. Miller, V. 2001. Structured treatment interruptions in antiretroviral management of HIV-1. *Curr.Opin.Infect.Dis.* 14:29-37.
- 379. Dybul, M., T. W. Chun, C. Yoder, B. Hidalgo, M. Belson, K. Hertogs, B. Larder, R. L. Dewar, C. H. Fox, C. W. Hallahan, J. S. Justement, S. A. Migueles, J. A. Metcalf, R. T. Davey, M. Daucher, P. Pandya, M. Baseler, D. J. Ward, and A. S. Fauci. 2001. Short-cycle structured intermittent treatment of chronic HIV infection with highly active antiretroviral therapy: effects on virologic, immunologic, and toxicity parameters. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A* 98:15161-15166.
- 380. Barouch, D. H. and N. L. Letvin. 2002. Viral evolution and challenges in the development of HIV vaccines. *Vaccine* 20 Suppl 4:A66-8.:A66-A68.
- 381. Daniel, M. D., F. Kirchhoff, S. C. Czajak, P. K. Sehgal, and R. C. Desrosiers. 1992. Protective effects of a live attenuated SIV vaccine with a deletion in the nef gene. *Science* 258:1938-1941.
- 382. Whatmore, A. M., N. Cook, G. A. Hall, S. Sharpe, E. W. Rud, and M. P. Cranage. 1995. Repair and evolution of nef in vivo modulates simian immunodeficiency virus virulence. *J. Virol.* 69:5117-5123.
- 383. Baba, T. W., Y. S. Jeong, D. Pennick, R. Bronson, M. F. Greene, and R. M. Ruprecht. 1995. Pathogenicity of live, attenuated SIV after mucosal infection of neonatal macaques. *Science* 267:1820-1825.

- Letvin, N. L., D. H. Barouch, and D. C. Montefiori. 2002. Prospects for vaccine protection against HIV-1 infection and AIDS. *Annu.Rev.Immunol.* 20:73-99.:73-99.
- 385. Berman, P. W., T. J. Gregory, L. Riddle, G. R. Nakamura, M. A. Champe, J. P. Porter, F. M. Wurm, R. D. Hershberg, E. K. Cobb, and J. W. Eichberg. 1990. Protection of chimpanzees from infection by HIV-1 after vaccination with recombinant glycoprotein gp120 but not gp160. *Nature* 345:622-625.
- 386. Tsoukas, C. M., J. Raboud, N. F. Bernard, J. S. Montaner, M. J. Gill, A. Rachlis, I. W. Fong, W. Schlech, O. Djurdjev, J. Freedman, R. Thomas, R. Lafreniere, M. A. Wainberg, S. Cassol, M. O'Shaughnessy, J. Todd, F. Volvovitz, and G. E. Smith. 1998. Active immunization of patients with HIV infection: a study of the effect of VaxSyn, a recombinant HIV envelope subunit vaccine, on progression of immunodeficiency. *AIDS Res.Hum.Retroviruses* 14:483-490.
- 387. Mascola, J. R., S. W. Snyder, O. S. Weislow, S. M. Belay, R. B. Belshe, D. H. Schwartz, M. L. Clements, R. Dolin, B. S. Graham, G. J. Gorse, M. C. Keefer, M. J. McElrath, M. C. Walker, K. F. Wagner, J. G. McNeil, F. E. McCutchan, and D. S. Burke. 1996. Immunization with envelope subunit vaccine products elicits neutralizing antibodies against laboratory-adapted but not primary isolates of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. The National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases AIDS Vaccine Evaluation Group. *J.Infect.Dis.* 173:340-348.

- 388. Sullivan, N. J., A. Sanchez, P. E. Rollin, Z. Y. Yang, and G. J. Nabel. 2000.
 Development of a preventive vaccine for Ebola virus infection in primates. *Nature* 408:605-609.
- Shiver, J. W., T. M. Fu, L. Chen, D. R. Casimiro, M. E. Davies, R. K. Evans, Z. Q. Zhang, A. J. Simon, W. L. Trigona, S. A. Dubey, L. Huang, V. A. Harris, R. S. Long, X. Liang, L. Handt, W. A. Schleif, L. Zhu, D. C. Freed, N. V. Persaud, L. Guan, K. S. Punt, A. Tang, M. Chen, K. A. Wilson, K. B. Collins, G. J. Heidecker, V. R. Fernandez, H. C. Perry, J. G. Joyce, K. M. Grimm, J. C. Cook, P. M. Keller, D. S. Kresock, H. Mach, R. D. Troutman, L. A. Isopi, D. M. Williams, Z. Xu, K. E. Bohannon, D. B. Volkin, D. C. Montefiori, A. Miura, G. R. Krivulka, M. A. Lifton, M. J. Kuroda, J. E. Schmitz, N. L. Letvin, M. J. Caulfield, A. J. Bett, R. Youil, D. C. Kaslow, and E. A. Emini. 2002. Replication-incompetent adenoviral vaccine vector elicits effective anti-immunodeficiency-virus immunity. *Nature* 415:331-335.
- 390. Shen, L., Z. W. Chen, M. D. Miller, V. Stallard, G. P. Mazzara, D. L. Panicali, and N. L. Letvin. 1991. Recombinant virus vaccine-induced SIV-specific CD8+ cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *Science* 252:440-443.
- 391. Hu, S. L., K. Abrams, G. N. Barber, P. Moran, J. M. Zarling, A. J. Langlois, L. Kuller, W. R. Morton, and R. E. Benveniste. 1992. Protection of macaques against SIV infection by subunit vaccines of SIV envelope glycoprotein gp160. *Science* 255:456-459.

- 392. Seth, A., I. Ourmanov, J. E. Schmitz, M. J. Kuroda, M. A. Lifton, C. E. Nickerson, L. Wyatt, M. Carroll, B. Moss, D. Venzon, N. L. Letvin, and V. M. Hirsch. 2000. Immunization with a modified vaccinia virus expressing simian immunodeficiency virus (SIV) Gag-Pol primes for an anamnestic Gag-specific cytotoxic T-lymphocyte response and is associated with reduction of viremia after SIV challenge. *J.Virol.* 74:2502-2509.
- 393. Barouch, D. H., S. Santra, M. J. Kuroda, J. E. Schmitz, R. Plishka, A. Buckler-White, A. E. Gaitan, R. Zin, J. H. Nam, L. S. Wyatt, M. A. Lifton, C. E. Nickerson, B. Moss, D. C. Montefiori, V. M. Hirsch, and N. L. Letvin. 2001. Reduction of simian-human immunodeficiency virus 89.6P viremia in rhesus monkeys by recombinant modified vaccinia virus Ankara vaccination. *J.Virol.* 75:5151-5158.
- 394. Hel, Z., W. P. Tsai, A. Thornton, J. Nacsa, L. Giuliani, E. Tryniszewska, M. Poudyal, D. Venzon, X. Wang, J. Altman, D. I. Watkins, W. Lu, A. von Gegerfelt, B. K. Felber, J. Tartaglia, G. N. Pavlakis, and G. Franchini. 2001. Potentiation of simian immunodeficiency virus (SIV)-specific CD4(+) and CD8(+) T cell responses by a DNA-SIV and NYVAC-SIV prime/boost regimen. *J.Immunol.* 167:7180-7191.
- 395. Hel, Z., J. Nacsa, W. P. Tsai, A. Thornton, L. Giuliani, J. Tartaglia, and G. Franchini. 2002. Equivalent immunogenicity of the highly attenuated poxvirus-based ALVAC-SIV and NYVAC-SIV vaccine candidates in SIVmac251-infected macaques. *Virology* 304:125-134.

- 396. Barouch, D. H., S. Santra, J. E. Schmitz, M. J. Kuroda, T. M. Fu, W. Wagner, M. Bilska, A. Craiu, X. X. Zheng, G. R. Krivulka, K. Beaudry, M. A. Lifton, C. E. Nickerson, W. L. Trigona, K. Punt, D. C. Freed, L. Guan, S. Dubey, D. Casimiro, A. Simon, M. E. Davies, M. Chastain, T. B. Strom, R. S. Gelman, D. C. Montefiori, M. G. Lewis, E. A. Emini, J. W. Shiver, and N. L. Letvin. 2000. Control of viremia and prevention of clinical AIDS in rhesus monkeys by cytokine-augmented DNA vaccination. *Science* 290:486-492.
- 397. Egan, M. A., W. A. Charini, M. J. Kuroda, J. E. Schmitz, P. Racz, K. Tenner-Racz, K. Manson, M. Wyand, M. A. Lifton, C. E. Nickerson, T. Fu, J. W. Shiver, and N. L. Letvin. 2000. Simian immunodeficiency virus (SIV) gag DNAvaccinated rhesus monkeys develop secondary cytotoxic T-lymphocyte responses and control viral replication after pathogenic SIV infection. *J.Virol.* 74:7485-7495.
- 398. Amara, R. R., F. Villinger, J. D. Altman, S. L. Lydy, S. P. O'Neil, S. I. Staprans, D. C. Montefiori, Y. Xu, J. G. Herndon, L. S. Wyatt, M. A. Candido, N. L. Kozyr, P. L. Earl, J. M. Smith, H. L. Ma, B. D. Grimm, M. L. Hulsey, J. Miller, H. M. McClure, J. M. McNicholl, B. Moss, and H. L. Robinson. 2001. Control of a mucosal challenge and prevention of AIDS by a multiprotein DNA/MVA vaccine. *Science* 292:69-74.
- 399. Robinson, H. L., D. C. Montefiori, R. P. Johnson, K. H. Manson, M. L. Kalish, J. D. Lifson, T. A. Rizvi, S. Lu, S. L. Hu, G. P. Mazzara, D. L. Panicali, J. G. Herndon, R. Glickman, M. A. Candido, S. L. Lydy, M. S. Wyand, and H. M.

McClure. 1999. Neutralizing antibody-independent containment of immunodeficiency virus challenges by DNA priming and recombinant pox virus booster immunizations. *Nat.Med.* 5:526-534.

- 400. Reimann, K. A., J. T. Li, R. Veazey, M. Halloran, I. W. Park, G. B. Karlsson, J. Sodroski, and N. L. Letvin. 1996. A chimeric simian/human immunodeficiency virus expressing a primary patient human immunodeficiency virus type 1 isolate env causes an AIDS-like disease after in vivo passage in rhesus monkeys. *J.Virol.* 70:6922-6928.
- 401. Barouch, D. H., J. Kunstman, M. J. Kuroda, J. E. Schmitz, S. Santra, F. W. Peyerl, G. R. Krivulka, K. Beaudry, M. A. Lifton, D. A. Gorgone, D. C. Montefiori, M. G. Lewis, S. M. Wolinsky, and N. L. Letvin. 2002. Eventual AIDS vaccine failure in a rhesus monkey by viral escape from cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *Nature* 415:335-339.
- 402. Barouch, D. H., J. Kunstman, J. Glowczwskie, K. J. Kunstman, M. A. Egan, F. W. Peyerl, S. Santra, M. J. Kuroda, J. E. Schmitz, K. Beaudry, G. R. Krivulka, M. A. Lifton, D. A. Gorgone, S. M. Wolinsky, and N. L. Letvin. 2003. Viral escape from dominant simian immunodeficiency virus epitope-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes in DNA-vaccinated rhesus monkeys. *J.Virol.* 77:7367-7375.
- 403. Oxenius, A., D. A. Price, P. J. Easterbrook, C. A. O'Callaghan, A. D. Kelleher, J. A. Whelan, G. Sontag, A. K. Sewell, and R. E. Phillips. 2000. Early highly active antiretroviral therapy for acute HIV-1 infection preserves immune function of CD8+ and CD4+ T lymphocytes. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A* 97:3382-3387.

- 404. Cao, J., J. McNevin, S. Holte, L. Fink, L. Corey, and M. J. McElrath. 2003.
 Comprehensive analysis of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1)specific gamma interferon-secreting CD8+ T cells in primary HIV-1 infection. J.Virol. 77:6867-6878.
- 405. Yu, X. G., M. M. Addo, E. S. Rosenberg, W. R. Rodriguez, P. K. Lee, C. A. Fitzpatrick, M. N. Johnston, D. Strick, P. J. Goulder, B. D. Walker, and M. Altfeld. 2002. Consistent patterns in the development and immunodominance of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1)-specific CD8+ T-cell responses following acute HIV-1 infection. *J.Virol.* 76:8690-8701.
- 406. Ward, S., G. Lauer, R. Isba, B. Walker, and P. Klenerman. 2002. Cellular immune responses against hepatitis C virus: the evidence base 2002. *Clin.Exp.Immunol*. 128:195-203.
- 407. Cooper, S., A. L. Erickson, E. J. Adams, J. Kansopon, A. J. Weiner, D. Y. Chien,
 M. Houghton, P. Parham, and C. M. Walker. 1999. Analysis of a successful immune response against hepatitis C virus. *Immunity*. 10:439-449.
- Zhu, T., N. Wang, A. Carr, D. S. Nam, R. Moor-Jankowski, D. A. Cooper, and D. D. Ho. 1996. Genetic characterization of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 in blood and genital secretions: evidence for viral compartmentalization and selection during sexual transmission. *J. Virol.* 70:3098-3107.

- 409. Long, E. M., H. L. Martin, Jr., J. K. Kreiss, S. M. Rainwater, L. Lavreys, D. J. Jackson, J. Rakwar, K. Mandaliya, and J. Overbaugh. 2000. Gender differences in HIV-1 diversity at time of infection. *Nat.Med.* 6:71-75.
- 410. Pang, S., Y. Shlesinger, E. S. Daar, T. Moudgil, D. D. Ho, and I. S. Chen. 1992.
 Rapid generation of sequence variation during primary HIV-1 infection. *AIDS* 6:453-460.
- 411. Kuiken, C. L., G. Zwart, E. Baan, R. A. Coutinho, J. A. van den Hoek, and J. Goudsmit. 1993. Increasing antigenic and genetic diversity of the V3 variable domain of the human immunodeficiency virus envelope protein in the course of the AIDS epidemic. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A* 90:9061-9065.
- 412. Eigen, M. 1996. On the nature of virus quasispecies. *Trends Microbiol.* 4:216-218.
- 413. Goulder, P. J., M. A. Altfeld, E. S. Rosenberg, T. Nguyen, Y. Tang, R. L. Eldridge, M. M. Addo, S. He, J. S. Mukherjee, M. N. Phillips, M. Bunce, S. A. Kalams, R. P. Sekaly, B. D. Walker, and C. Brander. 2001. Substantial differences in specificity of HIV-specific cytotoxic T cells in acute and chronic HIV infection. *J.Exp.Med.* 193:181-194.
- 414. Addo, M. M., X. G. Yu, A. Rathod, D. Cohen, R. L. Eldridge, D. Strick, M. N. Johnston, C. Corcoran, A. G. Wurcel, C. A. Fitzpatrick, M. E. Feeney, W. R. Rodriguez, N. Basgoz, R. Draenert, D. R. Stone, C. Brander, P. J. Goulder, E. S. Rosenberg, M. Altfeld, and B. D. Walker. 2003. Comprehensive epitope analysis

of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1)-specific T-cell responses directed against the entire expressed HIV-1 genome demonstrate broadly directed responses, but no correlation to viral load. *J.Virol.* 77:2081-2092.

- 415. Vanhems, P. and R. Beaulieu. 1997. Primary infection by type 1 human immunodeficiency virus: diagnosis and prognosis. *Postgrad.Med.J.* 73:403-408.
- 416. Schacker, T. W., J. P. Hughes, T. Shea, R. W. Coombs, and L. Corey. 1998.
 Biological and virologic characteristics of primary HIV infection.
 Ann.Intern.Med. 128:613-620.
- 417. Janssen, R. S., G. A. Satten, S. L. Stramer, B. D. Rawal, T. R. O'Brien, B. J. Weiblen, F. M. Hecht, N. Jack, F. R. Cleghorn, J. O. Kahn, M. A. Chesney, and M. P. Busch. 1998. New testing strategy to detect early HIV-1 infection for use in incidence estimates and for clinical and prevention purposes. *JAMA* 280:42-48.
- 418. Machado, D. M., E. L. Delwart, R. S. Diaz, C. F. de Oliveira, K. Alves, B. D. Rawal, M. Sullivan, M. Gwinn, K. A. Clark, and M. P. Busch. 2002. Use of the sensitive/less-sensitive (detuned) EIA strategy for targeting genetic analysis of HIV-1 to recently infected blood donors. *AIDS* 16:113-119.
- 419. Bourgeois, C., H. Veiga-Fernandes, A. M. Joret, B. Rocha, and C. Tanchot. 2002.CD8 lethargy in the absence of CD4 help. *Eur.J.Immunol.* 32:2199-2207.
- 420. Kaech, S. M. and R. Ahmed. 2001. Memory CD8+ T cell differentiation: initial antigen encounter triggers a developmental program in naive cells. *Nat.Immunol.* 2:415-422.
- 421. Price, G. E., R. Ou, H. Jiang, L. Huang, and D. Moskophidis. 2000. Viral escape by selection of cytotoxic T cell-resistant variants in influenza A virus pneumonia. *J.Exp.Med.* 191:1853-1867.
- Wherry, E. J., J. N. Blattman, K. Murali-Krishna, M. R. van der, and R. Ahmed.
 2003. Viral persistence alters CD8 T-cell immunodominance and tissue distribution and results in distinct stages of functional impairment. *J.Virol.* 77:4911-4927.
- 423. Davenport, M. P., C. Fazou, A. J. McMichael, and M. F. Callan. 2002. Clonal selection, clonal senescence, and clonal succession: the evolution of the T cell response to infection with a persistent virus. *J.Immunol.* 168:3309-3317.
- 424. Altfeld, M., M. M. Addo, R. L. Eldridge, X. G. Yu, S. Thomas, A. Khatri, D. Strick, M. N. Phillips, G. B. Cohen, S. A. Islam, S. A. Kalams, C. Brander, P. J. Goulder, E. S. Rosenberg, and B. D. Walker. 2001. Vpr is preferentially targeted by CTL during HIV-1 infection. *J.Immunol.* 167:2743-2752.
- 425. Addo, M. M., M. Altfeld, E. S. Rosenberg, R. L. Eldridge, M. N. Philips, K. Habeeb, A. Khatri, C. Brander, G. K. Robbins, G. P. Mazzara, P. J. Goulder, and B. D. Walker. 2001. The HIV-1 regulatory proteins Tat and Rev are frequently targeted by cytotoxic T lymphocytes derived from HIV-1-infected individuals. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A* 98:1781-1786.

426. Addo, M. M., M. Altfeld, A. Rathod, M. Yu, X. G. Yu, P. J. Goulder, E. S. Rosenberg, and B. D. Walker. 2002. HIV-1 Vpu represents a minor target for cytotoxic T lymphocytes in HIV-1-infection. *AIDS* 16:1071-1073.